

Atomically controlled device fabrication using STM

Author: Ruess, Frank Joachim

Publication Date: 2006

DOI: https://doi.org/10.26190/unsworks/23797

License:

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/au/ Link to license to see what you are allowed to do with this resource.

Downloaded from http://hdl.handle.net/1959.4/24855 in https:// unsworks.unsw.edu.au on 2024-04-27

Atomically Controlled Device Fabrication Using STM

Frank J. Rueß

THE UNIVERSITY OF NEW SOUTH WALES



SCHOOL OF PHYSICS

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree **Doctor of Philosophy**

19 April 2006

Certificate of originality

I hereby declare that this submission is my own work and to the best of my knowledge it contains no materials previously published or written by another person, or substrantial proportions of material which have been accepted for the award of another degree or diploma at UNSW or any other educational institution, except where due acknowledgement is made in the thesis. Any contribution made to the research by others, with whom I have worked at UNSW or elsewhere, is explicitly acknowledged in the thesis.

I also declare that the intellectual content of this thesis is the product of my own work, except to the extent that assistance from others in the project's design and conception or in style, presentation and linguistic expression is acknowledged.

(Signed)

Abstract

We present the development of a novel, UHV-compatible device fabrication strategy for the realisation of nano- and atomic-scale devices in silicon by harnessing the atomic-resolution capability of a scanning tunnelling microscope (STM). We develop etched registration markers in the silicon substrate in combination with a customdesigned STM/ molecular beam epitaxy system (MBE) to solve one of the key problems in STM device fabrication - connecting devices, fabricated in UHV, to the outside world. Using hydrogen-based STM lithography in combination with phosphine, as a dopant source, and silicon MBE, we then go on to fabricate several planar Si:P devices on one chip, including control devices that demonstrate the efficiency of each stage of the fabrication process.

We demonstrate that we can perform four terminal magnetoconductance measurements at cryogenic temperatures after ex-situ alignment of metal contacts to the buried device. Using this process, we demonstrate the lateral confinement of P dopants in a d-doped plane to a line of width 90 nm; and observe the cross-over from 2D to 1D magnetotransport. These measurements enable us to extract the wire width which is in excellent agreement with STM images of the patterned wire.

We then create STM-patterned Si:P wires with widths from 90 nm to 8 nm that show ohmic conduction and low resistivities of $1 - 20 \times 10^{-6} \Omega$ cm respectively – some of the highest conductivity wires reported in silicon. We study the dominant scattering mechanisms in the wires and find that temperature-dependent magnetoconductance can be described by a combination of both 1D weak localisation and 1D electron-electron interaction theories with a potential crossover to strong localisation at lower temperatures.

We present results from STM-patterned tunnel junctions with gap sizes of 50 nm and 17 nm exhibiting clean, non-linear characteristics. We also present preliminary conductance results from a 70×90 nm² dot between source-drain leads which show evidence of Coulomb blockade behaviour.

The thesis demonstrates the viability of using STM lithography to make devices in silicon down to atomic-scale dimensions. In particular, we show the enormous potential of this technology to directly correlate images of the doped regions with exsitu electrical device characteristics.

Acknowledgements

The last couple of years have been an exciting and very eventful time for me and I would like to express my gratitude to a number of people who had a considerable impact on the success of this project. First of all, I'd like to thank my supervisor Prof. Michelle Simmons for her unconditional enthusiasm and support throughout the course of my PhD. Her critical engagement in this project has had a significant influence on its success which inspired me to carefully consider the relevance of my research outcomes based on profound and detailed analysis. This in turn has helped me a great deal in writing this thesis in a succinct and precise manner.

I want to thank Dr. Lars Oberbeck for his professional support and help, particularly in setting up and putting this fabrication strategy into practice. Throughout the course, until the very last stage of thesis writing, I very much enjoyed working with Johnson Goh, with whom I had numerous discussions about the underlying physical concepts relevant to our system. His help was also crucial during the first measurements and analysis of STM-patterned devices, which, I believe, was a very exciting time for both of us. Another important benefactor were my discussions with A/Prof. Alex Hamilton particularly on the interpretation of device results and their implications on future devices, which contributed significantly to my current understanding.

Many thanks also go to Mladen Mitic, who not only showed respect for my project, but also contributed to its outcomes on a twofold basis, his technical EBL skills and, more importantly, his friendship.

I am indebted to the support of our technical managers, Dr. Eric Gauja and Bob Starett. Eric has been extremely helpful in all matters of clean room processing, whereas Bob's unique personality and his vast experience in low temperature measurements made working with him very easy and pleasurable.

Furthermore, I want to thank Wilson Pok for help and great teamwork, Dr. Thilo Reusch for help and fruitful discussions and Dr. Giordano Scappucci for a good time inside and outside the lab. Special thanks go to Bent Weber, who gave me a big hand with the involved analysis on the narrow wire. Thanks also go to Oleh Klochan for his engagement during the measurements of this device. Thinking back, I'll always remember the great time I shared with Toby Hallam on the single P incorporation experiments. I want to thank Dr. Matt Butcher for the time we were working together and Dr. Neil Curson for initially showing me how to use the STM.

I want to thank the fantastic staff at CQCT, in particular Alisha Toft (congratulations), Savita Sardana, Venus Lim, Dr. Rolf Brenner (Go Wildcards!), Jeremy Chu, Andrei Skougaresky, Dave Barber and Albert McMaster. I feel grateful towards Prof. Bob Clark for providing such a unique research environment which gave me an opportunity to work with excellent research equipment.

On a personal note, I wouldn't be at this point here today without the caring support of my parents, Reinhold and Irma, who have been my biggest supporters in all those years. I am indebted to my brother Hartmut, his wife Tine and my incredible nieces Ina and Maxi for showing me what life is really about. I have been fortunate enough to also have a local contact in Kristin Vogel on that matter. I want to thank Dr. Martin Both and Dr. Eveline Rudigier with whom I am sharing unconditional friendship since our first days at the University of Heidelberg. I want to thank Marisa Marolda for a sanity-saving friendship featuring unforgetable, trilingual conservation. I want to thank Heiko Katz for being Heiko Katz. Finally, I want to thank Tiru Kumar, for his friendship and crazy climbing weekends on climbs we should not have been on, and the Coogee Volleyball team for many opportunities to let off some steam.

I want to acknowledge the Australian Government and UNSW for providing me with an International Postgraduate Research Scholarship. This work was supported by the Australian Research Council, the Australian Government, the US National Security Agency, Advanced Research and Development Activity, Army Research Office under contract number DAAD19-01-1-0653, and the Semiconductor Research Corporation.



Change is created by those whose imaginations are bigger than their circumstances

-a dear friend

Contents

	Abs	tract.		. i
	Ack	nowled	lgements	. ii
	Tabl	e of Co	ontents	. V
	List	of Figu	Ires	. ix
	List	of Tabl	es	. xiii
	List	of Abb	reviations	. XV
	Pub	lication	is arising from this work	. xvii
1	Intr	oductio	on	1
2	Bacl	kgroun	d	6
	2.1	Scann	ing Probe Microscopy	. 6
		2.1.1	Bardeen's approach and the Tersoff-Hamann expression	. 7
		2.1.2	Vertical resolution	. 9
		2.1.3	Lateral resolution	. 9
	2.2	Opera	ating modes	. 10
		2.2.1	Constant current measurements	. 10
		2.2.2	Constant height measurements	. 10
		2.2.3	Scanning tunnelling spectroscopy	. 11
	2.3	STM:	manipulation at the atomic scale	. 11
	2.4	Silicon	α	. 12
		2.4.1	Si(100) surface	. 13
		2.4.2	Common defects on Si(100)	. 15
		2.4.3	Interaction and relevance of hydrogen on Si(100)	. 16
		2.4.4	Selective adsorption of gaseous species using STM lithography	. 18
		2.4.5	Thermal desorption of hydrogen from the Si(100) surface	. 18
	2.5	Electr	onic transport in mesoscopic systems	. 19
		2.5.1	From classical Drude theory to Fermi liquid theory	. 19
		2.5.2	Classical Hall effect and Quantum Hall effect	. 20
		2.5.3	Mesoscopic transport regimes	. 21
	2.6	Weak	localisation	. 23
		2.6.1	Dimensionality of weak localisation	. 25
		2.6.2	Crossover from 1D to 2D weak localisation in a magnetic field .	. 25
		2.6.3	Weak localisation in two dimensions	. 26
		2.6.4	Weak localisation in one dimension	. 27

		2.6.5 Dephasing mechanisms
		2.6.6 Dephasing mechanisms in 1D
		2.6.7 Electron-electron interactions
	2.7	Strong localisation
	2.8	Coulomb blockade
3	Exp	erimental methods 35
	3.1	Description of the STM-SEM/MBE system
	3.2	Cleanroom processing equipment
	3.3	Low temperature electrical device characterisation
		3.3.1 4K dip station
		3.3.2 Dilution refrigerator
4	Dev	velopment of a complete strategy for UHV STM device fabrication 47
	4.1	Introduction
	4.2	Overview of strategies to contact STM devices
		4.2.1 Metal markers
		4.2.2 Ion-implanted markers
		4.2.3 Etched markers
	4.3	Registration markers developed in this thesis
		4.3.1 Optimisation of pattern structures etched into Si
		4.3.2 Fabrication of registration markers
		4.3.3 Properties of registration markers during UHV fabrication process 67
	4.4	Outline of complete fabrication strategy
		4.4.1 UHV sample preparation
		4.4.2 Formation of the hydrogen resist
		4.4.3 STM-based hydrogen lithography 77
		4.4.4 Adsorption of PH_3 molecules and P atom incorporation 83
		4.4.5 Thermal hydrogen resist removal
		4.4.6 Encapsulation of P dopant structures with epitaxial Si 89
		4.4.7 Electrical activation of P dopants
		4.4.8 Alignment of surface contacts to buried Si:P devices
	4.5	Electrical characterisation of a patterned STM device
		4.5.1 I-V characteristics of control device
		4.5.2 I-V characteristics of P dopant square
	4.6	Chapter conclusion
5	Mag	gnetotransport properties of STM-defined devices 103
	5.1	$2D \delta$ -doped Si:P devices
		5.1.1 Summary of electrical characteristics of Si:P δ -doped devices 104
	5.2	Lateral continement of dopants using STM lithography
		5.2.1 Hall measurements of $4 \times 4 \ \mu m^2$ P dopant square 107
		5.2.2 Electron mobility and mean free path of P dopant square 108
		5.2.3 Weak localisation measurements of P dopant square 109
	5.3	Crossover from 2D to 1D in an STM-patterned wire

		5.3.1	Patterning of a 90 nm wide wire
		5.3.2	Magnetotransport behaviour
	5.4	Chapt	er summary
6	Nan	o- and	atomic-scale wires 117
	6.1	Resisti	vity of different P-doped nanowires in silicon
		6.1.1	EBL-defined nanowires
		6.1.2	Template growth
		6.1.3	Catalytic growth method
		6.1.4	STM-patterned nanowires
		6.1.5	Resistivity of silicon nanowires
	6.2	Si:P na	nowires fabricated in this thesis
	6.3	STM s	tudy of the wire integrity as a function of wire width
	6.4	Detail	ed electrical characterisation of a 27 nm wide wire
		6.4.1	Device characterisation at 4 K
		6.4.2	Electrical measurement setup for low temperature measurements 136
		6.4.3	Effect of Joule heating on the resistance at millikelvin temperature137
		6.4.4	The influence of magnetic field sweep rate
		6.4.5	Four terminal resistance from 200 mK to 110 K
		6.4.6	Overview of the temperature-dependent resistance
		6.4.7	Electron-phonon interaction above 4 K
		6.4.8	1D weak localisation corrections below 4 K
		6.4.9	Temperature dependent electron phase coherence
		6.4.10	Conductance corrections due to electron-electron interactions 155
		6.4.11	Potential crossover to strong localisation below 450 mK 158
	6.5	Outloo	ok: towards atomic-scale wires
		6.5.1	I-V characteristics of an 8 nm wide Si:P wire
	6.6	Chapt	er summary
7	Elec	trical c	haracterisation of STM-patterned tunnel junctions 169
	7.1	Tunne	l junction with 48 nm gap
		7.1.1	STM fabrication and device dimensions
		7.1.2	Electrical device characteristics
		7.1.3	Electrical device reproducibility
		7.1.4	Effect of external backgate on device conductance
		7.1.5	Substrate bias cooling
		7.1.6	Photon-assisted carrier generation
	7.2	Tunne	l junction of 17 nm gap size
		7.2.1	STM fabrication and device dimensions
		7.2.2	Electrical characterisation
	7.3	Chapt	er summary and further work

8	Form	nation	and electrical characterisation of STM-defined Si:P islands	194
	8.1	STM s	study on the formation of highly-doped Si:P islands	195
	8.2	Comb	bining registration markers created by optical and electron beam	
		lithog	raphy	199
	8.3	90×70) nm^2 Si:P island between source-drain leads	205
		8.3.1	Device fabrication	206
	8.4	Electri	ical characterisation of a 90×70 nm ² Si:P island \ldots	207
		8.4.1	Two terminal DC I-V characteristics	209
		8.4.2	Differential conductance behaviour at 4 K	211
		8.4.3	Interpretation of electrical results	213
		8.4.4	Influence of the backgate	219
	8.5	Outlo	ok	221
9	Con	clusior	n and future work	223
	9.1	Future	e work	227
		9.1.1	Planar nanowires	227
		9.1.2	Implementation of a gating strategy	228
		9.1.3	Atomic-scale devices	228
Α	Uni	ts and p	prefixes	251
	A.1	SI uni	ts	251
	A.2	Non-S	SI units	252
	A.3	SI pre	fixes	253
В	Fun	damen	tal and material properties of aluminium	255
	B.1	Funda	amental constants	255
	B.2	Mater	ial properties of aluminium	255
			1 1	

List of Figures

1.1	The number of components on a chip double roughly every 18 months as empirically found by G. Moore	2
2.1	Tunnel junction with sample, vacuum barrier and STM tip	7
2.2	atoms in the bulk	13
2.3	Si(100) surface reconstruction	14
2.4	Two types of step edges on the Si(100) surface.	15
2.5	Schematic of defect combinations resulting from type A and B dimer	
	vacancy (DV) defects.	16
2.6	Three different models proposed for the C defect of Si(100)	17
2.7	The different surface phases of H on Si(100)	17
2.8	Electron trajectories in a) the diffusive, b) the quasi-ballistic and c) the	
	ballistic regime	22
2.9	Dimensional crossover for $l_{\varphi} > w$ in a diffusive conductor $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	25
2.10	Typical electron wave functions: (a) extended electron state and (b) lo-	
	calised electron state with an exponential envelope of the wave func-	
	tion. $\xi = l_{\varphi}$ is the localisation length	31
2.11	Schematic diagram illustrating the origin of Coulomb blockade behaviour	33
3.1	A schematic overview of the custom-designed UHV STM-SEM/MBE	
	system	37
3.2	Combined STM-SEM/MBE system	38
3.3	A 1 cm ² Si sample in a custom-designed sample plate inside the UHV	
	sample transfer system between SEM-STM and MBE system	39
3.4	Sample stage inside the STM system	41
3.5	Lithography equipment inside the Semiconductor Nanofabrication Fa-	
	cility (SNF)	43
3.6	A 4 K liquid helium dip station inside the National Magnet Laboratory .	45
3.7	Dilution refrigerator setup inside the National Magnet Laboratory	45
4.1	Test mask for etched registration markers	59
4.2 4.3	Process flow for the fabrication of registration markers Optical microscope images of test pattern etched in silicon before and	60
	after SiO ₂ layer removal	61

4.4	Scanning electron microscope images of typical test patterns	63
4.5	A schematic of the optical mask developed for registration markers	66
4.6	SEM images of etched registration markers during the fabrication process	68
4.7	Surface quality and morphology of registration markers	70
4.8	Outline of a novel device fabrication strategy for the creation of Si:P	
	nano-scale devices using scanning probe microscopy	73
4.9	Temperature-dependent bonding phases of hydrogen on Si(100) rele-	
	vant for the formation of hydrogen resist and thermal hydrogen removal	75
4.10	Hydrogen termination quality for various substrate temperatures	76
4.11	Atomic resolution image of a hydrogen terminated Si(100):H surface	77
4.12	Atomic- and nano-scale STM lithography created in this work employ-	
	ing different bias regimes	78
4.13	Micrometre-scale STM lithography for buried device contacts	81
4.14	Multi-step STM lithography for atomic wire device formation	82
4.15	Molecular species on Si(100) after exposure to a saturation dose of PH_3 .	84
4.16	Filled state STM images of phosphine adsorption on a lithographically	
	patterned hydrogen passivated Si(100):H surface	86
4.17	Filled state STM images of phosphorus incorporation on the patterned	
	Si:H(100) surface	87
4.18	Filled state STM images of thermal desorption of the hydrogen resist	89
4.19	Low temperature epitaxial Si growth for device encapsulation	91
4.20	Four terminal contact mask pattern	93
4.21	Contact alignment for STM-fabricated devices	95
4.22	Contacted STM-patterned device	96
4.23	Process flow for the first STM-patterned device	98
4.24	I-V characteristics of the control device	99
4.25	I-V characteristics of a $4 \times 4 \ \mu m^2$ P dopant square	100
5.1	Electrical dopant activation of first STM device	108
5.2	Magnetotransport for the $4 \times 4 \ \mu m^2$ P-doped square	110
5.3	STM patterning of a 90 nm \times 900 nm P-doped wire	113
5.4	Magnetotransport for a 90 nm \times 900 nm P-doped wire \ldots	115
61	Key device parameters of P-doped silicon panowires	120
6.2	Four terminal I-V characteristics of a 90 nm \times 900 nm wire (triangles)	120
0.2	a 50 nm \times 310 nm wire (stars) and a 27 nm \times 320 nm wire (circles) at 4 K	123
6.3	Extraction of the electron phase coherence length at $T = 4 K$	125
6.4	STM study of STM-patterned PH ₂ -dosed wires	128
6.5	Fabrication process of a 27 nm wide Si P wire	133
6.6	Schematic of the 27 nm wire device	134
67	Two and four terminal I-V characteristics of the 27 nm wide wire at 4 K	135
6.8	Schematic of the electronic circuit for magnetotransport measurements	
0.0	in the dilution refrigerator	136
6.9	Four terminal resistance $R_{27}(I)$ at $T = 300$ mK as a function of the sample	
0.7	current	138

6.	10	Four terminal $R_{27}(I)$ dependence for smaller device currents at $T = 300$ mK	(138
6.	.11	Comparison of the temperature-dependent four terminal device resis-	
		tance $R_{27}(T,I)$ for different currents to illustrate the effect of sample heating	g139
6.	.12	Sweep rate dependence of the observed magnetoresistance at $T = 300 \text{ mK}$	(140
6.	.13	Four terminal resistance as a function of temperature for $27 \text{ nm} \times 320 \text{ nm}$	
		wire control device	142
6.	.14	Four terminal resistance of the 27 nm wire from 200 mK to $65 \text{ K} \dots \dots$	143
6.	15	The temperature dependence of the conductivity of the 27 nm \times 320 nm	
		wire from 4 K to 65 K	147
6.	16	Four terminal magnetoconductance in the temperature range from 300 mI	K
		to 4 K for a 27 nm wire	150
6.	.17	Temperature dependence of 6 different $l_{\varphi}(T)$ values obtained from 1D	
		weak localisation fitting	152
6.	18	The temperature dependence of the conduction correction ΔG	156
6.	.19	Strong localisation crossover at low temperatures	163
6.	.20	STM lithography for wires with widths approaching the atomic scale:	
		(a) 8 nm \times 57 nm and (b) 3.5 nm \times 50 nm \ldots	164
6.	.21	I-V characteristics of the 8 nm \times 57 nm wire	165
7	1	Four terminal tunnel junction device	172
7.	2	Four terminal differential conductance of a 48 pm wide STM-patterned	172
7.	~	tunnel junction (black) and integrated I-V curve (red) exhibiting non-	
		obmic behaviour	174
7	з	Comparison between four terminal (integrated $\frac{dI}{dI}$) conductance data	1/1
	.0	(black curve current: 1-2 voltage: 3-4) and two-terminal I-V data (red	
		curve 1-2 direction) obtained from DC measurements	176
7	4	Two terminal DC characterisation of the P-doped contact natches	176
7	5	Reproducibility of electrical characteristics of 48 nm tunnelling junction	177
7	6	Influence on leakage-induced charge injection on I-V characteristics	178
7	7	Random telegraph signals (RTS) arising from substrate charging	179
7	8	Effect of the chip backgate onto the differential resistance $\left(\frac{dV}{dV}\right)$	181
7	9	Bias cooling as a means of modulating device conductance $\binom{d}{dl}$, d and d	183
7	10	Comparison between bias cooling and leakage current	184
7	.11	Photosensitivity of the 48 nm tunnelling junction	186
7.	.12	Combined peak height distribution from Fig. 7.11	187
7	13	17 nm gap four terminal tunnel junction	189
7	.14	Two terminal DC I-V characteristic of a 17 nm tunnel junction	190
			170
8.	.1	STM study of a \sim 9 nm Si:P island with source-drain leads $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	196
8.	2	High resolution STM images of the \sim 9 nm Si:P island	197
8.	.3	Aligning EBL-fabricated markers to optical registration	201
8.	.4	SEM and STM images of optical- and EBL-fabricated markers	203
8.	.5	STM pattern alignment on a single terrace engineered using EBL-fabricate	ed
		markers	208
8.	.6	Two-terminal DC I-V curve of the large P-doped side patches	210

8.7	Two-terminal DC I-V curve across the 90×70 nm ² Si:P island
8.8	Differential conductance of the 90×70 nm ² Si:P island at 4 K $\dots \dots \dots 212$
8.9	Reproducibility after thermal cycling of the $90 \times 70 \text{ nm}^2$ Si:P island at
	T = 4 K
8.10	Equivalent circuit for a double barrier island system showing the capac-
	itive coupling between source, drain and gate leads 214
8.11	Differential conductance for various backgate voltages
8.12	Differential conductance at fixed source-drain voltage

List of Tables

2.1	Different phase-breaking mechanisms for quasi 2D and 1D samples in the disordered metal limit and the corresponding temperature dependence of the coherence length l_{φ}	29
4.1	Summary of the main approaches for relocating and/or contacting STM- fabricated devices created in UHV	50
4.2	Melting points of different materials commonly used in both, the semi- conductor industry and the research environment	52
4.3	Relationship between time and feature size for the decrease in marker depth from 350 nm to 100 nm by annealing to 1200 °C	71
5.1	A summary of key transport properties (carrier density n_s , electron mobility μ , mean free path l , phase coherence length l_{φ} and MBE growth temperature) for phosphorus in silicon δ -doped layers fabricated by different research around β .	0.4
5.2	Summary of n_s , μ , l and l_{φ} for a 4×4 μ m ² STM-patterned P dopant	.04
	square at temperatures of 4 K and 50 mK 1	11
5.3	Summary of n_s , μ , l and l_{φ} for a 90 nm wide and 900 nm long P dopant wire at temperatures of 4 K and 50 mK	.15
6.1	A summary of key device characteristics for the 90, 50 and 27 nm wires at $T = 4 K$	24
6.2	Variation of wire dimensions after STM lithography, phosphine adsorp- tion. P incorporation anneal at 350 °C and after 5 ML of Si encapsulation	
	at 250 °C	.31
6.3	Two terminal resistances of the 27 nm wide wire	.34
6.4	Temperature-dependent values of the fitted electron phase coherence	
	length l_{φ} , the thermal length l_T for the 27 nm wire and the ratio $\left(\frac{l_{\varphi}}{l_T}\right)^2$. 1	54
6.5	Trace elements in our 5N (99.999 %) Al electron beam evaporation source in parts per million (ppm)	.60
8.1	Fluctuations in device dimensions after STM lithography, PH ₃ dosing, P incorporation anneal at 370 $^{\circ}$ C and after STM-induced, local removal	
	of the hydrogen resist	.99

8.2	2 Initial etch depth, etch depth after annealing to 1200 °C and marker ex- tension on the Si surface after annealing for three different EBL marker		
	depths	4	
A.1	SI base units	1	
A.2	Some SI derived units	2	
A.3	Some non-SI units	3	
A.4	SI Prefixes	4	
B.1	A selection of fundamental constants	6	
B.2	Material properties of bulk Al	6	

List of Abbreviations

The following list includes both widely used abbreviations and abbreviations defined in the context of this work. Lists of symbols for selected SI units, non-SI units and SI prefixes are included in App. A. Symbols for some relevant fundamental constants are listed in App. B.1, and a list of relevant properties of Al is included in App. B.2.

1D	One dimensional
2D	Two dimensional
3D	Three dimensional
AB	Aharonov-Bohm
AC	Alternate current
AFF	Atomic Fabrication Facility
CB	Coulomb blockade
CQCT	Centre for Quantum Computer Technology
DC	Direct current
EBL	Electron-beam lithography
FIB	Focused ion beam
HMDS	Hexamethyl disilizane: (CH ₃) ₃ SiNHSi(CH ₃) ₃
IPA	Isopropyl alcohol: (CH ₃) ₂ CHOH
IVC	Inner vacuum chamber
MBE	Molecular beam epitaxy
MOSFET	Metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistor
NML	National Magnet Laboratory
NW	Nano wire
OVC	Outer vacuum chamber
PMMA	Poly(methyl-methacrylate): $H[CH_2C(CH_3)(COOCH_3)]_nH$
QC	Quantum computer/computing
QCA	Quantum-dot cellular automata
QM	Quantum mechanics/mechanical
qubit	Quantum bit
QW	Quantum wire
RIE	Reactive ion etching

RT	Room temperature ($T = 20 \text{ °C} = 293.15 \text{ K}$)
RTS	Random telegraph signal
SEM	Scanning electron microscope/microscopy
SET	Single-electron (tunnelling) transistor
SI	Système International d'Unités
Si:P	Silicon doped with phosphorous
SIMS	Secondary ion mass spectroscopy
SL	Strong localisation
SNF	Semiconductor Nanofabrication Facility
SSQC	Solid-state quantum computer/computing
STM	Scanning tunnelling microscope/microscopy
STS	Scanning tunnelling spectroscopy
UHV	ultra high vacuum typically below 10^{-10} mbar
UV	Ultraviolet
WKB	Wentzel-Kramers-Brillouin
WL	Weak localisation
XPS	X-ray photoemission spectroscopy

Publications arising from this work

Peer reviewed journals

- Rueß, F. J., T. C. G. Reusch, Pok, W., Scappucci, G., Hamilton, A. R., Simmons, M. Y., Formation and electrical characterisation of STM-defined, metallic Si:P islands. *In preparation* (2006)
- [2] Rueß, F. J., B. Weber, Goh, K. E. J., Hamilton, A. R., Simmons, M. Y., Detailed study on the dephasing mechanisms in a narrow, STM-fabricated Si:P nanowire in the vicinity of the Thouless crossover. *In preparation* (2006)
- [3] Rueß, F. J., Simmons, M. Y., Goh, K. E. J., Butcher, M. J., B. Weber, T. C. G. Reusch, Oberbeck, L., Hamilton, A. R., Electrical properties of Si:P nanowires fabricated by STM. *Submitted to Special Issue of Nanotechnology* (2006)
- [4] Rueß, F. J., Pok, W., Goh, K. E. J., Hamilton, A. R., Simmons, M. Y., Ex-situ electrical characterisation of nano-scale tunnel junctions in silicon created by STM. *Submitted to Nano Letters* (2006)
- [5] Rueß, F. J., Oberbeck, L., Goh, K. E. J., Butcher, M. J., Gauja E., Hamilton, A. R., Simmons, M. Y., The use of etched registration markers to make four terminal contacts to buried STM-patterned nanostructures. *Nanotechnology* 16, 2446 (2005)
- [6] Hallam, T., Rueß, F. J., Curson, N. J., Goh, K. E. J., Simmons, M. Y., Oberbeck, L., Clark R. G., The removal of hydrogen resists used to pattern atomic-scale devices in silicon. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 86, 143116, (2005)
- [7] Simmons, M. Y., Rueß, F. J., Goh, K. E. J., Hallam, T., Schofield, S. R., Oberbeck, L., Curson, N. J., Hamilton, A. R., Butcher, M., Clark R. G., and Reusch, T. C. G., Scanning probe microscopy for silicon device fabrication. *Molecular Simulation* 31, 505(2005)
- [8] Rueß, F. J., Oberbeck, L., Simmons, M. Y., Goh, K. E. J., Hamilton, A. R., Hallam, T., Schofield, S. R., Curson, N. J., Clark R. G., Toward atomic-scale devices fabrication in silicon using scanning probe microscopy. *Nano Letters* 4, 10, 1969-1970 (2004)

- [9] Schofield, S. R., Curson, N. J., Simmons, M. Y., Rueß, F. J., Hallam, T., Oberbeck, L., Clark R. G., Atomically precise placement of single dopants in Si. *Phys. Rev. Letters* 91, 13, 136104 (2003)
- [10] Clark, R. G., Brenner, R., Buehler, T. M., Chan, V., Curson, N. J., Dzurak, A. S., Gauja, E., Goan, H. S., Greentree, A. D., Hallam, T., Hamilton, A. R., Hollenberg, L. C. L., Jamieson, D. N., McCallum, J. C., Milburn, G. J., O'Brien, J. L., Oberbeck, L., Pakes, C. I., Prawer, S. D., Reilly, D. J., Rueß, F. J., Schofield, S. R., Simmons, M. Y., Stanley, F. E., Starrett, R. P., Wellard, C., and Yang, C., Progress in silicon-based quantum computation. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. A* 361, 1451 (2003)

Conference proceedings

- [1] Rueß, F. J., Oberbeck, L., Simmons, M. Y., Goh, K. E. J., Hamilton, A. R., Hallam, T., Schofield, S. R., Curson, N. J., Clark R. G., The fabrication of devices in silicon using scanning probe microscopy. *Proc. SPIE Int. Soc. Opt. Eng.* 5649, 306 (2005)
- [2] Schofield, S. R., Curson, N. J., Simmons, M. Y., Rueß, F. J., Hallam, T., Oberbeck, L., Clark R. G., Atomic control placement of individual P atoms in Si for the fabrication of a quantum computer qubit array. *Nanotech* 2003 2, 68 (2003)

Highlight articles

- Editors' Choice: Highlights of the recent literature Applied Physics: Registering Nanostructures. Science Magazine Vol. 306, p1103 (2004) review of Nano Letters 4, 10, 1969-1970 (2004)
- [2] Research News: Marking out Atomic-Scale Devices. Materials Today Magazine Vol. 7, Issue 12, p18 (2004) – review of Nano Letters 4, 10, 1969-1970 (2004)
- [3] Materials Research Society (MRS) Research News November 2004, www.mrs.org/connections/matl_news_ext_2004b.html#nov04
 – review of *Nano Letters* 4, 10, 1969-1970 (2004)

Conference presentations

- [1] **Oral presentation**, Electrical properties of atomically controlled Si:P devices created by scanning probe microscopy. 28th International Conference on the *Physics of Semiconductors*, 24-28/07/2006, Vienna, Austria
- [2] Contributed talk, Fabrication of silicon devices with atomically precise dop-. ing using scanning tunnelling microscopy 23rd European Conference on Surface Science, 4-9/9/2005, Berlin, Germany

- [3] Scheduled talk, STM-based Si:P devices. US National Security Agency visit to Centre for Quantum Computer Technology, 6/6/2005, Sydney, Australia
- [4] Contributed talk, Scanning Probe Microscopy for Silicon Device Fabrication. SPIE International Symposium on Smart Materials, Nano and Micro-Smart Systems, 12-15/12/2004, Sydney, Australia
- [5] Poster, The Fabrication of Nano-scale Devices in Silicon using Scanning Probe Microscopy. 2nd NTT- BRL School on Transport Properties in Quantum Nanostructures, 08-14/10/2004, Fuji-yoshida, Japan
- [6] Invited talk, Fabrication of nano-scale devices in silicon using scanning probe microscopy. 28th Annual Condensed Matter and Materials Meeting, Charles Sturt University, 03-06/02/2004, Wagga Wagga, Australia
- [7] Contributed talk, Fabrication of nano-scale devices in silicon using scanning probe microscopy. *International Conference on Nanometre-Scale Science and Technology (NANO-8)*, 28/06-02/07 2004, Venice, Italy
- [8] Highlight talk, Fabrication of nano-scale devices in silicon using STM. Centre for Quantum Computer Technology, Annual Workshop, 09-13/02/2004, Avoca Beach, Australia
- [9] **Contributed talk**, Scanning Probe Microscopy for Silicon Device Fabrication. *4th Annual Coogee Bay Meeting*, 09/12/2004, Coogee, Australia
- [10] Contributed talk, Fabrication of nano-scale devices in silicon using STM. Atomically Controlled Surfaces, Interfaces and Nanostructures-7 Conference, 16-20/11/2003, Nara, Japan
- [11] Poster, Registration for Nano-Scale Devices. US/Australia Workshop on Solid-State and Optical Approaches to Quantum Information Science, 07-10/01/2003, Newport, Australia
- [12] Poster, Registration for Nano-Scale Devices. 27th Annual Condensed Matter and Materials Meeting, Charles Sturt University, 04-07/02/2003, Wagga Wagga, Australia
- [13] Contributed talk, Registration for the fabrication of nano-scale devices using scanning probe microscopy. 3rd Annual Coogee Bay Meeting, 20/12/2002, Coogee, Australia

Patents

- [1] **PCT/Au2004/001118 :** Fabricating nano- and atomic scale devices
- [2] PCT/Au2004/001119 : Buried quantum device

Chapter 1 Introduction

The annual turnover of the electronics/semiconductor industries is over 1 trillion dollars constituting 10 % of the gross domestic product of the planet. The driving force for the continued expansion of the microelectronics industry is the ability to pack even more features onto a silicon chip, achieved by continual miniaturisation of the size of the individual components. Over the past three decades, this trend, known as *Moore's Law* has continued with the number of components on a chip doubling roughly every 18 months as shown in Fig. 1.1. Current state-of-the-art optical lithography used in commercial semiconductor manufacturing produces feature sizes down to ~90 nm [1]. Most recently, researchers at IBM's Almaden Research Center have developed interference immersion lithography which uses two intersecting laser beams to create interference patterns with spacings as narrow as ~30 nm [2]. If device miniaturisation continues at the same rate then by ~2017 commercial device sizes will reach the subnanometre scale. To date, the only tools that have allowed the manipulation of matter at the atomic level are scanning probe microscopes.

Since the invention of the scanning tunnelling microscope (STM) in 1982 by Binnig and Rohrer [3], STMs have been used to create real space images of conducting surfaces with sub-atomic resolution. The seminal work by Eigler *et al.* [4] demonstrated that STMs can also be used to manipulate matter at the atomic level. A beautiful example is the STM-manipulated formation of a *quantum corral* [5] consisting of a circular arrangement of Fe atoms on a Cu surface, where STM imaging allowed the investigation of the wave nature of electrons on the surface of a metal. Atomic manipulation in semiconductors however has not been so easy due to the strong covalent bonds, requiring large voltages that damage the crystalline structure [6]. STM studies of the silicon surface date back to 1986 when Hamers *et al.* published the first real



Figure 1.1: The number of components on a chip double roughly every 18 months as empirically found by G. Moore. As a consequence, device sizes will reach the sub-nanometre scale by ~2017. *left inset:* Scanning electron microscope image of a transistor circuit. *right inset:* STM image of a hydrogen-terminated Si(100):H surface created in this thesis. 5 individual hydrogen atoms (bright features) were desorbed from the surface using STM lithography demonstrating atomic-scale pattern control.

space images of the electronic properties of Si(111) [7] and Si(100) [8]. Since then, the properties of the Si(100) surface have been widely studied due to its extensive use in the semiconductor industry. However, to achieve atomic manipulation in this system without damaging the surface, a resist strategy was developed similar to that found in the semiconductor industry, where optical lithography is used [9], [10], [11], [12]. The basic concept involves passivating the silicon surface with hydrogen atoms thus forming an atomic monolayer of hydrogen resist. The extremely confined electron beam from an STM tip can then be used to remove multiple and even individual hydrogen atoms from this resist under certain voltage and current conditions thereby exposing the silicon surface underneath. These highly reactive dangling bonds can then be used for the adsorption of atomic and molecular species. Initial studies on the hydrogen-passivated Si(111) surface by Becker *et al.* [9] proved the concept, before the process was demonstrated on the technologically more prevalent Si(100) surface by various other groups [10], [11], [12].

This approach has since been adopted to form nano-scale features on the silicon surface for the subsequent adsorption of numerous materials including oxygen [11], ammonia [13], aluminium [14], gallium [15], silver [16], cobalt [17], [18] and

phosphine [19]. More recently, the adsorption of organic molecules such as Styrene [20], TEMPO [21], Vinylferrocene [22] and carbon nanotubes (CNT) [23] on an STM-patterned, hydrogen-terminated Si surface has been reported in the emerging field of molecular electronics. However, since 1997, there has been a growing interest to incorporate STM-based lithography into proposals for atomic-scale semiconductor device fabrication [19], [24], [25], [26]. To date, few device structures have been realised [27], [28], [29], [30], [31] due to the technological difficulty of making electrical contact to the STM-patterned region. However, one of the key advantages of using an STM for device patterning is, that it allows us to observe each stage of the fabrication process and see exactly where the adsorbates are, so that we can relate the structural distribution at the atomic-scale directly to its electrical device characteristics.

As mentioned, one of the major hurdles for making functional semiconductor devices with the STM is connecting leads to the device once it is removed from the UHV environment. In this thesis, we concentrate on the use of the STM to pattern a hydrogen resist layer for the subsequent adsorption of phosphorus dopants in silicon via a phosphine source. Since the STM can essentially create an atomically perfect device, there is little contrast between the STM-patterned dopants and their surrounding silicon environment, making the device invisible to optical and electron beam microscopes. As a consequence, it is necessary to register the STM-patterned structure to some sort of feature or marker on the silicon surface before it is removed from the vacuum. These markers can then be used to align macroscopic contacts to the buried dopant structure to form a device, so that we can perform electrical measurements. One way to overcome this challenge is to develop registration markers that survive all the high temperature and UHV-STM fabrication steps, without contaminating the atomically flat surface required for atomic-scale STM imaging and lithography.

This thesis contains the development of such an ultra-high vacuum compatible (UHV) strategy for atomically controlled STM device fabrication. The fabrication process is based on the development of (1) registration markers etched into the silicon, (2) hydrogen based STM lithography for device patterning, (3) harnessing the self-terminating adsorption properties of phosphine gas as a dopant source, (4) thermal P incorporation from the phosphine molecule into the top Si layer and hydrogen resist removal, (5) low temperature silicon molecular beam epitaxy for device encapsulation and (6) ex-situ alignment of metal contacts to the buried devices using the registration markers to allow four terminal, temperature-dependent conductance measurements.

In particular, we demonstrate (Chapter 4) a novel UHV compatible device fabrication strategy for the realisation of nano- and atomic-scale devices in silicon which uses a combination of etched registration markers and a custom designed STM-SEM/molecular beam epitaxy system. We demonstrate various intermediate steps of the fabrication process to show that hydrogen acts as a perfect resist layer and that the STM desorption process leads to complete resist removal. We also demonstrate the registration marker concept by contacting a $4 \times 4 \ \mu m^2$ sized P-doped device. Comparison between an unpatterned control device and the P-doped device confirm that the alignment of surface contacts to the buried STM pattern truly leads to conduction through buried P dopants.

In Chapter 5, we present Hall measurements on this square device clearly demonstrating that electrical dopant activation of the P dopants is not affected by the lithographic process. We then go on to compare this with a device, where we further confine the P dopants by STM patterning into a 90 nm wide wire. We observe a crossover from 1D to 2D magnetotransport behaviour of this device at low temperatures, where the electron phase coherence length exceeds the width of the wire. The magnetic length at the crossover point is used to extract the electrical width of the wire which shows excellent agreement with the 90 nm wire width patterned by STM.

In Chapter 6, we investigate the electrical transport characteristics of a series of STM-patterned wires from widths of 50 nm to 8 nm. We show that the wires remain structurally intact and observe ohmic conduction down to widths of 8 nm with very low resistivities $(1 - 20 \times 10^{-6} \ \Omega \text{cm})$ compared to the literature. Particular focus is given to a detailed temperature-dependent, electrical characterisation of a 27 nm wide wire, in order to study what scattering mechanisms limit device conductance at millikelvin temperatures. We show that the conductance is affected by electron-phonon dephasing at higher temperatures. At intermediate temperatures the conductance correction is dominated by 1D weak localisation and electron-electron interaction effects. Finally at low temperature, we observe the onset of strong localisation in this highly doped, planar nanowire which is likely to limit the wire conductance for thinner wires towards the atomic-scale.

In Chapter 7, we explore the electrical characteristics of tunnel junctions with gap sizes down to 17 nm formed between two buried P-doped leads patterned by the STM. The corresponding I-V characteristics are highly non-linear exhibiting smooth, low noise differential conductances with no sign of resonant tunnelling or Coulomb

blockade behaviour. The clean results obtained from these tunnelling junctions bode well for the fabrication of more sophisticated devices such as single electron transistors (SETs).

We pursue the formation of one such Coulomb blockade type device structure, where transport is governed by single electron charging effects, in Chapter 8. In particular, we report on the formation of Si:P dots with island sizes down to 10×10 nm² corresponding to ~100 P dopants. Electrical measurement results of a 70×90 nm² source-island-drain device suggest that device characteristics at 4 K are governed by Coulomb blockade behaviour.

Overall, the thesis demonstrates the ability of the STM to pattern devices with dimensions to below <10 nm. By using a novel registration technique, it is now possible to align ex-situ macroscopic contacts to buried STM-fabricated Si:P devices using conventional optical lithography. The electrical characterisation of devices such as narrow Si:P wires, tunnel junctions and Coulomb blockade devices enable the study of their characteristic transport properties at low temperatures and provides vital information for the fabrication of devices with feature sizes approaching the quantum limit. The achievement of electrical device characterisation together with the recent demonstration of single P atom placement with atomic precision [32] make STM-based fabrication strategies a suitable candidate technology for the fabrication of more advanced semiconductor devices down to the atomic-scale such as a solid state quantum computer [33]. Here, either the electron or nuclear spin of single phosphorus acts as quantum bit (qubit). A considerable challenge for the future realisation of such atomic-scale devices is the incorporation and alignment of surface gates to control the charge transfer between the phosphorus atoms. For this purpose, several pathways to implement an insulating barrier, separating the device from the gate, are currently under way in our group.

However, a key advantage of this fabrication technique is that devices can be monitored with atomic precision as they are made, allowing, for the first time, to correlate device specific dopant distribution with the results from electrical device characterisation. Finally, using this strategy, it will be possible to perform multilevel STMpatterning. In combination with atomic precision MBE growth, this will allow the formation of truly 3D atomic-scale devices, giving atomic-scale patterning resolution in all three spatial dimensions.

Chapter 2 Background

2.1 Scanning Probe Microscopy

Ever since the invention of the scanning tunnelling microscope by Binnig and Rohrer [3] at IBM Rüschlikon, Switzerland 25 years ago, the STM has found its way as a standard research tool for the study of conducting surfaces at the atomic level. The minimal lateral extension of the wavefunction of a sharp metal tip in combination with the exponentially sensitive tunnelling current are the key reasons which provide scanning probe techniques with the unique capability to image and manipulate individual atoms.

Atomic level control implies a high level of mechanical stability, positioning at the atomic-scale and stable feedback operation between the acquired measurement current and the positioning unit. This is generally achieved by means of different vibrational damping mechanisms such as eddy-current damping or airleg damping in order to decouple the STM from its environment. Accurate positioning is achieved using piezo-ceramic actuators.

By approaching the tip of an STM close to a metallic or semiconducting surface, electrons can tunnel from the tip to the sample or, vice versa depending on the polarity of the bias voltage. By scanning the STM tip over the sample surface, a topological map z(x,y) is obtained which comprises a convolution between the topographic and electronic properties of the sample. STM imaging performed by tunnelling from the tip into unoccupied sample states is referred to as *empty state* imaging whereas tunnelling from occupied sample states to the tip is known as *filled state* imaging.

In this section, the underlying theoretical foundation of the principal mode of operation of the STM is presented. Whereas the basic operation mode can be explained



Figure 2.1: Tunnel junction with sample, vacuum barrier and STM tip. States with energies between the Fermi levels of the tip and the sample over the energy range eU contribute to the tunnel current. $\Phi_{s,t}$ denotes the work function of the sample and tip respectively.

using relatively simple quantum tunnelling pictures, the quantitative interpretation of STM images is a somewhat more complicated topic and the subject of active research. Excellent reviews on the theoretical description of STM [34], [35], [36] have been written to which the interested reader may refer to for a more detailed treatment.

2.1.1 Bardeen's approach and the Tersoff-Hamann expression

Bardeen's early work on macroscopic tunnel junctions [37] is historically the starting point for a qualitative description of the tunnelling process. The tunnelling current strongly depends on the overlap between the tip and the sample state and can be obtained by summing over all relevant sample and tip states. The resulting current after the application of a small bias voltage is given by:

$$I \propto \int \left(f(E_F + \varepsilon) - f(E_F - eU + \varepsilon) \right) \rho_s(E_F + \varepsilon) \rho_t(E_F - eU + \varepsilon) \mid M \mid^2 d\varepsilon$$
(2.1)

where $f(E) = \frac{1}{1+exp(E/kT)}$ is the Fermi-Dirac distribution function and $\rho_{s,t}(E)$ are the density of states (DOS) for the sample and the tip respectively. The gap voltage between STM and sample is labelled U, ε denotes the energy difference with respect to the Fermi energy E_F . In Bardeen's approximation, the matrix M contains the tunnelling elements which are approximated by the exchange integral that describes quantum tunnelling from sample to tip states (or vice versa):

$$\langle \varphi \mid M \mid \psi \rangle \approx -\frac{\hbar^2}{2m} \int \psi(\mathbf{r}) \Delta \varphi(\mathbf{r}) - \varphi(\mathbf{r}) \Delta \psi(\mathbf{r}) d\mathbf{n}$$
 (2.2)

where $\varphi(\mathbf{r})$, $\psi(\mathbf{r})$ are the electron wavefunctions emerging from the Hamiltonian in the sample and the tip respectively and $d\mathbf{n}$ is a vector normal to a surface of constant energy.

For low temperatures ($T \rightarrow 0$), small bias voltages or where the experimental energy resolution is smaller than kT, the Fermi-Dirac distribution in Eq. 2.1 can be replaced by Heavyside (step-) functions. Thus Eq. 2.1 reduces to

$$I \propto \int \rho_s(z, E_F + \varepsilon) \rho_t(E_F - eU + \varepsilon) \mid M \mid^2 d\varepsilon$$
(2.3)

where $\rho_s(z, E)$ is the local density of states (LDOS) at a location *z* and energy *E*, defined as:

$$\rho(z, E) \doteq \frac{1}{\epsilon} \sum_{E_n = E - \epsilon}^{E} |\Psi_n(z)|^2$$
(2.4)

where $|\Psi_n(z)|^2$ is the probability density of a sample state. From Eq. 2.3, we can see that the tunnelling current *I* depends on the *integral* over the LDOS of the sample.

For metal surfaces, we can assume that the density of states in the tip and the sample and the elements of |M| are nearly constant over the probed energy range E from E_F to $E_F - eU$ and $E \sim E_F$ due to the small applied voltages needed for imaging. A simple expression for the tunnelling current is then obtained:

$$I \propto U\rho_s(E_F)\rho_t(E_F) \tag{2.5}$$

Derivation of Eq. 2.5 yields the differential conductance:

$$\frac{dI}{dU} \propto \rho_s(E_F)\rho_t(E_F) \tag{2.6}$$

Therefore the differential conductance is a measure of the local density of states since $\rho_t(E_F)$ was assumed constant in first order approximation, which is a valid assumption for metals. Tersoff and Hamann [38], [39] derived a similar expression for the tunnelling current by modelling the electron wavefunction of the tip by radially symmetric wavefunctions, namely

$$I \propto U \cdot \rho_s(E_F, r_0) \rho_t(E_F) \tag{2.7}$$

where r_0 is the centre of curvature of the STM tip.

As a consequence of the surface band gap in most semiconductors¹, the applied STM voltage is of order $\pm 1 - 10$ V. Therefore, the *low voltage* approximation does

¹The indirect band gap of Si is 1.4 eV.

not hold anymore. To accommodate for the higher applied bias, Hamers *et al.* [36] modified Eq. 2.3 by replacing the tunnelling matrix M with an energy-dependent tunnelling coefficient T(E, eU):

$$I \propto \int \rho_s(E_F + \varepsilon) \rho_t(E_F - eU + \varepsilon) \mid T(\varepsilon, eU) \mid^2 d\varepsilon$$
(2.8)

The transmission coefficient contains information about the energy-dependent decay of the electron wavefunction and the voltage dependence of the vacuum barrier formed between the tip and the sample. A simple model [36] of the vacuum barrier is a linear potential drop of the applied voltage on the barrier resulting into a trapezoidal shape. Using the Wentzel-Kramer-Brillouin (WKB) method to obtain the respective wavefunction for such a potential, T(E, eU) can be approximated by

$$T(E,eU) = e^{-\frac{2z\sqrt{2m}}{\hbar}\sqrt{\frac{\Phi_s + \Phi_t}{2} + \frac{eU}{2} - E}}$$
(2.9)

where z is the sample tip distance, $\Phi_{s,t}$ are the work functions of sample and tip respectively. At higher bias voltages, the tunnelling current is not directly related to the LDOS anymore. Instead states with higher energies above the Fermi level govern the tunnelling current due to their lower tunnelling barrier. Therefore the interpretation of STM images of semiconductor surfaces in the higher bias regime is more complicated.

2.1.2 Vertical resolution

The vertical resolution of STM [34] may be estimated from the textbook solution of 1D quantum tunnelling, where the barrier height is given by:

$$\Phi = \frac{\hbar^2}{8m} \left(\frac{d \ln I}{dz}\right)^2 \tag{2.10}$$

Using the work function of Si and that of W, the most commonly used STM tip material, $\Phi \sim 4.8$ eV, the tunnelling current changes by one order of magnitude for a height displacement of 1 Å. For comparison, an atomic step on the Si(100) surface corresponds to a geometric height change of 1.4 Å. High resolution images with vertical resolutions <0.5 Å are regularly observed in STM experiments from our group and others.

2.1.3 Lateral resolution

For obtaining high quality topographic images of the sample surface, it is not only important to have a high vertical resolution but also a high lateral resolution, i.e. in the (x, y) sample plane. Tersoff and Hamann [38] derived an expression to estimate lateral resolution:

$$\Delta x = \left(\frac{\hbar \cdot (r_0 + l)}{\sqrt{4m(\Phi - E)}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
(2.11)

where, r_0 refers to the curvature of the tip apex and l stands for the tip sample separation. In the limit of low bias voltages, using the work functions for Si and W, the typical sample tip distance of a few Å and a tip apex curvature of a few nanometres, the estimated lateral resolution is only of order 1 - 2 nm insufficient to explain the sub-atomic resolution observed experimentally [40]. This estimation led researchers to believe, that the tunnelling current is mainly carried by a single atom sitting at the end of the STM tip. Indeed, it was widely accepted that atomic resolution images are obtained by tunnelling from a single atom as first proposed by Lang et al. [41]. However Yang *et al.* [42] performed atomic charge superposition calculations of STM images of glycine and alanine on a graphite surface and found that for interpretation of the images, STM tip states have to be taken into account. They concluded that the high resolution stems from tunnelling into a *d*-type localised state of the W tip. This shows, that for a precise analysis of the atomic resolution capability, the (materialspecific) tip and sample states have to be taken into consideration.

2.2 Operating modes

2.2.1 Constant current measurements

The most commonly used mode of operation of an STM (also used in this thesis) is the constant current mode, where the height change *z* across the surface is measured at a constant tunnelling current. This necessitates a feedback loop between the positioning instruments and the tunnelling current such that the sample tip distance is adjusted to keep the average tunnelling current constant. The height changes *z* are measured as a function of the lateral piezo displacement (*x*, *y*). The resulting matrix is a convoluted representation of the sample's electronic and geometric topography.

2.2.2 Constant height measurements

In constant height mode, the sample tip distance is held constant and the variation of the tunnelling current is measured across the (x, y) plane. This mode of operation is

convenient since it does not require a feedback loop. However, it is only suitable for small scan areas, since the STM tip is likely to collide with the sample surface due to sample tilt, corrugation and thermal drift.

2.2.3 Scanning tunnelling spectroscopy

From Eq. 2.3, we can see that the voltage-dependent tunnelling current measurements provides information of the integral LDOS governed by those energy states with the highest energies due to a lower tunnelling barrier. Therefore, by imaging the sample surface using different bias voltages, information about the LDOS may be obtained.

Such a measurement can be performed in two different ways. One way is to sequentially image the sample surface under different bias conditions thus obtaining a topological map z(x,y) at various constant biases. In order to obtain information about the LDOS close to the surface band gap, where the tunnelling current is low, a better way is to fix the tip height at a fixed point of the surface area (x, y) with a higher, constant tunnelling current I_0 and then, by varying the STM tip bias, measure the superimposed $\frac{dI}{dV}$ characteristics. This technique is known as Constant Imaging Tunnelling Spectroscopy (CITS). A complete topographic image consisting of a three-dimensional tunnelling current matrix $\frac{dI}{dV}(x, y, V)$ is obtained by a step and repeat procedure across the (x,y) plane. We have applied this technique in Chapter 6 to investigate the integrity of Si:P wires buried under a few monolayers of epitaxial silicon.

In order to interpret STM tunnelling spectroscopy measurements in terms of the surface LDOS, it is common practice to normalise $\frac{dI}{dV}$ by dividing by $\frac{I}{V}$, as proposed by Stroscio and co-workers [43]. This normalisation eliminates the exponential dependance of the transmission probability on the STM bias and expresses the normalised tunnelling conductivity as $\frac{dI}{dV} \cdot \frac{V}{I} = \frac{dlnI}{dlnV} \approx \rho_S(E)$, which represents an approximation of the sample LDOS.

2.3 STM: manipulation at the atomic scale

So far, we have only discussed the use of STM as an imaging tool. However, a key use of STMs has been their application to position and manipulate matter at the atomic scale. The following list summarises the basic manipulation processes as identified by IBM Zürich Research Laboratory.

- Lateral manipulation: The transfer of atoms/molecules along the surface employing for example attractive/repulsive forces between the tip and the adsorbate [5].
- Vertical manipulation: The reversible transfer of atoms/molecules between the surface and the STM tip employing additionally electronic/vibrational excitation of the adsorbate by inelastic tunnelling [44].
- Desorption: Similar to vertical manipulation, but desorption of individual adsorbates directly into the surrounding gas phase [12].
- Dissociation: Selective bond breaking within a molecule by means of inelastic tunnelling processes [45], [46].
- Synthesis: Selective bond formation between two molecular units employing lateral manipulation followed by electronic/vibrational excitation [47], [48].
- Change of intramolecular conformation: Attractive/repulsive forces between the STM tip and the adsorbate can be applied to change the intramolecular conformation of usually specially designed molecules [49], [50].

2.4 Silicon

Silicon is one of the most extensively studied materials due to its use in the semiconductor industry. It forms the basis of a huge class of electronic devices such as transistors, microprocessors and solar cells.

The lattice structure of bulk silicon consists of a unit cell with four Si atoms. Each atom is sp^3 hybridised forming a covalent bond to four neighbouring atoms. The lattice type is the diamond type face centred cubic (fcc) Bravais lattice with a two atomic primitive basis of two Si atoms sitting at positions with respective Miller indices of (0,0,0) and $(\frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{4})$.

A three dimensional schematic of bulk Si is shown in Fig. 2.2. The experimental work presented in this thesis has been performed on the $Si(100)-2 \times 1$ surface reconstruction. In the following, we focus on the properties of the Si(100) surface although a variety of different reconstruction exist [52].

2.4. Silicon



Figure 2.2: A schematic image highlighting the tetrahedral arrangement of silicon atoms in **the bulk.** Taken from [51].

2.4.1 Si(100) surface

A perfect cut along the Si(100) axis is illustrated in Fig. 2.3 (a). Here, each atom has two broken bonds [Fig. 2.3 (b)] protruding from the surface, which are commonly referred to as *dangling bonds*. These dangling bonds are highly reactive, making this surface energetically unfavourable, thus it undergoes a *reconstruction* to minimise its free energy. The resulting surface configuration is known as the 2×1 reconstruction. Two Si atoms pair up to form a strong, directed σ bond and a weakly coupled π bond. A schematic of the resulting surface is seen in Fig. 2.3 (b). Pairs of Si atoms, called *dimers*, form rows on the surface with a 2×1 periodicity with a distance between Si dimers of 7.6 Å. The energy level diagram arising from the coupling of dangling bond orbital of the Si atoms in Fig. 2.3 (d) shows the two bonding orbitals, σ and π , as well as the two anti-bonding orbitals σ^* and π^* . At low negative bias, electrons mainly tunnel through the π bonding state (filled state image). For low positive bias (empty state imaging), however, the main contribution arises from tunnelling into π^* antibonding state. The different spatial energy level distribution of the π and π^* states gives rise to a bias-dependent electronic topography making a Si dimer appear as a bean-shape in filled state or a pair of protrusions in empty state imaging respectively.

The first unequivocal confirmation of the Si(100) 2×1 reconstruction came with the first STM images of the Si(100) surface in 1985 [8], [53] and confirmed earlier theoretical predictions by Chadi [54] that the basis unit of the Si(100) is the Si dimer. Chadi's calculations also predicted, that the surface free energy is further minimised by a transfer of charge from one of the dimer atoms to the other. The charge transfer results in dimer buckling across the surface with a buckling angle of 19°. However,





Figure 2.3: Si(100) surface reconstruction. (a) Ideal Si(100) surface. (b) Reconstructed Si(100) 2×1 surface. (c) Dangling bonds of a single Si atoms. (d) Si dimer bonding formation consisting of a directed σ bond and a weak π bond and (e) energy level diagram. Taken from [51].

STM images of the Si(100) surface at room temperature revealed that the majority of Si dimers appeared symmetric with the appearance of a few buckled dimers due to defect sites and step edges. Low temperature STM experiments reported by Wolkow [55] showed that at T = 120 K, 80 % of the Si dimers are found to be buckled. This observation confirmed the conclusion that the Si(100) surface at room temperature exhibits bistable Si dimers with alternating charge transfer between the two Si dimer atoms. This results in a Si dimer oscillation frequency much higher than the sampling frequency of the STM. Therefore the STM averages over many oscillations during the image acquisition resulting in the observation of symmetric Si dimers.

In real life, it is impossible to cut Si exactly along one crystallographic axis with atomic precision. As such, a miscut angle exists on the surface which results in the formation of a series of atomically flat terraces separated by step edges. The monoatomic step height from one terrace to another is ~1.4 Å. There are two types of step edges [56]. Type S_A exhibits dimer rows which run perpendicular to the step edge, where as type S_B is characterised by dimers running parallel to the step edge. Fig. 2.4 shows ball and stick models of the two step edge types. The blue coloured atoms in the top view indicate the upper atom in the buckled configuration due to the boundary condition given by the step edge. Type S_A step edges induce static buckling whereas dimers at a


Figure 2.4: Two types of step edges on the Si(100) surface.. Top and side view of type S_A (a) and type S_B (b) step edges. Taken from [51].

type S_B step edge remain free to alternate between different buckling directions. The next section contains an introduction of the basic defects which are generally observed during STM experiments on the Si(100) surface.

2.4.2 Common defects on Si(100)

The characterisation of the three most commonly observed defects on the Si(100) 2×1 surface goes back to the original classification by Hamers and Köhler [57].

Originally, they were labelled type A, B and C defect respectively. The type A defect is simply a missing Si dimer and more appropriately known as the single-dimer vacancy (DV) defect [58]. The type B defect is the result of a double-dimer vacancy. A combination of these two defects separated by a dimer unit is the 1+2-DV defect, known as the split-off dimer. The occurrence of the split-off dimer on Si(100) is generally related to metal contamination with minute amounts of Ni or W [59], [60]. An increased amount of metal contamination or repeated sample preparation tends to increase the number of dimer vacancies. A sufficiently high defect density typically aligns the dimer vacancies at high temperature to form the $2 \times n$ reconstruction. Such regularly spaced trenches between the Si dimers have also been observed due to the presence of carbon on the surface [61]. Figure 2.5 summarises the different bonding arrangements that arise due to the presence of type A and type B DV defects on the Si(100) surface.

The C defect remains the subject of ongoing debate and it is predicted that several types exist. The most recent interpretations of the origin of the C defect include the absence of a Si atom in the second layer [62] or the presence of subsurface impurities



Figure 2.5: Schematic of defect combinations resulting from type A and B dimer vacancy **(DV) defects..** Ball and stick models of the (a) non-bonded 1-DV, (b) rebonded 1-DV, (c) 1+2-DV and (d) 1+1-DV. Taken from [51].

such as H, O or B [63]. A summary of three proposals for the structure of the C defect is given in Fig. 2.6. As opposed to the type A and type B defects, the type C defect breaks the mirror symmetry between the two atoms of the Si dimer and introduces buckling of the surrounding dimers.

2.4.3 Interaction and relevance of hydrogen on Si(100)

Hydrogen molecules (H₂) are one of the major residual gas components in any ultrahigh vacuum (UHV) system. However, the *sticking coefficient*, i.e. the ability of molecular hydrogen to adsorb on the Si(100) surface, is negligibly small [64]. On the other hand, the sticking coefficient for the adsorption of atomic hydrogen is high. The bonding formation of atomic hydrogen thereby depends on both, its partial pressure and the Si substrate temperature.

Four distinct surface phases of hydrogen on Si(100) are shown in Fig. 2.7 and characterised as follows:

• **Monohydride**: one H atom is bound to each Si atom of the dimer by breaking the weak intradimer *π* bond [Fig. 2.7 (a)].



Figure 2.6: Three different models proposed for the C defect of Si(100). (a) Symmetric Si dimers, (b) Buckled dimer model, where two dimers buckle in the same direction to form the C-defect. (c) C-defect due to a sublayer monovacancy. (d) Formation of a C-defect due to substitution a H atom with a sublayer Si atom. Taken from [51].



Figure 2.7: The different surface phases of H on Si(100). (a) Monohydride, (b) Dihydride, (c) $H(3 \times 1)$ phase and (d) Hemihydride. Taken from [51].

- Dihydride: two H atoms are bound to each Si atom by breaking both the intradimer *σ* and *π* bonds [Fig. 2.7 (b)].
- **H**(3 × 1) **phase**: this is an intermediate phase originating from mixing of monohydrides and dihydrides [Fig. 2.7 (c)].
- Hemihydride: one H atom attaches to only one Si atom of the dimer at very low H coverage [Fig. 2.7 (d)].

The monohydride phase is the predominant hydrogenated surface configuration used for STM-based hydrogen desorption lithography. A monolayer coverage can be formed by exposure to atomic hydrogen (usually created by passing molecular hydrogen through a hot W filament) at an elevated sample temperature of about 600 K. The H atoms prevent intradimer charge transfer which induces dynamic dimer buckling as predicted by Chadi [54]. It is thus a true, static representation of the 2×1 reconstruction. The Si(100) monohydride surface is chemically inert and commonly referred to as the H-terminated or H-passivated Si(100) surface.

2.4.4 Selective adsorption of gaseous species using STM lithography

The chemical stability of the monohyride phase makes it a suitable resist layer, blocking the reactivity of the surface, and forming the basis of STM-based hydrogen lithography. STM lithography on the Si(100) surface, resulting in the desorption of H atoms from the surface, was first reported by Lyding, Shen and Tucker [11] in 1995. The underlying Si surface, exposed by STM-based desorption of hydrogen atoms, have since been used as reaction sites for the placement of a large variety of adsorbates such as Ag [16], Al [14], Co [65], Ga [15], NH₃ [13], O₂ [11] and PH₃ [19]. The selective adsorption of PH₃ molecules and the subsequent P atom incorporation from the PH₃ molecule into the top layer of the silicon surface are key steps for the fabrication of STM-patterned, highly P-doped devices in silicon presented in this thesis and will therefore be discussed in detail in Chapter 4.

2.4.5 Thermal desorption of hydrogen from the Si(100) surface

In our group, we have also extensively studied the thermal removal of the monohydride resist [66], [67] due to its adverse effect on subsequent low temperature Si growth quality used for device encapsulation. Atomic hydrogen is found to pair up with another hydrogen on the surface before it can desorb as H₂ [68]. As the density of hydrogen decreases during this thermal desorption process, it becomes increasingly difficult for a single H atom to find a desorption partner whilst diffusing on the Si(100) at the optimised hydrogen desorption temperature of ~470 °C [67]. This leads to the formation of hemihydrides on the surface. A ball and stick model of a hemihydride is shown in Fig. 2.7 (d). Due to the asymmetric bonding nature of the hemihydride, where one H atom is located on one atom with an unsaturated, dangling bond on the other Si atom, the hemihydride is found to induce static buckling on the bare Si(100) surface which leads to a zig-zag appearance as observed in the STM. The hemi-hydride is very similar in appearance to the Si:P heterodimer and thus the two different surface features can only be distinguished using STM-based bias spectroscopy [69].

2.5 Electronic transport in mesoscopic systems

In the following section, the basic electrical transport concepts of two-dimensional (2D) mesoscopic systems are presented. The fabrication of Si:P nanostructures using STM together with the ex-situ alignment of ohmic contacts developed in this thesis has opened up the possibility to electrically characterise STM-fabricated Si:P devices using a conventional dilution refrigerator, thus allowing measurements at low temperatures and high magnetic fields.

The physical concepts relevant to the electrical measurements performed during the course of this thesis will be discussed. *Hall measurements* allow us to determine the carrier density of our samples at liquid helium temperatures. Temperature-dependent magnetotransport measurements enable us to determine the electron dephasing mechanism in our highly P-doped system. We investigate the limits of conduction in STM-patterned wires at the atomic-scale using both *weak* and *strong localisation* theory. Finally, we discuss the phenomenon of *Coulomb blockade*, one of the dominant transport mechanism through STM-defined Si:P island devices.

2.5.1 From classical Drude theory to Fermi liquid theory

The conductivity σ is the proportionality factor between the current density *j* arising from an the applied electric field **E**, i.e.

$$\mathbf{j} = \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \mathbf{E} \tag{2.12}$$

Ohm's law tell us that the conductance *G* is related to the measured current and the applied voltage as

$$I = R \cdot V = G \cdot V \tag{2.13}$$

From Eq. 2.12 and 2.13, it is easily seen that the conductance and the conductivity, in a 2D system, are related as:

$$G = \frac{w}{L}\sigma \tag{2.14}$$

for a conductor of width w and length L. The conductivity σ is therefore regarded as a bulk material property. The scaling given in 2.14 holds for large homogenous conductors but eventually breaks down when the device dimensions enter the mesoscopic regime.

Drude's achievement was to be able to relate the macroscopic quantity σ to the diffusive motions of the conduction electrons. In the classical picture, the presence of

an electric field causes electrons to drift diffusively through a crystal. The propagation speed is thereby limited by elastic (momentum conserving) as well as inelastic (momentum changing) scattering processes occurring at the characteristic time-scale τ . Therefore electrons drift with an average velocity $v_d = -\frac{\mu}{E}$, where μ is the electron mobility related to τ as $\mu = \frac{e\tau}{m}$. Making use of j = nev, one obtains

$$\sigma = en\mu = \frac{e^2 n\tau}{m} \tag{2.15}$$

In the Fermi-Liquid picture for non-interacting electrons the periodic potential, given by the crystal symmetry, gives rise to energy bands. Electrons in the conduction band are filled up to the Fermi energy E_F as given by the Fermi-Dirac distribution:

$$f(E - E_F) = \frac{1}{1 + e^{\frac{E - E_F}{kT}}}$$
(2.16)

The quasi particle solution of the Schrödinger equation for electrons immersed in a periodic potential are Bloch waves which are essentially plane-waves modulated with the Fourier transform of the crystal potential. In the weak disorder limit electrons propagate freely through the crystal whilst undergoing elastic (momentum randomising processes) and inelastic (electron phase randomising processes) scattering with impurities (such as dopant ions), crystal lattice defects, phonons and other electrons. Only electrons near the Fermi energy E_F contribute to conduction, since electrons states below E_F - kT are filled up and have no states to move to as given by the Fermi-Dirac distribution [Eq. 2.16].

The Einstein relation connects the density of states at the Fermi level to the conductivity as

$$\sigma = e^2 \rho(E_F) D \tag{2.17}$$

where *D* is the diffusion constant.

2.5.2 Classical Hall effect and Quantum Hall effect

The classical Hall effect is useful for the determination of the carrier density of two dimensional systems. The basic principle underlying the Hall effect is the Lorentz force, which occurs for charged particles in the presence of a magnetic field. Electrons moving in an applied magnetic field experience a force perpendicular to the current direction which results in a transverse voltage, the *Hall voltage*. The Hall voltage depends on the magnetic field *B*, the applied current *I*, the electron charge *q* and the

sheet density n_s as:

$$U_{Hall} = \frac{B \cdot I}{q \cdot n_s} \tag{2.18}$$

or

$$R_{Hall} = \frac{B}{q \cdot n_s} \tag{2.19}$$

where R_{Hall} is the Hall resistance. Note that for a two dimensional system, the Hall resistance is equivalent to the Hall resistivity.

In a ballistic system, the presence of the magnetic field leads to the quantisation of energy levels, called *Landau levels* at low magnetic fields. The presence of Landau levels give rise to formation of plateaux in the Hall resistance manifesting the *quantum Hall effect*:

$$R_{QHE} = \frac{1}{g_s g_V} \frac{h}{e^2} \frac{1}{n}$$
(2.20)

where $g_{s,v}$ are the spin and valley degeneracy respectively, $\frac{h}{e^2}$ the resistance quantum and *n* the energy level quantum number. Due to the diffusive nature of electron transport in the devices structures discussed in this thesis, only the classical Hall effect is observed.

2.5.3 Mesoscopic transport regimes

For small conductors, Ohm's law and therefore the scaling between conductance and conductivity eventually breaks down as transport enters the mesoscopic regime. Meso-scopic objects are of intermediate size, larger than atoms or molecules but smaller than macroscopic, ohmic conductors. Conductors enter the mesoscopic transport regime when their device dimensions become comparable to three characteristic length scales:

- the electron's de Broglie wavelength, $\lambda = \frac{h}{p}$
- the electron's mean free path, *l*, defined as the distance between two elastic, momentum-randomising collisions
- the electron's phase coherence length, *l_φ*, defined as the distance between two inelastic, phase-randomising events

The value of these length scales is strongly dependent on parameters such as the device material, temperature and the magnetic field. It is the relative magnitude between l, l_{φ} and λ which defines different types of transport which is characterised as follows.



Figure 2.8: Electron trajectories in a) the diffusive, b) the quasi-ballistic and c) the ballistic regime. Taken from [70].

Based only on the mean free path and the width w and length L of the conductor, three transport regimes are identified as:

- Ballistic: for l > L, w
- Quasi-ballistic: for w < l < L
- Diffusive: for l < L, w

A conductor is called *ballistic* when the electron mean free path exceeds the sample dimensions (l > w, L) and the electron wave travels without undergoing any scattering processes except for scattering at the conductor boundaries. As only the electrons near the Fermi energy contribute to conduction, the speed of the electrons in this case is defined by the Fermi velocity $v_F = \frac{\hbar k_F}{m^*}$. In this equation k_F is the Fermi wave vector and m^* is the effective mass.

In the presence of some degree of disorder, for example due to impurity atoms and lattice defects, the electron mean free path becomes shorter than the length of the conductor but still exceeds the width (w < l < L). This regime is called *quasi-ballistic*. For a highly disordered system, the scattering probability for electrons is very high translating into short mean free paths. If the electron's mean free path becomes shorter than the sample dimensions (l < w, L) transport is *diffusive*. In the high temperature limit a diffusive conductor is well described by the classical Drude formula 2.14. However,

at low temperature, a variety of effects alter device transport and their contributions have to be added to the Drude conductance. The temperature-dependent electron phase coherence length, l_{φ} , is responsible for the occurrence of *weak localisation* which decreases device conductances below the Drude value. A further decrease in conductance is due to the *Coulomb interaction* of conduction electrons which is not included in the basic description of Fermi liquid theory. At lower temperatures, electrons can also become trapped in the presence of the disorder potential which leads to the effect of strong localisation. The effect of *strong localisation* also gives rise to the observation of *Coulomb blockade* behaviour in a double barrier island system.

If one or more device dimensions become comparable to the de Broglie wavelength, size effects causes electrons to become confined which results in energy level quantisation. Given a thermal energy *kT* much smaller than the energy level spacing, quantum wires and quantum dots are formed. A manifestation of this effect is the occurrence of *resonant tunnelling*, resulting in conductance peaks when the Fermi energy is aligned to an electron energy level given by the confinement.

The devices fabricated and electrically characterised in this work are highly Pdoped Si:P systems with a typical doping/carrier density of $n = 1.7 \cdot 10^{14}$ cm⁻². Typical samples will have mean free paths in the range of $l \sim 2 - 10$ nm, phase coherence values l_{φ} of 15 – 150 nm depending on the measurement temperature and Fermi wavelengths between 2 – 3 nm. Hence, the devices reported in this thesis are clearly in the diffusive transport regime, where effects of weak localisation, electron-electron interactions, strong localisation and Coulomb blockade are important. For this reason, the continued discussion of these effects will focus on the diffusive regime.

2.6 Weak localisation

In the presence of scattering in a conductor, there is a finite probability for an electron to return to its point of origin. The backscattering probability is enhanced if no inelastic i.e. phase breaking processes occur along the backscattering trajectory. If this happens, the phase of the electron wave remains well defined, and the backscattering path of the electron interferes with its time-reversed equivalent resulting in an enhanced probability amplitude for the electron to be scattered back to the origin i.e. it is being weakly localised. In this section, we will follow the comprehensive derivation of weak localisation given in [70] and refrain from a discussion of the more involved Green's function formalism. In light of Feynman's path integral description, the return probability of an electron is expressed as:

$$P(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}=\mathbf{r'}, t) = \sum_{i} |A_{i}^{+} + A_{i}^{-}|^{2}$$

=
$$\sum_{i} \left[|A_{i}^{+}|^{2} + |A_{i}^{-}|^{2} + A_{i}^{+*}A_{i}^{-} + A_{i}^{-*}A_{i}^{+} \right]$$
(2.21)

 A_i^+ and A_i^- are the amplitudes of a trajectory *i* and its time reversed equivalent respectively. The time-reversal invariance requires that both amplitudes are the same $(A_i^+ = A_i^- = A)$. If an inelastic process occurs along the backscattering trajectory, the interference is destroyed and the interference terms in Eq. 2.21 vanish. In this case, the back-scattering probability of an electron is only $P = 2\sum_i |A_i|^2$. Without a phase-breaking process, the interference remains unscathed and there is an enhanced probability for an electron to return to its point of origin:

$$P(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}, t) = 4\sum_{i} |A_i|^2$$
(2.22)

This phenomenon is called weak localisation. An applied magnetic field perpendicular to the loop gradually suppresses the time-reversal symmetry of the two interfering electron paths by adding a phase difference. This Aharonov-Bohm phase can be calculated by considering the canonian momentum $\mathbf{p} = m\mathbf{v} + e\mathbf{A}$ of an electron in a magnetic field where \mathbf{A} is the vector potential $\mathbf{B} = \vec{\nabla} \times \mathbf{A}$.

$$\phi = \frac{1}{\hbar} \oint_{+} \mathbf{p}^{+} d\mathbf{l} - \frac{1}{\hbar} \oint_{-} \mathbf{p}^{-} d\mathbf{l}$$
$$= \frac{2e}{\hbar} \int (\vec{\nabla} \times \mathbf{A}) d\mathbf{S} = \frac{2eBS}{\hbar} = \frac{2S}{l_{m}^{2}} = 4\pi \frac{\Phi}{\Phi_{0}}$$
(2.23)

The phase difference is twice the area enclosed by the back-scattering trajectory divided by the square of the magnetic length $l_m = \left(\frac{\hbar}{eB}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ or 4π times the enclosed magnetic flux divided by the elementary flux quantum $\Phi_0 = h/e$.

In a two dimensional sample at zero magnetic field (B = 0), the coherence length l_{φ} determines the maximum size of coherent backscattering loops that can form since l_{φ} is the mean distance electrons travel without undergoing a phase randomising collision. A measure of the enclosed area of such an interference loop at zero magnetic field is given by $S = l_{\varphi}^2$. However, in the presence of a perpendicular magnetic field, the constructive interference of loops bigger than the square of the magnetic length l_m is destroyed, since the time-reversed paths pick up a phase difference of $\phi \cong 1$.



Figure 2.9: Dimensional crossover for $l_{\varphi} > w$ in a diffusive conductor. The sample geometry determines the maximum size of enclosed electron trajectories [70].

Therefore, for magnetic field values exceeding a critical value ($B > B_C = \frac{\hbar}{2eB\tau_{\varphi}}$), the maximum size of interfering loops is defined by the magnetic length l_m . For this reason, a characteristic signature of weak localisation is a negative magnetoresistance as a function of the applied, perpendicular magnetic field. The electron phase coherence length is found to increase with decreasing temperature. This leads to a more pronounced peak in the negative magnetoresistance around zero magnetic field since a larger value of l_{φ} increases both, the size and number of phase coherent loops which can be formed.

2.6.1 Dimensionality of weak localisation

The dimensionality of the weak localisation effect is determined by the relation between the coherence length and the sample size. If l_{φ} is smaller than the sample width and length ($l_{\varphi} < w, L$), electrons do not *see* their confinement and the weak localisation correction is essentially two-dimensional. If the coherence length exceeds the sample width $l_{\varphi} > w$, the sample boundaries constrict the maximum size and shape of the backscattering loops (see Fig. 2.9) since only loops with an area $S = l_{\varphi} \cdot w$ are formed. In this case the weak localisation effect is said to be one-dimensional.

2.6.2 Crossover from 1D to 2D weak localisation in a magnetic field

In the presence of a magnetic field, another length scale, the magnetic length, also dictates the dimensionality of weak localisation. The maximum size of a constructively interference loop at a certain magnetic field is given by $S = l_m^2$. Therefore, if the magnetic length approaches the width w with increasing magnitude of the magnetic field, the maximum size of constructively interfering loops is no longer constraint by w but by l_m . Therefore, if the phase coherence length is larger than w, a crossover from 1D to 2D weak localisation occurs if $2l_m \sim w$ at the crossover field

$$B_{1D\to 2D} = \frac{4\hbar}{ew^2} \tag{2.24}$$

2.6.3 Weak localisation in two dimensions

Weak localisation manifests itself in an increase of the sample resistance at low temperatures. Application of a magnetic field gradually suppresses the weak localisation effect leading to a negative magnetoresistance. There have been several methods to account for the conductance correction stemming from weak localisation. Historically, Hikami *et al.* [71] derived a method within the framework of renormalisation group theory which is only valid in the diffusive regime. Since then, several methods have been developed to extend the description of weak localisation beyond the diffusive regime. Kawabata [72] provided the first method beyond the diffusive limit using Green's function formalism. Wittman [73] formulated a method based on the scaling of the momentum scattering length l. Zduniak [74] expanded Kawabata's model to include spin-orbit effects, whereas most recently, Dmitriev [75] included phase coherent nonbackscattering effects. Since our samples are in the highly diffusive regime, we use Hikami's method for the description of 2D weak localisation in this work. The validity of Hikami's method given for fitting the magnetoresistance data in the magnetic field range below a critical field B_0 , given by:

$$B_0 = \frac{\hbar}{2el^2} \tag{2.25}$$

for the mean free paths of $l \sim 2 - 10$ nm, we get a value for B_0 ranging from 3 - 80 T. In this thesis, magnetoconductance ensure that we are well within the validity of Hikami's model. The expression derived by Hikami *et al.* [71] for the magnetic field dependence of the conductance correction in a highly disordered system due to weak localisation in two dimensions is expressed by:

$$\Delta G(B) = \frac{w}{L} g_s g_v \frac{e^2}{4\pi^2 \hbar} \left[\Psi\left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\tau_B}{2\tau_{\varphi}}\right) - \Psi\left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\tau_B}{2\tau}\right) + \ln\left(\frac{\tau_{\varphi}}{\tau}\right) \right]$$
(2.26)

In this formula *L* and *w* are the sample dimensions, $g_{s,v}$ are the spin and valley degeneracy respectively, τ and τ_{φ} the elastic and the inelastic scattering times and $\tau_B = \frac{\hbar}{2eBD}$ is determined by the magnetic length $l_m^2 = D\tau_B$. The Hikami expression for twodimensional weak localisation is also expressed as:

$$\sigma(B) = \sigma_0 - \frac{e^2}{\pi h} \left[\Psi\left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{B_0}{B}\right) - \Psi\left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{B_\phi}{B}\right) \right]$$
(2.27)

where σ_0 is the Drude conductivity. At zero magnetic field, the latter expression for the weak localisation is simplified using the asymptotic behaviour of the digamma function. For $B \to 0$ the arguments of the digamma functions $\Psi(x)$ diverge to infinity. Using the approximation $\Psi(x) \approx \ln(x - \frac{1}{x})$, Eq. 2.27 simplifies to:

$$\Delta\sigma(B=0) = \sigma - \sigma_0 = -g_s g_v \frac{e^2}{4\pi^2\hbar} \cdot ln \frac{\tau_{\varphi}}{\tau}$$
(2.28)

The weak localisation correction to the conductivity in 2D has a logarithmic dependence on the dephasing time, i.e. $\Delta \sigma \sim ln \tau_{\varphi}$.

2.6.4 Weak localisation in one dimension

The conductance correction due to weak localisation in 1D has been described by Altshuler *et al.* [76] for a wire of width *w* with a rectangular cross section.

$$\delta G_{loc}(B) = -g_s g_v \frac{e^2}{hL} \left(\frac{1}{L_{\phi}^2} + \frac{e^2 B^2 w^2}{3\hbar^2} \right)^{-1/2}$$
(2.29)

From the latter expression, the zero-field conductance correction in 1D is given by:

$$\delta G_{loc}(B=0) = -g_s g_v \frac{e^2}{hL} l_{\varphi} \tag{2.30}$$

4 10

which is directly proportional to the coherence length l_{φ} .

2.6.5 Dephasing mechanisms

Since l_{φ} is the only temperature dependent parameter in Eq. 2.28 and 2.30, the functional form of the conductance/resistance at low temperatures follows the temperature dependence of l_{φ} . The phase coherence length and the inelastic scattering time are related via the diffusion constant as $\tau_{\varphi} = \frac{l_{\varphi}^2}{D}$. The dephasing mechanism of a system can be extracted from the temperature dependence of the dephasing time. Dephasing mechanism are typically approximated by a power law i.e. $l_{\varphi} \propto T^{-p}$. Extracting the exponent *p* from temperature-dependent conductance measurements therefore provide a way to identify the dominant dephasing mechanism of a sample.

2.6.6 Dephasing mechanisms in 1D

There are several mechanisms which cause phase randomisation therefore limiting the coherence length. Inelastic and quasi-elastic collisions of conduction electrons with

phonons or electrons or spin-orbit scattering are the major intrinsic dephasing mechanisms. It is generally agreed that all intrinsic causes of dephasing such as electronphonon scattering and inelastic electron-electron scattering should freeze out as $T \rightarrow 0$ leading to an infinitely large l_{φ} . However, extrinsic effects like electromagnetic noise or dilute magnetic impurities can cause a non vanishing dephasing at very low temperatures leading to a saturation of l_{φ} as $T \rightarrow 0$ [77]. In the following, we will briefly describe the mains dephasing mechanism relevant for a 1D disordered system [78].

Nyquist dephasing At low temperatures Nyquist dephasing [79] is believed to be the dominant dephasing mechanism in disordered quasi one-dimensional systems. Nyquist noise arises from scattering of conduction electrons with a fluctuating electromagnetic field produced by the other electrons in the conductor. Altshuler *et al.* [79] showed that the inelastic scattering time τ_{φ} of this dephasing mechanism in 1D has a temperature dependence of $\propto T^{-2/3}$. The corresponding coherence length is expressed as:

$$l_{\varphi} = \left(\frac{DG_0\hbar^2 L}{\sqrt{2}e^2k_BT}\right)^{1/3} \tag{2.31}$$

Electron-electron scattering with large energy transfers: Whereas Nyquist dephasing is the dominant phase breaking mechanism in the regime $k_B T \tau_{\phi} / \hbar \gg 1$, the sample may leave this regime if the temperature is lowered further. Another dephasing mechanism was proposed [80] which becomes relevant when inelastic electronelectron scattering with large energy transfers, due to screened Coulomb interactions, is dominant. The underlying theory was described by Fukuyama and Abrahams [80]. They found that in the disordered metal limit $k_B T \tau < \hbar$ of a two dimensional system (2D here refers to the effective density of states), the dephasing time is given by:

$$\frac{1}{\tau_{\varphi}} = \frac{k_B T}{2E_F \tau} ln \frac{T_1}{T} T_1 = 4(E_F \tau)^2 D(2me^2)^2$$
(2.32)

In a thin wire, Abrahams *et al.* reported [81], the temperature dependence of the inelastic scattering time becomes $\tau_{\varphi} \propto T^{-\frac{1}{2}}$, which results in a $l_{\varphi} \propto T^{-\frac{1}{4}}$ law for the electron phase coherence length.

Two-level tunnelling modes: Thouless [82] reported a temperature dependence of $T^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ for the electron phase coherence length in quasi one-dimensional disordered

2.6. Weak localisation

Dephasing mechanism	Temperature dependence
Nyquist phase-breaking 2D	$T^{-1/2}$
Nyquist phase-breaking 1D	$T^{-1/3}$
electron-electron (large energy transfers)	$T^{-1/4}$
two-level systems	$T^{-1/2}$
electron-phonon	T^{-1} to T^{-2}

Table 2.1: Different phase-breaking mechanisms for quasi 2D and 1D samples in the disordered metal limit and the corresponding temperature dependence of the coherence length l_{φ} .

metal samples based on two-level tunnelling modes. Black *et al.* [83] suggested that this dephasing mechanism should be dominant at low temperatures in a disordered quasi 1D sample.

Electron-phonon scattering: Electron-phonon scattering is expected to play a minor role at lower temperatures as phonons are expected to freeze out with decreasing temperature. At temperatures of ~10 K, however, electron-phonon scattering in a dirty metal may become dominant over other dephasing mechanisms. Dephasing due to electron-phonon scattering was theoretically predicted [84], [85] to follow a power law $l_{\varphi} \propto T^{-\frac{p}{2}}$ where *p* takes the values 2, 3, 4 irrespective of sample dimensionality but depending on the degree of disorder in the sample. The degree of disorder is thereby measured by the value $q_T l$ which is the ratio between the electron mean free path *l* and the thermal phonon wave length $\lambda_{ph} = \frac{2\pi}{q_T}$. If $q_T l \gg 1$ (*l* is much bigger than λ_{ph}) the sample is in the low disorder regime (p=4). Experimentally, a power law dependence of p = 2 has been observed by many groups [86], [87], [88], [89], [90]. This unexpected value was suggested to occur in samples with an intermediate level of disorder, where $q_T l \approx 1$ [78].

Extrinsic dephasing mechanisms and saturation of l_{φ} : In addition to intrinsic mechanisms of dephasing (i.e. due to physical processes inside the sample), extrinsic effects (i.e. measurement related) can also cause dephasing which may lead to saturation of the electron phase coherence length. The most important causes of extrinsic dephasing are Joule heating or dephasing due to external high-frequency electromagnetic noise or scattering of the conduction electrons with magnetic impurities. However at very low temperatures, another intrinsic reason for saturation of l_{φ} is the crossover from the weak localisation regime into the strong localisation regime as predicted by scaling theory [91], [92]. This crossover occurs generally at very low temperatures, when the coherence length reaches the dimension of localised electron states in the sample. An introduction into strong localisation is given in Section 6.4.11.

2.6.7 Electron-electron interactions

An additional quantum correction to the zero-field conductivity is caused by Coulomb interactions of the conduction electrons which is not included in the Fermi-liquid theory of non-interacting electrons. Expressions for this correction for effective one- and two-dimensional systems have been calculated by Altshuler *et al.* [93] and can also be found in Beenakker and van Houten [70].

$$\delta\sigma_{ee,2D} = -\frac{e^2}{2\pi^2\hbar} \cdot g_{2D} ln \frac{\tau_T}{\tau}$$
(2.33)

$$\delta\sigma_{ee,1D} = -\frac{e^2}{\sqrt{2}\pi\hbar} \cdot g_{1D}\frac{l_T}{W}$$
(2.34)

where g_{1D} , g_{2D} are effective Coulomb interaction parameters which, under typical experimental conditions, are of the order of unity [70]. The effective dimensionality of the interaction correction is determined by the relation between the thermal length $l_T = \left(\frac{D\hbar}{k_BT}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ and the wire width in the same way as l_{φ} determines the effective dimensionality in the weak localisation phenomenon. τ_T is correlated to the thermal length $l_T = \sqrt{D\tau_T}$. The change in resistance due to electron-electron interaction is only weakly dependent on the magnetic field in contrast to weak localisation [70]. Therefore it is possible in principle to separate out the effect of electron-electron interaction and weak localisation using magnetotransport measurements. Since both, weak localisation and electron-electron interaction effects independently influence conductance, the combined contribution [94] may be expressed as a linear superposition i.e. $\Delta G_{WL+ee} = \delta G_{WL} + \delta G_{ee}$.

2.7 Strong localisation

By lowering either the carrier-density or the temperature in a diffusive 1D or 2D sample, one may eventually leave the weak localisation regime and enter the strongly



Figure 2.10: Typical electron wave functions: (a) extended electron state and (b) localised electron state with an exponential envelope of the wave function. $\xi = l_{\varphi}$ is the localisation length.

localised regime. Fig. 2.10 shows the typical electron wave function for both, the conducting (extended state) as well as the localised regime. In the localised regime, the electron becomes trapped in its surrounding potential and its spatial extend is reduced to the localisation length ξ . The crossover point from weak to strong localisation is expected to occur at low temperatures when the temperature-dependent coherence length l_{φ} becomes comparable to the localisation length ξ , i.e. $l_{\varphi} \simeq \xi$. The characteristic signature of strong localisation is an exponential rise of the resistance. It has been shown [95],[94], that in a one dimensional system in the presence of the smallest amount of disorder all electron states are eventually localised within a length ξ equal to a wire with a resistance of one resistance quantum $h/e^2 = 25.8 \ k\Omega$. The mode of conduction is no longer dominated by a diffuse motion of the conduction electrons, but instead by electrons hopping from one localised state to the next. Hopping thereby can only occur if electron wave functions of two localised states with a similar eigen energy overlap.

Depending on the proximity of different localised states, electrons not only hop to the closest localised site (nearest neighbour hopping NNH) but may also reach sites further away (variable range hopping VRH). The resistance as a function of temperature caused by VRH hopping conduction is shown [96] to be an exponential power law with a cut-off temperature T_0 where T_0 plays the role of the crossover temperature:

$$R(T)_{VRH} = R_0 \cdot e^{\left(\frac{t_0}{T}\right)^{\mu}}$$
(2.35)

The exponent $\mu = \frac{1}{d+1}$ with the dimensionality *d* is determined by the relation between the sample width *w* and the most probable hopping distance $R_0 = (4\alpha N_1 k_B T)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ as defined by Mott [95] where the 1D DOS $N_1 = wN_2$ is proportional to the 2D DOS and $\alpha = \xi/2$ is the decay length of the localised wave function.

As a consequence, by reducing the sample width w below the Mott's most probable hopping distance R_0 a crossover from two dimensional ($\mu = \frac{1}{3}$) to 1D variable range hopping conduction ($\mu = \frac{1}{2}$) would be expected and was experimentally confirmed in Si inversion layers by Fowler *et al.* [97].

2.8 Coulomb blockade

So far, we have only considered conduction systems such as wires. However, another interesting type of device is formed when the device dimensions are further constraint to small islands. These islands or dots are typically connected to source-drain leads via tunnelling junctions for charge transfer. The resulting change in the electrostatic potential from adding an additional electron onto the island/dot may result in a gap in the energy spectrum at the Fermi energy leading to the phenomenon of Coulomb blockade. A comprehensive review of the underlying physical concepts is given for example by Ferry and Goodnick [98]. The occurrence of Coulomb blockade behaviour is closely tied in with the effect of strong localisation. The Coulomb blockade model requires that the number N of localised electrons on an island and the average number of electrons <N> on the island satisfies the following inequality:

$$|N - \langle N \rangle|^2 << 1 \tag{2.36}$$

This means that the tunnelling barriers next to the island must be sufficiently high in order to allow electrons to be localised. The minimum tunnelling resistance R_T that suffices this conditions is derived from the energy-time uncertainty relation [99], i.e.

$$\Delta E \cdot \Delta \tau \sim h \tag{2.37}$$

The characteristic time for charge fluctuations is $\Delta \tau = R_T \cdot C$. The energy gap associated with charging of a single electron is $\Delta E = \frac{e^2}{C}$. Plugging these two equations into Eq. 2.36 yields:

$$R_T \succeq \frac{h}{e^2} = 25.8 \, k\Omega \tag{2.38}$$

Therefore, single electron charging effects occurs if the tunnel resistance is larger than the resistance quantum. The energy equation of a double barrier island system is given by:

$$E(N) = \frac{e^2}{2C} \left((N - \aleph)^2 - \aleph^2 \right)$$
(2.39)



Figure 2.11: Schematic diagram illustrating the origin of Coulomb blockade behaviour. (a,b) Charge transfer occurs when the energies E(N) and E(N+1) are degenerate. (c) Variation of V_{sd} and V_{gate} leads to the well known *Honeycomb* diagram. (d) Energy spacing due to single electron charging. Taken from [100].

where *N* is an integer referring to the number of electrons on the island and \aleph is the fractional charge induced by the gate. By applying a gate voltage the electrostatic potential of the island system can be changed, thereby shifting the energy levels associated to different numbers on the dot as shown in Fig. 2.11 (d). The potential energy E(N) is minimised if the discrete charging characteristics of the island coincides with the continuous charging characteristic of the gate:

$$\frac{dE(N)}{dN} \doteq 0 \Leftrightarrow N = \aleph \to E(N) = -\frac{Ne^2}{2C}$$
(2.40)

From Fig. 2.11 (a,b) it can be seen, that charge transport from the leads through the island occurs, when the energies for N electrons coincides with the energy for (N+1) on the island. These degeneracy points can be regarded at the crossover point in the energy diagram shown in Fig. 2.11 (a,b). By increasing the gate, more and more electrons can be shifted onto the island at the respective degeneracy points. In between the degeneracy points, no conduction occurs thus the name Coulomb blockade. The continuous variation of the gate therefore leads to the formation of an oscillatory conductance structure known as Coulomb blockade oscillations. The conduction through the island is thereby quantised in equidistant steps of $\frac{e^2}{2C}$. The associated gate voltages between two successive energy minima are given by

$$E(N+1) \doteq E(N) \Longleftrightarrow V_g = \frac{(N+\frac{1}{2})e}{C_g}$$
(2.41)

The variation of the gate voltage as well as the source-drain bias lead to the observation of Coulomb blockade oscillations. Fig. 2.11 (c) shows a phase diagram containing the effect of both, the source-drain bias and the gate voltages. Such a representation is called *Honeycomb* diagram or *stability* plot and is useful for the extraction of device capacitances and charging energies. A more device-specific analysis of the Coulomb blockade effect will be given in Chapter 8.

In this chapter, we have given an overview of some of the key theoretical concepts required for understanding subsequent experimental results. In the next chapter, some of the experimental methods and key features of the equipment used to obtain the results in this thesis are described.

Chapter 3 Experimental methods

A brief overview is presented describing the various experimental techniques utilised in this thesis. These include state-of-the-art ultra-high vacuum techniques, cleanroom processing and low temperature electrical characterisation tools which are used for the fabrication and measurement of STM-based devices in silicon. At the core stands a customised UHV imaging and growth system that combines a scanning tunnelling microscope (STM) with a scanning electron microscope (SEM) and molecular beam epitaxy (MBE). Sample processing prior and after introduction into the STM-SEM/MBE system is carried out at the Semiconductor Nanofabrication Facility (SNF) at UNSW, which is a complete optical and electron beam lithography laboratory housed in a class 3.5 clean room. Using the cryogenic measurement facilities provided by the National Magnet Laboratory (NML), STM-fabricated Si:P devices are initially characterised using a 4 K liquid helium dip station. Finally, fully functional devices are further characterised at lower temperatures down to 100 mK using a ${}^{3}\text{He}/{}^{4}\text{He}$ dilution refrigerator. Whereas this chapter serves as a introduction into the experimental equipment and techniques which were used in this work, a detailed description of the device fabrication process is given in Chapter 4.

3.1 Description of the STM-SEM/MBE system

In this section we describe the unique features of the custom-designed UHV STM-SEM/MBE system manufactured in collaboration with Omicron Nano Technology GmbH, installed at the Atomic Fabrication Facility (AFF) at UNSW in September 2002. The following list summarises the crucial design features of this system which will subsequently be described in more detail.

- A combined scanning electron microscope (SEM) with the same focal point as a scanning tunnelling microscope (STM) system designed for UHV conditions.
- Optical positioning readout that allows precise relative and absolute STM stage positioning with respect to the STM tip with an accuracy of ~10 nm.
- A high-voltage electron beam heater for high temperature preparation of large sample size (~1 cm²).
- High-level of vibrational isolation between MBE chamber and STM-SEM chamber for atomic resolution STM imaging.
- A hydrogen cracker for STM-based hydrogen resist lithography.
- A phosphine (PH₃) microdosing unit for controlled, self-terminating molecular surface chemisorption.
- A UHV sample transfer mechanism between MBE chamber and STM-SEM chamber.
- A liquid nitrogen cryoshrouded molecular beam epitaxy chamber capable of growing device quality Si and SiGe layers on industry size 4" wafers and 1 cm² large samples used for STM device fabrication.

Fig. 3.1 shows a schematic overview of the UHV STM-SEM/MBE system. A series of digital photographs which capture the entire system across two rooms of our laboratory is shown in Fig. 3.2 (a-e). The MBE system consists of a growth chamber, a buffer chamber and a load lock for sample loading shown in Fig. 3.2 (d). It is equipped with a permanent liquid nitrogen cryoshroud system to minimise background impurity levels during Si growth and to maintain the background vacuum base pressure in the 10^{-11} mbar region. A Si e-beam evaporator source is used for the growth of atomically controlled, high quality encapsulation of P-doped nanostructures fabricated by STM with growth rates between $0.5 - 2 \frac{A}{s}$. For the encapsulation of devices by epitaxial silicon using the MBE system, it has been designed to accommodate both 4" wafers for large-scale production and 1×1 cm² samples on a specially designed 4" wafer holder. The 1×1 cm² samples can subsequently be transferred to the STM-SEM system for atomic-scale imaging. Such large sample sizes (1×1 cm²) for STM imaging are necessary to be compatible with pre- and post-processing techniques in a cleanroom environment such as optical or electron beam lithography. A photograph of a



Figure 3.1: A schematic overview of the custom-designed UHV STM-SEM/MBE system. The 4" SiGe MBE system, the combined STM-SEM chamber and the extreme antivibration measures are discussed in the text.

 1×1 cm² large sample sitting in the transfer trolley, connecting the MBE chamber with the STM-SEM chamber, is shown in Fig. 3.3 – highlighting a unique sample holder design where Ta foils are used to clamp the Si substrate in place. To transfer samples between the STM-SEM and the MBE system, we use a cassetrack system designed by VG SCIENTA which is essentially a trolley system in which samples are transferred under vacuum pressures of $\sim 1 \cdot 10^{-9}$ mbar.

One of the challenges in combining MBE with atomic resolution STM is, that typically MBE systems require the permanent use of mechanical pumps, particularly during growth, to achieve the cleanest possible growth environment. This poses a detrimental source of vibrational noise for the operation of the STM. Therefore rigourous anti-vibrational measures have been taken to isolate the STM system from unwanted sources of noise needed to achieve atomic resolution STM imaging. Firstly the MBE system is located in a separate room sitting on a separate concrete foundation which extends 10 m into the ground. The UHV transfer tube, which houses the sample transfer mechanism and connects the two systems, sits on a large, 3 tonne concrete block to decouple the noise originating from the MBE system. Furthermore air-filled bellows are installed at the outer end of the UHV transfer tube to minimise vibrations transmitted along the stainless steel connection. Furthermore, the STM-SEM room has been

3.1. Description of the STM-SEM/MBE system



Figure 3.2: Combined STM-SEM/MBE system. (a) The MBE system (left) and the STM-SEM UHV (right) chamber are connected with a UHV sample transfer line. (b) STM-SEM system designed for atomic-scale STM device fabrication. (c) Manipulator arm in the preparation chamber of the STM-SEM system containing the electron-beam sample heater and the STM scanner transfer slot. (d) Si molecular beam epitaxy system for atomically controlled device encapsulation. (e) PH₃ microdosing system attached to the preparation chamber of the STM-SEM system.



Figure 3.3: A 1 cm² Si sample in a custom-designed sample plate inside the UHV sample transfer system between SEM-STM and MBE system.

specially designed to damp acoustic vibrations from outside entering the laboratory, including acoustic walls, flooring, windows and ceiling. The entire STM-SEM system is floating on nitrogen-pressured airlegs which eliminates low frequency noise signals. For high frequency vibration isolation the STM stage itself is mounted on viton rings as sketched in Fig. 3.4 (b).

Fig. 3.2 (b) shows the STM-SEM system consisting of STM-SEM chamber and preparation chamber. The preparation chamber is connected to an entry lock for exchange of samples and STM scanners. High temperature sample preparation, hydrogen passivation, exposure to PH_3 and subsequent P atom incorporation is performed in the preparation chamber. By isolating these processes from the main STM chamber, a high quality vacuum in the 10^{-11} mbar range can be permanently maintained in the STM-SEM chamber.

The large sample size of $1 \times 1 \text{ cm}^2$ makes it difficult to use direct current heating to achieve atomically flat surfaces. This is due to the high currents, exceeding the maximum current (~5 A) of electrical UHV feedthroughs, needed for such large samples. Therefore we heat the backside of the sample through a rectangular hole in the $1\times 1 \text{ cm}^2$ sample holder a using a Thorium coated electron beam filament [see Fig. 3.2 (c)] biased at 600 V with respect to the sample. The Th coating lowers the work function for electrons which are emitted at filament currents above ~1.5 A and accelerated towards the backside of the sample under the high voltage. With this technique, we can reproducibly achieve sample temperatures in excess of 1200 °C across a $1\times 1 \text{ cm}^2$ sample at vacuum pressures $<5 \cdot 10^{-9}$ mbar.

We use a water-cooled hydrogen cracker GRZ40 made by MBE-Komponenten GmbH to chemically passivate the sample surface with a monolayer of atomic hydrogen. During the exposure to ~140 Langmuir (L) of atomic hydrogen, the sample is heated by the electron beam heater at a temperature of ~350 °C (as calibrated by an in-situ Pt/Ir thermocouple located on the manipulator arm). A beam of atomic hydrogen is generated by passing ultra-high purity H₂ gas through a ~1800 °C hot tungsten filament thereby thermally separating the molecules to form an atomic beam of hydrogen. The hydrogenated Si surface is used as the resist for STM-based hydrogen lithography which forms the basis of STM device fabrication.

A PH₃ microdosing systems shown in 3.2 (e) is attached to the preparation chamber as well as the STM-SEM chamber. Double-containment tubes are pressure-monitored and connected to an alarm system for maximum safety in the event of a phosphine leak. Microdosing valves allow precise dose control of phosphine density by monitoring the background vacuum pressure in the chamber. Typically exposure of PH₃ gas to the surface at a chamber pressure of $1.1 \cdot 10^{-9}$ mbar for 15 min, corresponding to 0.74 Langmuir (L), results in a saturation dose of $(2.5 \cdot 10^{14} \text{ cm}^{-2})$ phosphine molecules adsorbed to the sample surface.

The preparation chamber is connected to the STM-SEM chamber via a standard Omicron transfer arm mechanism. Several combined STM-SEM setups have been described in the literature, see for example [101], [102]. While previous approaches were based on adding a STM system to an existing SEM system operated at high vacuum, the design of this system is aimed at a high performance of a combined STM-SEM UHV system [103]. UHV conditions are necessary to prevent sample contamination by cracking adsorbed molecules or residual gas from the chamber background, in particular hydrocarbons [104], by the electron beam of the SEM. It is also essential to have UHV for the creation of stable and clean Si surfaces for high resolution STM imaging. Previously, we have described that vibration damping is challenging when combining MBE with atomic resolution STM. In the case of a combined STM-SEM system, the demand is even more challenging. In current state-of-the-art STM systems, the STM stage is typically spring suspended with an eddy current damping system ensuring a high level of vibrational isolation. However, for a combined system, where the STM and the SEM have the same focal length, allowing simultaneous imaging operation, the STM stage has to be fixed with respect to the SEM column and eddy current damping cannot be utilised. As such a viton ring damping of the stage in conjunction with airleg damping are essential – even for systems without MBE.



Figure 3.4: Sample stage inside the STM system. (a) Photograph of the STM stage with a 1×1 cm² sample and simultaneous SEM imaging. (b) Corresponding schematic of the stage showing essential design features.

Fig. 3.4 (a) shows a digital photograph of a 1 cm² large sample inside our STM system, the STM scanner and the electron gun. The crucial design considerations are sketched in Fig. 3.4 (b). The entire STM stage is mounted onto a goniometer, which allows us to tilt the stage from -30° to +90° relative to its horizontal position. The SEM column is fixed at a 30° angle with respect to the STM stage. The rotational axis coincides with the optical axis such that the focal point of the SEM is independent of stage rotation. The tilting angle is large enough to image and position the STM tip without significant tip image shadowing and, at the same time, is low enough to avoid image distortion in the SEM. The electron gun is operated at a beam energy of up to 25 keV with a spot size better than 20 nm. The electron multiplier (CEM). The STM stage sits on a viton ring damping system and consists of sample stage, scanner stage, optical positioning read-out, and on-stage tunnelling current I-V converter for low noise operation.

Sample movement is realised by a stack of three linear translation micro piezo slides with a travelling range of 10 mm in X and Y direction and 5 mm in the Z direction. Three shear piezos allow for the coarse positioning of the STM scanner relative to the sample with a range of $5 \times 12 \times 5$ mm³. The STM scanner is fixed to the STM stage by a magnet and two guiding pins. The scanning range of the STM is about $6 \times 6 \times 1 \ \mu m^3$ for device fabrication depending slightly on the scanner piezo tube size and the length of the STM tip.

3.2. Cleanroom processing equipment

The optical positioning read-out provides a way of absolute and relative stage movement. It is mounted on the side of the STM stage and works similar to an optical mouse. Light from a laser diode is guided through a mask pattern and throws Moiré patterns onto an array of photodiodes. By counting the shift in the Moire rings induced by stage translation a precise relative movement with an accuracy of about 10 nm can be detected. The absolute positioning accuracy relative to the stage is below 100 nm. Since the sample positioning in the stage is not fixed, it is difficult to use the absolute position of the read-out for patterning. However, this technique can be used in conjunction with the registration markers developed in this work.

Typical UHV processing steps for a complete device takes about 10 h. During this time, we need to have good quality, stable STM imaging and accurate control over every device parameter such as sample temperature, STM lithography parameters, PH_3 dose and MBE growth rate. A complete calibration of the entire system takes \sim 1 month before devices can be processed in UHV. Following this, the requirement of the STM tip to be stable for a long time means that a significant amount of devices are lost during STM imaging. Finally pre-processing of registration markers and post-processing of devices require a total of 6 – 7 days in the cleanroom. Devices can be literally described as *hand-made*. During the time of my thesis, the total device yield for functional devices has been about 30 %.

3.2 Cleanroom processing equipment

All pre- and post-processing steps presented in this work were performed at the Semiconductor Nanofabrication Facility (SNF) at UNSW. The SNF consists of a number of class 3.5 and class 350 cleanroom laboratories which house standard cleanroom facilities such as wet benches for chemical sample etching, cleaning and resist spinning, high temperature furnaces for thermal SiO₂ growth and metal evaporators for device contacts. They also include several optical lithography stations and two state-of-theart FEI electron beam lithography stations.

The Quintel Q6000 optical aligner shown in Fig. 3.5 (a) uses a lithographic wavelength of 365 nm for mask pattern exposure, provided by a mercury lamp. It can be used in two mask-sample contact modes, the vacuum contact mode and the pressure contact mode. In the vacuum contact mode, the sample-mask contact is generated by creating a vacuum between them whereas in the pressure contact mode, the sample-

3.2. Cleanroom processing equipment



Figure 3.5: Lithography equipment inside the Semiconductor Nanofabrication Facility (SNF). (a) The Quintel Q6000 optical mask aligner. (b) FEI XL 30 control electronics and (c) electron beam lithography station inside electromagnetic shielding.

mask contact is achieved by pressing the sample onto the mask.

We use optical lithography for defining registration markers down to a size of 1 μ m on Si device samples prior to introduction into the STM-SEM system. After UHV STM device fabrication, we align Al contacts to STM-fabricated Si:P devices by using the registration markers to indirectly relocate the buried Si:P structures.

The registration marker process was also transferred to be used in combination with electron beam lithography. The FEI EBL XL 30 is depicted in Fig. 3.5 (b,c). The actual electron gun is shielded against electromagnetic radiation. Using beam acceleration voltages of up to 30 kV and electron currents of order 50 pA, electron beam spot sizes <5 nm are achieved. The typical working distance between gun and sample is 5 mm. High resolution lithography is performed on organic resists such as PMMA. The exposure doses for the definition of registration markers with sizes down

to 200 nm range from 300 to 600 $\frac{\mu C}{cm^2}$.

The development of a complete UHV-compatible fabrication strategy is described in detail in Chapter 4. Full descriptions of processing parameters will be given there.

3.3 Low temperature electrical device characterisation

Electrical device characterisation generally takes places in two steps. First, a 4 K dip liquid helium dip station (Fig. 3.6) is used to check if the device is contacted. Initial device characterisations include determination of I-V behaviour, contact resistances and magnetotransport up to ± 2 Tesla. The temperature dependence of fully functional devices is subsequently measured using an Oxford Instruments Kelvinox K100 ³He/⁴He dilution refrigerator (Fig. 3.7).

3.3.1 4K dip station

Fig. 3.6 shows the 4 K liquid helium station. A 20 pin measurement loom (dip rig) is immersed into a liquid helium dewar for quick device characterisation. Both, a Keithley 2410 DC voltage source unit and a Keithley source measurement unit SMU 236 are used for measuring device I-V behaviour. Two Stanford Research Systems SRS SR830 lock-in amplifiers are used for AC measurements. The dip rig is equipped with a two Tesla superconducting magnet to perform Hall and magnetotransport measurements.

3.3.2 Dilution refrigerator

Temperature-dependent electrical device characterisation are carried out using an Oxford Instruments Kelvinox K100 3 He/ 4 He dilution refrigerator equipped with an 8 Tesla perpendicular field, superconducting magnet. The underlying cooling principle for 3 He/ 4 He dilution refrigerators is based on the adiabatic dilution of the lighter 3 He isotope into the heavier 4 He isotope which form a phase boundary below temperatures of 800 mK. This phase boundary is located in the *mixing chamber*. The bottom of the mixing chamber is connected to a *heat still* which allows temperature regulation of the device sample. A closed-loop pumping system circulates the 3 He isotope from the still back to top of the mixing chamber. The 4 He 1 *K pot* condenses the 3 He/ 4 He

3.3. Low temperature electrical device characterisation



Figure 3.6: A 4 K liquid helium dip station inside the National Magnet Laboratory. The liquid helium dewar, low noise electronics and measurement computer are shown.



Figure 3.7: Dilution refrigerator setup inside the National Magnet Laboratory. (a) Photograph of a copper electromagnetic screening room housing an Oxford Instruments Kelvinox K100 dilution refrigerator equipped with a top-loading cryostat (b).

mixture providing a continuous flow of ³He. A more detailed description on dilution refrigerators and low temperature measurement techniques is found in [105], [106].

The Kelvinox K100 is capable of cooling down to bath temperatures of about 100 mK. Samples are mounted on the end of a copper cold finger which is connected to the bottom of the mixing chamber. Fig. 3.7 (a,b) shows the Kelvinox K100 platform at the National Magnet Laboratory. Control electronics are located outside a fully enclosed, electromagnetic screening room which houses the actual cryostat. Sample loading and unloading occurs via top access from the upper platform. The setup is used in this thesis to perform temperature-dependent resistance, 2D and 1D weak localisation measurements. Descriptions of the device specific measurement set-ups are given in Chapters 4 – 8 respectively.

Chapter 4

Development of a complete strategy for UHV STM device fabrication

4.1 Introduction

The scanning tunnelling microscope is currently the only tool that allows manipulation of matter at the atomic level. With the aim of a continuing miniaturisation of electronic devices, it is therefore of interest to study the capability of atomic resolution STM for the fabrication of ultra-small devices [19], [24], [25], [26]. To achieve this, any device fabrication strategy must be UHV compatible in order to maintain the advantages of atomic resolution. For the realisation of robust, STM-patterned devices fabricated in UHV, it is also necessary to find a way to electrically contact such devices outside the UHV environment, so that we can perform low temperature measurements in high magnetic fields to characterise their electrical transport properties.

Since 1992, a tremendous research effort [107], [108], [109], [108], [109], [110], [111], [112], [113] has been undertaken to develop a fabrication process aimed at electrically contacting and characterising STM-patterned structures outside the ultra high vacuum environment. Atomically precise STM-patterned structures are very hard to relocate in vacuum and are generally invisible once removed from the UHV environment using standard ex-situ processing techniques. As a result, a successful fabrication process has to incorporate some form of surface pre-pattering technique at, or below, the micron scale to allow relocation of the STM-patterned structure. To date, several methods [28], [107], [109], [111], [114] have been tried, most of which rely on pre-patterning the substrate using metal. Other approaches utilise ion implantation [29] or registration markers etched into the substrate [108].

Whilst a multitude of different approaches have been reported in the literature,

4.1. Introduction

reflecting the difficult task of aligning external macroscopic contacts to STM-fabricated devices, only a few reports [27], [28], [30], [31], [112], [113] of successful electrical measurements exist; two of which are the result of this thesis.

In this chapter, we describe the development of a complete process for the fabrication of planar phosphorus doped silicon devices patterned by STM using STM-based hydrogen lithography and phosphine (PH₃) as the dopant source. We demonstrate how we have used etched registration markers to electrically contact a planar STMpatterned, P-doped silicon device. Electrical measurements show that the complete fabrication scheme is a viable candidate for the fabrication of ultra-small devices in silicon towards the atomic scale. These results have been published in [30], [31] and highlighted by Science Magazine [Vol. 306, p1103 (2004)] and the Materials Today Magazine [Vol. 7, Issue 12, p18 (2004)].

In Section 4.2, we present a detailed overview of previous attempts to electrically contact STM-fabricated devices in silicon. Within this discussion we highlight the stringent requirements to maintain surface quality and achieve atomic resolution on Si(100) that any potential contacting strategy has to meet.

Section 4.3 describes the contacting scheme we have developed in this thesis to contact devices compatible with STM patterning Si at the atomic level. The scheme is based on etching pre-patterned marker structures using optical lithography into the silicon substrate that are subsequently used to relocate precisely positioned, STM-patterned dopant structures. We describe how the markers are compatible with a complete UHV process for the patterning of nano-scale devices. A study to determine the minimum size and etch depth of such registration markers suitable for relocation using our UHV scanning electron microscope is shown. This includes the behaviour of makers during high temperature sample preparation and encapsulation in epitaxial silicon.

Section 4.4 describes the key steps of our STM-based device scheme including STM lithography on a hydrogen resist layer, selective adsorption of PH₃, device encapsulation using silicon MBE and alignment of four terminal external macroscopic contacts patterned by optical lithography.

In Section 4.5, we present electrical results for the first STM-patterned device, a $4 \times 4 \,\mu\text{m}^2$ P dopant square. Comparison of I-V characteristics between a control device - not patterned by STM - and the square device demonstrate that we can contact STM-fabricated structures using this strategy. Our results show it is possible to use etched

registration markers in the silicon surface to align contacts to STM-patterned, buried P dopant devices. We perform four terminal measurements of buried STM-patterned dopant structures and show, that the STM can completely remove the hydrogen resist in the patterned areas and that ohmic conduction through the P dopant square originates from the buried P dopants.

The use of etched registration markers is potentially of much broader interest as it can be used generically as a means for both relocation and device fabrication of STM-patterned structures on the Si(100) surface which may consist of other adsorbates. Considering that our group has recently demonstrated the precise positioning of single P dopant atoms with nanometre precision [32], the fabrication scheme that is presented here shows great potential for the fabrication of STM-based devices on the atomic level.

4.2 Overview of strategies to contact STM devices

For the realisation of robust STM-patterned devices in Si, it is necessary to find a way to establish contact to these devices in order to perform electrical measurements.

Over the past 8 years, significant progress has been made in developing strategies for contacting STM-patterned nanostructures in silicon. Since individual STMfabricated structures are hard to relocate once they are removed from the UHV environment, most contacting approaches reported in the literature rely on pre-patterning the initial silicon surface. The STM-designed structure is then positioned with respect to this pre-patterned contact or marker in such a way that the STM-fabricated device can be relocated and connected to the outside world.

To date, patterns have been defined using optical or electron beam lithography, followed by either metal deposition [28], [107], [108], [109], [111], [114], ion implantation [110], [115] or by etching the pattern into the silicon substrate [108]. Table 4.1 gives an overview over the main approaches to contact STM-patterned devices reported in the literature to date, their individual characteristics and the potential they have to perform electrical measurements. A critical factor in the choice of how the substrate is pre-patterned is that the method has to be compatible with UHV surface preparation techniques that allows clean surfaces with atomic resolution STM imaging. Pre-patterning the surface either by optical or electron beam lithography typically requires the use of an organic resist. It is necessary to completely remove any traces of

4.2. Overview of strategies to contact STM devices

Registration markers	Reference	Comments
Pre-deposited metal		
W	[109]	Trench formation, C contamination
Pt		Incompatible with STM imaging
Со		Low thermal stability ($<$ 700 °C)
CrPt	[27],[107]	Requires low temperature preparation to 550 °C NiSi ₂ wire: 100 nm \times 1.45 μ m; R _{4T} = 32 k Ω
Ti	[111],[114],[116]	Ti diffusion up to 500 nm after heating to 900 $^{\circ}$ C Trench formation around TiSi ₂ electrodes
TiW	[28],[117]	Ag clustering forms 10-50 nm wide wires Non-ohmic behaviour $R_{4T} \sim$ 1-4 $k\Omega$
In-situ deposition		
Au	[118]	SiN mechanical mask clamped to sample Incompatible with UHV sample annealing
Ion implantation		
As	[29], [113],[115]	Requires low temperature preparation to 700 °C STM lithography to form PH ₃ - dosed wire: 50 nm \times 750 nm; R _{2T} = 337 k Ω
Diffused p-n junctions	[110]	STM nanolithography between p-n junction
Etched markers		
Etchant: KOH	[108]	UHV compatible markers etched into Si(100)
		Low thermal stability ($< 1000 ^{\circ}$ C)

Table 4.1:Summary of the main approaches for relocating and/or contacting STM-
fabricated devices created in UHV. A detailed discussion is given in the text.
the resist before sample loading into the UHV system to avoid surface contamination. This requires good chemical resilience of patterned structures towards wet-chemical cleaning methods. Another crucial factor is thermal stability. Standard sample preparation methods to prepare atomically flat surfaces in UHV include a heating step to temperatures of about ~1250 °C. Such high temperatures are necessary to melt the Si surface in order to generate a low-defect Si(100) 2×1 surface reconstruction and remove residues of carbon [119]. Carbon is known to induce strong pinning on the Si surface. Experimental studies and thermal stability simulations [61] have shown that the presence of C atoms increases surface roughness and induces surface reconstruction which hampers subsequent device fabrication. Therefore, the ability for patterned surfaces to survive this high temperatures required to remove C contamination plays a crucial role in the selection of possible materials used for pre-deposited metal patterns.

4.2.1 Metal markers

In the consideration of pre-patterned metal markers or contacts, let's first consider Table 4.2. Table 4.2 shows the melting points of commonly used materials for the fabrication of contacts in the microelectronics industry. Metals such as Au, Al, Ag, Ti-Au [120], CrAu [121] are incompatible to high temperature sample annealing due to their low melting points. Such metals have been shown to diffuse over the entire surface and even evaporate during annealing, thereby contaminating the surface and making it completely unusable for device fabrication. Whilst some metals exhibit melting points above the sample annealing temperature of \sim 1250 °C, it has been shown that they are still subject to surface diffusion [114], [122] at elevated temperatures thereby smearing out the marker introducing surface contamination. Surface diffusion is a thermally activated process. The diffusion coefficient D is dependent on the activation energy E_{diff} and the pre-exponential factor D_0 with $D = D_0 \times e^{-\frac{E_{diff}}{kT}}$. In semiconductor systems with directional bonding [123], the most important property that affects the diffusion coefficient is the number of bonds that the adsorbate forms with the surface. This means that the diffusion mechanism is dependent not only on the semiconductor material but the diffusion coefficient depends also on the crystal surface direction on which it diffuses. To date specific diffusion coefficients of metals on the Si(100) surface are not well documented. However some diffusion studies of metals on Si(100) have been reported. For example, Wind et al. [124] considered Mn, Fe, Cr and Co unsuitable as contact material due to their high diffusivities. Indeed, a report

Name	Symbol	Melting point [°C]	UHV compatibility
Cobalt	Со	1495	
Chromium	Cr	1857	
Iron	Fe	1535	
Manganese	Mn	1245	
Molybdenum	Mo	2617	
Nickel	Ni	1453	UHV-compatible
Platinum	Pt	1772	
Silicon	Si	1410	
Tantalum	Ta	2996	
Titanium	Ti	1660	
Tungsten	W	3410	
Aluminium	Al	660	
Arsenic	As	817	
Copper	Cu	1083	
Gallium	Ga	30	Not
Gold	Au	1064	UHV-compatible
Indium	In	157	
Phosphorus	Р	44	
Silver	Ag	962	

Table 4.2: Melting points of different materials commonly used in both, the semiconductor industry and the research environment. Only a few elements exhibit melting points above the standard silicon sample annealing temperature of ~1200 °C.

on Co structures evaporated onto silicon shows that Co structures loose their lateral definition upon heating to temperatures above \sim 500 °C [122]. A detailed study [114] has also been undertaken using Ti. After heating to 900 °C for 5 s, Ti was reported to diffuse up to 500 nm on the Si(100) surface. Despite wet-chemical sample cleaning with NH_4OH : H_2O_2 , the presence of metal contamination was seen to damage and partially reconstruct the Si(100) surface [111]. For these reasons, research efforts using Ti have focused on the Si(111) surface where Ti diffusion was seen to be lesser i.e. ~100 nm [114]. Additionally, surface cleanliness after wet-chemical cleaning with H_2SO_4 : H_2O_2 (SP) and DI: HCl: H_2O_2 (RCA-2) and UHV sample annealing appears cleaner on the atomic level [116]. Pt was observed [122] to be incompatible with atomic resolution imaging on the Si(100). For materials with high melting points, which preserve their structural shape during annealing, it was found that Si self-diffusion at elevated temperatures of \sim 1200 °C causes surface reconstruction in the form of trench formation around deposited metal structures [28], [108], [111], [122]. Trench formation makes atomic-scale STM pattering difficult and may also adversely affect electrical device performance. Trench formation was reported when using Ti [111] and W [122] on the Si(100) surface. In the case of depositing W, Palasantzas et al. [122] employed the use of hydrogen plasma cleaning at a sample temperature of \sim 450 °C in conjunction with a SiO₂ mask layer to reduce organic contamination from the resist used to pattern the contact structures. Whereas surface quality could be improved, C contamination was still observed in their STM images.

Dunn *et al.* [108] developed a sub-micron Ta metal patterning process on the Si(111) substrate using electron beam lithography. After initial sample heating to ~1000 °C, the presence of carbon and carbon related SiC defects was observed on the surface. Further annealing to ~1200 °C reduced the amount of carbon on the surface but elevated the Ta structures to a height of ~100 nm and introduced pronounced step bunching. The Ta markers have enabled them to perform local experiments to study the interaction of Ag with a C₆₀ layer but no electrical device results were reported.

Hashizume *et al.* [117], [125] have developed a new technique for the fabrication of electrical contacts that combines an optical lithography process with atomic force microscope (AFM) lithography to pattern an optical resist with large contact pads (UV lithography) and smaller (\sim 100 nm) electrodes (AFM lithography) connected to the optical pads. This was used to define TiW pre-patterned contacts onto the silicon surface before loading into UHV. After UHV sample heating to \sim 1200 °C, trench formation due to Si diffusion leads to a height increase of the TiW electrodes to ~100 nm. Between these electrodes, nano-scale wires are defined by STM-based hydrogen lithography. After blanket deposition of Ag atoms, increased clustering of Ag atoms in the exposed Si wire pattern and less clustering on the surrounding hydrogen resist was observed. Four terminal in-situ measurements in vacuum [28] show conductance enhancement after the Ag deposition onto the dangling bond wires. Wires of thickness varying from 10 nm to 50 nm were seen to exhibit non-ohmic I-V characteristics with four terminal resistances ranging from $R_{4T} \sim 1-4 \text{ k}\Omega$. We note that in these experiments, the silicon substrate at room temperature was also conducting and was subtracted to extract the conduction of the Ag wire. However conduction may also occur through Ag clusters which were deposited onto the entire surface.

Ehrichs *et al.* have shown the use of STM to breakdown molecules on a Ni carbonyl blanket layer to form STM-assisted wire NiSi₂ wires [27], [107]. In their study, CrPt contacts were evaporated onto the silicon surface using optical lithography prior to introduction into UHV. The resulting chip was wet-chemically cleaned using NH_4F : *HF* followed by low temperature surface preparation to ~550 °C in UHV. No high resolution STM image was provided to show the surface quality. After in-situ deposition of a Ni carbonyl blanket layer, the STM was used to break down the Ni carbonyl molecules to form a NiSi₂ wire. The wire with dimensions of 100 nm× 1.45 μ m was found to exhibit a four terminal resistance of $R_{4T} = 32 \text{ k}\Omega$. Widths of ~100 nm were the smallest feature size that was achieved with this process, and wires with lower thickness were found to not conduct due to breaks along the length. Table 4.1 summarises these reports of using metal as contacts/markers.

4.2.2 Ion-implanted markers

A different class of approach to contact STM-patterned devices is the use of ion implantation prior to introduction into UHV [also summarised in Table 4.1]. Hersam *et al.* [110] reported on the fabrication of diffused p-type and n-type regions (p-n junction). The tunnelling current of the STM increases by orders of magnitude as a function of applied bias when it is scanned over the p-doped region whereas it remains constant over the n-type region. As a consequence, it was possible to reliably relocate a p-n depletion region in the substrate using the STM tip. Nano-scale lithography was then demonstrated on this surface. In order to obtain the necessary contrast for STM imaging, a voltage bias has to be applied in-situ to the p-n junction producing a leakage current of order 0.1 nA, which has been identified to limit future *in-situ* direct transport measurements. A general limitation of this approach is the low thermal stability of ion implanted structures necessary for the preparation of contaminant-free, atomically flat surfaces in UHV. It is known [29] that considerable surface diffusion occurs above annealing temperatures significantly higher than \sim 700 °C which destroys the structural shape of diffused implanted regions.

Tucker et al. have since developed a low temperature sample preparation process compatible with pre-patterned ion implanted structures. The process consists of wet-chemical cleaning before introduction into vacuum [115], Ar sputtering in UHV for further surface cleaning [29] followed by low temperature annealing in order to reconstruct the silicon surface whilst the ion implanted regions retain their shape. Initially, the sample is cleaned using a DI : HCl : H_2O_2 (RCA) wet-chemical cleaning procedure, which is known to remove metallic contaminants. After removal of the native oxide layer on the silicon surface using diluted hydrofluoric acid (HF), the sample is introduced into UHV. At an Ar background pressure of 7×10^{-5} mbar, the sample is irradiated with a 400 eV Ar beam with a flux of 3×10^{13} s/cm². This is found to reduce the residual amount of carbon on the surface to a minimum. However the resulting surface was completely amorphous due to Ar ion irradiation. In order to flatten the surface for STM patterning, the sample was heated to \sim 700 °C for 5 min allowing the Si atoms to diffuse on the surface and re-crystallising the surface. The resulting surface was found to be compatible with UHV STM-based hydrogen lithography. While this result shows promise for low temperature sample preparation methods, it would not result in complete removal of residual surface adsorbates and contaminants that would be expected using standard high temperature preparation to temperatures of \sim 1200 °C. In general, this leads to increased defect generation and surface roughness - both of which contribute to a degraded surface quality. We note that the demand to achieve atomically clean surface quality is not as stringent for the fabrication of devices at the nano-scale level. However, it will a crucial role for the fabrication of ultra-small devices on the atomic level.

Most recently Tucker *et al.* [113] successfully demonstrated the use of their low temperature sample preparation process for the fabrication of P dopant wires. 200 pairs of interdigitated fingers contacts and two large-scale 2 mm contact pads were implanted with 40 – 50 keV As ions with an estimated ion density of 10^{20} cm⁻³. Implanted fingers with a width of 1.25 μ m were spaced 750 nm apart. STM lithography

was then performed between a random pair of fingers to pattern dangling bond wires into the hydrogen resist. PH₃ molecules were found to adsorb on the reactive dangling bond sites thus forming a PH₃-dosed wire. The sample was encapsulated with ~3 nm of epitaxial silicon at room temperature, followed by rapid sample annealing to 500 °C. The smallest wire using this technique has dimensions of 50 nm × 750 nm and exhibited a two terminal resistance of ~337 k Ω .

4.2.3 Etched markers

We have seen that the use of metal causes considerable trench formation and contamination during the high temperature sample anneal. Ion implanted structures have been found to lose their structural integrity by diffusion at temperatures above \sim 700 °C. This constraint to low temperatures compromises the preparation of high quality surfaces and results in residual surface contamination. As a consequence, it is desirable to investigate a method which does not rely on putting down material prior to UHV STM device fabrication. Dunn et al. [108] pursued this idea by developing sub-micron registration marker patterned by EBL and etching the silicon substrate [also summarised in Table 4.1]. Pattern transfer into the silicon substrate occurs by wet-chemical etching using KOH as an etchant. KOH is known to etch anistropically along the Si(111) direction and is widely used in both, the industrial as well as in the research environment. After introduction into UHV, samples were outgassed at \sim 600 °C followed by sample heating to \sim 900 °C for 60 s. STM images showed that L-shaped markers of \sim 400 nm in width and 25 nm in depth survive this heating step. However the anneal was not sufficient to remove SiC defects on the surface. Further annealing to ~ 1100 °C partially removed the C density on the surface but significantly blurred out the marker structure.

All pre-patterning methods used, whether it is etching, ion implantation or metal deposition, have to survive the high temperature sample preparation step. However, it is possible to circumvent this step by patterning the surface *after* the sample anneal in UHV. There has been one approach in the literature [112], [126], [127] which uses *insitu* deposition of Ag onto silicon through a diaphragm placed between a MBE source and the sample substrate. The diaphragm consists of a 1 μ m thick foil with microholes down to a feature size of 500 nm that prepared using a focused ion beam system (FIB). In the first reports, the sharpness of the pattern boundary was determined to be about ~100 nm on a Cu substrate [127]. This process was also used on the silicon surface

where Ag electrodes were deposited onto the Si(111) surface after sample preparation by annealing to ~1200 °C. Subsequently, an Au-coated cantilever of an atomic force microscope (AFM) (in contact mode) was used to literally scratch a 4 nm wide Au wire between two electrodes separated by 7 μ m. The width of the wire was found to be independent of the contact force and depended solely depends on the particular shape of the cantilever. Conductance measurements performed on the Au wire at 4 K and revealed non-ohmic I-V characteristics with two terminal resistances ranging from 170 to 250 MΩ. No conduction was observed on samples without wire patterning [112].

In a more recently published report by the same group, tests on the Si(111) 7×7 reconstruction showed that considerable Ag atom migration occurred at room temperature preventing the formation of well-defined patterns on this surface. However it was found that on an In induced metal/semiconductor reconstructed surface, namely the Si(111)-4×1-In surface, sharply defined Ag electrodes could be formed by means of low temperature deposition at 120 K [126] preventing Ag migration. A couple of issues of this method make it unusable for robust STM-patterned device fabrication. Robust devices, which can be operated outside UHV, require encapsulation to preserve the device structure. It is known that epitaxial encapsulation occurs by 3D nucleation on the Si(111) surface. It is desirable to show if a deposition process can be developed on the Si(100) surface exhibiting little metal migration. Therefore different deposition metals have to be considered which exhibit less diffusion at room temperature than Ag.

4.3 Registration markers developed in this thesis

From the results of the literature survey described in the previous section we can draw the following conclusions:

- The use of pre-patterned metal contacts on the surface prior to UHV device fabrication deteriorates the surface at the atomic level, causing either surface reconstruction or trench formation and step bunching due to Si mobility at elevated temperatures.
- The use of pre-patterned ion-implanted markers require a low temperature sample preparation process in UHV, which cannot achieve high quality surfaces at

the atomic scale.

- The usability of etched registration markers is promising for achieving the highest surface quality but, prior to this thesis, thermal stability was only demonstrated up to 1000 °C which is not sufficient to remove traces of carbon contamination from the surface.
- Whilst in-situ methods are a viable alternative to pattern the surface after the UHV sample preparation step, no successful process has been demonstrated for Si surfaces.

Since the aim of this thesis is to provide a pathway for the fabrication of atomic-scale devices, atomically clean surface quality plays a major role in the choice of our registration process. Therefore, we have pursued the fabrication of registration markers that are compatible with heating to \sim 1200 °C. The markers are defined by optical lithography and wet-chemically etched into the silicon substrate. We will show how a SiO₂ mask is used to critically protect the silicon surface during resist patterning of the registration markers. A rigourous wet-chemical treatment is used to remove the oxide and therefore any organic or metal contamination from the sample prior to its introduction into the UHV environment. This process has been patented during my thesis and I am the lead author (40 %) on this patent (see page **xix** for details).

Initially, in Section 4.3.1, we describe a series of calibration tests which were undertaken to determine the minimal marker size using our in-house optical lithography facilities and the minimal etch depth which survives the high temperature anneal. Section 4.3.2 describes the fabrication process of the registration markers in detail. Following on from this the properties of our registration markers during the critical steps of a STM-based fabrication process in silicon are discussed in Section 4.3.3.

4.3.1 Optimisation of pattern structures etched into Si

The focus of this section lies on the optimisation of process parameters that influence the quality and shape of features defined by our in-house optical lithography system and subsequent etching into the silicon substrate. The parameters we have investigated are sample size, sample to mask distance, exposure time, UV light intensity and etching time. The optimal process parameters to create suitable features were subsequently used for the fabrication of registration markers.

	+ • • + •	+ • • • • • • •
		+ + / /
+ " + "	+ '• + '• 2 2	+ • • + •
	+ •• + •• 2	+ • • + • 2

Figure 4.1: Test mask for etched registration markers. The mask investigates the best way to pattern features down to a minimal structure size of 1 μ *m*.

For this purpose, an optical mask was designed for optical lithography to determine which shape and size of markers are suitable for use as registration markers. The final designs in TurboCAD were performed with technical support from Andrei Skougaresky. The masks was fabricated by Photronics Ltd based in Manchester, UK. It consists of a quartz glass plate which is laser-beam patterned with a chrome layer. Chrome is impenetrable by ultra-violet (UV) light rays which are used in the optical lithography process. As a consequence, the optical resist is only exposed to the UV light where the mask is not patterned by the chrome layer. According to their specification, the relative chrome pattern positioning error is of order ~50 nm determined using a Leica IPRO tool, which is accurate to ± 5 nm.

Fig. 4.1 shows the test mask pattern for etched and protruding features. A darkfield mask design was used where black represents the chrome layer and white stands for the area exposed to UV on the chip. That means the blocks in the first two rows are used for the fabrication of etched features, whereas the blocks in the lower two rows produce protruding features in the silicon substrate. Different structures such as arrows, crosses, outlined and solid squares were chosen to test which particular features can be best relocated using the SEM and/or the STM. In particular, asymmetric structures which can *point* into a certain direction are useful in order to assist with the navigation to the active device region. The mask is divided into elementary blocks of $48 \times 48 \ \mu m^2$ in size. In order to navigate between blocks, each one has a unique pattern represented by the $5 \times 5 \ \mu m^2$ and the $2 \times 2 \ \mu m^2$ square in the upper right corner.

Fig. 4.2 shows the process flow of the crucial fabrication steps. More details about



Figure 4.2: Process flow for the fabrication of registration markers. (a) Optical resist patterning using optical lithography. (b) Pattern transfer into the SiO₂ layer using NH₄:HF with slight etch undercut. (c) The SiO₂ layer serves as a mask during the TMAH etch of markers into Si followed by optical resist removal. (d) Final chip with etched markers after SiO₂ removal using another NH₄:HF etch step.

this fabrication process will be presented in the subsequent section where the fabrication of registration markers and the wet-chemical processing steps outlined below will be discussed in detail. The starting point is a phosphorous-doped (10 Ω cm), n-type Si(100) wafer with a 100 nm SiO₂ grown in dry oxygen at 1100 °C. An optical resist (AZ 6112, 1 μ m thickness) on top of the oxide is patterned by optical lithography using a Quintel Q6000 aligner [Fig. 4.2 (a)]. After resist development, the test pattern is transferred into the SiO₂ layer using a NH₄:HF etch [Fig. 4.2 (b)]. Thereafter the optical resist is wet-chemically removed [Fig. 4.2 (c)]. Subsequently, the test pattern is etched into the silicon substrate along the Si(111) direction using tetramethyl ammonium hydroxide (TMAH) as an etchant. Prior to introduction into the UHV STM-SEM/MBE system, the protective SiO_2 layer [Fig. 4.2 (d)] is removed during another NH_4 :HF etch step followed by wet-chemical sample cleaning to remove residues of metal and organic traces. Five parameters were found to affect the ability to transfer the pattern from the mask to the optical resist – sample size 5.1 cm (2"), sample-mask distance, UV light dose, the integrity of the optical resist and the thickness of the SiO_2 layer. Larger sample sizes were found to improve the sample-mask contact in the centre. After optimising these parameters, we could reproducibly transfer patterns with precision \sim 50 nm precision into the resist. After development with MIF 300 developer,



Figure 4.3: Optical microscope images of test pattern etched in silicon before and after SiO₂ layer removal. Test sample after (a) pattern transfer into silicon and after (b) consecutive removal of the SiO₂ layer.

we transfer the pattern to the SiO₂ layer as shown in Fig. 4.2 (b). Two variables mainly influenced this process: the adhesion and integrity of the optical resist and the thickness of the SiO₂ layer. We found that a thickness of $\sim 1 \mu m$ of the optical resist proved to be robust during NH₄:HF etching used for pattern transfer. It was found that there is a slight undercut during etching of the SiO₂ layer which increases the feature size by $\sim 200 \text{ nm}$ during pattern etching into silicon. This increase in feature size was directly related to the thickness of the oxide layer. The effect of the undercut was minimised by reducing the oxide layer thickness. The oxide layer was reduced from an initial $\sim 500 \text{ nm}$ to $\sim 100 \text{ nm}$ minimising the increase in feature size to $\sim 100 \text{ nm}$.

Figure 4.3 (a) shows a typical optical microscope image of the test pattern after the pattern was wet-chemically etched into the silicon substrate to a depth of ~380 nm using TMAH. The etch rate at 60 °C was determined to be 150 $\frac{nm}{min}$. Subsequently the 100 nm oxide layer was removed as shown in Fig. 4.3 (b). Whereas the smallest etched features are somewhat enlarged to ~1.3 μ m, the feature size of the protruding counterpart is reduced in size to about 800 nm. The difference in feature size is a result of undercut for both, the SiO₂ layer etching and the latter TMAH etching. Reducing the SiO₂ layer thickness and control of the Si etch depth were the two main factors that minimised the undercut giving us better size control.

The chip as shown in Fig. 4.3 (b) was subsequently introduced into the UHV STM-SEM/MBE system. The scanning electron microscope is adjusted to the same focal point as the scanning tunnelling microscope which allows simultaneous STM and SEM imaging. In addition, the SEM can be used for precise positioning of the STM

tip. Fig. 4.4 demonstrates the image quality of the markers obtained from the UHV SEM attached to the STM chamber. The images were taken at a beam energy of 25 keV with an imaging current of 1 nA and an estimated beam spot size of 20 nm. Fig. 4.4 (a) and (b) depict SEM images of etched and protruding building blocks respectively. An enlarged section of an etched and protruding 3×3 array is shown in (c) and (d) respectively. Here, it is apparent that the etched markers are enlarged to $\sim 1.5 \ \mu m$ whereas the protruding markers are of ~800 nm in size. The effect of prolonged sample heating to \sim 1200 °C in both cases can be seen in fig. 4.4 (e) and (f). At temperatures of \sim 1200 °C, the Si atoms on the surface are highly mobile and contribute to significant Si mass transfer which distorts the sharp contours of the markers. Whereas the etched markers only blur out slightly and stay intact, the protruding dot array smears out to about twice the dot size. This effect is mostly due to their smaller size, but it is clear that Si diffusion for etched and protruding features is not identical. We have found that the minimum marker depth/height required to produce sufficient contrast using the UHV SEM for identification of either etched or protruding features is of \sim 80 nm. The geometric relation between the feature size, *l* and etch depth, *d* is given by $l = \frac{2d}{tan[\alpha]}$, where α denotes the etch angle of 54.7 °. Therefore, the maximum depth for 1 μ m wide markers is geometrically limited to 700 nm. Deeper etch depths require a larger feature size. In a separate experiment, we found that the feature size is indeed enlarged at an etch depth of 2.4 μ m. Therefore we have chosen an etch depth of about 350 nm, which we have seen to be sufficient to preserve the smallest etched structures of $\sim 1 \,\mu$ m after the high temperature anneal.

In summary, we have discussed the influence of the most crucial process parameters for the reliable fabrication of etched structures into the Si(100) surface. The main problem was to maximise the contact between mask and sample. By increasing the sample size from 1×1 cm² to 5.1 cm (2"), switching from pressure contact mode to vacuum contact mode, adjusting exposure time and light intensity, it is possible to simultaneously create protruding and etched features down to 1 μ m and below on a silicon surface patterned by optical lithography. By decreasing the SiO₂ layer thickness from 500 nm to 100 nm and reducing the etch depth of initially 2.4 μ m to 380 nm, undercut was significantly reduced ensuring pattern reproducibility of the etched features. The smallest features fabricated with our in-house optical lithography process to date are protruding squares of ~800 nm in size and etched squares of about 1 μ m. Both structures survive the UHV sample heating preparation step and can be used

4.3. Registration markers developed in this thesis



Figure 4.4: Scanning electron microscope images of typical test patterns. UHV SEM images of etched (a,c,e) and protruding (b,d,f,) features. Comparison of features after initial outgassing at 400 °C and after extended sample heating to 1200 °C for etched (c,e) and protruding (d,f) markers.

separately or in combination for device and contact alignment. A crucial advantage of the etched features over protruding features is the protection of the device surface from contamination by the SiO_2 layer during the fabrication process. This is why we have chosen etched features to serve as registration markers. The following section describes in detail the registration marker fabrication process, as used for STM-fabricated devices, based on the optimised parameters from this work.

4.3.2 Fabrication of registration markers

Following the understanding gained from the behaviour of the test pattern, a second mask was designed for the fabrication of registration markers which were subsequently used for STM-patterned devices.

It is first interesting to discuss how best to make the mask compatible with the STM scan ranges and clean-room processing. Typically, an STM uses samples that are of about 3 mm×9 mm in dimension which allows sample preparation by directly passing a current through it thereby heating the sample to the required annealing temperature of ~1250 °C. However samples of these dimensions pose difficulties for clean-room processes such as beading of resist around the edges of the sample and inhomogeneous sample-mask contact during optical lithography due to the small sample size. Therefore for the samples used in this thesis, the STM system was specially designed to accommodate larger, 1×1 cm² sample sizes. This size is a good compromise to achieve both, high quality atomic resolution STM imaging and reproducible clean-room processing. However the larger sample size makes sample preparation by direct current heating problematic. Therefore we employ an electron beam heater which heats the sample from the backside.

The mask was designed such that four $1 \times 1 \text{ cm}^2$ sample areas would fit onto a single 2" wafer and can be processed simultaneously thereby avoiding the problem with sample-mask contact during optical exposure. Each sample consists of a 3×3 array of registration markers. The position of a small transparent square in the four largest squares, $50 \times 50 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ in size, labels the set of registration markers from one to nine. A complete pattern of registration markers is shown Fig. 4.5. The 50 μ m wide square structures are used for locating the respective registration marker set using the SEM prior to STM imaging. All other structures help to guide towards the active device area. The active device area is encompassed by four 4 μ m wide triangles and four 1 μ m wide squares compatible with the $6 \times 6 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ scan range of the STM. Using the

SEM, the STM tip is guided to the active device area, where the absolute position can then be verified using STM imaging itself for tip positioning with respect to the markers. The dimensions of one quarter of the registration mask for one marker set (out of nine) are given in units of $[\mu m]$ in Fig. 4.5 (b). The dimensions and distances of the complete pattern is given by mirror symmetry. To test the quality of this mask, we used the standard procedure as developed in Section 4.3.1. We use P-doped (1 -10 Ω cm) 2" Si(100) wafers as the starting material for the fabrication of registration markers. Initially, the substrate is cleaned using a wet-chemical cleaning cycle consisting of sulfuric peroxide (SP) $(H_2SO_4 : H_2O_2 : 1)$, deionised water (DI) rinse and RCA-2 ($DI : HCl : H_2O_2 6 : 1 : 1$) at 80 °C. SP is known to remove organic remnants from the silicon surface. The RCA-2 procedure developed by W. Kern [128] is the industry standard for removing metal contaminants on semiconductor surfaces. We thermally grow a 100 nm thick SiO₂ blanket at 1100 °C (50 min) in dry oxygen to protect the sample surface. Thereafter we pattern registration markers in a 1 μ m-thick AZ 6112 photo resist using optical lithography at low UV light intensities of $\sim 10 \frac{mW}{cm^2}$ and an exposure time of 500 ms. Using vacuum contact mode which minimises the distance between the mask and the sample, we achieve the best possible pattern resolution with our in-house Quintel Q6000 aligner. After development in MIF 300, we employ an O₂ plasma etch for 20 min to remove residues of exposed organic resist from the developed pattern. The pattern is then transferred from the optical resist into the 100 nm thick SiO₂ layer using a NH_4F : HF 15 : 1 solution.

Thereafter, we completely remove the optical resist using SP. In the next step, the SiO₂ layer acts as a mask for pattern transfer to the underlying silicon preventing the silicon wafer from being directly exposed to the organic resist. We use tetramethyl ammoniumhydroxide (TMAH 25 %) [129], [130], [131], [132] to etch the registration markers embedded in the SiO₂ mask into the silicon substrate. TMAH is a wet-chemical etchant similar to KOH but exhibits a lower etch rate. The etch rate can be adjusted by varying the temperature. For our experiments, we used a bath temperature of 60 °C resulting in an etch rate of ~150 $\frac{nm}{min}$ which gave sufficient control over the etch depth. Etching for 2.5 min results in anisotropically etched patterns along the Si(111) crystal axis of ~350 nm in depth. The anisotropic etching angle α of 54.7° determines the relation between the marker size *l* and the maximum etch depth *d* as $l = \frac{2d}{tan[\alpha]}$. The 2″ wafer is then cleaved into four 1×1 cm² samples. Before introduction into the STM-SEM/MBE system, the SiO₂ layer is removed using *NH*₄*F* : *HF* 15 : 1.

4.3. Registration markers developed in this thesis



Figure 4.5: A schematic of the optical mask developed for registration markers. (a) A complete image of the registration markers including dimensions, showing the large 50 μ m squares for device location. The active device region is shown by the red shaded area. (b) Details of dimensions of the lower left quarter of the mask in micrometres.

The silicon substrate undergoes another cleaning cycle with an added cleaning step of DI:HF (5 %) between the SP and RCA-2 treatment. DI:HF (5 %) has been found to further decrease residual carbon traces from the silicon surface.

4.3.3 Properties of registration markers during UHV fabrication process

Once the sample is introduced into the STM-SEM/MBE system, it is initially outgassed for ~2 h below 500 °C. This step mainly removes water from the chip which has been accumulated during ambient transfer in air from the clean-room to UHV. It is important to note that at this low temperature, the protecting native oxide is not removed from the sample surface [133]. We then anneal the sample to ~1200 °C giving rise to a peak vacuum pressure of ~5 \cdot 10⁻⁹ mbar by heating the backside of the sample using an electron beam heater to remove residual traces of carbon and to form the Si(100) 2×1 reconstruction. The relatively high pressure of ~5 \cdot 10⁻⁹ mbar is mainly caused by indirect heating of the manipulator arm by the electron beam rather than the Si sample itself. We found that the peak pressure was largely independent of the initial base pressure in the chamber before the annealing step.

The properties of our registration markers in the UHV environment were investigated using the custom-designed UHV STM-SEM/MBE system. Initially, the markers are subject to the high temperature sample preparation procedure in UHV. The markers also have to survive device encapsulation in epitaxial silicon (\sim 25 nm) at low temperatures of \sim 250 °C. Fig. 4.6 contains SEM images of a series of registration marker images at different magnification during these different stages of processing. All images that were obtained with the SEM in this section were taken at a beam energy of 25 keV with an imaging current of \sim 1 nA and an estimated electron beam spot size of 20 nm. Fig. 4.6 (a) shows an SEM image of a complete set of etched registration markers after initial sample outgassing at below 500 °C showing how the SEM can be used to position the STM tip with respect to the registration markers. The central registration markers point the way to the device area and are shown again with increasing detail in Fig. 4.6 (b,c).

The central registration markers, consisting of 1 μ m wide squares, 4 μ m width triangles and 2×2 arrays of 2 μ m wide squares, are shown before the high temperature annealing step in Fig. 4.6 (d). Fig. 4.6 (e) shows the same markers after annealing to ~1200 °C and Fig. 4.6 (f) after consecutive growth of ~25 nm of epitaxial silicon at 250 °C. This series of SEM images shows that the shape of the markers is preserved.

4.3. Registration markers developed in this thesis



Figure 4.6: SEM images of etched registration markers during the fabrication process. SEM images of etched registration markers before sample annealing, (a) complete set of registration markers including aligned STM tip and (b) and (c), higher magnification images of the central region. SEM images of the device region before (d), after (e) sample heating to 1200 °C and subsequent (f) epitaxial growth of 25 nm Si.

However, the SEM images in Fig. 4.6 (e,f) are slightly blurred due to smoothed marker edges during the annealing step leading to a decrease in imaging contrast. We have also grown thicker layers of Si up ~100 nm over the markers and observed that the appearance of the markers is the same as shown in Fig. 4.6 (f). The markers which are shown here and which will be used for the fabrication of devices later on exhibit an etch depth of ~350 nm which decreases after the annealing step as will be discussed in detail below. We have also varied the etch depth from 2.4 μ m down to 40 nm and found that the minimum marker depth to produce sufficient contrast for identification in our UHV SEM is of order ~80 nm. However we would like to note that markers with shallower depths can still be used for alignment since the markers remain visible for the STM (see also Section 8.2).

Fig. 4.7 (a) shows how the position of the STM tip is monitored using the SEM with respect to the registration markers. Later on, we will show how this allows us to STM-pattern nano-scale structures at precise locations. We also use the STM to investigate the silicon surface quality around the registration markers. Fig. 4.7 (b) shows a filled state STM image of the reconstructed Si surface after the high temperature sample preparation. The image shows that the surface quality in the device area close to the two smallest, left registration markers is atomically clean with a low defect density of order 0.5 %. Seven step edges, caused by the sample miscut resulting in eight Si terraces, are visible. From this we can conclude that the markers have not adversely affected the structural quality of the surface in the device area. Fig. 4.7 (c) is a high resolution filled state STM image demonstrating atomic resolution on the large, 1×1 cm² samples with two missing dimer vacancies (DV). The ability to achieve atomic resolution on large sample sizes compatible with standard clean room processing.

Simultaneous SEM and STM imaging enables us to observe the surface morphology due to the presence of the markers. Fig. 4.7 (d) shows an SEM image of the two smallest $\sim 1 \ \mu m$ wide registration markers before sample annealing. Looking at the same area with the STM after sample annealing is shown in Fig. 4.7 (e), where the anisotropy of the TMAH etch becomes visible. The TMAH etch carves out - layer by layer - inverted pyramids into the silicon substrate along the Si(111) axis. Their opening angle, given by the anisotropic etch angle of $\sim 54.7^{\circ}$, enables us to image both, inside and outside the markers using the STM.

We find that after our standard sample preparation anneal to 1200 °C for 10 s, the

4.3. Registration markers developed in this thesis



Figure 4.7: Surface quality and morphology of registration markers. (a) SEM image of the STM tip aligned to central square markers. (b) STM image of highlighted area illustrating typical surface quality in the device region. (c) High quality STM image demonstrating atomic resolution on 1×1 cm² samples used for device fabrication. SEM image of the smallest $\sim 1 \mu$ m wide markers before sample annealing (d) SEM image of two 1 μ m sized registration markers and (e) corresponding 3D STM contour plot after annealing. (f) STM image *inside* the markers showing nanometre wide terrace structures. STM imaging conditions: V \sim -2 V, I \sim 0.2 nA.

Feature size <i>L</i> [µm]	Time
0.5	0.1 s
1-1.5	2-10 s
2	32 s
4	8.5 min
30	448 hr

Table 4.3: Relationship between time and feature size for the decrease in marker depth from 350 nm to 100 nm by annealing to 1200 °C. After the diffusion model suggested by Keeffe *et al.* [135].

depth of the etched markers decreases from initially \sim 350 nm to \sim 100 nm. In order to understand this decrease in marker depth, we present a higher resolution STM image shown in Fig. 4.7 (f) of the surface structure inside the registration markers. This image shows a series of steep, short nanometre wide terraces, extending to the bottom of the etch pit. Additionally, a few Si dimer chains are visible on the surface. Such a silicon dimer pattern is related to the presence of C [61] which is only found in the exposed marker region but is not seen in the device area due to its protective SiO₂ layer. It is expected that during the anneal, silicon atoms diffuse from the edges to the bottom of the etch pits via adatom transfer. Tromp et al. [134] have shown that at elevated temperatures thermal diffusion adatoms occurs across the Si(100) surface in the form of Si dimers i.e. pairs of silicon atoms. The decrease in depth was seen in previous annealing studies of square-wave gratings etched into the Si(100) surface by reactive ion etching [135]. In their study, a grating was defined using electron beam lithography. The grating amplitude Z was found to decreases exponentially during sample annealing as $Z(t, T, L) = Z_0 \cdot e^{-\lambda}$, where λ denotes the decay constant. The decay constant λ depends linearly on annealing time *t*, exponentially on the annealing temperature and to the inverse fourth power on the feature size *L* i.e. $\lambda = \frac{Fct(e^T)}{I_4} \cdot t$. For the smallest markers used in our experiments, this simple diffusion model predicts a decrease in marker depth from 350 nm to 100 nm during heating to \sim 1200 °C for 10 s, in good agreement with our results. Table 4.3 illustrates the strong dependence of the marker depth on the marker size L. The time it takes for a decrease in marker depth from \sim 350 nm to \sim 100 nm by annealing to \sim 1200 °C is shown for various feature sizes. Whereas structures of size $L \sim 1-1.5 \ \mu m$ exhibit a decrease in marker depth in about 2-10 s, the same decrease takes about 450 hr for 30 μ m wide markers. From the strong dependence of the depth decrease on the feature size illustrated in Table 4.3, it can also be seen that registration markers much smaller than 1 μ m will fill up really

quickly due to silicon diffusion at elevated temperatures. This shows that the ultimate size of registration markers that we can feasibly observe clearly in the SEM is of order 1 μ m.

So far we have seen that our etched registration markers survive all the critical steps necessary for STM device fabrication. Another critical factor is the alignment accuracy that this technique allows for the positioning of STM-patterned structures. One elegant way to confirm the absolute position of the STM tip is by approaching the STM tip to a registration marker while tracking its position with the SEM as is indicated in Fig. 4.7 (a). When the STM tip reaches the edge of the marker, the tunnelling current drops dramatically. Comparing the SEM image of the location of the STM tip at this point allows us to estimate an alignment accuracy of order 100 nm which can be regarded as the limit of our SEM-monitored STM positioning technique.

Alignment can be improved by having shallower markers closer to the device area which are only visible to the STM. Indeed, we patterned smaller markers using an electron beam lithography process which will be discussed as part of Chapter 8. With such a self-aligned process, the alignment is improved below the 100 nm level. Further strategies are known to improve alignment such as small grids of registration markers and/or the use of the optical positioning read-out of the STM stage. The use of grids helps to statistically reduce misalignment. The optical positioning read-out of the STM-SEM/MBE system was designed to be able provide absolute positioning of the STM tip down to the sub 20 nm level. To this end, initial test have proven the ability to relocate the same area within 100 nm after the stage has been moved back and forth by 5 mm. Whilst initial investigations have been conducted, the incorporation of grids and optical position readout into the device fabrication process is beyond the scope of this thesis.

4.4 Outline of complete fabrication strategy

Fig. 4.8 outlines the complete fabrication strategy we have developed to fabricate STM devices [30], [136] using the registration markers developed above. The creation of registration markers enables the precise positioning of the STM tip with respect to the registration markers as shown in Fig. 4.8 (a). Following passivation of the surface with a monolayer of hydrogen, we can use the STM to pattern the surface. An example of STM-based lithography is shown in Fig. 4.8 (b). Phosphine gas (PH₃) se-

4.4. Outline of complete fabrication strategy



Figure 4.8: Outline of a novel device fabrication strategy for the creation of Si:P nano-scale devices using scanning probe microscopy. *Left:* (a)-(e) Cross-sectional schematics of essential fabrication steps and (f) 3D sketch of final device. *Right:* Corresponding (a) SEM image of STM tip (white) aligned to registration markers, (b) STM image of lithographically-patterned wire, STM images of P incorporated wires, before (c) and after (d) hydrogen resist removal and (e) 25 nm MBE Si overgrowth; concluded by an optical microscope image of the final device with bonded contact wires (f).

lectively adsorbs onto the exposed Si surface. Using an anneal step, we are able to incorporate phosphorus atoms from the adsorbed phosphine into the silicon crystal with nanometre precision. The incorporation is accompanied by the ejection of silicon forming chains on the surface and appear as bright lines in Fig. 4.8 (c). This anneal helps to electrically activate the excess electron provided by the P atom, which is incorporated into the bulk of the silicon matrix at a temperature below which diffusion out of the STM-patterned structure would occur. The presence of the hydrogen resist has been found to be detrimental for the growth of epitaxial silicon layers. A further annealing step allows removal of the hydrogen resist layer without significant P atom surface diffusion as shown in Fig. 4.8 (d). The Si:P nanostructures are then encapsulated using low temperature silicon MBE which was shown to lead to complete electrical activation of the buried phosphorus atoms in a δ -doped layer [137], [138]. The Si surface after growth of 25 nm of epitaxial Si is shown in 4.8 (e). The final step in the fabrication process is the ex-situ alignment of four macroscopic Al contacts to the buried structures using the registration markers. Ohmic contacts are formed using a low temperature heating step in which the aluminium diffuses to the buried, STM-fabricated P-doped contact pads. An optical microscope image of the final device structure is shown in Figure 4.8 (f). In the following sections, we will describe each stage of the process in detail.

4.4.1 UHV sample preparation

After thorough wet-chemical cleaning, the sample, patterned with nine sets of registration markers, is loaded into the STM-SEM/MBE vacuum system. Initial sample outgassing at temperatures around ~400 °C for several hours in the preparation chamber mainly serves to desorb remnants of water vapour which cannot be avoided by sample transfer from the clean-room into the UHV system. Immediately afterwards the silicon chip undergoes a high temperature annealing profile peaking at a temperature of ~1200 °C for 10 s. Due to the large sample size, this is achieved by using the electron beam heater which enables us to homogeneously heat the backside of the sample thereby desorbing remaining adsorbates, such as residual traces of carbon and organic resist, from the surface. This is the most severe process step that the registration markers have to survive. The heating step is necessary to form the Si(100) 2×1 surface reconstruction and to achieve the highest possible surface quality for STM lithography.



Figure 4.9: Temperature-dependent bonding phases of hydrogen on Si(100) relevant for the formation of hydrogen resist and thermal hydrogen removal. Dihydrides are present for substrate temperatures below ~400 °C. Monohydrides start to diffuse at temperatures above 350 °C and exhibit a desorption peak at about 550 °C; taken from [51].

4.4.2 Formation of the hydrogen resist

Hydrogen resist technology has been used by many groups as a means to passivate the highly reactive Si(100) surface. Using atomic hydrogen, it is possible to terminate the Si(100) surface to create an inert surface. High resolution STM imaging allows the study of selective adsorption of molecules on dangling bond sites. More importantly, dangling bond sites for the adsorption of molecules can also be created using STM lithography – a key step for the formation of atomic-scale devices. The hydrogenpassivated surface is typically formed by in-situ exposure of atomic hydrogen to the clean Si surface. The resulting reconstruction depends on the substrate temperature during atomic hydrogen exposure [139]. There are two distinct surface phases, the monohydride phase and the dihydride phase. For the formation of the monohydride phase, the π -bond between the Si dimer atoms is broken and a single H atom bonds to each end of the Si dimer. However the σ -bond between the two Si atoms, forming the dimer, stays intact. For the formation of the dihydride phase, the σ -bond between the dimers is broken, such that each Si atoms ends up with two H atoms. The monohydride [Si(100)-2×1:H] surface is chemically inert and more stable than the dihydride $[Si(100)-3 \times 1:H]$ phase. It is therefore the most desirable reconstruction for the formation of STM-patterned devices. Fig. 4.9 elucidates the dependence of hydrogen density on the substrate temperature relevant for both, the formation of hydrogen resist and thermal removal of hydrogen discussed in Section 4.4.5. Temperature-dependent hydrogen desorption studies [140], [141] reveal two H-desorption peaks. The first desorption peak occurs around 400 °C and is related to dihydride desorption. The second desorption maxima around 550 °C is related to monohydride desorption. It



Figure 4.10: Hydrogen termination quality for various substrate temperatures.

(a) Partial hydrogen termination at a substrate temperature of 450 °C. The majority of the Si dimers are clean Si(100) surface, while the hydrogen terminated dimers appear as dark depressions. (b) Intermediate regime dosed at a temperature of 400°C. Single and double dangling bonds appear as bright protrusions. (c) Near perfect hydrogen termination at a substrate temperature of 350 °C. Only a few single dangling bond sites appear as bright protrusions; imaging conditions: $V \sim -2.0 V$, $I \sim 0.2 nA$.

follows that the formation of dihydrides is avoided when the substrate temperature is held within the dihydride desorption regime, i.e. between 350 °C – 450 °C. The upper substrate temperature limit is governed by monohydride desorption in the range from 450 °C – 650 °C. Therefore the ideal substrate temperature lies on the onset of dihydride formation around 350 °C. For substrate temperatures significantly higher than 380 °C, incomplete hydrogen passivation results in high dangling bond densities which eventually makes the surface unusable for the formation of controlled STM-patterns.

Since temperature control is crucial for optimally H-terminated surfaces, we performed a number of experiments to calibrate the optimal hydrogen passivation temperature for the STM-SEM/MBE system. Fig. 4.10 consists of a series of STM images of hydrogen terminated surfaces for different substrate temperatures. All Si:H(100) surfaces in this thesis were obtained by exposure to atomic hydrogen at a chamber pressure of $\sim 5 \cdot 10^{-6}$ mbar for ~ 6 min. Such a dose of 135 Langmuir of atomic hydrogen was found to result in a monolayer coverage by a previous study performed in our group [51]. Fig. 4.10 (a) was prepared at a substrate temperature of ~ 450 °C as measured by a calibrated K-type thermocouple close to the sample holder. The Si(100) is only covered with few monohydrides on the surface. Hydrogen passivation at a sample temperature of ~ 400 °C [Fig. 4.10 (b)] yields a better terminated surface where single and double dangling bonds sites are seen as bright protrusions on the surface.



Figure 4.11: Atomic resolution image of a hydrogen terminated Si(100):H surface. Near perfect hydrogen terminated surface free of dangling bond sites. Two dihydrides can be seen in the right hand corner which occur when dosing at temperatures below 400 °C. Two single missing dimer defects are shown on the left hand side; imaging conditions: V \sim -2.0 V, I \sim 0.2 nA.

A near perfect hydrogen-terminated surface is shown in Fig. 4.10 (c) as a result of passivation at \sim 350 °C. Only very few single dangling bonds are found on this surface and these are known to be practically inert to the adsorption of PH₃ molecules [66]. A high resolution image of a hydrogen surface which was prepared in this way is seen in Fig. 4.11. The image shows the presence of two dihydride units in the right hand corner, which is evidence that further attempts to decrease the single dangling bond density by reducing the substrate temperature would come at the cost of increasing the dihydride density on the surface. Therefore such a surface represents an optimal surface for subsequent formation of STM-defined atomic-scale lithography.

4.4.3 STM-based hydrogen lithography

In the following, we will discuss the method of STM-based hydrogen lithography for STM device fabrication. For this purpose, STM lithography parameters were optimised to achieve both, nano- and atomic-scale patterning of small device structures *and* micrometre-scale pattern formation used to form electrical contact to external four terminal leads. The use of electron stimulated desorption (ESD) of hydrogen from a monohydride surface using an STM tip was first reported by Becker *et al.* [9]. They found that by applying several volts to the STM tip, they could promote electrons to the anti-bonding level of the Si:H bond, thereby desorbing hydrogen from the surface. Snow *et al.* [10] performed the first STM-stimulated hydrogen desorption experiments on the Si(100):H surface immediately followed by the well-known work of Lyding,



Figure 4.12: Atomic- and nano-scale STM lithography created in this work employing different bias regimes. *Low bias regime* [2V - 5.5V]: Creation of single dangling bond adsorption sites perpendicular (a) and parallel (b) to Si dimer rows. Single (c) and few (d) dangling bond sites. Single (e) and double (f) Si dimer row atomic wire pattern. (g) Two parallel (g) and perpendicular (h) atomic wires. *High bias regime* [>6V]: (i) 15 nm wide nano-scale wire pattern. (j) 40 nm wide wire with a 40 nm wide tunnelling gap. (h) single electron transistor pattern showing two 50 nm wide tunnelling junctions and a 100 nm wide and 800 nm long island. Imaging conditions: V~-2 V, I ~0.2 nA.

Shen, Tucker and others [11], [12]. In 1995, Shen *et al.* [12] identified two different mechanisms separated by two different voltage regimes by which STM-stimulated hydrogen desorption occurs on the surface. The first desorption mechanism occurs by excitation of the Si:H bond originating from vibrational heating of the lattice by tunnelling electrons. This occurs at sample biases between +2 V and +5.5 V (*low voltage regime*), where inelastic tunnelling processes excite the vibrational mode of the Si:H bond. Multiple excitations (from a number of electrons) eventually lead to desorption of the hydrogen atom. The second hydrogen desorption mechanism occurs at higher sample bias above +6 V (*high voltage regime*), where electrons emitted from the STM

tip have sufficient energy to directly excite the σ bond between the Si and H atom. For the fabrication of STM devices, we choose between the two regimes depending on the particular pattern size and structure. The low voltage desorption mechanism is used for the removal of individual hydrogen atoms allowing the formation of truly atomic-scale devices. Fig. 4.12 (a,b) illustrate our capability using this technique for the selective removal of *single* hydrogen atoms. By increasing the number of electrons emitted from the STM tip with increasing current, dots of few missing hydrogen atoms can be created as seen in Fig. 4.12 (c,d). Atomic wires of single [Fig. 4.12 (e)] and double Si dimer [Fig. 4.12 (f)] linewidths are also possible. Figure 4.12 also shows the lithographic precision when combining two atomic wires patterned parallel (g) and perpendicular (h) to each other. All lithographic patterns in Fig. 4.12 (a) – (h) were obtained by using a sample bias of 4 V and 1 nA, except in (d) where 2 nA was used. Fig. 4.12 also demonstrates examples of nano-scale patterning using the high voltage desorption regime at a sample bias of 7 V and 3 nA. Specifically, a 15 nm wide wire (i), a 40 nm wide wire with a 40 nm tunnelling gap (j) and an SET structure (k) are shown. Using this mechanism generally achieves complete hydrogen desorption in the lithographic area at the cost of an increased number of stray dangling bonds created at the pattern boundaries. This can readily be seen in Fig. 4.12 (i).

One of the ultimate challenges in the device formation process is to maintain a hydrogen desorption efficiency close to 100% for the formation of large, micrometrescale lithographic patches which are used to contact the nano-scale or atomic-scale device to the outside world. Since the device fabrication process is very long, it is desirable to achieve complete hydrogen desorption of micrometre scale structures in a minimal amount of time. We performed an initial large scale desorption optimisation study based on the variation of the following parameters:

- **STM tip bias and tunnelling current:** Both higher tip bias and higher tip current increase desorption efficiency. Higher tip bias tends to increase the lithographic width but also introduces more stray electrons. Higher tip current increases electron dose. Both high bias and currents require a highly stable tip.
- **Scan line spacing:** The horizontal and vertical scan line spacing is adjusted by the number of data points taken in the horizontal and vertical scan direction at a given scan frame.

Scan velocity: Adjusting the scan velocity provides a means of adjusting the electron

dose. Smaller velocities increase desorption efficiency but become impractical for large scale lithography.

Fig. 4.13 (a,b) show the difference in hydrogen desorption efficiency for a 100 nm wide patch and a 2 μ m wide patch for the same desorption parameters. Due the larger scan frame, the scan line spacing with the same number of scan points increases from initially 0.25 nm to 5 nm. Increasing STM bias and tunnelling current from 5 V and 2 nA [Fig. 4.13 (c)] to 6 V and 4 nA [Fig. 4.13 (d)] does not increase the lithographic linewidth sufficiently to compensate for the increased line spacing thus hydrogen desorption is not improved significantly in the large patch. Decreasing the linewidth from 5 nm to 2.5 nm (by doubling the number of scan points) almost completely removes the hydrogen from the surface with some hydrogen (black depressions) still present on the surface. For these lithographic parameters (6 V, 4 nA), we observe a lithographic linewidth of 4 nm [Fig. 4.13 (e)] in agreement with previous reports in the literature [142]. Combining a linewidth of 2.5 nm with increased lithographic parameters (6 V, 4 nA) leads to near complete hydrogen desorption as seen in Fig. 4.13 (f,g). A critical issue with increasing the number of scan points (in vertical and horizontal scan direction) is, that it increases the scan time quadratically, whereas increasing the scan velocity lowers the scan time only linearly. Soukiassian et al. [143] found that the number of desorbed hydrogen atoms per emitted electron is constant up to a scan speed of 800 $\frac{nm}{s}$ but falls dramatically above this value. As a consequence, we have initially chosen a scan speed of 700 $\frac{nm}{s}$ in our experiments in conjunction with an STM bias of 6 V and a tunnelling current of 4 nA. The desorption time for a 2.5 μ m \times 2.5 μ m large lithographic contact patch is about 3 h using the latter parameters. For highly stable tips we have gone on to increase the STM bias voltage a bit further to 7.5 V while decreasing the tunnelling current to 3 nA. Using these parameters, we further improve the desorption efficiency as shown in Fig. 4.13 (h). More recently [144], we investigated large scale desorption at higher scan speeds up to 4000 $\frac{nm}{s}$ (STM tip bias of 7.5 V and tunnelling current of 3 nA) which was found to be sufficient to incorporate the maximum number of P dopants into the Si layer determined from Hall measurements of STM-patterned Van-der-Pauw type devices. This means that large scale contact patches with similar structural quality can be desorbed in 20 % of the time (\sim 30 min for a 2.5 μ m \times 2.5 μ m large square) – an important improvement of the device fabrication process.

We have seen that by adjusting the STM tip voltage and current and the scan line

4.4. Outline of complete fabrication strategy



Figure 4.13: Micrometre-scale STM lithography for buried device contacts. Dependence of STM lithography on scan size, tunnelling voltage and tunnelling current and scan line spacing. Comparison between nano-scale lithography (a) with a scan line spacing of 2.5 nm and (b,c) 2 μ m large lithography with a scan line spacing of 5 nm. (d) Increasing the single line lithographic wire width to 4 nm. (e) Decreasing the scan line spacing to 2.5 nm. (f) Combination of (d) and (e) leads to near complete hydrogen resist removal for large scale desorption as can be seen in (g). (h) Increasing the desorption voltage to 7.5 V increases hydrogen desorption efficiency further. Imaging conditions: V ~ -2.2 V, I ~ 0.2 nA.



Figure 4.14: Multi-step STM lithography for atomic wire device formation. (a) Initially, nano-scale lithography is used to create two triangular patterns with a 50 nm wide tunnelling gap. (b) Thereafter, a single atomic wire, 3 nm wide and 50 nm long is patterned. (c) In a third step, the device pattern is completed by the formation of micrometre-scale contact patches, $2 \ \mu m \times 2 \ \mu m$ in size. Imaging conditions: V~-2 V, I~0.15 nA.

spacing, STM-based hydrogen desorption is tunable to perform lithography from the micrometre-scale down to the atomic-scale. It is worth noting that the exact correlation between linewidth, bias voltage and tunnelling current is still tip dependent. This means, that the desorption parameters have to be slightly optimised for each STM tip individually.

Performing STM lithography at various length scales is an important prerequisite for our device fabrication process. Fig. 4.14 nicely illustrates, for each device pattern, the combination of STM lithography at the various length scales. Here the multi step procedure for the fabrication of an atomic wire pattern is shown. Initially the STM tip is centred in between the registration markers using the SEM. By using a script-based pattern generator provided with the Omicron Scala STM software, any desired two dimensional device layout can be patterned into the hydrogen resist. In this case, we chose to write two opposing triangles with a base line of 150 nm separated by 50 nm as shown in Fig. 4.14 (a). Using a smaller STM scan frame, we precisely place a single atomic wire with a width of 3 nm and perfect alignment parallel to the Si dimer rows between the two triangles. For both lithographic structures so far, we used an STM voltage of 6 V and a current of 4 nA. Micrometre-scale contact pads are then aligned to each triangle in a subsequent step. An STM image shown in Fig. 4.14 (c) confirms the successful large area pattern written with the higher STM voltage of 7.5 V at a current of \sim 3 nA. The rationale behind the three step process is that STM pattern alignment accuracy depends on the scan size. One major factor of misalignment is the piezo drift induced in the STM scanner. Since the absolute misalignment is related to the scan frame size, small structures are best aligned using small scan frames. The use

of intermediate scale features (in this case the two triangles) allows us to relocate the small structures in larger scan frames so that we can make an interconnect between micrometre-scale and nano-scale patterns. The micrometre-scale contact pads themselves are subsequently aligned using SEM-assisted STM tip positioning with respect to the registration markers.

The preparation of a *stable* STM tip is essential for a reliable STM lithography process and the main factor governing device yield. *Stable* means that the tip shape and the robustness of the tunnelling junction, formed between STM tip and silicon substrate, is relatively insensitive towards bias voltage changes ranging from -2 V to +8 V as well as tunnelling current changes from 0.1 nA – 4 nA. Stability over such a wide range of imaging conditions is necessary to switch from normal STM imaging to STM lithography.

4.4.4 Adsorption of PH₃ molecules and P atom incorporation

In this thesis we have pursued the use of phosphine gas (PH₃) as the dopant source for Si:P dopant devices since the selective adsorption of phosphine molecules on dangling bond sites has been demonstrated in our group [19]. The interaction of PH₃ with the Si(100) surface has been studied intensively for almost two decades [51], [145], [146], [147], [148], [149], [150]. It is widely known (for example [145]), that PH₃ adsorbs on the highly reactive, bare Si(100) surface with a sticking coefficient approaching unity. At room temperature, the adsorption process of PH₃ is accompanied by the dissociation of the molecule on the surface into PH_x species. The identification of the various species that occur after surface exposure to PH₃ has been the subject of research by a number of groups. Whilst contradictive reports exist, the most recent and arguably the most complete interpretation [151] suggests, that the three main species are to be identified as PH₂, PH and P. Whilst the individual dissociation pathways are governed by the complexity of the underlying molecular energetics, the average density of P atoms, stemming from this self-arranged assembly, saturates after a certain dose of PH₃. Surface exposure to phosphine at the *saturation dose* yields $2.5 \cdot 10^{14}$ cm⁻² of P containing molecules. Given the density of Si atoms on the Si(100) surface, namely $6.78 \cdot 10^{14}$ cm⁻², this P coverage is equivalent to 0.37 monolayer (ML) [150]. STM studies, performed in our group [32], have shown that this saturation value is due to a two-fold, self-terminating mixture of phosphine species ordering, namely a $c(4 \times 2)$ periodicity corresponding to 0.25 ML coverage and a $p(2 \times 2)$ periodicity, correspond-



Figure 4.15: Molecular species on Si(100) after exposure to a saturation dose of PH₃. STM images of the bare Si(100) surface after a saturation dose of phosphine. *Inset:* A high resolution STM image shows the $p(2 \times 2)$ arrangement of PH₂ and PH which orders with a $c(4 \times 2)$ periodicity. The black depressions are hydrogen arising from the PH₃ dissociation process. Imaging conditions: V~-2 V, I~0.15 nA.

ing to 0.5 ML coverage. Recently [151], these two phosphine species were identified as PH and PH₂ respectively. Fig. 4.15 shows the Si(100) surface after exposure to a saturation dose of PH₃. For our combined SEM-STM/MBE system with a base pressure of $9 \cdot 10^{-11}$ mbar, the saturation dose point was identified to be the exposure of PH₃ gas to the surface at a chamber pressure of $1.1 \cdot 10^{-9}$ mbar for 15 min, corresponding to 0.74 Langmuir (L). The interaction complexity can readily be seen by the occurrence of various species on the surface. Atomic resolution STM imaging allows the identification of the dominant dissociation species according to the interpretation of Wilson *et al.* [151]. It can clearly be seen that PH₂ orders with a $p(2\times 2)$ periodicity. The bright protrusions, centred over the Si dimer, is PH. Its $c(4\times 2)$ ordering is less obvious since it is less abundant on the surface. The dark depressions which can be seen across the surface comes from hydrogen left over from the PH₃ dissociation process.

The usability of phosphine for the fabrication of devices patterned by hydrogenbased STM lithography relies on two important findings. The first is, that PH₃ molecules selectively adsorb only on the reactive, exposed silicon area of the patterned surface [19]. The surrounding, non-reactive H-terminated surface blocks the adsorption PH₃ thus acting truly as a resist. This enables the formation of controlled adsorption regions of PH₃ molecules on the Si surface using STM lithography which can readily be confirmed from Fig. 4.16. Here, STM lithography was used to desorb a patch from a hydrogen-terminated surface, thereby exposing the underlying Si(100) surface. After a saturation dose of PH₃ in the preparation chamber, the lithographic area is relocated using the SEM in combination with the registration markers. The surface structure in the patch area shown in Fig. 4.16 looks essentially the same as the bare Si(100) surface shown in Fig. 4.15. The sharp lithographic boundary stays intact during the PH₃ adsorption process. The atomic resolution image [Fig. 4.16 (inset)] also demonstrates that no phosphine has adsorbed to single dangling bonds (DB). This is important, since the presence of DB cannot be entirely avoided due to incomplete hydrogen termination or stray removal of hydrogen atoms during the lithographic process.

The second finding is that the P atom from the adsorbed P-containing species can be thermally incorporated into the top layer of the silicon surface [32]. The incorporation process provides stronger bonding as three covalent bonds are formed between the P atoms and the silicon surface and therefore minimises phosphorus diffusion and segregation in subsequent processing steps. X-ray photoemission (XPS) spectroscopy studies on the bare (unpatterned) silicon surface [145], [150] have shown that the P atom density after subsequent annealing over a temperature range between 450 °C and 625 °C is constant, namely 0.25 ML or $1.7 \cdot 10^{14}$ cm⁻². This implies that some PH₃ molecules from the 0.37 ML coverage obtained by phosphine exposure at room temperature desorb recombinatively. At 625 °C, phosphorus starts to desorb from the Si(100) surface and is found to be completely removed at a temperature of 825 $^{\circ}$ C [150]. Schofield et al. [32] optimised the P incorporation process for Si(100):H surfaces patterned by STM-based hydrogen lithography. By carefully annealing the silicon surface to \sim 350 °C, P is incorporated into the silicon surface whereas the surrounding hydrogen resist remains unchanged. This optimised process has allowed the placement of individual P dopants within an unprecedented accuracy of ~ 1 nm [32]. The importance of this step is, that P dopants are incorporated into the silicon surface without disrupting the integrity of the hydrogen resist – thus allowing precise dopant patterning. Once the P atoms are sitting on a Si crystal site, they are less like to move/diffuse due to the covalent bonds they have formed with the surrounding silicon atoms. The use of registration markers allows us to easily observe the same area of the surface, shown in Fig. 4.16, after the incorporation anneal at 350 °C using the electron beam heater in the preparation chamber. Fig. 4.17 clearly demonstrates that the boundary between the hydrogen resist and the P atom structure remains unchanged. Whilst the incorporated P atoms are difficult to observe on the surface due to the appearance of

4.4. Outline of complete fabrication strategy



Figure 4.16: Filled state STM images of phosphine adsorption on a lithographically patterned hydrogen passivated Si(100):H surface. The sharp boundary created by STM lithography between the hydrogen-terminated surface and the hydrogen-depassivated area allows selective PH₃ adsorption. A high-resolution STM image (inset) allows identification [151] of PH₂, PH and H. Importantly, no adsorption of PH₃ molecules on single dangling bonds (DB) is observed. Imaging conditions: V \sim -2 V, I \sim 0.15 nA.
4.4. Outline of complete fabrication strategy



Figure 4.17: Filled state STM images of phosphorus incorporation on the patterned Si:H(100) surface. Thermal incorporation of P atoms into the top Si(100) layer at a temperature of ~ 350 °C. Importantly, the hydrogen resist stays intact. A high-resolution STM image (inset) shows ejected Si dimer chains on the surface. The incorporated P atoms are still visible but obscured by the ejected Si chains. Imaging conditions: V~-2 V, I~0.15 nA.

Si chains (with a geometric height increase of 0.14 Å) stemming from Si ejected during the P incorporation process, we know from high resolution STM images that they are there [32]. The occurrence of ejected Si dimers on the surface accompanied with P incorporation was first reported by Lin *et al.* [150]. Parts of the lithographic region around the Si chains appear identical to the surrounding hydrogen resist. The reason for this is partial re-termination of the desorption area by hydrogen atoms coming from the PH_x species.

4.4.5 Thermal hydrogen resist removal

Previous studies of Si epitaxial growth [152], [153], [154] have shown that the presence of hydrogen on the initial surface can deteriorate the Si growth quality. Hydrogen atoms are known to hinder Si surface diffusion which results in inferior epitaxial growth as compared to the clean Si surface. It is desirable to maximise the silicon growth quality by completely removing the hydrogen resist layer from the patterned Si(100):H surface. Prior to device encapsulation, P incorporation is an essential step to ensure dopant pattern integrity during the hydrogen removal step. Hallam et al. [67] have shown that thermal hydrogen resist removal is achieved by carefully heating a patterned surface to \sim 470 °C. It has been shown that the desorption process is a result of a recombinative interdimer mechanism [68], in which two hydrogen atoms from adjacent dimers combine and desorb from the surface as H₂. The pairing of hydrogen to desorb via this pathway arises from an attractive force between hydrogen atoms on the surface [155] leading to a rearrangement of H atoms into a desorption configuration at elevated temperatures due to the low activation barrier for interdimer diffusion [156]. Fig. 4.18 shows a patterned P-dopant area surface after the hydrogen removal step. While some residual hydrogen is still present on the surface, it is important that the P dopant structure maintains its integrity. The two annealing steps for P incorporation and hydrogen resist removal may also be combined by heating the silicon sample controllably to $470 \,^{\circ}$ C for 10 - 60 s. Initially the phosphorus atoms incorporate from the PH₃ dissociation products, PH and PH₂, into the top Si layer at a temperature of \sim 350 °C. Subsequently, the hydrogen resist is removed from the surface at a temperature of 470 °C. Fig. 4.18 shows that such a process preserves the carefully created STM-patterned P-dopant structure and provides a high quality surface for subsequent epitaxial overgrowth.



Figure 4.18: Filled state STM images of thermal desorption of the hydrogen resist. Annealing the surface to 470 °C desorbs the hydrogen resist, whereas the P dopant structure maintains its integrity. Imaging conditions: $V \sim -1.6 V$, $I \sim 0.15 nA$.

4.4.6 Encapsulation of P dopant structures with epitaxial Si

The final UHV device fabrication step is to encapsulate the patterned phosphorus device structure with epitaxially grown silicon. This fulfills a number of purposes. Firstly, one can move the conducing layer away from complex surface states and residual surface defects which can have significant influence on the electrical properties of devices. Secondly, the robustness of the patterned structure is greatly enhanced by protectively burying it avoiding ambient exposure and potential contamination. Thirdly, by incorporating the P atoms into the silicon bulk, it donates its excess electron to contribute to conduction, thus electrically activating the P dopant.

The latter advantages come at the price of having to find a high-quality Si encapsulation process which preserves the underlying dopant structure. Generally, highquality silicon epitaxy is achieved at elevated growth temperatures of ~650 °C due to thermally activated Si surface migration. At these high temperatures however, the P atoms are also subject to surface segregation [157] and thermally activated diffusion [158]. Lowering the growth temperature results in sub-optimal crystal quality, since less Si migration takes place, increasing the residual defect density, which is a known mechanism to contribute to dopant diffusion [159]. It is worth noting, that the abundance of P atom in the top silicon layer can also adversely affect the epitaxial thickness further contributing to a decreased growth quality. As can already be seen from this brief discussion, the silicon encapsulation process is ultimately a compromise between dopant structure integrity and crystal quality.

At low temperatures, Eaglesham et al. [152] found that Si deposition on Si(100) is only epitaxial up to a certain layer thickness. For a growth rate of 0.7 $\frac{A}{s}$, the critical thickness was found to be 30 nm for a growth temperature of $250 \degree C$ [160]. Beyond this critical thickness, a crystalline-amorphous transition occurs and surface quality deteriorates. They also studied the qualitative effect of hydrogen on Si growth and suggested that hydrogen suppresses Si surface diffusion, thereby increasing surface roughness. This assumption is substantiated since the activation energy for Si diffusion on the hydrogen-terminated surface [161] increases from 0.6 eV and 1.0 eV on the bare Si(100) surface [162] to 1.5 eV and 1.7 eV along and perpendicular to the Si dimer row direction respectively. Oberbeck et al. [153] compared the surface quality after growth of a few monolayers of Si at a temperature of 250 °C on a bare Si surface and on a hydrogen-terminated surface. Using atomic resolution STM imaging, it was found that the surface roughness is increased on the hydrogen-terminated surface also doubling the density of surface defects. A recent STM study [154] showed that hydrogen significantly segregates to the surface during Si growth thus staying as a surfactant to inhibit Si diffusion during the entire growth process. All of these studies suggest that the hydrogen resist is detrimental to the Si growth quality and should therefore be removed as indicated in the previous section. Fig. 4.19 (a) shows an STM image of a device sample after hydrogen removal and subsequent encapsulation with a few monolayers (ML) of epitaxial silicon at a temperature of 250 °C using a growth rate of 0.5 $\frac{A}{s}$. Note that the silicon encapsulation step was conducted by the research fellow responsible for MBE in our group, Dr. Lars Oberbeck. Two-dimensional growth of epitaxial Si where the Si atoms conform to the underlying terrace structure is seen. After further encapsulation to an epitaxial layer thickness of 25 nm, the Si growth mode changes towards the growth of three dimensional Si islands although we can see for this thickness, the silicon is still epitaxial. Si device encapsulation is the last step in the UHV STM device fabrication process. After the growth, the sample is removed from the UHV system for the alignment of four terminal metal contacts to the buried P dopant device.



Figure 4.19: Low temperature epitaxial Si growth for device encapsulation. Filled state STM images of homoepitaxial Si growth. (a) Two dimensional growth quality after a few initial monolayers (ML) at 250 °C. (b) Surface morphology towards three dimensional islands after growth of 25 nm at 250 °C. Imaging conditions: V \sim -2 V, I \sim 0.15 nA.

4.4.7 Electrical activation of P dopants

A practical obstacle for the fabrication of functional atom-scale electronic devices is their sensitivity towards surface states, interface states, charged and/or spin defects [163], [25]. A natural way to circumvent this problems is to encapsulate the patterned dopants in high quality, epitaxial silicon thereby minimising these effects. A challenge regarding the encapsulation process is to overgrow and incorporate the dopants whilst limiting dopant redistribution by thermally activated dopant surface segregation or diffusion. Shallow donor and acceptor atoms in silicon exhibit large Bohr radii of 3 nm [163]. Dopant wavefunctions will therefore overlap at separation distances of \sim 10 nm. Carrier freeze-out does not occur down to doping densities of \sim 10¹² cm⁻², which corresponds to one dopant per 10 nm² area. δ -doped layers of Si:P provide a useful testbed for the systematic study of key device parameters such as dopant density, electron mobility and electron phase coherence length. A δ -doped layer is essentially a thin 2D sheet of dopant atoms incorporated at substitutional lattice sites in the silicon lattice vertically confined to act as a two-dimensional electron system. Recently, a few research groups have performed systematic studies on δ -doped layers to determine important device parameters using Hall measurements [137], weak localisation measurements in parallel [164] and perpendicular magnetic fields [137], [138], [164], SIMS [137], [138] and STM characterisation [137], [165].

What are the criteria to find the optimal temperature window for the encapsulation of functional STM-patterned P dopant devices? A perhaps obvious criterium is the electrical activation of the P dopants. By measuring the dopant density at various Si growth encapsulation temperatures, it is possible to determine the appropriate Si growth temperature to achieve the maximum number of electrically active P dopants. Another criterium is the electron mean free path *l* or the electron mobility μ . The electron mean free path is correlated to the structural quality of its environment, that is the presence of defects and dislocations that can disrupt the crystal symmetry which decreases the electron mean free path. Another measure for structural quality is the electron phase coherence length. Inelastic collisions related to defects, traps and crystal imperfections influence the magnitude of the electron phase coherence length.

P δ-doped layer studies in our group by Goh et al. [138], [166] showed that an encapsulation temperature of ~250 °C gives full electrical dopant activation equivalent to the maximum achievable carrier density of $1.7 \cdot 10^{14}$ cm⁻². Encapsulation at ~250 °C also maximises the electron mobility, μ , of ~40 $\frac{cm^2}{Vs}$ and the phase coherence length, l_{φ} , of ~70 nm with minimal P diffussion/segregation. More recently, our group [167] has shown that complete electrical activation of the P dopants can still be achieved in Si:P δ-doped layers despite the presence of hydrogen on the Si(100) surface. However electron mobilities are reduced by a factor of three attributed to the lower surface quality.

Initially, we have adopted an encapsulation scheme at 250 °C for the fabrication of STM-patterned devices after the *removal* of the hydrogen resist layer. However, for fabrication of ultrathin Si:P wires, we have encapsulated immediately after the P incorporation anneal at ~350 °C (i.e. without hydrogen removal) for minimal P diffusion. Results from functional STM-patterned devices show complete electrical activation confirming the findings from P δ -doped layers fabricated in our group. A more detailed comparison of the electrical results of P- δ doped layers from various groups with those obtained from STM-patterned devices is given in Chapter 5.

4.4.8 Alignment of surface contacts to buried Si:P devices

The alignment of surface contacts outside the UHV system relies on the use of the etched registration markers. The metal contacts patterns were designed on the same optical mask to match with the registration marker pattern. A variety of two terminal and four terminal contact structures differing in contact spacing are available



Figure 4.20: Four terminal contact mask pattern. (a) Four terminal contacts designed to match to registration markers for pattern alignment. (b) Central area where contact leads connect to buried Si:P device structures.

to suit multiple STM device designs. The optical mask for contact and registration marker patterns consists of a combined dark- and clear- field design. The dark field area is used for the fabrication of registration markers down to a size of 1 μ m. For easier alignment navigation, the contact structures were placed on the clear field area. Two terminal contact structures with horizontal separations of 2, 3, 4 and 6 μ m and four terminal structures with the same horizontal separations and respective vertical separation variations of 2, 3 and 5 μ m are available. Contact structures with small separation values were placed closer to the centre of the mask where contact between mask and sample is maximal and therefore pattern resolution is best. The complete mask design spanned over an area of 4×4 cm². All devices presented in this thesis were contacted using a four terminal device structure with a nominal spacing of 2 μ m between contacts forming a Van-der-Pauw square type configuration, thereby eliminating difficulties arising from unknown contact resistance in the electrical measurements. Therefore, the focus of this section will be on this particular geometry but the fabrication details holds true for all contact pattern designs.

Fig. 4.20 (a) shows the mask for the contact pattern which has been designed to match the registration marker pattern. The exact contact structure, as located on the mask, is pictured in red colour, whereas the markers are white in colour. Optical microscope images of actual devices are presented later on in Fig. 4.21. A blow-up of the four terminal contact structure is given in Fig. 4.20 (b) having a separation of 2 μ m in both, vertical and horizontal direction. The STM-fabricated device is located

in the centre between the four leads. The area of the metal contacts ($100 \times 200 \ \mu m^2$ in size) were designed to allow for multiple bonding attempts using a conventional ball bonder.

The patterned region on a 1×1 cm² sample consists of nine sets of registration markers ordered in a 3×3 array spread over a 5×5 mm² area around the centre of the sample. Fig. 4.21 (a) shows the array of nine possible devices that can be fabricated simultaneously on one chip. The best alignment accuracy between the metal contacts and the registration markers, using the in-house optical lithography facility, is of order ~ 500 nm over the entire area of 5×5 mm². Individual device alignment however can be as good as 100 nm [see Fig. 4.21 (d)]. The alignment between registration markers and STM-patterned devices on the other hand is of order 100 nm. Since the devices fabricated in this thesis allows us to define micrometre-sized buried conducting areas using STM lithography, overall alignment within ~ 500 nm is sufficient for contacting multiple devices individually on the same chip. It is important to note that the smallest feature size for devices, patterned with the STM between the patches, can still be on the atomic scale.

We now discuss the various stages of the metal contact fabrication process. After removal from the UHV system, the sample undergoes a dehydration bake at \sim 200 °C for at least 30 min. Before spin-on of $\sim 1 \ \mu m$ thick resist AZ5214E, the chip is spin coated with the resist adhesion promoter HMDS. After a 5 min pre-exposure resist bake at 95 °C, the sample is ready for contact pattern alignment using optical lithography. To alleviate the alignment process, the contact patterns are placed on the lightfield area of the mask which facilitate sample navigation. This implies that the resist, AZ5214E, is used in the positive resist mode. Using the Quintel Q6000 aligner in vacuum contact mode, the pattern is transferred from the mask to the resist using a light intensity of $12 - 14 \frac{mW}{cm^2}$ using an exposure time of 0.8 s. Both, a reversal bake and a subsequent flood exposure at the same light intensity for 90 s transforms AZ5214E from a negative to a positive resist. Resist development takes place in a bath of AZ300 MIF for 90 s. Fig. 4.21 shows the central part of a device after development of the resist structure representing the level of alignment achievable between the registration markers and the contact structure. The smallest, $\sim 1 \ \mu m$ wide registration markers provide a measure of alignment accuracy which is of order 100 nm.

After development, a O_2 plasma ash is performed for further residual resist removal in the exposed area. Before the sample is metallised using a high-vacuum



Figure 4.21: Contact alignment for STM-fabricated devices. Optical microscope images of (a) a complete set of nine devices on one chip, (b) central device region after resist development (c) subsequent Al metallisation and (d) contact annealing to 350 °C for 15 min. The blurry bubbles in (c,d) stem from dust particles on the highest magnification lens of the microscope and are not present on the sample surface.



Figure 4.22: Contacted STM-patterned device. (a) SEM image of final device. (b) Optical microscope image of the complete device after gold ball bonding.

e-beam evaporator, the native SiO₂ layer is removed in a HF bath. We evaporate a 300 nm thick layer of 5N (99.999 %) purity Al as the metal contact material. Metal liftoff in the non-patterned areas occurs in an acetone bath followed by IPA and DI water rinse. The four terminal, metallised contact pattern is shown in Fig. 4.21 (c). Ohmic contacts to the buried Si:P device is formed during a heating step in a N₂ atmosphere at 350 °C for 15 min in which the aluminium diffuses [168] to the buried STM-fabricated P-doped contact pads. The Al spikes down and creates tiny holes on the metal surface which can be observed using a standard optical microscope as shown in Fig. 4.21 (d). The chip is finally cleaved to size [maximum dimensions: $5 \times 5 \text{ mm}^2$] to fit into a chip carrier package onto which the chip is glued using a conducting two-component silver epoxy cured at 120 °C. Fig. 4.22 (a) shows an SEM image of the STM-patterned device after contact annealing. From the image, we can see the characteristic three dimensional island growth of the Si encapsulation layer. An optical microscope image of the final device structure after gold wire bonding to the chip package pins is shown in Fig. 4.22 (b).

We have shown each stage of the process development and optimisation of the device fabrication strategy from registration marker fabrication, UHV device fabrication using STM lithography, phosphine dosing, P incorporation and Si encapsulation to the alignment of metal contacts for the electrical characterisation of patterned Si:P devices. The next section describes the electrical results of the first STM-patterned device demonstrating that STM-patterned Si:P structures can be contacted and electri-

cally characterised.

4.5 Electrical characterisation of a patterned STM device

In this section, the electrical characterisation of the first STM-patterned device is presented. Measurements were performed in a liquid helium 4 K dip station equipped with a 2T superconducting magnet using a standard DC source measurement unit. Using our novel fabrication technique, we have fabricated a $4 \times 4 \mu m^2$ P-doped square using STM lithography. By comparing the I-V characteristics of this device with an unpatterned control device, we show that electrical conduction comes from the STMpatterned buried dopant layer. Fig. 4.23 shows images of the critical fabrication steps for the buried P dopant square. Using the inner triangular and square registration markers as a guide [Fig. 4.23 (b)], we position the tip into the device area. In order to create such a large device (by STM standards), we desorbed and stitched together four $2 \times 2 \mu m^2$ squares. An example of such a large scale pattern of $1 \times 1 \mu m^2$ in size is shown in Fig. 4.23 (d). The sharp lithographic boundary achievable using STM lithography is clearly visible in the inset. After P dopant incorporation, four Al contacts are aligned to the corners of the dopant square [Fig. 4.23 (e,f)] forming a Van-der-Pauw measurement configuration. Since up to nine devices can be contacted individually on the same chip, it allows us to fabricate and compare multiple devices which underwent exactly the same processing steps. In this case, we have also contacted an unpatterned control device on the same chip which consists of four metal contacts sitting on top of a previously hydrogen covered Si surface which has not been patterned by STM i.e. where phosphine adsorption was blocked by the hydrogen resist.

4.5.1 I-V characteristics of control device

Our control device allows us to check the reliability of the hydrogen layer as a lithographic resist. O'Brien *et al.* have shown that PH₃ [19] molecules adsorb on dangling bonds exposed on the lithographic sites. Consequently, no PH₃ was observed to adhere to the silicon surface which is protected by the hydrogen resist. Therefore, there should be no P dopant incorporation and as a result, no current should flow through the Si surface between the contacts.

Fig. 4.24 shows the I-V characteristics of the control device measured at 4 K. On the left side, we can see the current flow that arises by applying a DC voltage in the

4.5. Electrical characterisation of a patterned STM device



Figure 4.23: Process flow for the first STM-patterned device. (a) Schematic of 4 μ m size triangular and 1 μ m size square registration markers etched into Si. (b) SEM image of registration markers showing the STM tip (white). (c) Schematic of the registered, buried dopant structure STM-patterned on a Si:H surface under 25 nm epitaxial Si. (d) STM image of a 1×1 μ m² Si:H square (inset: an example of the sharp lithographic boundary). (e) Schematic of the final device after alignment of external ohmic contacts using optical lithography. (f) Optical microscope image of the final device after gold ball bonding.



Figure 4.24: I-V characteristics of the control device. The insulating behaviour of the control device up to voltages of ± 5 V shows that the hydrogen resist efficiently stops phosphine adsorption.

range of ± 10 V between two respective Al contact leads. The contacts are labelled from one to four as indicated in the inset. Thus there are 6 different two terminal contact combinations. It is seen that there is no significant current flow in the range between ± 5 V regardless of the contact combination i.e. current direction. However, the 1-2 current direction as well as the 3-4 current direction give rise to significant current flow above 5 V. This insulation breakdown first occurs for opposing contacts due to their closer proximity. The observed substrate conduction that occurs at these high voltages is a result of avalanche breakdown caused by impact ionisation of electron-hole pairs through the application of a high electric field across the device. The breakdown voltage is related to the background doping density of the substrate. Note that our measurement biases for STM-patterned device measurements are generally below 10 mV and therefore well below the threshold of avalanche breakdown. Avalanche breakdown can in principle be avoided up to higher voltages using intrinsic substrates. However some background doping density is necessary to provide a conducting substrate for room temperature filled state STM imaging of the hydrogen terminated surface. We found that conduction due to background doping freezes out at cold temperatures depending on the doping density.

For our devices we use wafers with a room temperature resistivity of $1 - 10 \Omega$ cm



Figure 4.25: I-V characteristics of a $4 \times 4 \mu m^2$ P dopant square. (a) Four terminal measurements exhibit ohmic behaviour. For geometrical reasons, the resistance of R = 1 k Ω for the horizontal current path (current contacts: 1-2, voltage contacts 3-4) differs from R = 2.4 k Ω for vertical current direction (current contacts: 1-3, voltage contacts: 2-4). (b) Optical microscope image indicating the position of the buried P dopant square (red square) with respect to the four terminal leads.

stemming from a bulk P doping density of $\sim 3 \cdot 10^{15}$ cm⁻³. The breakdown voltage thus presents the characteristic onset of avalanche conduction at this doping level. The highly insulating behaviour of the control device confirms the effectiveness of the hydrogen resist at blocking the adsorption of phosphine gas to the silicon surface.

4.5.2 I-V characteristics of P dopant square

The 4×4 μ m² P-doped square device is measured at 4 K in the same thermal cycle as the control device discussed previously. Four terminal measurements, using a DC voltage source, allow us to eliminate unknown contact resistances. From the difference between two terminal and four terminal measurements, we were able to determine the contact resistances and found them to be uniform and low, ranging from 3 – 3.5 kΩ per contact electrode.

Fig. 4.25 (a) shows the four terminal I-V characteristics of our device. Only two current directions are shown for clarity. For the 1-2 (1-3) current direction, contacts 3-4 (2-4) were used as voltage probes. It is noteworthy, that the opposite contact configuration 3-4 (2-4) as current probes with 1-2 (1-3) as voltage probes yields identical I-V

curves. We conclude that the device is symmetric and homogenous.

The four terminal resistance between the 1-2 direction of $R_{1-2} = 1 \text{ k}\Omega$ differs from the resistance $R_{1-3} = 2.4 \text{ k}\Omega$ measured in the 1-3 direction. Fig. 4.25 (b) shows an optical microscope image of the final contact pattern of this device. The location of the buried P dopant square is indicated by the red square. It shows that the distance between opposing electrodes is larger than the distance of parallel electrodes resulting in a lower resistance for opposing contacts. Note, that we also see a difference for the current for different directions in the I-V characteristics of the control device shown in Fig. 4.24. Comparing the ratio between the vertical (1-2) and horizontal (1-3) separation of ~0.5 with the ratio of the vertical and horizontal resistance of ~0.4 shows that the difference in resistance can be accounted for by the difference in contact separation. A more precise estimate could be possible by taking the individual contact shape into consideration.

The most striking feature of the I-V curves is that they are perfectly ohmic. Ohmic behaviour confirms both, the fact that we can establish ohmic contact from Al electrodes down to buried P dopant regions and that the P dopant regions themselves are conducting. The density of buried P dopants is high enough to provide significant overlap between the (excess) electron wavefunctions of neighbouring P atoms. This behaviour was expected since the Bohr radius is ~ 3 nm [163] and the P dopant spacing for a doping density of $1.7 \cdot 10^{14}$ cm⁻² is much smaller, namely 0.77 nm. Finally, the insulating behaviour of the control device together with ohmic I-V characteristics of the P dopant square unequivocally proves that the conduction stems from the buried P dopants themselves.

4.6 Chapter conclusion

We have presented a complete strategy for the fabrication of robust devices using a combination of etched registration markers, SEM-controlled STM tip positioning, STM-based hydrogen lithography and Si molecular beam epitaxy. Optimisation of wet-chemically etched registration markers into the silicon surface enable the precise positioning and relocation of STM-patterned dopant structures under SEM control with accuracies of order ~100 nm. Optimisation of STM-lithography for the formation of micro-, nano- and atomic-scale patterns on the hydrogen-passivated Si(100):H surface was shown. The formation of ultra-dense dopant patterns is achieved using the self-terminating nature of our gaseous phosphine dopant source. A critical anneal incorporates a 0.25 monolayer (ML) density of P into the top layer of the Si(100) surface following saturation exposure of PH₃. A low temperature epitaxial Si encapsulation process enables electrical dopant activation away from surface states, defects and unsaturated dangling bonds. Ex-situ alignment of metal leads with an accuracy up to 100 nm, with respect to the registration markers, form ohmic contact to the buried STM-patterned device.

Comparison of I-V characteristics at 4 K of an STM-patterned, $4 \times 4 \ \mu m^2$ P-doped square device with an unpatterned, control device confirms that the hydrogen resist successfully blocks PH₃ adsorption. Ohmic conduction through the P dopant square thus originates from the buried P dopants. We will characterise electrical device parameters of this device in more detail using magnetotransport measurements in Chapter 5.

Chapter 5

Magnetotransport properties of STM-defined devices

In this chapter, we discuss the research outcomes of Si:P δ -doped layers [137], [138], [164], [167], [169]. Comparison of key device parameters obtained from Si:P δ -doped layers with STM-patterned devices allows us to specifically address what happens to the device properties when the dopants in the 2D plane are further confined in size and dimension by STM-patterning.

In Section 5.1.1, we will give an overview of recent studies in P δ -doped layer devices and their respective electrical characteristics at 4 K. We then discuss what happens to the electrical properties of the devices when we pattern the dopants into a $4 \times 4 \ \mu m^2$ P-doped square using STM. Initial results highlighting how we electrically contact such devices structures were already described in Chapter 4. In Sections 5.2.2 and 5.2.3, we go on to determine what effect the patterning has on the magnetotransport characteristics of such STM-patterned devices.

Further confinement of the dopants is then discussed using the STM to form a Si:P nanowire. In particular, we designed a wire of 90 nm width to try and observe a crossover from 2D to 1D magnetotransport. A comparison of the temperature-dependent magnetotransport data between the $4 \times 4 \ \mu m^2$ P-doped square and the 90 nm wire is shown in Section 5.3.2 demonstrating this dimensional crossover. These results allow us to give an estimate of the electronic width of the buried wire structure which is shown to be in excellent agreement with the lithographic width patterned by STM lithography. The implication of this result reflects that removing Si:P devices away from surface states, defects and dislocations by epitaxial Si encapsulation results in minimal lateral electrical depletion.

5.1 2D δ -doped Si:P devices

In this section, we will discuss important device parameters reported from using PH₃ as the dopant source for the fabrication of P δ -doped structures.

5.1.1 Summary of electrical characteristics of Si:P δ -doped devices

Table 5.1 contains an overview of the electrical results of P δ -doped layer devices using PH₃ as the dopant source and Si MBE for encapsulation.

Author	$n_s [10^{14} \text{ cm}^{-2}]$	μ [cm ² /Vs]	<i>l</i> [nm]	l_{φ} [nm]	Growth T [°C]
Shen [169]	0.36	13			
	0.88	38			155
	1.31	28			
Oberbeck [137]	$2.0{\pm}0.4$	100			250
Sullivan [164]	1.4	104	30	101	high T
Goh [138]	(S1) 1.67	23	3	52	RT
	(S2) 1.64	61	9	72	250
Goh [167]	(S3) 0.8	10	1	18	250
	(S4) 1.53	27	4	62	250
	(S5) 1.62	23	3	54	250

Table 5.1: A summary of key transport properties (carrier density n_s , electron mobility μ , mean free path l, phase coherence length l_{φ} and MBE growth temperature) for phosphorus in silicon δ -doped layers fabricated by different research groups. All values are determined from measurements at 4 K except for [169] determined at 300 mK. The various fabrication methods differ in the MBE growth temperature, phosphine dose and different sample heating strategies. Details are given in the text.

The resulting device parameters such as electron density n_s , mobility μ , mean free path l and phase coherence length l_{φ} are listed for several different fabrication methods and encapsulation temperatures using Si MBE. In order to compare these values, it is necessary to discuss the different growth process for each device.

Shen *et al.* [169] conducted one of the first studies on P dopant δ -doped layers using PH₃ and low temperature Si MBE. By dosing the bare Si(100) surface with PH₃ at room temperature (RT), full (100 %) P dopant activation was reported up to a P coverage for 0.04 ML which reduced to 80 % when the coverage was increased to 0.16 ML. Further increase of the P coverage to 0.4 ML was achieved by repeated dosing in combination with a post-dosing anneal to 520 °C. By heating the substrate above T = 350 °C [32], the P atoms from the PH₃ molecules incorporate into the silicon top layer, thereby making

room for further surface adsorption in the next PH_3 cycle. However dopant activation dropped further to ~50 %, which could be due to increased defect generation caused by excessive P doping. The electrical device parameters for each doping density are summarised in Table 5.1.

Full electrical activation with a mobility of $\sim 100 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$ [see also Table 5.1] was reported by Oberbeck *et al.* [137] using a similar approach with a somewhat higher encapsulation temperature of T = 250 °C for the Si overgrowth. After a single saturation dose of PH₃ the substrate was annealed to 530 °C for dopant incorporation. Note that at this temperature, the hydrogen from the phosphine molecules will also be completely desorbed. The higher encapsulation temperature increases epitaxial quality and reduces the amount of P on the surface to 0.25 ML.

A similar value of electron mobility was recently obtained by Sullivan *et al.* [164] as can be seen from Table 5.1. The Si:P layer was grown at a temperature of 320 °C and encapsulated at higher growth temperature (value not stated) resulting in a carrier density of $1.4 \cdot 10^{14}$ cm⁻². They were able to determine the thickness of their Si:P layers to be ~5 nm using magnetotransport measurements in parallel magnetic field, which indicates that their 2D system approaches 3D like behaviour.

From studies on Sb δ -doped layers [170], it was found that full electrical activation is achievable for true 2D δ -doped system but a deviation from full activation is found for 3D samples at higher doping density. Thermally activated dopant segregation and a higher presence of defects at higher doping densities are likely to be the determining factors that prevents full electrical dopant activation in the studies by both Shen *et al.* [169] and Sullivan *et al.* [164]. So far the study by Oberbeck *et al.* [137] is the only one achieving complete dopant activation, reinforcing the importance of the P incorporation anneal after saturation dosing of PH₃. In addition, low growth temperatures minimises dopant segregation, while optimising surface and epitaxial Si interface quality.

More recently, Goh et al. [138], [167] reported on a series of electrical transport measurements of P δ -doped layers moving away from the Van-der-Pauw design, used in previous reports [137], [169], [164] to etched Hall bar mesas. The first systematic study [138] targeted the influence of the encapsulation temperature on transport parameters. It showed that full electrical activation is achieved with encapsulation at RT [sample S1 in Table 5.1] as well as at 250 °C [sample S2 in Table 5.1]. However, the mean free path *l*, electron mobility μ and the phase coherence length l_{φ} were found to be optimal for a growth temperature of 250 $^{\circ}$ C – the same growth temperature as originally used by Oberbeck *et al.* [137].

In a second study [167], the importance of the P incorporation anneal and the influence of hydrogen on the transport properties were investigated. The first sample [S3 in Table 5.1], encapsulated after phosphine saturation exposure without a P incorporation anneal, showed a measured electron density of only $n_s = 0.8 \cdot 10^{14} \text{ cm}^{-2}$, corresponding to \sim 32 % electrical activation¹. Compared with the first study [138] [S1, S2 in Table 5.1], where complete electrical activation is achieved, this results further consolidates the importance of P incorporation into the silicon lattice. The second and third sample in this study [S4 and S5 in Table 5.1] exhibit partial removal of hydrogen and complete re-termination with hydrogen respectively. Note that re-termination in sample S5 was achieved by performing a hydrogen termination after the P incorporation anneal. Both samples exhibit full activation and comparable values of l, μ and l_{φ} . Interestingly, the device parameters for the δ -doped layer grown at RT [S1 in Table 5.1] are very similar to device parameters obtained for the δ -doped layer encapsulated with complete hydrogen passivation grown at 250 °C [S5 in Table 5.1]. Eaglesham et al. [152] pointed out that hydrogen is known to stop Si migration/diffusion on the surface during growth, thereby degrading the quality of the epitaxial growth and increasing surface roughness. Comparing the transport parameters of S1 and S5 in Table 5.1, it appears, that the effect of hydrogen on the surface alters the epitaxial growth quality in a similar fashion as Si encapsulation at room temperature alters epitaxial growth.

The overall conclusions from these δ -doped layer studies are that the optimal fabrication strategy entails P incorporation after PH₃ dosing, thermal hydrogen removal from the surface before encapsulation to optimise electron mobility and a growth temperature of about 250 °C to limit P dopant segregation.

5.2 Lateral confinement of dopants using STM lithography

In this section, we investigate what happens to the transport properties if we constrict electron transport in the plane by using STM patterning to locally control the doping area. For this purpose, we compare the electrical transport properties of the $4 \times 4 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ P dopant square described in Chapter 4/Section 4.5 with a 90 nm wide wire.

¹This ratio is due to a higher phosphorus coverage of $2.5 \cdot 10^{14}$ cm⁻² (0.37 ML) [150] after PH₃ dosing without incorporation anneal.

Initially Hall measurements are used to extract the carrier density which allows us to determine electrical dopant activation and directly compare it to those obtained from Si:P δ -doped layers. We also compare other key device parameters such as the electron mean free path and mobility. Finally, we present results from four terminal magnetotransport measurements in a ³He/⁴He dilution refrigerator. Fitting the magnetoresistance data to 2D weak localisation theory enables us to extract the electron phase coherence length at both, 4 K and 50 mK.

5.2.1 Hall measurements of $4 \times 4 \ \mu m^2$ P dopant square

A critical aspect for the use of the STM fabrication process is whether the P dopants are electrically active. STM device schemes are attractive since they ultimately allow patterning of device structures at the few and single atom level. For functional atomic-scale devices, it will be essential that all or almost all P dopants are electrically active. We have undertaken four terminal Hall measurements at 4 K on the P dopant square device in a Van-der-Pauw configuration to determine the electrical P dopant activation. The basic principle underlying the Hall effect is the Lorentz force, which occurs for charged particles in the presence of a magnetic field. Electrons moving perpendicular to an applied magnetic field experience a force perpendicular to the current direction which results in a transverse voltage, the Hall voltage. The Hall voltage depends on the magnetic field *B*, the applied current *I*, the electron charge *q* and the sheet density n_s as:

$$U_{Hall} = \frac{B \cdot I}{q \cdot n_s} \tag{5.1}$$

or

$$R_{Hall} = \frac{B}{q \cdot n_s} \tag{5.2}$$

Fig. 5.1 shows the correlation of the Hall resistance in a perpendicular magnetic field for the P dopant square. The change in Hall resistance varies linearly with the magnetic field as predicted by Eq. 5.2. By performing a linear fit to the experimental data, we can extract the slope which, from Eq. 5.2, corresponds to $\frac{1}{q \cdot n_s}$. From this procedure, we obtain a sheet density n_s of $1.79 \cdot 10^{14}$ cm⁻². Since the presence of the P atom in the Si crystal has one excess electron compared to Si, the density of P atoms in the plane can be represented by the number of free electrons for conduction. The extracted value of n_s is consistent with the maximum density of incorporated P atoms, namely $1.7 \cdot 10^{14}$ cm⁻² or a saturation coverage of 0.25 ML respectively. This



Figure 5.1: Electrical dopant activation of first STM device. Hall resistance of the $4 \times 4 \ \mu m^2$ P-doped square corresponding to a carrier density n_s of $1.79 \cdot 10^{14} \text{ cm}^2$ equivalent to complete electrical P dopant activation.

value corresponds to full electrical activation and directly compares to the values of full electrical activation obtained from Si:P δ -doped samples, fabricated in our group [137], [138], [167] and from other groups [164], [169]. These results demonstrates that the STM removes all the hydrogen resist in the lithographic area, so that we obtain the same doping density as in Si:P δ -doped layers, where no hydrogen resist is present.

5.2.2 Electron mobility and mean free path of P dopant square

From the zero-field resistance², we can extract the electron mobility using:

$$\mu = \frac{1}{\rho \cdot n_s \cdot e} \tag{5.3}$$

where ρ stands for the sheet density. From Fig. 5.2, we extract a sheet resistivity of $\rho = 1.6 \text{ k}\Omega$ per square after applying a correction factor of 4.53 for the Van-der-Pauw structure. Using Eq. 5.3, we get an electron mobility μ of 22 cm²/Vs. The

²The Van-der-Pauw correction factor for a square device is 4.53 i.e. $R_{xx} = R_{actual} \cdot 4.53$.

corresponding mean free path is given by:

$$l = \frac{\hbar \cdot \mu \cdot \sqrt{\pi \cdot n_s}}{e} \tag{5.4}$$

For the carrier density n_s of $1.79 \cdot 10^{14}$ cm⁻² from the Hall measurements, we obtain a mean free path of l = 3.4 nm. We compare l and μ from our doped square with the values from P-doped δ layers reported by Goh *et al.* [138], [167] stated in Table 5.1. Both l and μ are lower than the full activation sample [S2 in Table 5.1] grown at 250 °C. However they compare well with samples [S4, S5 in Table 5.1] which retained partial presence of hydrogen and complete hydrogen re-termination respectively. These results suggest, that the combined P incorporation (350 °C) and the subsequent hydrogen removal anneal to 470 °C, which we performed on the P dopant square device, has not been sufficient to completely remove the hydrogen resist from the surface. Such an anneal temperature was previously found to remove hydrogen from the surface whilst keeping the structural integrity of a Si:P STM-patterned nanostructure [67]. Whilst a temperature of 470 °C does not seem optimal for complete hydrogen resist removal at this point, the prevention of dopant distribution has been a key factor in the choice of this anneal temperature.

5.2.3 Weak localisation measurements of P dopant square

We performed four terminal magnetotransport measurements of the P dopant square device in a ³He/⁴He dilution refrigerator at both, 4 K and 50 mK, using standard lock-in techniques at a measurement frequency of 10 Hz. Fig. 5.2 shows the magnetoresistance of the P dopant square device at 4 K and 50 mK. If we consider the magnetoresistance at 4 K, we can see a peak centred around B = 0 (red squares). The magnetoresistance decreases with increasing perpendicular magnetic field leading to the observation of negative magnetoresistance – the characteristic signature of weak localisation. The effect of weak localisation arises from coherent backscattering of forward and time-reversed electron waves around a loop as electrons diffuse through the sample. The application of a magnetic field breaks the time reversal symmetry in these loops, suppressing the coherent backscattering, and resulting in a drop in the magnetoresistance as the magnetic field increases. We can extract the phase coherence length l_{φ} of the electrons by fitting the magnetoresistance to the Hikami [71] expression for conductance correction due to weak localisation for a two dimensional, diffusive system (see green line in Fig. 5.2). The conductance correction is obtained



Figure 5.2: Magnetotransport for the $4 \times 4 \mu m^2$ P-doped square. Measurements of the four terminal magnetoresistance at sample temperatures of 4 K (red squares) and 50 mK (blue circles) are shown. The green lines represent fits to the Hikami 2D weak localisation theory [71].

from the difference between the inverse sheet resistivity at a given magnetic field and the inverse, zero-field sheet density as:

$$\Delta\sigma = \frac{1}{\rho_{xx}(B)} - \frac{1}{\rho_{xx}(0)} \tag{5.5}$$

For electron transport in a highly diffusive 2D system [$l \ll$ feature dimensions], the Hikami model is given by:

$$\Delta \sigma = \frac{\alpha e^2}{\pi h} \left[\Psi \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\tau_B}{2\tau} \right) - \Psi \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\tau_B}{2\tau_{\varphi}} \right) \right]$$
(5.6)

where $\tau_B = \frac{\hbar}{2 \cdot e \cdot B \cdot D}$ is the magnetic dephasing time and Ψ is the *digamma* function. α denotes a numerical prefactor of order unity.

We fit this function to the experimentally obtained form of $\Delta \sigma$ by varying the values of τ , τ_{ϕ} and α . The values of τ , τ_{ϕ} and α for our system are those values that give the best fit of the model to the experimental data. From the fitted value of $\tau = 4 \cdot 10^{-15}$ s, the diffusion constant D follows from $D = \frac{\tau}{2 \cdot v_f^2}$. Using the relation

$$t_{\varphi} = \sqrt{D \cdot \tau_{\varphi}} \tag{5.7}$$

and the fitted, inelastic dephasing time $\tau_{\varphi} = 1.6$ ps, we find l_{φ} to be ~39 nm at 4 K. Comparing the extrapolated electron mobility and phase coherence length with those obtained from the P-doped δ layers shown in Table 5.1, we see that the l_{φ} obtained is comparable to the δ -doped samples S1 and S5 exhibiting hydrogen re-termination and encapsulation at room temperature respectively. In these two samples, values of l = 3 nm, $\mu = 23 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$ and $l_{\varphi} = 52 - 54 \text{ nm}$ were obtained.

We have shown that the device parameters of the first STM-fabricated P dopant square device compares best with the electrical results at 4 K from P δ -doped layers prepared in our group which exhibit hydrogen coverage on the surface or which were encapsulated at room temperature. This result suggests that the epitaxial growth in our device was of slightly lower quality than an ideal δ -doped layer of comparable growth temperature. This could be due to the fluctuations of the sample temperature during hydrogen resist removal or due to STM patterning. However, the measured STM device parameters, l, μ and l_{φ} , are of the same order as those obtained for the Si:P δ -doped layers which implies that the influence due to STM patterning is not significant.

We now turn our attention to the magnetotransport data at 50 mK also shown in Fig. 5.2. As the temperature is lowered from 4 K to 50 mK, the phase coherence length increases leading to the formation of more, and longer, phase coherent loops producing a more pronounced drop in the magnetoresistance. Note that the overall resistivity is similar at both temperatures, as expected for a highly-doped 2D metallic system. By fitting the data to the Hikami expression, we can extrapolate the device

Т	$n_s [10^{14} cm^{-2}]$	μ [cm ² /Vs]	<i>l</i> [nm]	l_{φ} [nm]
4 K	1.79	22	3.4	39
50 mK	1.79	22	3.4	136

Table 5.2: Summary of n_s , μ , l and l_{φ} for a 4×4 μ m² STM-patterned P dopant square at temperatures of 4 K and 50 mK.

parameters μ , l and l_{φ} , which are summarised for both 4 K and 50 mK in Table 5.2. It is worth noting that, whereas the same values are obtained for n_s , μ and l, the values for the electron phase coherence length l_{φ} increases as predicted by Altshuler [79], giving a value of 136 nm. The longer phase coherence length is manifested in the rise of the magnetoresistance peak around zero-field with respect to the trace at 4 K as clearly seen in Fig. 5.2. In practical terms , the increase of l_{φ} at lower temperatures means that our samples are in the mesoscopic regime where phase coherence plays a dominant role. The high level of disorder characterised by the small mean free path is due to the high density of dopants in the conducting plane. By designing a device with dimensions below l_{φ} at low temperatures, we can observe the dimensional crossover from 2D to 1D magnetotransport as we lower the measurement temperature.

5.3 Crossover from 2D to 1D in an STM-patterned wire

This section describes the effectiveness of the STM to form laterally constricted P dopant regions. We present an STM image of the device and explain the entire UHV fabrication process. One of the strengths of STM device fabrication is the precise knowledge of the device dimensions. This allows us to relate the geometric shape patterned by the STM with the electrical results of the device.

5.3.1 Patterning of a 90 nm wide wire

Using the fabrication developed in this thesis, we fabricated a 90 nm wide wire with a length of 900 nm. Both, the P-doped square and this 90 nm wide wire were fabricated on the same chip, which makes them directly comparable to each other. Fig. 5.3 shows a schematic of the wire device. In addition to the wire, at each end of the wire, a $1.5 \,\mu$ m long and a 3 μ m wide rectangular side contact patch has also been patterned to enable us to connect to the four terminal external metal leads (shown in gold) subsequently created by optical lithography. The desorption parameters for STM lithography were 6 V for the gap voltage and 4 nA for the tunnelling current. An STM image of the lithographic area of the wire can be seen in Fig. 5.4 indicating the sharp boundary where the underlying Si has been exposed. The exposed Si surface appears bright due to the additional tunnelling current contributed by the Si surface states which are not accessible on the hydrogen terminated surface [171]. Further UHV device processing consists of PH₃ dosing at 1.1×10^{-9} mbar for 15 min, combined P incorporation and thermal hydrogen resist removal by annealing the surface to 470 °C for 60 s followed by encapsulation with 25 nm of epitaxial Si grown at 250 °C.

5.3.2 Magnetotransport behaviour

In Fig. 5.4 we present the magnetoresistance of the 90 nm wide wire device processed on the same chip as the STM-patterned square device. We can see that the overall four terminal resistance of the wire of $R = 5 k\Omega$ is much higher than for the P-doped square device (shown in Fig. 5.2), as expected from the wire geometry. At 4 K (red

5.3. Crossover from 2D to 1D in an STM-patterned wire



Figure 5.3: STM patterning of a 90 nm \times **900 nm P-doped wire.** *above:* A schematic diagram of the wire pattern is shown. The wire is attached to dopant contact patterns which allows connection of the wire to four terminal leads created by optical lithography (shown in gold colour). *below:* A filled state STM image of the lithographic wire pattern of the real device; imaging conditions: V = -2.3 V, I = 0.18 nA.

trace), the resistance of the wire device shows a similar peak in the magnetoresistance around zero magnetic field as for the square device. By fitting this behaviour to the Hikami expression (Eq. 5.6), we can extract a phase coherence length of $l_{\varphi} = 32$ nm. Since both devices were fabricated on the same chip exposed to the same dose of PH₃ gas, we assume the same carrier density as measured from Hall measurements on the square device. We extract a slightly higher mobility of $\mu = 70$ cm²/Vs and a mean free patch of l = 11 nm. The increase in l and μ might be due to a higher level of hydrogen desorption since this device is located in the very centre of the chip, where the temperature due to the electron beam heater in the UHV chamber is expected to be the hottest. The phase coherence length l_{φ} of 32 nm is in good agreement with the results obtained for the P-doped square device, highlighting that electron transport in the wire at 4 K is essentially the same as for the two-dimensional square device, i.e. electrons are unable to distinguish if they are travelling through a 4 μ m wide square or a 90 nm wide wire.

As the temperature is reduced to 50 mK, we find l_{φ} increases and becomes larger than the wire width of 90 nm. At this point, the lateral confinement of the wire limits the maximum size of electron loops that can contribute to weak localisation. Thus although the negative magnetoresistance starts to become stronger as the temperature is reduced (blue trace in Fig. 5.4), it does not produce such a pronounced peak around B = 0. This is clearly highlighted if we consider the 2D Hikami fit applied to the wire (green line in Fig. 5.4) which gives an increased phase coherence length $l_{\varphi} = 135$ nm. Here we can clearly see a suppression of the 2D weak localisation around B = 0 due to a crossover from two-dimensional to one-dimensional magnetotransport. Importantly, we can use the suppression of the 2D weak localisation to *independently* measure the width of the wire. Constructive interference is destroyed when a magnetic flux quantum threads a loop of radius *r*, i.e. when

$$r^2 = \frac{\hbar}{eB} = l_B^2 \tag{5.8}$$

When the magnetic length l_B is much larger than the wire width w, the magnetic field has relatively little effect, which results in the plateau around B = 0. As the magnetic field increases the size of the constructively interfering loops becomes smaller, so that it is B, and not the wire width, that determines the magnitude of the weak localisation effect. Thus the wire approaches two-dimensional behaviour when $2 \cdot l_B \sim w$. From Fig. 5.4, we see that the measured data merges with the green line of the 2D the-



Figure 5.4: Magnetotransport for a 90 nm \times 900 nm P-doped wire. Measurements of the four terminal magnetoresistance at sample temperatures of 4 K (red squares) and 50 mK (blue circles) are shown. The green lines represent fits to 2D weak localisation theory.

ory at $|B| \sim 0.3$ T, giving a wire width of ~90 nm, in excellent agreement with the STM-defined geometry. It is worth noting that a wire width <100 nm was chosen as the ideal geometry, which is dictated by the phase coherence length, to observe the crossover from one dimensional to two dimensional electron transport in a our highly doped Si:P system.

Т	$n_s [10^{14} cm^{-2}]$	μ [cm ² /Vs]	<i>l</i> [nm]	l_{φ} [nm]
4 K	1.79	70	11	32
50 mK	1.79	42	7	135

Table 5.3: Summary of n_s , μ , l and l_{φ} for a 90 nm wide and 900 nm long P dopant wire at temperatures of 4 K and 50 mK.

5.4 Chapter summary

In this chapter, we investigated the use of the STM to confine dopants laterally in the 2D plane and determined the magnetotransport properties of STM-patterned devices. Initially we discussed the key UHV fabrication steps from a comparison between Si:P δ -doped layers reported in the literature and those fabricated in our group. We found

that transport parameter, such as l, μ and l_{φ} , are optimised for δ -doped layers using a saturation dose of PH₃, employing a P incorporation anneal at 350 °C and using a low temperature of 250 °C for the device encapsulation with epitaxial Si. Independently, Hallam *et al.* [67] conducted an STM study and found that the hydrogen resist layer can be removed by annealing the Si surface to 470 °C. We compared the critical transport parameters (n_s , l, μ and l_{φ}) from a δ -doped layer using the optimised UHV fabrication steps with those obtained from a 4×4 μ m² P-doped square patterned by the STM.

Hall measurements showed that all buried P dopant are electrically active demonstrating that STM patterning does not adversely affect electrical device characteristics. Whilst the carrier density, n_s , emerging from the P-doped square of 1.79×10^{14} cm⁻² and the electron phase coherence, l_{φ} of 39 nm remain almost unchanged, the mobility, μ of 21 cm²/Vs obtained in the STM-fabricated P-doped square resembles those obtained for δ -doped layers where hydrogen exposure has deliberately been applied as well as those encapsulated at room temperature. The reduction in mobility for STMfabricated devices is therefore attributed to incomplete removal of the hydrogen resist layer which inhibits silicon diffusion during the encapsulation step thus decreasing epitaxy and ultimately device quality.

Following this, we used the STM to pattern the P dopants to form a wire of 90 nm width and 900 nm length. From the magnetotransport, we observe, that, at low temperatures, where $l_{\varphi} > 100$ nm, there is a suppression of the formation of phase coherent loops as indicated by a saturation of the zero-field resistance compared with the expected 2D behaviour which we attribute to 1D weak localisation. The crossover between 1D and 2D weak localisation allowed us to indirectly confirm the width of the wire as patterned by the STM. These results were published in Nano Letters [30], the Journal of Molecular Simulation [172] and appeared in the peer-reviewed Proceedings of SPIE [136]. Our results confirm the viability of using an STM to pattern dopants in silicon and reinforce the enormous potential of STMs for device fabrication down to the atomic level.

Chapter 6 Nano- and atomic-scale wires

This chapter is concerned with the electrical properties of Si:P nanowires of different widths. For this purpose, we will give an overview of different techniques with which P-doped Si nanowires have been realised by other research groups and compare their key properties. We then go on to present an STM study that investigates the structural integrity of STM-patterned Si:P nanowires down to a width of 7 nm. Using constant imaging tunnelling spectroscopy (CITS), we are able to discern the structural integrity of P-doped wires buried under a few monolayers of epitaxial Si. These results highlight, that the P dopants maintain their structural integrity during device encapsulation confirming that the electrical results we obtain are directly related to the STM-patterned dopants.

The main focus of this chapter lies in a detailed electrical characterisation of a 27 nm wide wire over a large temperature range from 200 mK to 65 K. We will see that transport through the wire can be divided into three regimes. By extracting the electron phase coherence using weak localisation theory, we identify a crossover from 1D to 2D magnetotransport at 4 K. Above 4 K, 2D magnetotransport is dictated by a dephasing mechanism stemming from electron-phonon interaction. Below 4 K, the wire conductance is well described by a combination of 1D weak localisation theory and 1D electron-electron interaction theory. At temperatures below 450 mK, we observe a saturation in l_{φ} which is likely to result from a crossover from weak localisation to strong localisation.

Finally, we present recent results from the fabrication of sub 10 nm wide Si:P wires patterned by the STM.

6.1 Resistivity of different P-doped nanowires in silicon

It is difficult to comprise a summary that does good justice to the field of nanowires since numerous approaches have been reported in the literature. However, we have summarised approaches which, arguably, stand out in the limit of narrow nanowires below <100 nm. Only nanowires in silicon using phosphorus as a dopant will be discussed.

6.1.1 EBL-defined nanowires

A *top-down* approach for the fabrication of nanowires has naturally been pursued by many groups. Advanced electron beam lithography (EBL) is used to pattern wire structures into P-doped substrates which were either obtained by thermal P diffusion or by P ion implantation. Patterning of the P-doped Si occurs using an anisotropic etching method such as reactive ion etching (RIE). A representative example using P ion implantation is the work by Smith *et al.* [173]. Nanowires down to a width of 60 nm with side gates reaching along the entire wire length of 200 nm were fabricated. At low temperatures, Coulomb blockade effects were observed due to the presence of small islands and barriers along the length of the wire. These barriers resulted from the randomly fluctuating potential in the wires originating from inhomogeneous dopant distribution from the P ion implantation process and the presence of charge traps. At higher temperatures (T = 46 K), a similarly manufactured 70 nm wide wire showed ohmic behaviour using a side gate voltage of -21 V, whereas 60 nm wide wire still showed non-ohmic I-V characteristics.

Pescini *et al.* [174] defined a suspended P-doped Si wire by etching down a highly P-doped device layer using RIE. A rectangular nanowire (140 nm wide and 150 nm thick) showed metallic behaviour with a two terminal resistance of 1 k Ω on an silicon on insulator (SOI) substrate down to 2 K.

Park *et al.* [175] fabricated a 30 nm wide wire using a combination of electron beam lithography and P ion implantation to create a rectangular wire (30 nm wide and 30 nm thick). After a rapid thermal anneal to 1000 °C for dopant activation and crystal repair, the silicon wire was found conducting at T = 4 K with two-terminal resistances varying between 300 - 500 k Ω for a wire length of 200 nm.

Nanowires made of recrystallised amorphous silicon on thermal SiO₂ based on a p-type Si substrate were fabricated by Kawamura *et al.* [176]. P doping was carried out

by POCL₃ diffusion at 900 °C. A 100 nm wide and 82 nm thick rectangular wire was created by EBL and etching in an electron cyclotron resonance etcher. At 10 K, metallic I-V behaviour was recorded whereas a blockaded region around zero bias was seen for smaller wire thicknesses.

6.1.2 Template growth

Another way to define silicon nanowires is to selective grow them on a pre-patterned surface template. Beckman *et al.* [177] grew such a template using an epitaxial GaAs / Al $_{0.5}$ Ga_{0.5}As superlattice. Pt was evaporated to act as a shadow mask. Pattern transfer to form silicon nanowires from a P-doped SOI substrate occurred using RIE. Typically 2 – 4 rectangular Si nanowires, 10 nm wide and 30 nm thick, with lengths of 3 μ m, were contacted simultaneously showing ohmic behaviour with resistances of order 200 k Ω at room temperature.

6.1.3 Catalytic growth method

Growth of free standing silicon nanowires ranging from thickness of 20 nm to 90 nm were reported by Lieber's research group in Harvard [178]. This laser-assisted vapour-liquid-solid catalytic growth technique (VLS method) uses gold nanoparticles to seed circular nanowires of multiple microns in length. Tromp and coworkers [179] recently reported that Au diffusion from the gold nanoparticles determines the length, shape and sidewall properties of the nanowires grown using low pressure catalytic vapour deposition (CVD), whereas the adsorption of contaminants or oxygen prevents Au migration in conventional high pressure CVD systems. This means that cleanliness of the growth environment has a strong influence on the properties of the nanowires. The Si-P doping ratio was adjusted from heavily P-doped to lightly P-doped wires using a Au-P target at the gas inlet to the silane (SiH₄) growth atmosphere. Exhibiting rather large contact resistances of several hundred $k\Omega$, most likely originating from an oxidised SiNW shell, the conductivity was found to be varied over several orders of magnitude depending on the dopant level. The room temperate resistance of a highly-doped Si nanowire of 20 nm in diameter was found to be 200 $k\Omega$ [180].

group\reference	P dose or P doping	diameter [nm]	length [nm]	temperature [K]	resistance [k Ω]	resistivity [10 ⁻⁶ Ωm]	comments
Ahmed - Cambridge, l	UK				1		
Smith et. al. J. Appl.	$7.2 \times 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$	09	4000	46K	~2650 (2T)	n.a.	almost ohmic behaviour at high temperature
Phys. 81(6) 2699 (1997)	$7.2 \times 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$	70	6000	46K	~1100 (2T)	n.a.	ohmic only with applied side gate voltage (-21V)
Lieber - Harvard, USA)
Cui et. al. J. Phys.	unknown, low	09	unkown	RT	~2×10 ⁶ (2T)	3×10^{10}	non-linear
Chem. 104, 22 (2000)	unknown, high	06	unkown	RT	~130 (2T)	2.3×10^{6}	linear
Zheng et. al. Adv.	P (lightly) (Si:P 4000:1)	20	typical 1000	RT	300 (4T), 1000 (2T)	94	based on electrode length of $\sim 1000 \ \mu m$
Mat. 16, 21 (2004)	P (heavily) (Si:P 500:1)	20	typical 1000	RT	200 (2T,4T)	63	
Schenkel – Berkeley, U	ISA						
Park et. al. J. Vac. Sci. B 22(6), 3115 (2004)	$5 \times 10^{14} \mathrm{cm}^{-2}$	30×30	200	4.2	300-500 (2T)	1400- 2400	metallic
Yokoyama- Hiroshima	, Japan						
Kawamura <i>et. al.</i> J. Appl. Phys. 91(8), 5213 (2002)	>3×10 ²⁰ cm ⁻³	100×82	5000	10K	166 (2T)	272	polycrystalline silicon (metallic to Coulomb blockade)
Heath - CALTECH, U	SA						
Beckman <i>et al.</i> J. Appl. Phys. 81(10) 5921 (2004)	$10^{20}{ m cm}^{-3}$	10×30	3000	RT	3-4 wires: 200	60-80	nanowire array
Tucker - Illinios, USA							
Shen et. al. J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B	$10^{14} \mathrm{cm^{-2}}$	50×4	750	0.3	~337 (2T), 220 (4T)	59**/9*	metallic
22 (6) 2004	$10^{14} \mathrm{cm}^{-2}$	95×4	750	0.3	~180 (2T), 50 (4T)	25 ^{**} /4 [*]	R4T estimated values, metallic
Kotthaus - Munich, Ge	ermany			-	-		
Pescini <i>et. al.</i> Nanotechnology 10,	$5 \times 10^{19} \text{ cm}^{-3}$	140×150	1500	2K	1 (2T)	14	almost metallic at 2K
Simmone - Sudney Au	stralia						
Dress 4 -1	1 0, 10 ¹⁴ 2	201-00	000	C 7	01 /0T /10 /1T/	*-	
Nonotochnology 16	1.0×10 cm	0.UXU2	210	4.7	21 (21), 10 (41) 48 (7T) 24 (4T)	-* •	metallic
2446 (2005)	$1.8 \times 10^{-14} \text{ cm}^{-2}$	0.0x0c	320	4.2	58 (2T), 50 (4T)	n*n	metallic
)))			,	

6.1. Resistivity of different P-doped nanowires in silicon

Figure 6.1: Key device parameters of P-doped silicon nanowires. Device parameters of Si:P nanowires manufactured using different *top-down* and *bottom-up* fabrication techniques are compared to STM-fabricated wires presented in this thesis. [*Resistivity values calculated with a thickness of 0.6 nm as determined from STM studies using the Si growth conditions in our group [181]. **Resistivity values calculated with a thickness of 4 nm as reported by Tucker *et al.* [29].]

6.1.4 STM-patterned nanowires

An STM-based fabrication method to create planar Si nanowires, similar to the one presented in this work, is currently being pursued by Shen *et al.* [29]. Interdigitated contacts made from pre-implanted As lines in the silicon substrate serve as two terminal leads for contacting the device. P-doped Si wires between the As regions were fabricated using STM lithography on a hydrogen resist in a UHV environment. Doping occurred by selective adsorption of PH₃ onto the exposed Si area whereas the hydrogen resist blocked molecule adsorption. After encapsulation of the wire structure with several monolayers of epitaxial silicon, the donors are activated by annealing to 500 °C. A 95 nm and a 50 nm wide wire, both 750 nm long with a reported thickness of 4 nm, were created using this technology. The 95 nm wire displays ohmic conductance at T = 300 mK whereas the 50 nm wide wire behaves slightly non-ohmic. Contact resistances were estimated from an array of implanted As wires and found to be ~100 k Ω .

The most crucial difference between the latter approach and the one [30] developed in this thesis is the use of registration markers to relocate the nanowires instead of prefabricated contact patterns. The registration marker technique has 4 main advantages. (1) It allows the use of standard Si sample preparation technique which includes annealing to T = 1200 °C to obtain high quality, low defect density crystal. (2) It enables us to perform four terminal measurements which eliminates unknown contact resistances. Wires of 90, 50 and 27 nm width were found to obey ohmic behaviour at 4 K and below with four terminal resistances of 10, 34 and 50 k Ω respectively [31]. Contact resistances are found to be ~10 k Ω . (3) Precise knowledge of the exact dimensions and location of the device allows us to contact several devices on the same chip individually and directly compare their electrical properties. (4) Since we know where the device is, we are able to align contacts directly to the STM-patterned device and, in the future, gate electrodes above the device.

6.1.5 Resistivity of silicon nanowires

Table 6.1 summarises essential device parameters of the nanowires fabricated with the approaches discussed previously. The table is ordered with the highest resistivity at the top and also includes details about doping density, wire diameter, wire length, measurement temperature and wire resistance. Note that most P concentrations quoted are areal doping densities and do not necessarily reflect the carrier density of the device. Only for STM-patterned wires fabricated in this thesis, they exists a one to one correspondence between dosing and carrier density, since we have previously shown 100 % electrical P dopant activation.

STM-patterned fabrication [29], [31] allows the fabrication of planar nanowires, where conduction is confined to a thin 2D region in the P dopant plane. Whilst Tucker *et al.* [29] reports wire thicknesses of 4 nm [29] using this technique, recent studies by our group [181] have shown that for our growth conditions, the thickness of the Si:P δ -doped layers is ~0.6 nm as determined from STM-based P diffusion studies.

The resistivity of the wire (rather than the resistance) is more likely to provide a comparable benchmark for the quality of dopant wires given the variety of fabrication approaches of P-doped Si nanowires. However the temperature at which the various wires were characterised ranges from as little as 300 mK up to room temperature. Within this temperature range, the resistivity of the wire may decrease by one order or more in magnitude. The different measurement temperatures have to be critically taken into account when comparing resistivities of wires fabricated by different techniques.

Both Beckman's [177] template technique and the VLS technique [180] from Lieber's group produce highly P-doped wires with similar resistivity of $\sim 63 \cdot 10^{-8} \Omega$ cm at room temperature. However the resistivity is expected to increase at low temperature which makes it hard to compare with other wires characterised at liquid helium temperatures.

Before our work, Pescini *et al.* [174] reported the lowest resistivity for EBL-defined wires with a value of $14 \cdot 10^{-8} \Omega$ cm. Although the I-V behaviour of this 140 nm wide and 150 nm thick wire was observed to behave slightly non-ohmic at 2 K. The next best resistivity is given by Tucker and Shen's [29] STM-fabricated wires with similar resistivities of $25 \cdot 10^{-8} \Omega$ cm based on a thickness of 4 nm as stated. The values obtained from STM-patterned wires fabricated in this thesis and measured at 4 K represent the lowest resistivity wires to date with values as low as $1 \cdot 10^{-8} \Omega$ cm. Wires fabricated by ion implantation, reported by Park *et al.* [175], exhibit high resistivities ranging from 1400 to $2400 \cdot 10^{-8} \Omega$ cm. This is most likely due to structural damage and ion straggle in the ion implantation process through the SiO₂ mask.

The low resistivity value obtained for planar STM-fabricated wires make this technique a promising candidate for the formation of conducting wires down to the atomic


Figure 6.2: Four terminal I-V characteristics of a 90 nm \times 900 nm wire (triangles), a 50 nm \times 310 nm wire (stars) and a 27 nm \times 320 nm wire (circles) at 4 K.

level.

6.2 Si:P nanowires fabricated in this thesis

In this section, the electrical device properties of three STM-fabricated P-doped wires will be summarised. Apart from the 90 nm \times 900 nm wire discussed in Chapter 5 and the 27 nm \times 320 nm wire presented in more detail later on in this chapter, another wire of intermediate dimensions of 50 nm \times 310 nm was measured. Fig. 6.2 shows the four terminal DC I-V characteristics of the three wires at 4 K clearly revealing that all wires demonstrate ohmic behaviour over the entire voltage range and up to currents of several hundred nanoampere. The corresponding current densities (based on a wire thickness estimate of 0.6 nm [181]) are quite high, in excess of 1250 kA/cm² for the 27 nm wire and comparable to the capacity of highly doped Si nanowires [182] and 50 times higher than the current densities measured by Tucker *et al.* [29]. This high current density corresponds to a power of several nanowatts. The four terminal resistances emerging from Fig. 6.2 show a resistance increase from 10 k Ω for the 90 nm wire, to over 34 k Ω for the 50 nm wire and up to 50 k Ω for the 27 nm wire.

Important device parameters such as doping density n_s , mobility μ , mean free path l and electron phase coherence length l_{φ} for these devices are summarised in Table 6.1. The doping density of our wires is estimated to be the same for all wires since

wire [nm ²]	$n_{s} \left[\frac{10^{14}}{cm^{2}}\right]$	$\mu\left[\frac{cm^2}{Vs}\right]$	<i>l</i> [nm]	l_{φ} [nm]	R_{4T} [k Ω]	$J\left[\frac{kA}{cm^2}\right]$	$\frac{l_{\varphi}}{w}$
90×900	1.8	70	11	32	10	560	0.4
50×310	1.8	10	2	30	34	980	0.6
27×320	1.8	11	2	24	50	1250	0.9

Table 6.1: A summary of key device characteristics for the 90, 50 and 27 nm wires at T = 4 K. Note for the 50 nm and the 27 nm wires, the hydrogen resist was not removed prior to device encapsulation hence the lower electron mobility.

we have a standard, well calibrated PH₃ saturation dosing procedure. The value of $n_s = 1.8 \cdot 10^{14} \text{ cm}^{-2}$ has been confirmed from Hall measurements (Chapter 5) for the $4 \times 4 \,\mu\text{m}^2$ P-doped square device using the Van-der-Pauw technique, which was made on the same chip as the 90 nm wide wire. Independently, Hall bar measurements on δ -doped Si:P layers by Goh *et al.* [138], using the same conditions have given n_s to be $1.7 \cdot 10^{14} \text{ cm}^{-2}$. For a 0.25 ML coverage, equating to a so-called *saturation* dose of P atoms in the silicon matrix , the theoretical value is $1.7 \cdot 10^{14} \text{ cm}^{-2}$ after the P incorporation anneal – in good agreement with our results.

We see from Table 6.1 that the values of μ and l are of order 70 cm²/Vs and 10 nm for the 90 nm wire respectively, whereas for the 50 nm and the 27 nm wires, we get values of order 10 cm^2/Vs and 2 nm. This difference in mobility is very likely to be related to the different hydrogen content on the surface before Si encapsulation. The 90 nm wire was created by annealing the Si substrate to a temperature of 470 °C to incorporate the P atoms and to simultaneously remove the hydrogen resist layer; also demonstrated by Hallam et al. [67]. The 50 nm and 27 nm wire however were only annealed to a temperature of 350 °C sufficient to incorporate the P atoms [32] but leaving the hydrogen resist intact. This strategy was pursued to maximally ensure the wire integrity by minimising thermally activated P diffusion. The presence of hydrogen on the Si surface, however, not only hinders P diffusion but also Si migration [152]. This adversely affects the silicon crystal growth at a temperature of T = 250 °C which we use to encapsulate all our devices. A lower crystal quality results in more diffusive transport which is reflected in the lower values of the mobility and the mean free path. Similar values for the mobility of a Si:P δ -doped layer where the layer was deliberately exposed to atomic hydrogen before device encapsulation [167] were achieved. Here, the mobility and the mean free path was observed to drop by a factor of three from $61 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$ and 9 nm to 25 cm²/Vs and 3 nm due to the presence of hydrogen, whilst the electron phase coherence was observed to stay the same.



Figure 6.3: Extraction of the electron phase coherence length at T = 4 K. Normalised magnetoresistance (black traces) and corresponding fits to 2D weak localisation (red traces) of a 90 nm×900 nm wire (triangles), a 50 nm×310 nm (stars) and a 27 nm×320 nm wire (circles).

Finally, we discuss the variation of l_{φ} as a function of the wire width. The values for the electron phase coherence are obtained from magnetotransport measurements at T = 4 K and respective fits to the 2D weak localisation model by Hikami [71].

Fig. 6.3 shows the normalised magnetoresistance (black traces) in good agreement with the corresponding fits to 2D weak localisation theory (red traces) for the 90, 50 and 27 nm wire. The extracted values of l_{φ} are 32, 30 and 24 nm respectively as listed in Table 6.1.

For a 2D system, l_{φ} is independent of the device geometry as long as $l_{\varphi} \ll \{$ system dimensions $\}$ to ensure 2D magnetotransport behaviour. From Table 6.1, we see that the electron phase coherence for the 90 and the 50 nm wire are similar, whereas the 27 nm wire is slightly lower. Since the number of wires we are comparing is not large, it is difficult to make more than a qualitative statement that the electron phase coherence decreases with decreasing wire width. However, we observe from Table 6.1, that lowering the wire width increases the ratio $\frac{l_{\varphi}}{w}$. From Fig. 6.3, it can be seen that the resistance correction due to weak localisation becomes more pronounced with increasing values of $\frac{l_{\varphi}}{w}$. For the 27 nm wire, the ratio $\frac{l_{\varphi}}{w}$ is 0.9 i.e. transport in the wire is in the crossover regime between 2D and 1D magnetotransport, which occurs when $l_{\varphi} \sim w$. Therefore, we also fitted the magnetotransport in this wire with 1D

weak localisation theory [79] and obtain exactly the same electron phase coherence length of 24 nm. A more detailed temperature-dependent characterisation of 1D weak localisation for the 27 nm wire will be discussed in Section 6.4.8.

6.3 STM study of the wire integrity as a function of wire width

The ability to contact STM-fabricated nanostructures using registration markers makes it possible to study their electrical properties accessible outside the UHV environment. This ability to measure devices in conventional cryostats allows us to perform temperature-dependent measurements allowing us to determine what scattering mechanisms limit the conduction in nanowires down to the atomic scale. Ohmic behaviour is related to the overlap of the electron wavefunction [163] between neighbouring dopant atoms so that conduction electrons can propagate from one end of the wire to the other. Therefore the formation of conducting nanowires is closely related to the preservation of the wire integrity which is influenced by P dopant placement and diffusion during the fabrication process. The atomic-resolution capability of the STM in combination with the ability to return to the same surface area after each subsequent fabrication step, using registration markers, provides an ideal tool to monitor the influence of each fabrication step on the wire integrity. We have performed separate atomic resolution imaging studies using CITS, in collaboration with Dr. Matt Butcher, to determine the smallest wire structure which remains intact using the current fabrication parameters. The narrowest wire width which we observe experimentally with the STM to be intact gives an upper bound for the smallest wire we expect to be conducting. Fig. 6.4 shows STM images of four wire patterns of 50, 36, 27 and 7 nm in width after each fabrication step. Fig. 6.4 (a) shows a hydrogen-terminated Si(100):H surface, where the hydrogen resist was locally removed using STM lithography with a tip bias of 6 V and a current of 4 nA. The exposed bare silicon dimers appear bright in 6.4 (a). The same wires are shown in Fig. 6.4 after the surface is exposed to a saturation dose of PH₃ molecules. Whilst it is not the aim of this thesis, our group has performed extensive studies investigations of the bare PH₃ dosed surface and found that all PH₃ molecules at room temperature immediately dissociate to form PH_x species (where x = 0, 1, 2 [151]. The excess hydrogen atoms thereby partially re-terminate the surface. The wire patterns shown in Fig. 6.4 (b) thereby contains a mixture of dissociative products, namely PH and PH₂. The appearance of faint, darker lines in some areas of

the wires is due to incomplete desorption of hydrogen during the lithography step.

Subsequently, the surface is annealed to 350 °C to incorporate individual P atoms from the PH_x species into the top layer of the silicon substrate. The incorporation process is accompanied by the ejection of Si [32]. The ejected Si atoms migrate on the surface to form Si chains on top of the incorporated wire pattern. Whilst these are difficult to see at this resolution, we can see from the STM images that the wires are structurally intact down to the smallest wire of 7 nm in width. We also see that the hydrogen resist remains mostly unchanged during the thermal P incorporation process.

Now, we investigate what happens to very narrow wires when they are encapsulated by a few monolayers of epitaxial silicon. We use low temperature Si molecular beam epitaxy at a temperature of 250 °C to encapsulate the incorporated P atoms to electrically activate the excess P electron. Dopant atoms are known to diffuse [158] laterally and segregate [157] to the surface at elevated temperatures. In a separate study of our group, we determined the optimal encapsulation temperature to be 250 °C [137] since this provides a balance to ensure minimal P dopant redistribution whilst providing epitaxial growth quality. Fig. 6.4 (d) shows the same surface area after the deposition of 3-5 monolayers (ML, 1 ML = 0.14 nm) of epitaxial silicon. Only a few ML of Si were initially chosen in order to facilitate imaging of the buried P-dopant wires.¹ From the STM image, the remnants of wires are barely visible and, using this standard form of imaging, it is not possible to determine if wire structures stayed intact. This STM image shows that direct STM observation of buried P-doped nanostructures at normal imaging conditions after Si encapsulation is extremely difficult.

One way to determine what happens to the position of the dopants after they are encapsulated is to perform buried dopant imaging (BDI) [183] at low STM biases. Dopant atoms in subsurface layers can locally induce band bending which changes the tunnelling current between the STM tip and the sample. As a result, buried dopants can appear as enhancements or depressions superimposed on the surfaced lattice. Brown *et al.* [183] have recently observed individual, random subsurface P dopants using P-doped Si(100) wafers with a high doping density of 5×10^{17} cm⁻³. They found that buried P dopants appear as bright protrusions both in empty and

¹We assume that any P atom redistribution occurs in the first few ML, but is assumed to be negligible once the P atoms are integrated into the silicon matrix due to increased bonding with the surrounding silicon.

6.3. STM study of the wire integrity as a function of wire width



Figure 6.4: STM study of STM-patterned PH₃-dosed wires. (a) STM image of 50, 36, 27 and 7 nm wide lithographic wire patterns. (b) STM image of the same area after adsorption of PH₃ molecules onto the lithographic regions. (c) STM image after subsequent thermal P incorporation into the Si surface at 350 °C. (d) STM image of the same area after encapsulation with 5 ML of epitaxial silicon at 250 °C, where the buried P-doped wires are practically invisible. All images were taken with a bias voltage of -1.5 V and a tunnelling current of 0.15 nA. CITS images of the buried P-dopant wires for a bias voltage of (e) -0.3 V and (f) +0.22 V respectively.

filled state imaging at low biases of \sim 0.5 V. In their study of the clean Si(100) surface, they also observed that the buried dopant signature was not apparent using standard bias conditions of \sim 1.5 V.

Oberbeck *et al.* [184] also performed buried dopant imaging experiments on single P atoms. Here, the P atoms were introduced using PH₃ molecules on the Si(100) surface, followed by P incorporation at 350 °C, epitaxial Si encapsulation of 5 ML at 250 °C and a rapid thermal anneal at 450 °C for surface flattening. Then the surface was hydrogen terminated to terminate the Si surface states which may obfuscate the effect of buried charge due to Fermi level pinning [171]. A bright protrusion over a few Si dimers, assigned to a single buried P atom, was found in empty state imaging (positive bias) whereas no signature was found using filled state imaging at -2 V. It is possible that a signature may be found using lower bias voltage but lower bias imaging was not performed in this study.

To inspect the structural quality of our wires, we take a slightly different approach to the methods described above. Instead of imaging the silicon surface using a small, constant positive/negative voltage across the sample, we use a form of scanning tunnelling spectroscopy (STS) known as constant imaging tunnelling spectroscopy (CITS). The basic mode of operation is to keep the STM tip at a fixed point above the sample surface using a fixed tunnelling current I_0 and then measure the tunnelling current superimposed on I_0 while the bias voltage is swept from a set negative to a set positive voltage. By stepping and repeating this procedure, the I(V) response is mapped across the entire scan frame. Tersoff *et al.* [38], [39] have shown that, in the limit of small voltages and low temperature, the differential tunnelling current is proportional to the local density of states (LDOS) close to the fermi level E_F i.e.

$$\frac{dI}{dV} \sim \rho(E_F, V, \overrightarrow{r}) \tag{6.1}$$

where $\rho(E_F, V, \overrightarrow{r})$ is the LDOS for a given bias voltage at the Fermi level evaluated at the tip surface. In this picture, the STM tip is simplified as a point surface for low bias voltages such that the tunnelling barrier formed between the tip and the sample is not distorted due to the presence of the tip.

For semiconducting surfaces however, the finite bias voltage cannot be ignored, but is accommodated by an energy-dependent tunnelling coefficient T(E, eU) as introduced by Hamers *et al.* [36].

$$I \propto \int \rho_s(E_F + \varepsilon)\rho_t(E_F - eU + \varepsilon) \mid T(\varepsilon, eU) \mid^2 d\varepsilon$$
(6.2)

Since T(E, eU) favours states of higher energy, the resulting I(V) map created in our measurements may be regarded as a measure for the LDOS itself. It is well known that buried charges induce band bending. We therefore expect a different tunnelling current dependence in those areas where P dopants are buried i.e. on top of the buried wire structures. The excess electrons of the P dopants locally increase the quasi Fermi level. Such behaviour is observed for two different sample biases in Fig. 6.4 (e) and (f) respectively. Fig. 6.4 (f) presents an I(V) map of the same area as shown in Fig. 6.4 (d) taken at a voltage slice of +0.22 V (empty state). The buried wires are clearly visible down to the smallest width of 7 nm. To understand this appearance, we have to consider STM-induced band bending effects. In empty state bias, the STM tip creates an accumulation layer underneath the silicon surface which effectively pulls up the quasi Fermi levels. Since the P-doped wire regions have a slightly higher Fermi level, more electrons tunnel into the wire region. Consequently, the wires appear as bright contrast with respect to the surrounding surface. The integrity of the 50, 36 and 27 nm wires is clearly visible. For the smallest 7 nm wire, it is not clear from these images if the contrast is smeared out due to the noise in the STM image or if the P dopant have diffused such that the wire is not completely intact. The noise in the STM data is due to low contrast between topographic and electronic structure and the small tunnelling current at low biases. The resolution may be improved in future experiments by averaging over many I(V) curves and by increasing the number of scan points.

A complimentary picture is given using filled state imaging. Fig. 6.4 (e) shows the I(V) map at a voltage slice of -0.3V. Here, the buried P-doped wires appear darker attributing to a lower tunnelling current into the buried wire regions. This appearance can also be understood if we consider STM-induced band bending. In filled state imaging, the STM tip creates a depletion layer underneath the Si surface. At low biases as applied here, the excess electrons from the P dopants partially compensate for the depletion charge. This is the reason why in this case, the P-doped wire regions appear darker than the surrounding Si area. Again, the larger wires are structurally intact and the small 7 nm wire can just be distinguished from the background.

Our findings are consistent with the picture of STM-induced band bending. Similar results have been reported by Lyding and coworkers [185] who were able to map subsurface boron dopants on a hydrogen-terminated Si(100):H surface. Since boron is

< n		C 11					<i>c</i>	<i>c</i> ·	. 1.1
63	STM studi	u ot the	~71)1YP	integ	pritii a	S a	tunction	ot 711170	width
0.0.	01111 000000		00010	11110	100000	0 11	100000000	0,00000	~~~~~~

STM Lithography	PH ₃ dosing	Incorporation anneal	Buried STS
49 nm	50 nm	50 nm	50 nm
36 nm	39 nm	34 nm	44 nm
27 nm	27 nm	25 nm	30 nm
7 nm	6 nm	6 nm	8 nm

Table 6.2: Variation of wire dimensions after STM lithography, phosphine adsorption, P incorporation anneal at 350 $^{\circ}$ C and after 5 ML of Si encapsulation at 250 $^{\circ}$ C.

a p-type dopant, they see a current increase in filled state imaging and a decrease in empty state imaging.

Finally, we compare the changes in the wire width extracted from the STM images for each fabrication step individually. Table 6.2 summarises the variation of the wire dimensions after STM lithography, phosphine adsorption, P incorporation anneal at 350 °C and after Si encapsulation. The width of the wires stays constant within a variation of ± 3 nm except for the width extracted from the I(V) data for which the width is typically ~5 nm longer. This increase is expected since the electrical signal is broadened due to donors being buried 5 ML underneath the surface. This finding is consistent with the observation of single P atoms by Oberbeck *et al.* [184], where the charge signature for a single P atom is spread out over 2-3 Si dimers, corresponding to a distance of ~2 nm. In a subsequent overgrowth step, we have deposited a few more ML of silicon and found further broadening of the wire widths in agreement with this explanation. Despite this explanation, it is difficult to separate out any effect of lateral diffusion of the P dopants. From the STM images however, we can extract an upper bound for P diffusion of ~1 nm for 5 ML of Si encapsulation at 250 °C.

We have demonstrated that our fabrication process including our optimal conditions produces P-doped nanowires that remain intact down to a width of at least 27 nm. The signature emerging from the CITS data is not conclusive for the 7 nm wire and remains the subject of further investigation. Future experiments are aimed at investigating the limits of the CITS technique and also to move towards more refined scanning tunnelling spectroscopy (STS). We will come back to the formation and electrical characteristics of sub 10 nm wires in Section 6.5. The focus of the following section is devoted to a detailed, temperature-dependent electrical characterisation of the 27 nm wide wire.

6.4 Detailed electrical characterisation of a 27 nm wide wire

This section is dedicated to detailed measurements of a $27 \times 320 \text{ nm}^2$ wire. Fig. 6.5 (a) shows a high-resolution STM image of the Si(100) surface after sample preparation and hydrogen termination on a $1 \times 1 \text{ cm}^2$ sample patterned with registration markers. This image demonstrates, that we can achieve atomic resolution imaging on large sample sizes, with a near perfect hydrogen resist layer consisting of monohydrides with the occasional occurrence of dihydrides (DH) i.e. two hydrogen atoms forming a bond with a single Si atom. Low defect densities are achieved in the device area, where only a few defects are present which are mainly single dimer vacancies (DV). Using STM lithography (6 V, 4 nA), we pattern the hydrogen resist layer into a 27 nm wire structure between prefabricated registration markers as shown in Fig. 6.5 (b). At each end of the wire, a 2.5 μ m wide square is patterned to subsequently make external contacts to the device. The exposed area of bare Si(100) surface, which is highly reactive to the adsorption of molecular species such as PH₃, appears brighter than the surrounding, hydrogen resist layer due to the additional tunnel current contributed by the Si surface states [171].

It is noteworthy that the presence of monoatomic steps in the device area in Fig. 6.5 (b) is not due to the registration markers causing step bunching of the surface but is due to the wafer miscut. A similar step structure is seen on unpatterned samples of the same wafer. After dosing with PH₃, we anneal the substrate to \sim 350 °C to incorporate P atoms in the silicon surface layer. The device is then encapsulated with ~25 nm of epitaxial silicon grown at 250 °C [137] at a growth rate 0.5 $\frac{A}{s}$ by our MBE postdoctoral researcher Dr. Lars Oberbeck. Once the sample is removed from the UHV environment, we use the registration markers to align macroscopic Al contacts defined by optical lithography to the buried structure. Subsequent annealing to \sim 350 °C for 15 min causes the Al to diffuse to the buried structure thereby forming an ohmic contact [168]. Optical microscope images after the alignment of Al contacts are shown in Fig. 6.5 (c,d). From Fig. 6.5 (c) we can estimate the alignment accuracy of the metal contacts with respect to the triangular and square markers to be \sim 500 nm. This alignment accuracy is sufficient to allow the alignment of external metal contacts by optical lithography to the 2.5 μ m wide squares defined by STM lithography. After the device is packaged, a gold ball bonder is used to connect Au wires from the four Al terminals to the chip package. Thereafter, the device chip is ready to be loaded into

6.4. Detailed electrical characterisation of a 27 nm wide wire



Figure 6.5: Fabrication process of a 27 nm wide Si:P wire. (a) High resolution STM image (bias voltage: -1.5 V, current: 0.2 nA) of the hydrogen-terminated surface, where each Si atom bonds to a single hydrogen atom. A few dihydrides (DH), where each Si atom forms a bond with two hydrogen atoms are present. A low defect density (<1.5 %) of only two single dimer vacancies (DV) is visible. (b) STM image (bias voltage: -2 V, current: 0.15 nA) of a 27 nm wide exposed Si wire pattern (bright area) after performing STM lithography on a Si(100):H surface. (c) Optical microscope images of the central device area after alignment of Al contacts to the registration markers. The original etched registration markers are outlined in white for clarity. (d) Optical microscope image of the completed device.



Figure 6.6: Schematic of the 27 nm wire device. Four Al leads (1-4) form ohmic contact to two buried P-doped side patches connected to the 27 nm wide and 320 nm long wire.

current direction	1-3	2-4	1-2	3-4	1-4	3-2
$R_{2T} [k\Omega]$	12	11	60	60	61	62

Table 6.3: Two terminal resistances of the 27 nm wide wire. AC measurements of the six contact combinations (see Fig. 6.6): the P-doped side contacts (1-3, 2-4), across the device (1-2, 3-4) and diagonally across (1-4, 3-2) using an excitation voltage of 100 μ V and a lock-in frequency of 4 Hz at T = 4 K

a 4 K, in-house manufactured, liquid helium magnet dip rig for initial device characterisation.

6.4.1 Device characterisation at 4 K

The standard test for each device chip is to check the current for each of the six two terminal combinations given by the four terminals at a fixed AC excitation voltage of 100 μ V using standard lock-in amplifiers at a measurement frequency of 4 Hz. Fig. 6.6 shows a schematic of the device including terminal labels. This test allows us to check if the device is properly contacted and allows us to identify if there are any bad contacts. The results are counterchecked with a control sample, where no STM patterning has taken place to eliminate if potential current flow may arise from improper processing which could potentially result in shortening of some terminals. Performing this test in addition to an optical microscope inspection of the final device is good practice to conclude that device conduction truly stems from the buried P-dopant structures patterned by the STM. Table 6.3 summarises the six two terminal resistances of the 27 nm wire device. The two P doped side patches (1-3, 2-4) exhibit a resistance of 12 k Ω and 11 k Ω for the left and the right patch respectively. The values of R_{2T} for contacts 1-2 are slightly lower than the resistance are symmetric across the device and



Figure 6.7: Two and four terminal I-V characteristics of the 27 nm wide wire at 4 K. Ohmic behaviour is found up to a DC voltage of 10 mV giving a four terminal resistance of 50 k Ω for both current directions. The DC voltage was limited to 10 mV due to high current densities in excess of 1200 $\frac{kA}{cm^2}$. The corresponding two terminal I-V curves with current flowing in the 1-2 and 3-4 direction respectively show a slightly higher resistance of 57 k Ω due to the contact resistances of ~7 k Ω .

exhibit similar contact resistances for both sides. The current for the control device at 100 μ V was below the current measurement limit of 1 pA, giving resistances in excess of 100 M Ω , highlighting that conduction in the 27 nm wire stems from the buried P dopants.

We then go on to measure the four terminal resistance and the contact resistance of the $27 \times 320 \text{ nm}^2$ wire device. Fig. 6.7 shows a four terminal DC I-V trace up to 10 mV for the 27 nm wide wire at 4 K. Ohmic conduction with four terminal resistance of 50 k Ω is observed up to sample currents as high as 200 nA, equating to high current densities in excess of $1200 \frac{kA}{cm^2}$ comparable to the capacity of highly doped Si nanowires [182]. We have also included the two terminal I-V characteristics for both the 1-2 and 3-4 current direction. The two I-V curves are slightly different due to slightly different contact resistances. By comparing the two terminal and the four terminal traces we extract contact resistances of $\sim 3.5 \text{ k}\Omega/\text{contact}$.



Figure 6.8: Schematic of the electronic circuit for magnetotransport measurements in the dilution refrigerator.

6.4.2 Electrical measurement setup for low temperature measurements

Millikelvin magnetotransport measurements were then performed in a Kelvinox K100 He₃/He₄ dilution refrigerator equipped with a 10 Tesla superconducting magnet fabricated by Oxford Instruments, UK. Fig. 6.8 shows a diagram of the electric circuit. As will be discussed in more detail in Section 6.4.3, all measurements are performed in constant current mode to avoid measurement artifacts arising from sample heating. We use a 100 M Ω resistor to define the constant current of 200 pA for all temperatures. Passive, low-pass filters (Minicircuits BLP 1.9 MHz labelled (F) in Fig.8.10) are employed for each electric line leading to the fridge core to minimise the influence of environmental electromagnetic noise. Further filtering is applied using *cold filters* installed at the 1 K pot plate close to the device. They consist of a passive, R-C circuit (with C = 30 nF and R = 100 Ω) exhibiting a turn-over frequency of 50 Mhz. A Stanford current preamplifier (SR 570) is used for signal enhancement before the current is fed to a Keithley 5210 lock-in amplifier with a chosen operating frequency of 5 Hz. Another Keithley 5210 lock-in amplifier reads the voltage drop at the wire device thus allowing four terminal resistance measurements.

During the course of the measurements, we found three main challenges had to be overcome for accurate temperature-dependent magnetoresistance (MR) measurements of such thin wires. These were sample heating, avoiding the influence of adiabatic demagnetisation effects and protection from electromagnetic noise. By using appropriate external and internal electromagnetic noise filters, electromagnetic noise was eliminated above frequencies of order MHz. In the following two sections, we demonstrate how we measured and minimised the effects of Joule heating and adiabatic demagnetisation.

6.4.3 Effect of Joule heating on the resistance at millikelvin temperature

Joule heating, caused by the diffusive motion of the conduction electrons, is known to be a critical issue for device heating at low temperatures. High currents can cause sample heating through the wire leading to a significantly higher sample temperature and thus sample resistance compared to the bath temperature. We performed a calibration experiment by varying the device current at a temperature of 300 mK to rule out sample heating in our device. Fig. 6.9 shows the measured the four terminal R_{27} [I] as a function of the sample current through the wire measured at a lock-in frequency of 11 Hz. A large resistance variation ranging from 120 k Ω to 58 k Ω was found as the driving current was changed from ~100 pA to 14 nA. We can see that as the current is increased, the resistance decreases since there is heating in the sample giving rise to lower resistance values at higher temperatures. At 14 nA, Joule heating was observed to cause an observable increase of the mixing chamber temperature of the fridge, proving that the resistance variation is indeed due to heating.

Fig. 6.10 represents a magnified version of Fig. 6.9 on a semi-logarithmic scale for device currents <500 pA. For measurement currents below 200 pA, the measured four terminal resistance becomes independent of the device current indicating that heating is no longer occurring. Therefore, we have chosen a constant current measurement technique with a current amplitude of 200 pA for all future experiments. Finally, the importance of a suitable device current to obtain reliable data is summarised in Fig. 6.11. Here, we measured the temperature dependence of the device resistance between 150 mK and 4 K for various device currents from 0.2 nA, 0.5 nA, 5 nA to 15 nA. At 4 K, the measured resistance is independent of the sample current. For lower temperature however, device currents of 0.5 nA and above lead to a saturation of the four terminal resistance R_{27} [T,I] at lower temperatures due to heating. Only for a sample current as little as 0.2 nA was the resistance found to increase continually down to the minimum measured temperature of 150 mK. For a device current of 0.2 nA, we have



Figure 6.9: Four terminal resistance $R_{27}(I)$ at T = 300 mK as a function of the sample current. Current induced sample heating varies the actual sample temperature such that a large resistance variation occurs ranging from 120 k Ω to 58 k Ω .



Figure 6.10: Four terminal R_{27} (I) dependence for smaller device currents at T = 300 mK. Below currents of 200 pA, the device resistance becomes independent of the driving current.



Figure 6.11: Comparison of the temperature-dependent four terminal device resistance $R_{27}(T,I)$ for different currents to illustrate the effect of sample heating. At 4 K, the device resistance is independent of the sample current. For lower temperatures, different sample current leads to resistance saturation due to Joule heating. For a sample current of 200 pA, the device resistance shows no saturation over the whole measured temperature range. Blue trace is a continuous R_{xx} measurement during fridge warm-up.

also determined $R_{27}[T]$ in a continuous temperature-dependent measurement of the fridge warm-up (blue trace) – rather than at fixed temperatures. The acquired resistance curve fits beautifully onto the same points discrete temperatures confirming the reproducibility of our measurements.

6.4.4 The influence of magnetic field sweep rate

At low temperatures, the presence of magnetic impurities either in the device, the contact material or the chip package may lead to the observation of an effect known as *adiabatic demagnetisation*. Potential candidates are the sample holder (shantec) used in some Kelvinox dilution refrigerators manufactured by Oxford Instruments, magnetic contamination in the metals used to contact the device or the presence magnetic trace elements in the chip package. For the MR measurements presented in this section, we have used a non-magnetic shantec holder and Al metal contacts of 5N or 99.999% purity Al (for more details see also Section 6.4.11). As such, both of these are not a likely source of magnetic traces. The most likely source of magnetic material comes from the commonly used chip packages (type: leadless chip carrier LCC02034 fabricated



Figure 6.12: Sweep rate dependence of the observed magnetoresistance at T = 300 mK. Adiabatic magnetisation and demagnetisation of magnetic impurities in the sample holder and stage (shantec) lead to cooling when sweeping the magnetic field towards zero magnetic field and induce heating whilst sweeping away from zero-field. The effect is eliminated by slowly sweeping the magnetic field such that the temperature bath becomes coupled non-adiabatically.

by Spectrum Semiconductor), where residues of nickel (Ni) are known to be present. Indeed, measurements² performed at the University of Cambridge, UK, of the magnetoresistance of such chip carriers without a device present showed the occurrence of adiabatic heating effects which can affect the sample temperature.

Adiabatic demagnetisation causes sample heating and cooling when the magnetic field is swept quickly around B = 0. The key for the temperature change arises from magnetisation of the magnetic particles in the chip package. Generally a thermodynamic process is thought of being adiabatic if they occur so quickly that the system under investigation is not coupled to its environment, the temperature bath. The red trace in Fig. 6.12 shows the magnetoresistance as the magnetic field is swept from -1 T to +1 T at a constant sweep rate of 0.05 T/min, whereas the blue trace shows the MR when swept in the opposite direction. In both cases, the resistance increases, when sweeping towards zero and decreases significantly while sweeping away from zero magnetic field. This effect is a direct consequence of local temperature change originating from adiabatic demagnetisation of the magnetic impurities in the chip package.

²Private conversation with A/Prof. Alex Hamilton

As a consequence of this demagnetisation, the sample temperature is not constant but decreases as the magnetic field is swept towards B = 0. As such, the resistance of the 27 nm wire increases, whereas sweeping away from B = 0 causes sample heating which lowers the device resistance again.

We have found that we can maintain a constant sample temperature when sweeping the magnetic field slowly enough, such that the sample is in quasi-equilibrium with the temperature bath of the dilution refrigerator. This is shown as the black trace in Fig. 6.12. Here the forward and backward sweep sit on top of each other when the sweep rate is reduced to 0.005 T/min. Interestingly, the zero-field resistance does not change significantly for all traces. However the general shape is affected which is important since the shape dictates the phase coherence lengths of l_{φ} extrapolated from weak localisation fitting. Therefore it is crucial to prevent effects due to adiabatic demagnetisation. This can be achieved using sweep rates of $0.005 \frac{T}{min}$ and lower.

6.4.5 Four terminal resistance from 200 mK to 110 K

Having established the magnetic field sweep rate and the sample current necessary to prevent heating of the sample, we have characterised the wire resistance over a large temperature range during the slow warm-up of our dilution refrigerator. This process takes about four days during which the resistance was measured in intervals of 10 s. Since we use conducting substrates for STM-based device fabrication for imaging with a room temperature resistivity of $1 - 2 \Omega cm$ (corresponding to a substrate doping level of $10^{15} cm^{-3}$), the substrate will conduct at higher temperatures. In order to determine at what temperatures the substrate starts to conduct, we fabricated an unpatterned, four terminal control device, where Al contacts are evaporated and annealed into the substrate only. Fig. 6.13 shows the measured device resistance for the 27 nm wide wire from 10 K to 110 K. We also measured the current through the control device for a constant AC excitation voltage of $100 \ \mu$ V. From the graph, it is seen that the substrate starts to conduct for temperatures above ~70 K. Therefore we restrict the discussion of the electrical results of the 27 nm wire to temperatures below 65 K (dotted line in Fig. 6.13).



Figure 6.13: Four terminal resistance as a function of temperature for 27 nm \times 320 nm wire control device. The onset of substrate conduction (black trace) above \sim 70 K makes electrical measurements of the wire (blue trace) above this temperature unreliable.

6.4.6 Overview of the temperature-dependent resistance

Fig. 6.14 shows the zero-field four terminal resistance of the 27 nm wire from 200 mK to 65 K. Over this temperature range, the resistance decreases from 150 k Ω to 39 k Ω . Note that some *bumps* in the resistance data stem from differences between the actual sample electron temperature and the thermometer and are not expected to be a characteristic feature of the observed resistance. In the following, we will give an outline of the different transport regimes that take place in this wire. A detailed analysis and derivation of the emerging device parameters will be discussed in the following sections. At low temperatures, conductance corrections from the Drude conductance arise due to both, weak localisation and electron-electron interaction. The effective dimensionality of the sample and thus of weak localisation is determined by the relation between the coherence length, l_{φ} , and the wire width, w. If l_{φ} is much smaller than w, the conduction electrons do not see their confinement and the weak localisation correction is essentially two-dimensional. If the coherence length exceeds w i.e. $l_{\varphi} > w$, the wire boundaries constrict the maximum size and shape of the backscattering loops since only loops with an area $S = l_{\varphi} \cdot w$ are formed. In this case the weak localisation effect is said to be one-dimensional.

From 1D weak localisation measurements, which will be discussed in Section 6.4.8, the phase coherence length was found to be 24 nm at T = 4 K comparable to the wire width w. Note, that we have obtained the same l_{φ} from 2D weak localisation theory

6.4. Detailed electrical characterisation of a 27 nm wide wire



Figure 6.14: Four terminal resistance of the 27 nm wire from 200 mK to 65 K. The dotted lines divide the resistance into three regimes. Above 4 K, the resistance behaviour of the wire with width w = 27 nm is described by 2D weak localisation ($l_{\varphi} < w$), where electron-phonon interactions dominate dephasing. Below 4 K, the sample crosses over into the 1D weak localisation regime ($l_{\varphi} > w$). At very low temperatures, we propose a crossover to strong localisation as the phase coherence length, l_{φ} , approaches the localisation length, ξ .

[71] at this temperature. However, at temperatures below 4 K, the magnetotransport data could only be fitted with 1D weak localisation theory. At very low temperatures, l_{φ} becomes ~50 nm i.e. longer than the wire width. Whilst we are in the 1D magnetotransport regime, we also propose a crossover from weak localisation to strong localisation. Such a crossover occurs if the electron's localisation length ξ becomes comparable to the temperature-dependent phase coherence length. The localisation length for this device is $\xi \approx 100$ nm, whereas $l_{\varphi} = 50$ nm at T = 450 mK. Given that the crossover condition $\xi \sim l_{\varphi}$ gives only an order of magnitude character, it is possible that we observe the onset of strong localisation at temperatures below 450 mK. The three different conductance regimes for the 27 nm wire as a function of temperature are shown in Fig. 6.14 and can be identified as follows:

1. 2D weak localisation: 4 K – 65 K:

Above ~4 K, the electron phase coherence length l_{φ} becomes comparable to the wire width w and the conductance correction due to weak localisation is found to be in a crossover regime between 1D and 2D magnetotransport. At higher temperatures, weak localisation becomes clearly two dimensional and can only be fit using 2D theories. In Section 6.4.7, we will see that we can explain the dominating dephasing mechanism at higher temperatures is due to electron-phonon interaction.

2. 1D weak localisation and electron-electron interactions: 4K – 450 mK:

Below ~4 K, the electron phase coherence length l_{φ} becomes smaller then the wire width w and we enter the regime of 1D weak localisation. A detailed analysis of magnetotransport measurements at temperatures from 300 mK to 4 K is presented in Section 6.4.8. At low temperatures, *electron-electron interactions* present a further correction to the Drude resistance. The dimensionality of electron-electron interactions is given by the thermal length, defined as $l_T = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar D}{kT}}$. Similar to the crossover for weak localisation, a crossover from 1D to 2D interaction theory occurs when l_T becomes comparable to the wire width w, i.e. $l_T \sim w$. For the 27 nm wire, the thermal length is $l_T = 30$ nm at 4 K. Therefore 1D theory will be used in Section 6.4.10 to describe the conductance correction due to electron-electron interaction below 4 K.

3. Crossover to strong localisation: <450 mK:

In Section 6.4.11 we apply a variable range hopping model to investigate the

possible onset of a strong localisation crossover at very low temperatures, when the localisation length, ξ becomes comparable to the electron phase coherence length l_{φ} .

6.4.7 Electron-phonon interaction above 4 K

From the phase coherence length of $l_{\varphi} = 24$ nm obtained from 1D weak localisation measurements at T = 4 K (Section 6.4.8), we deduce that a temperature-dependent crossover from 1D to 2D weak localisation occurs at a temperature of about 4 K. At this temperature, the fitted electron phase coherence length becomes comparable to the wire width i.e. $l_{\varphi} \sim w$ and the formation of phase coherence loops in the sample is no longer restricted by the wire width.

The formulation of 2D weak localisation theory predates 1D weak localisation going back to the original work by Anderson. Whereas Anderson *et al.* [186] developed their theoretical concepts embedded in a scaling theory description of conductance, Gorkov *et al.*'s [187] provided a complementary approach to conductance behaviour utilising perturbation theory. Later on, Bergmann's [188] and Khmel'nitskii's [189] picture of weak localisation as a consequence of enhanced coherent backscattering resulting from quantum-mechanical interference provided an insightful interpretation of this macroscopically observable quantum effect. Lee and Ramakrishnan [94] have written a review concerning the scaling theory approach. Beenakker and van Houten [70] provide an excellent review of weak localisation. Altshuler *et al.* [190] provided an expression derived for the conductivity correction in a two dimensional, disordered metal:

$$\Delta\sigma_{2D} = -g_s g_v \frac{e^2}{4\pi^2 \hbar} ln \frac{\tau_{\varphi}}{\tau}$$
(6.3)

with $\Delta \sigma = \sigma_{xx} - \sigma_0$, where σ_0 is the Drude conductivity, $g_{s,v}$ are the spin and valley degeneracy respectively. τ_{φ} and τ are the electron phase relaxation and the momentum relaxation time respectively. Assuming $g_v = 1$ and $g_s = 2$ and since $\tau_{\varphi} \sim T^{-p}$ is typically assumed for all dephasing mechanisms, Eq. 6.3 reduces to:

$$\Delta \sigma = p \frac{e^2}{2\pi^2 \hbar} ln \frac{T}{T_0} \tag{6.4}$$

where T_0 is a measure of the strength of the inelastic coupling [81]. The measured conductivity therefore is expected to follow

$$\sigma_{xx} = cst + p \frac{e^2}{2\pi^2 \hbar} lnT \tag{6.5}$$

with $cst := \sigma_0 + p \frac{e^2}{2\pi^2 \hbar} ln T_0$.

By fitting the measured conductivity, it is possible to extract the value of the parameter p which gives direct information about which temperature-dependent dephasing mechanism is prevalent in our wires over this broad temperature regime.

It is interesting to note that the Hikami expression used for fitting 2D magnetotransport data in this thesis also reduces to 6.5 in the limit $B \rightarrow 0$. Recall the familiar Hikami expression:

$$\Delta \sigma = \frac{e^2}{2\pi^2 \hbar} \left[\Psi \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\tau_B}{2\tau} \right) - \Psi \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\tau_B}{2\tau_{\varphi}} \right) \right]$$
(6.6)

where $\tau_B = \frac{\hbar}{2 \cdot e \cdot B \cdot D}$ and Ψ is the *digamma* function. In the zero-field limit, the digamma function behaves asymptotically as $\Psi(x) \approx lnx - \frac{1}{x}$. Assuming also, that $\tau_{\varphi} \gg \tau$, Eq. 6.5 is recovered.

Electron-phonon interaction becomes important at higher temperatures and eventually becomes the governing dephasing mechanism dictating the temperature dependence of τ_{φ} and thus the conductance correction due to 2D weak localisation. The theoretical foundation of electron-phonon scattering was laid out by Pippard. In his pioneering work, Pippard [85] considered the interaction between phonons and electrons scattering from impurities and defects. According to [85], the electron-phonon interaction depends essentially on the parameter $q_T l$, where q_T is the transversal phonon wave vector, and l is the electron mean free path. In the large disorder/dirty limit $q_T l << 1$, the electron-phonon coupling is a factor of $q_T l$ weaker than the coupling in the pure/clean limit, where $l \rightarrow \infty$. Therefore a theoretical temperature-dependence of $\tau_{\varphi} \propto T^{-4}$ is obtained in the *high disorder* limit, whereas a $\tau_{\varphi} \propto T^{-3}$ is predicted for the *pure metal* limit characterised by $q_T l >> 1$. Following on from Pippard's work, Rammer and Schmid [84] showed that the phase breaking rate due to electron-phonon interaction is identical to the inelastic collision rate. Only a few reports exist which actually observe the high disorder limit. For example, Komnik et al. [191] showed that τ_{φ} converged to the T^{-4} dependence dictated by electron-phonon dephasing in disordered bismuth films. More recently, Gershenson et al. [192] reported that the electron cooling time, related to the electron-phonon coupling, also follows the T^{-4} law.

Most groups [86], [87], [88], [89], [90] experimentally observed neither a T^{-4} or a T^{-3} dependence as suggested by theory. Instead, they found that the experimental data could be well described by a T^{-2} law of the dephasing time τ_{φ} . Lin and Bird [78] have written a comprehensive review on this discrepancy between theory and



Figure 6.15: The temperature dependence of the conductivity of the 27 nm \times 320 nm wire from 4 K to 65 K. The observed conductance change (black trace) is due to electron-phonon dephasing in the intermediate disorder limit (blue fit with p \sim 2).

experiment, also summarising many experiments. It is believed, that the origin of the T^{-2} law arises from an intermediate level of disorder but no theoretical fundament has been established to confirm this assumption to date.

We can estimate the level of disorder in our system using

$$q_T l = \frac{k_B T l}{\hbar v_s} \tag{6.7}$$

from [78], [85], [84] we obtain

$$q_T l = 0.044 \cdot T[K] \tag{6.8}$$

where we have used the estimate the velocity of sound in Si(100) after Saviot *et al.* [193], namely $v_s = 9017 \pm 230 \frac{m}{s}$, and a mean free path *l* of 3 nm. In the temperature range between 4 K to 65 K, the value for $q_T l$, using Eq. 6.8, changes from 0.2 to 2.9 and becomes unity at T ~23 K. Therefore, it might be expected we have an intermediate level of disorder as observed in other experiments with a T^{-2} dependence. Fig. 6.15 shows the conductivity for the 27 nm wide and 320 nm long wire plotted as a function of *lnT*. Such a plot allows us to identify the region of constant *p* values as easily seen

from Eq. 6.5. A linear region extending from 7 K to 65 K is immediately visible. Applying a linear fit, using Eq. 6.5, we obtain a p value of 2.1 ± 0.03 . Note that the *bumps* in the data are a consequence of a discrepancy between the thermometer and the actual electron temperature of the sample. It is worth noting that the extrapolated p values are directly proportional to the valley degeneracy g_v which allows us to confirm a valley degeneracy of $g_v = 1$. A valley degeneracy of $g_v = 1$ is also obtained from weak localisation fitting in Section 6.4.8. A p value of 2 corresponds to a power law of T^{-2} , thus confirming that the dominant dephasing mechanism in the wire at higher temperatures up to 65 K is caused by electron-phonon scattering in the intermediate disorder regime as observed by many other groups [78]. At low temperatures, τ_{φ} is seen to deviate from the T^{-2} law [191], [194] as electron-phonon interactions become negligible. In the following section, we discuss what happens below 4 K.

6.4.8 1D weak localisation corrections below 4 K

One dimensional weak localisation occurs when the electron phase coherence length l_{φ} becomes larger than the sample width w, i.e. $l_{\varphi} > w$. In the presence of a magnetic field, the constructive interference between forward and time-reversed loop is destroyed for loop sizes larger than the square of the magnetic length $l_m^2 = \frac{\hbar}{eB}$ since both paths pick up different Aharanov-Bohm phases resulting in a phase difference of $\phi \sim 1$ [70]. As a consequence, 1D weak localisation in the presence of a magnetic field only occurs if both, the electron phase coherence length and the magnetic length are larger than the wire width that is $l_{\varphi} \wedge l_m > 0$.

At sufficiently high magnetic fields, a transition from 1D to 2D weak localisation can occur if l_m becomes comparable to w. This dimensional crossover happens when $l_m = \frac{1}{2}w$. Recalling the definition of the magnetic length $l_m = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar}{eB}}$, the crossover condition becomes

$$B_{1D\to 2D} = \frac{4\hbar}{ew^2} \tag{6.9}$$

For a 27 nm wire, $B_{1D\rightarrow 2D} = 3.6$ T. We constraint our fits in this section to a magnetic field range of ± 0.5 T, so that we are far away from a transition from 1D to 2D weak localisation in the presence of a magnetic field.

Altshuler et al. [76] provided an expression for 1D weak localisation in highly

disordered metals (dirty limit) as

$$\delta G_{WL}(B) = -g_s g_v \frac{De^2}{hL} \left(\frac{1}{\tau_{\varphi}^2} + \frac{1}{\tau_B^2}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$
(6.10)

where g_s and g_v are the spin and valley degeneracies respectively, D is the diffusion constant, L the wire length, τ_{φ} the inelastic scattering time and τ_B is the characteristic decay time of the correlator of the time-reversal operator in the presence of a magnetic field. τ_B is defined over the wire geometry. For a wire with rectangular cross section [76], [70], which we assume to be the most suitable geometry for our planar P-doped wires,

$$\tau_B = \frac{3l_m^4}{Dw^2} \tag{6.11}$$

Using the definition of l_m , equation 6.10 then becomes

$$\delta G_{WL}(B) = -g_s g_v \frac{e^2}{hL} \left(\frac{1}{l_{\varphi}^2} + \frac{e^2 B^2 w^2}{3\hbar^2} \right)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$
(6.12)

The zero-field conductance correction due to 1D weak localisation reduces to

$$\delta G_{WL}(B=0) = -g_s g_v \frac{e^2}{hL} \cdot l_{\varphi} \tag{6.13}$$

We can see from Eq. 6.13 that the zero-field conductance correction due to weak localisation is proportional to the phase coherence length l_{φ} . Therefore the temperaturedependent evolution of the sample conductance is expected to follow the same behaviour as $l_{\varphi}[T]$. We will return to this interesting observation at the end of the analysis of the weak localisation data.

For the fitting of the magnetoresistance data, we subtracted Eq. 6.13 from Eq. 6.12 to obtain the following conductance correction, also used by Pooke *et al.* [195]

$$\Delta G(B) = \delta G_{loc}(B=0) - \delta G_{loc}(B) = \alpha \frac{2e^2}{hL} \left[L_{\phi} - \left(\frac{1}{l_{\phi}^2} + \frac{e^2 B^2 w^2}{3\hbar^2} \right)^{-1/2} \right]$$
(6.14)

Here we have set $g_s = 2$ and $g_v = 1$, such that α is a prefactorial fit parameter of order of unity.



Figure 6.16: Four terminal magnetoconductance in the temperature range from 300 mK to 4 K for a 27 nm wire. Red lines are fits to Altshuler's 1D weak localisation theory [76] given by Eq. 6.14.

6.4.9 Temperature dependent electron phase coherence

We have performed magnetotransport measurements over the temperature range from 300 mK to 4 K in a dilution refrigerator using the measurement setup described in Section 6.4.2. Employing a constant current of 200 pA, we are able to avoid Joule heating as discussed in Section 6.4.3. Weak localisation traces were taken at six distinct temperatures over a magnetic field range of ± 1 T. We use a very small magnetic field sweep rate of 0.005 T/min to exclude adiabatic demagnetisation effects (see also Section 6.4.4) originating from Ni impurities in commercially available chip packages. The conductance change arising from weak localisation is then fitted to the 1D Altshuler model according to Eq. 6.14.

The fitting procedure is divided into a two step procedure. In the first fitting round, both the prefactorial α and the electron phase coherence length l_{φ} are allowed to vary. This allows to determine if our assumptions about a valley degeneracy of $g_v = 1$ is correct. Indeed, we observe that the best fitting results for all temperatures were obtained with the prefactorial fit parameter α oscillating around unity and $g_v = 1$. Therefore we have fixed α to unity for the second fitting round to make the fits comparable at differ-

ent temperatures. Fig. 6.16 shows the raw magnetoconductance data for six different measurement temperatures (black traces). The magnetoconductance observed at B = 0increases with increasing magnetic field leading to the observation of negative magnetoresistance – the characteristic signature of weak localisation. The effect of weak localisation arises from coherent backscattering of forward and time-reversed electron waves around a loop as electrons diffuse through the sample. The application of a perpendicular magnetic field breaks the time reversal symmetry in these loops, suppressing the coherent backscattering, and resulting in an increase of the magnetoconductance. For 1D weak localisation, the maximum size of the loops is given by the product of the wire width w and the electron phase coherence length l_{φ} , i.e. $w \cdot l_{\varphi}$. Since l_{φ} increases with decreasing temperature, more and larger loops can be formed which results in more a more pronounced drop in the zero-field magnetoconductance as the temperature is lowered from 4 K to 300 mK. Both the negative magnetoconductance and more pronounced drops for zero-field magnetoconductance are seen in Fig. 6.16 in accordance with our understanding. The fitted 1D weak localisation results over the fitting range of ± 0.5 T are overlayed as red curves. From Fig. 6.16, it can be readily seen that the 1D weak localisation theory fits the data well over the entire temperature range. This indicates that the magnetoconductance is in the 1D regime over the magnetic field range of ± 0.5 T and for temperatures up to ~ 4 K.

In Fig. 6.17, we present the temperature-dependent values of l_{φ} for six data points on a log-log scale. We see that l_{φ} increases as the temperature is lowered. However, there appears to be an apparent saturation of l_{φ} below 450 mK. The temperature dependence of the electron phase coherence length depends on the dominant dephasing mechanism in our samples. There are three potential dephasing mechanisms:

 Nyquist phase-breaking: At low temperatures Nyquist dephasing [79] is believed to be the dominant dephasing mechanism in disordered quasi one-dimensional systems. Nyquist noise arises from scattering of conduction electrons with a fluctuating electromagnetic field produced by the other electrons in the conductor. Altshuler et al. [79] showed that the inelastic scattering time τ_φ of this dephasing mechanism in 1D has a temperature dependence of ∝ T^{-2/3}.

The corresponding coherence length is expressed as:

$$l_{\varphi}^{N} = \left(\frac{DG_{0}\hbar^{2}L}{\sqrt{2}e^{2}kT}\right)^{\frac{1}{3}}$$
(6.15)

6.4. Detailed electrical characterisation of a 27 nm wide wire



Figure 6.17: Temperature dependence of 6 different $l_{\varphi}(T)$ values obtained from 1D weak localisation fitting. The red line represents the predicted temperature dependence for Nyquist dephasing according to Altshuler *et al.* [79], whereas the blue line is the predicted temperature dependence for large energy transfers dephasing as proposed by Abrahams *et al.* [81].

where D is the diffusion constant, G_0 is the Drude conductance and L is the wire length.

Electron-electron scattering with large energy transfers: Another dephasing mechanism was proposed [80] to become relevant where inelastic electron-electron scattering with large energy transfers, due to screened Coulomb interactions, is dominant. The underlying theory was described by Fukuyama and Abrahams [80]. In a thin wire, Abrahams et al. reported [81], the temperature dependence of the inelastic scattering time becomes τ_φ ∝ T^{-1/2} and the resulting expression for the electron phase coherence length is given by:

$$l_{\varphi}^{LET} = \left(\frac{\pi\hbar G_0 L}{\sqrt{2}ae^2}\sqrt{\frac{\hbar D}{kT}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} = C^{LET} \cdot T^{-\frac{1}{4}}$$
(6.16)

where D is the diffusion constant, G_0 is the Drude conductance and L is the wire length. The parameter a is predicted to be of order unity at T = 0 K.

• **Two-level tunnelling modes:** Thouless [82] reported a temperature dependence of $T^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ for the electron phase coherence length in quasi one-dimensional disordered metal samples based on two-level tunnelling modes. According to Black et al. [83] this temperature dependence should be dominant at low temperatures in a disordered quasi 1D sample.

The predicted $T^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ temperature dependence predicted for a dephasing mechanism arising from two-level tunnelling modes can be disregarded since it is not consistent with our experimental observation. Therefore, we concentrate our analysis on the Nyquist dephasing and dephasing due to electron-electron scattering with large energy transfers.

Estimating $D = 5 \cdot 10^{-4} m^2 s^{-1}$ from 2D weak localisation fitting of wires fabricated in this thesis, approximating the Drude conductance, G_0 from the high temperature resistance $R_0 = 39 \text{ k}\Omega$ at T = 65 K and L = 320 nm, we obtain a numerical expression for the 1D Nyquist dephasing behaviour in this wire, namely

$$l_{\omega}^{N}(T) = 45 \ nm \cdot T^{-\frac{1}{3}} \tag{6.17}$$

Fig. 6.17 shows this theoretically predicted Nyquist behaviour (red curve) with the fitted phase coherence values obtained at 6 different temperatures. The predicted Nyquist mechanism is slightly over-estimating the phase coherence behaviour but it is evident, that the prediction is generally in good agreement with our measurement

T[mK]	$l_{\varphi}[nm]$	$l_T[nm]$	$\left(\frac{l_{\varphi}}{l_T}\right)^2$
4200	24	30	0.64
1600	37	49	0.57
750	44	71	0.38
600	47	80	0.35
450	51	92	0.31
300	50	113	0.20

Table 6.4: Temperature-dependent values of the fitted electron phase coherence length l_{φ} , the thermal length l_T for the 27 nm wire and the ratio $\left(\frac{l_{\varphi}}{l_T}\right)^2$.

results except for an apparent saturation of the electron coherence length obtained below 450 mK. Nyquist dephasing has been observed by several groups in various other systems such as δ -doped GaAs wires [196], Ag metal wires [197], Al and Au metal wires [198], AuPd metal wires [199], [200] and boron-doped semiconducting multiwalled carbon nanotubes [201]. Moreover, we have observed 2D Nyquist dephasing behaviour in P-doped δ layers fabricated in our group [166].

Now we consider dephasing arising from electron-electron collisions with large energy transfers [81]. This dephasing mechanism was observed for example by Graaf *et al.* [202] in 1D silicon MOSFETs, where they experimentally found a value of *a* of 10 in Eq. 6.16. The uncertainty of *a* with temperature (*a* is expected to be unity at T = 0) allows us to adjust the predicted magnitude C^{SET} to match our data. Using Eq. 6.16 and *a* = 2.7, we get

$$l_{\omega}^{LET}(T) = 42 \ nm \cdot T^{-\frac{1}{4}} \tag{6.18}$$

The blue line in Fig. 6.17 represents the functional dependence of the electron phase coherence length resulting from this large energy transfer mechanism. We can see excellent agreement with the data in the range from 1.5 K down to 450 mK. The data point at T = 300 mK again lies outside the predicted dependence.³ However, at 4 K, the Nyquist temperature shows better agreement. Nyquist behaviour is expected to dominate in the regime [195], where $\left(\frac{l_{\varphi}}{l_T}\right)^2 \gg 1$, where $l_T = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar D}{kT}}$ is the thermal length. Table 6.4 shows the extracted values of the electron phase coherence length, the thermal length and the ratio $\left(\frac{l_{\varphi}}{l_T}\right)^2$. We can see that at 4 K, $\left(\frac{l_{\varphi}}{l_T}\right)^2$ is 0.64 decreasing to 0.20 at 300 mK. Therefore it is possible that we initially observe some Nyquist dephasing which is then dominated by large energy transfer dephasing at lower temperatures.

³We shall discuss this apparent saturation in detail in Section 6.4.11.

A combination of the two dephasing mechanisms has also been observed in Si MOS-FETs by Pooke *et al.* [195] and in GaAs/Al_xGa_{1-x} 1D wires by Choi *et al.* [203]. We also perform a power law fit on the l_{φ} [T] behaviour emerging from 1D weak localisation theory and obtain a power law of the form $l_{\varphi}(T) = 40nm \cdot T^{0.31}$. The exponent of n = 0.31 is slightly closer to n = $\frac{1}{3}$ ascribed to Nyquist behaviour than n = $\frac{1}{4}$ characteristic for larger energy transfer scattering but this tendency is not significant enough to allow a clear decision on the dominant dephasing mechanism.

We conclude that both, Nyquist and large energy transfer dephasing describe the data well, whereas the predicted $T^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ temperature dependence based on two-level tunnelling modes did not fit the data and can therefore be ruled out. Whilst it is likely that both mechanisms are present with a dominating effect due to larger energy transfer scattering at lower temperatures, it is very difficult to discern the two dephasing mechanisms using the temperature dependence of l_{φ} in our limited temperature range. Now that we have analysed the conductance correction due to weak localisation, we turn our attention to the conductance corrections arising from both, weak localisation and electron-electron interaction arising from Coulomb interaction of the conduction electrons.

6.4.10 Conductance corrections due to electron-electron interactions

In the previous section, we extracted the temperature dependence of the electron phase coherence length between 450 mK and 4 K from 1D weak localisation theory. Now we want to see how we can explain the total conductance correction that we observe in our wire. The zero-field conduction correction due to weak localisation in 1D is given by:

$$\delta G_{WL}(B=0) = -g_s g_v \frac{e^2}{hL} \cdot l_{\varphi} \tag{6.19}$$

We immediately see that $\delta G_{WL}(B = 0)$ is directly proportional to l_{φ} . Fig. 6.18 depicts the conduction correction $\Delta G = G(T) - G_0$ in the low temperature regime from 200 mK to 5 K. G_0 is again taken from the high temperature resistance $R_0 = 39 \text{ k}\Omega$ at T = 65 K approximating the Drude value. The blue data points in Fig. 6.18 are the calculated conductance correction values using the fitted l_{φ} values, where we use $g_s = 2$, $g_v = 1$ as confirmed from 1D weak localisation fitting. Whereas we are able to reproduce the general trend of ΔG , we find that the predicted conductance correction given by $\delta G_{WL}(B = 0)$ underestimates the magnitude of ΔG . This observation indicates that



Figure 6.18: The temperature dependence of the conduction correction ΔG . ΔG_{WL} (blue points) from 1D weak localisation taken at 6 different temperatures, whereas ΔG_{WL+ee} (green points) is composed of the contribution from 1D weak localisation and a component originating from 1D electron-electron interaction. The black traces is the measured conductance correction.

another correction to the conductance must be occurring. Electron-electron interaction effects originating from Coulomb interaction between conduction electrons are also known to result in a conductance correction in a disordered wire system [204]. The dimensionality of the electron-electron interaction effects is given by the magnitude of the thermal length compared to the wire width w [70], defined as

$$l_T = \sqrt{D \cdot \tau_T} = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar D}{kT}} \tag{6.20}$$

where τ_T^{-1} reflects the characteristic time 6.20 in which the wave function of two conduction electrons (in different energy eigenstates separated by kT) interfere before they loose their phase correlation.

Table 6.4 shows the temperature-dependence of the thermal length calculated from Eq. 6.20 from which we can determine that we are in the 1D regime of electron-electron interaction i.e. $l_T > w$. For completeness, the fitted electron phase coherence values are also shown. From Table 6.4, we can see that a crossover from 1D to 2D occurs

at T > 4 K, where l_T = 30 nm is comparable to the wire width w = 27 nm. If we want to take electron-electron interaction into account to explain the total conductance corrections in our wires below 4 K, we have to use 1D electron-electron interaction theory.

An analytical expression for the 1D electron-electron interaction correction to the conductivity was provided by Altshuler *et al.* [204] (also found in [70], [94]) and is given by:

$$\delta G_{ee}(T) = -g_{1D} \frac{e^2}{\sqrt{2}\pi\hbar L} \cdot l_T = -g_{1D} \frac{e^2}{L} \sqrt{\frac{D}{\pi hk}} \cdot T^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$
(6.21)

where g_{1D} is an interaction parameter of order unity. Altshuler provided a derivation for g_{1D} in 1D [205], [206], which is

$$g_{1D} = \frac{4.91}{\pi} \left(1 - 12 \cdot \frac{1 + \frac{1}{4}F - (1 + \frac{F}{2})^{\frac{1}{2}}}{F} \right) := \frac{4.91}{\pi} \cdot \alpha_{ee}$$
(6.22)

where F reflects the Coulomb interaction between conduction electrons. F becomes unity for short-range interaction and vanishes for long screening lengths [93]. α_{ee} plays the role of a screening factor typically between zero and unity.

We can extract the contribution due to 1D electron-electron interaction by combining the conductance correction due to 1D weak localisation (Eq. 6.19) and 1D electronelectron interaction (Eq. 6.21):

$$\Delta G_{WL+ee} = \delta G_{WL} + \delta G_{ee} \tag{6.23}$$

With Eq. 6.23, we are able to fit the total conductance correction using α_{ee} as a fit parameter to extract the electron-electron interaction contribution. The result of this interpolation is also shown in Fig. 6.18. The green data points, representing the combined contribution ΔG_{WL+ee} , describe the continuously measured conductance (black trace) very well over the entire temperature regime except for a deviation at the lowest temperature of T = 300 mK due to the low electron phase coherence values extracted from 1D weak localisation fitting. The screening factor was determined to be $\alpha_{ee} = 0.13$. Our results are in good agreement with a recent analysis on etched 1D Si δ -doped GaAs wire arrays with widths of ~50 nm reported by Khavin *et al.* [196]. Their system is also a planar δ -doped system, where conduction also takes place in the dopant plane. Therefore we expect a high degree of comparability with our P-doped wires. A combination of weak localisation and electron-electron interaction was also observed to fit the conductance behaviour with a comparable screening factor of α_{ee} = 0.37. Our results show that the observed conductance correction can be completely explained by a combination of 1D weak localisation effects accompanied by a weaker influence arising from 1D electron-electron interaction effects.

6.4.11 Potential crossover to strong localisation below 450 mK

As a last step in our analysis, we take a look at the apparent saturation of the phase coherence length at T = 300 mK. Note that whereas the electron phase coherence length, l_{φ} is observed to saturate at this point, the measured resistance does not saturate down to the lowest available temperature of 200 mK as can be seen from Fig. 6.14. We should add that whilst we have only one data point at 300 mK and it is not wise to overinterpret the data, there exists a controversial discussion in the literature that speculates about the possible limitations to obtain reliable magnetotransport data at low temperatures of a few hundred millikelvin. Quite a few groups observe a saturation of l_{φ} at low temperatures [207], [196], [208], [195]. Lin and Bird [78] have recently written an exhaustive review on this topic and we will briefly discuss the possible causes for this phenomenon which remains the subject of ongoing research:

- Joule heating
- Electromagnetic noise
- Magnetic impurities
- Crossover from weak to strong localisation

Joule heating:

Joule heating arises from the diffusive motion of the conduction electrons which can cause sample heating. High measurement currents can therefore lead to an apparent saturation if the associated sample temperature due to heating deviates from the bath temperature of the dilution refrigerator. Several other groups [199], [207], [209] have observed weaker or saturated electron phase coherence values while ruling out sample heating. By measuring the effect of the sample current on the device resistance in Section 6.4.3, we have determined that a measurement current of 200 pA was found to be in the regime where the resistance is independent of the device current i.e. no heating occurs. Indeed the measured four terminal device resistance does not saturate
down to the lowest measurement value of T = 200 mK. Therefore, we believe that Joule heating is not responsible for any apparent saturation of l_{φ} .

Electromagnetic noise:

Altshuler *et al.* [77] suggested that non-equilibrium high-frequency noise is responsible for the observed saturation of l_{φ} at low temperatures. However several groups [210], [211] found that this dephasing mechanism is independent of external electromagnetic noise indicating that, at least in their samples, the electromagnetic noise is not the governing dephasing mechanism at low temperatures. We employed the use of cold filters (Section 6.4.2) to avoid the influence of extrinsic electromagnetic noise. According to Altshuler, electromagnetic noise becomes important if

$$\hbar w \cdot \tau_{\varphi} \sim \hbar \tag{6.24}$$

For typical dephasing times $\tau_{\varphi} = 1$ ps measured in our samples, the corresponding frequencies at which electromagnetic noise can cause saturation are ~1 THz. It is not very likely that a THz source is close to our measurement environment. Additionally, the low-pass filter setup of our measurement is designed to suppress frequencies larger than a few MHz. From these arguments, we conclude that electromagnetic noise is not a likely cause for saturation in our samples.

Magnetic impurities:

Spin scattering of the conduction electrons with magnetic impurities can cause decoherence leading to a saturation of l_{φ} in a sample [78]. Pierre *et al.* [197] examined the effect of dilute magnetic impurities in Au, Ag and Cu wires and found that even any extremely small concentration of below one part per million (ppm) of magnetic impurities (which could mean just a few atoms per sample) leads to saturation at low temperatures. Their samples were made using standard e-beam lithography techniques. The metal was deposited by evaporators used only for nonmagnetic metals through an e-beam defined mask. For the fabrication of the wire metal sources of different purities 99.999% (5N) and 99.9999% (6N) have been used. Pierre *et al.* conducted MRmeasurements and found that all Cu samples and Ag samples made by lower purity sources showed a saturation of τ_{ϕ} below $\simeq 400$ mK while purer Ag and all (lower and higher purity) Au samples showed the expected 1D Nyquist temperature dependence down to 40 mK.

Ca	Cu	Mg	Mn	Si	Fe
1 ppm	1 ppm	2 ppm	2 ppm	1 ppm	2 ppm

Table 6.5: Trace elements in our 5N (99.999 %) Al electron beam evaporation source in parts per million (ppm).

The only possible source of magnetic impurities in our samples could stem from the Al electron beam evaporation process during contact metallisation. E-beam evaporation is generally considered the cleanest form of evaporation as the evaporation takes place from the middle the melted aluminium inside the crucible. As the crucible is water cooled, the Al in contact with the crucible walls should be much cooler than that in the centre which is evaporate. Therefore contamination from the (copper) crucible walls should not occur. Table 6.5 summarises the results of a trace element analysis performed on our 5N i.e. 99.999 % purity level Al source. It shows that the material is very pure containing only minute magnetic impurities of 2 parts per million in the form of manganese and iron atoms. It is important to note that the device area has previously been encapsulated with epitaxial silicon under ultra-high vacuum conditions. In addition, the Al contacts are only in contact with the P-doped contacts separating the actual wire from the Al contacts by about $\sim 2 \mu m$. As such it is unlikely, that magnetic impurities are present in the vicinity of the P-doped wire. Therefore, we conclude that the presence of magnetic impurities is not a likely problem in our samples.

Having ruled out the *extrinsic* dephasing mechanism due to Joule heating, electromagnetic noise and magnetic impurities, we now consider an *intrinsic* cause for the observed saturation of l_{φ} , namely a crossover form weak to strong localisation.

Crossover from weak to strong localisation:

In 1958, Anderson [91] put forward the ingenious thought, that a quantum particle may become localised by a random potential. According to scaling theory, the dramatic consequence, even for non-interacting 1D or 2D systems, is that the smallest amount of disorder will result in a complete localisation of all states [92]. The ramification of this theory holds a vanishing conductivity $\sigma(T)$ at finite temperatures in both 1D and 2D. Non-zero conductivity can still be observed above the transition to strong localisation due to the presence of inelastic processes such as electron-phonon interaction or electron-electron interaction. At sufficiently high temperatures, inelastic dephasing processes continuously drive a strongly localised system into the wellknown weak localisation regime. This opens up the possibility of a crossover from weak localisation to strong localisation in our samples at low temperatures.

Mott [95] provided an analytical expression for the intermediate conduction regime, where particles are not completely localised but tunnel from one localised state to another instead. This transport mechanism is known as variable range hopping (VRH).

$$\sigma_{VRH} = \sigma_0 \cdot e^{-\left(\frac{I_0}{T}\right)^{\mu}} \tag{6.25}$$

or

$$R_{VRH} = R_0 \cdot e^{(\frac{10}{T})^{\mu}} \tag{6.26}$$

with $\mu = \frac{1}{1+d}$ where d is the system dimensionality. T_0 reflects the strong localisation crossover temperature and R_0 is related to σ_0 , the classical Drude value. Initially this formula was derived to explain the intermediate conduction regime due to electronphonon scattering. Later on the model was also applied to inelastic processes involving electron-electron interaction [212]. Even until today, the range of systems and dephasing mechanisms which can be described by Mott's formula is still under investigation [213]. Fowler *et al.* [97] used Mott's formula to describe conduction in a silicon MOSFETs. By varying the channel width via the use of gate, they observed a crossover from 2D to 1D VRH by continuously reducing the channel width.

Thouless [82] and coworkers followed on from Anderson's work on localisation and started to formulate a scaling description of the localisation problem. The emerging scaling theory was soon combined with perturbation theory in the seminal work of Abrahams , Anderson, Licciardello and Ramakrishnan [92] during their time at Bell labs. Thouless [82] proposed that a wire can be considered as a series of smaller subsystems of wires of length ξ if electrons are sufficiently localised. Conduction between the different subsystems is a thermally activated process. It is this Arrhenius type of thermally activated transport that is captured in the VRH model.

The crossover from strong to weak localisation occurs when the localisation length, ξ , becomes comparable to the electron phase coherence length l_{φ} , i.e. $\xi \sim l_{\varphi}$. The localisation length ξ is traditionally defined as the envelope of the electron wavefunction in real space:

$$|\Psi(\overrightarrow{r})| \propto e^{\frac{\overrightarrow{r}-\overrightarrow{r_0}}{\xi}}$$
(6.27)

where $\Psi(\vec{r})$ is the electron wavefunction. A convenient expression [214], [215] to

estimate the length of a subsystem wire is related to ξ as

$$\xi = \frac{h}{2e^2} \cdot \frac{L}{R_0} \tag{6.28}$$

where $\frac{h}{e^2}$ is known as the resistance quantum also known as the von-Klitzing constant $R_k = \frac{h}{c^2} = 25.8 \text{ k}\Omega$, L is the wire length and R_0 is again obtained from the highest available temperature at T = 65 K. For the 27 nm wide wire with L = 320 nm and R_0 = 39 k Ω , we obtain a localisation length of $\xi \approx 100$ nm. The value of l_{φ} at lower temperature is of order 50 nm (see Table 6.4) which is only half the value of ξ . However Khavin *et al.* [196] pointed out that the relation $\xi \sim l_{\varphi}$ leading to a transition from weak to strong localisation has merely order of magnitude character and found a crossover from weak to strong localisation in Si δ -doped GaAs wires already for l_{φ} 2 – 3 times smaller than ξ . As such, it is feasible to assume that the 27 nm wire approaches the strongly localised regime at temperatures of T \sim 300 mK and below. Gershenson *et al.* [196], [214] have shown that in their Si δ -doped GaAs wires, the electron phase coherence length extracted from weak localisation theory follows 1D Nyquist behaviour until it saturates at a temperature of ~ 1 K. It is shown that the saturation of l_{φ} coincides with a crossover from weak to strong localisation. We have tested this hypothesis of a potential crossover to strong localisation by fitting our data to VRH models of different dimensionality given by Eq. 6.26. The green curve in Fig. 6.19 shows the results for a generic VRH-type equation R_{VRH} (d = 0), the correct VRH equation R_{2D} for two dimensions with $\mu = \frac{1}{3}$ (blue curve) and the respective equation for 1D, R_{1D} , with $\mu = \frac{1}{2}$ (red curve). The R_{1D} fit (red curve) represents the measured resistance very well over the entire temperature range - much better than the other two models. The fitted value of $R_0 = 43 \text{ k}\Omega$ corresponds nicely to the measured high temperature value of $R_0 = 39 \text{ k}\Omega$. The transition temperature from weak localisation to strong localisation of T_0 = 312 mK is very close to the last measurement point of T = 300 mK, where we observe an electron phase coherence value below the predicted Nyquist behaviour. It should be noted that both other fits seem inconsistent either due to a high R_0 value (R_{VRH}) or a high T_0 (R_{2D}) . However to completely confirm a crossover to strong localisation, a wider temperature range below 300 mK is needed. Alternatively narrower wires with a higher resistance R_0 leading to lower localisation length ξ are suitable for an investigation into strong localisation. We will present the I-V characteristics of one such wire with a width of 8 nm in Section 6.5.

In the previous section, we have seen that the conductance correction in the tem-



Figure 6.19: Strong localisation crossover at low temperatures. $R_{27}(T)$ is well fitted to the 1D variable range hopping (VRH) model R_{1D} , whereas the general type VRH model R_{VRH} and the 2D VRH model R_{2D} produce inconsistent fit results. The extracted value of $T_0 = 312$ mK indicates that the lower electron phase coherence observed at T = 300 mK stems from a beginning crossover from weak to strong localisation.

perature range from 450 mK to 4 K is well described by 1D weak localisation and electron-electron interaction. The results shown in Fig. 6.19 suggest a crossover from weak to strong localisation at T < 300 mK. We note that for the same data set, the observed resistance from 200 mK to 2 K is also well described by a 1D VRH fitting model. The fact that the same data fits both a combination of 1D weak localisation and 1D electron-electron interaction, as well as a strong localisation model should not be surprising since the transition to strong localisation is not sharp. Only at temperatures between 200 mK and 450 mK, the data is better described by the VRH model. Moreover the fitted transition temperature of $T_0 = 312$ mK suggests that the 27 nm wire enters the strong localisation regime for the lowest accessible measurement temperatures. This is a feasible explanation as to why the electron phase coherence length at T = 300 mK lies below the expected values as seen in the studies of Gershenson *et al.* [196], [214].



Figure 6.20: STM lithography for wires with widths approaching the atomic scale: (a) 8 nm×57 nm and (b) 3.5 nm×50 nm. Imaging conditions: $V \sim -2 V$, $I \sim 0.2 nA$.

6.5 Outlook: towards atomic-scale wires

In the following section, the most recent results on the fabrication of sub 10 nm wires is reported. The aim of this ongoing study is to determine what mechanisms ultimately limit the conduction of dopant silicon wires at the atomic level. Fig. 6.20 shows two lithographic patterns of sub 10 nm wires using STM lithography. The first wire pattern [Fig. 6.20 (a)] is an 8 nm wide wire bridging a 57 nm wide gap formed by two source-drain leads of 45 nm in width. The two 45 nm wide source-drain leads are connected to 3 μ m×3 μ m large lithographic side patches which serve as contact areas for the four Al contacts subsequently fabricated in the optical lithography process aligned to previously fabricated registration markers. An initial electrical characterisation of this wire is presented in the following section.

In addition, we have optimised the STM patterning to allow for an improved device geometry. Fig. 6.20 (b) shows an STM image representing the improved design for connecting narrow wire widths. Since the resistance significantly increases with narrower wires, we have decreased the wire length from \sim 300 nm for the wires discussed previously to \sim 50 nm for sub 10 nm wires. This reduction in length was chosen to obtain wire resistances which are still suitable for measurements at low temperatures. The idea behind the triangular contact design is to rule out potential conduction not arising through the narrow wire itself but through tunnelling through the P-doped



Figure 6.21: I-V characteristics of the 8 nm \times 57 nm wire. The device exhibits a four terminal resistance of R_{4T} = 241 k Ω , a two terminal resistance of R_{2T} = 294 k Ω and a resistivity of $20 \cdot 10^{-6} \Omega$ cm.

leads⁴ for lead separations ~50 nm. Indeed, we will show in Chapter 7 that clearly non-ohmic behaviour is observed for triangular source-drain contacts separated by ~50 nm. Fig. 6.20 (b) depicts a 3.5 nm wide wire perfectly aligned to the Si dimer rows on a single terrace, which we believe will allow the measurement of optimal conduction properties unhindered by the conduction path crossing dimer rows or silicon terraces. However the measurement of such devices and the influence of wire direction on the Si(100) surface and terrace structure on the electrical properties is beyond the scope of this thesis. Therefore we only present preliminary electrical results from the 8 nm wide wire in the following section.

6.5.1 I-V characteristics of an 8 nm wide Si:P wire

The I-V characteristics of the 8 nm \times 57 nm wire pattern shown in Fig. 6.20 (a) at 4 K were determined using a Keithley 2410 DC voltage source unit. The voltage is slowly varied up to ± 2 mV in steps of 10 μ V. The resulting I-V traces exhibit perfectly ohmic behaviour showing that the wire is indeed conducting without the presence of small tunnelling gaps along the wire. Fig. 6.21 shows the four terminal and the two terminal

⁴The device shown in Fig. 6.20 (a) has a side patch separation of 300 nm sufficient to exclude significant influence on the measured conduction properties.

I-V traces. From the slope of the respective I-V curve, we can extract the four terminal and the two terminal resistance respectively. The four terminal resistance turns out to be $R_{4T} = 241 \text{ k}\Omega$, whereas R_{2T} equates to 294 k Ω . Subtracting R_{4T} from R_{2T} we obtain a contact resistance of $R_C = 53 \text{ k}\Omega$.

Assuming a layer thickness of 0.6 nm determined from STM studies by L. Oberbeck [181], we obtain a resistivity of $20 \cdot 10^{-6} \Omega$ cm which is one order of magnitude higher than those obtained for the 27 nm, 50 nm and 90 nm wires presented in Table 6.1. A potential challenge for measuring this device at low temperatures is to ensure that sample heating is not affecting the resistance. For the 27 nm wire, we use currents of ~200 pA to exclude sample heating. For this 8 nm wide wire, we would have to apply a current of 60 pA to obtain the same current density.

It is interesting to note, that for a 1D wire, the electron phase coherence is expected to decrease with decreasing wire width as:

$$l_{\varphi} \propto \left(\frac{w}{T}\right)^{\frac{1}{3}} \tag{6.29}$$

According to Eq. 6.29, the electron phase coherence length for the 8 nm wide wire would be \sim 16 nm at 4 K. Therefore this wire is expected to be clearly in the 1D weak localisation regime at T = 4 K. With this wire, it might also be possible to better access the crossover region to strong localisation at low temperature, where it is anticipated that strong localisation limits conduction at the atomic level. Future magnetoconductance measurements in a dilution refrigerator will provide new insights into the 1D conduction properties of these narrow wires.

6.6 Chapter summary

This chapter presented:

- A summary of key properties of P-doped Si nanowires fabricated by different methods
- An STM study of the structural integrity of wires during the fabrication process developed in this thesis
- A detailed, temperature-dependent magnetotransport characterisation of a 27 nm wide Si:P nanowire to determine the main scattering mechanisms affecting conduction

• An outlook of the most recent sub 10 nm wide Si:P wires

We compared key properties like electron mobility, electron phase coherence length, size and resistivity of P-doped Si nanowires fabricated by different methods such as EBL and etching, template growth, catalytic growth and STM-patterning. We found that whereas resistivity values are quoted from room temperature down to liquid helium temperatures, highly P-doped, planar STM-patterned nanowires [29], [31], measured at 4 K and below, currently exhibit the lowest resistivities compared to nanowires fabricated with other techniques. The low resistivity makes STM-patterned nanowires.

We went on to investigate the structural integrity of nanowires for widths ranging from 50 nm down to 7 nm during the STM-based fabrication process developed in this thesis. We found that wires of 27 nm in width still appear intact after device encapsulation using CITS, whereas for wires of 7 nm it becomes increasingly difficult to distinguish the electrical signal from the buried dopants from the topographic signal due to insufficient contrast from our CITS measurement. Further experiments are aimed at a more detailed investigation of the resolution limits of the CITS technique.

Particular focus was given to an in-depth analysis of a 27 nm wide wire over a large temperature range from 200 mK to 65 K. Above 65 K, the silicon substrate becomes conducting (needed for STM imaging at room temperature). Three different temperature regimes were identified to explain the conductance behaviour of the wire. From 4 K to 65 K, electron-phonon dephasing was found to be the dominant 2D dephasing mechanism dictating the conductance behaviour at higher temperatures. Below 4 K, the wire enters the 1D magnetotransport regime, where electron dephasing was found to be well described by both inelastic scattering processes with small energy transfer known as Nyquist dephasing and electron-electron collision with large energy transfer. Whilst the limited temperature range makes it very difficult to discern the two dephasing mechanisms, it was found that the dephasing mechanism due to electron scattering with larger energy transfers describes the data better in the temperature range between 450 mK and 1.5 K, whereas Nyquist dephasing describes the temperature dependence better between 1.5 K and 4 K. Subsequently, the total conduction correction measured in this wire could be well described by a conductance correction due to both, 1D weak localisation and 1D electron-electron interaction effects. At temperatures below 450 mK, the extracted phase coherence length was observed to saturate. We have identified that a crossover from weak to strong localisation is likely to be responsible for the apparent saturation of l_{φ} . We showed that the conductance of the wire between 200 mK and 2 K is also well described by a 1D VRH model which predicts a crossover temperature to strong localisation at ~300 mK. It is interesting to note that the conductance behaviour between 2 K and 450 mK is well described by both, a combination of weak localisation and electron-electron interaction but also by a VRH model describing the crossover to strong localisation. This finding suggests that both descriptions can describe the conductance behaviour regime in our wire, which is expected due to the fact that the high density of P dopants in the plane means, we are in an intermediate conduction regime between weak and strong localisation.

We concluded this chapter by discussing the I-V behaviour of the smallest conducting wire which we fabricated to date. This wire with a width of 8 nm obeys ohmic I-V behaviour with a four terminal resistance of 241 k Ω . Future experiments are planned to explore the transition to strong localisation in this wire which is expected to be more pronounced due to its higher resistivity.

An interesting pathway for future research is studying the dependence of the electrical properties on the wire orientation with respect to the Si dimer row direction as well as its dependence on the P doping level away from saturation dosing (with a carrier density of $1.8 \cdot 10^{14}$ cm⁻²). The variation of the doping density towards the metal-insulator transition (MIT), corresponding to densities of 10^{11} cm⁻² – 10^{12} cm⁻², will probe the conduction limit as a function of dopant density. In this context, the implementation of a reliable gating strategy will be of importance. Potential realisations of such a gate could be a silicon-on-insulator (SOI) blanket wafer with a degenerately doped backgate or a local side or top gate defined by electron beam lithography. Another relevant area for the future use of gating techniques is presented in the next chapter, where the formation and electrical characterisation of planar, STM-patterned Si:P tunnel junctions will be discussed.

Chapter 7

Electrical characterisation of STM-patterned tunnel junctions

The previous chapters was devoted to the characterisation of ultra-dense P-doped nanowires. Using STM lithography and the self-terminating assembly properties of PH₃, we were able to produce highly doped wires exhibiting carrier densities of up to $1.7 \cdot 10^{14}$ cm⁻² which corresponds to P-P nearest neighbour distances of ~1 nm. We now investigate how to form insulating regions between highly doped source-drain leads. The Bohr radius gives a measure of the lateral extension of the electron wavefunction and is given by:

$$a_B = \frac{4\pi\epsilon_s \hbar^2}{m^* e^2} \approx 3nm \tag{7.1}$$

for $m^*=0.19 \cdot m_0$ along the Si(100) axis. As a consequence it should be possible to construct lateral tunnel junctions or nanogaps with a gap size of order several Bohr radii which corresponds to a tunnelling gap of ~10 nm. The height of the tunnelling barrier is determined by the dimensions of the gap, the presence of doped regions nearby, the doping density of the source-drain leads and substrate background doping in the Si barrier. The realisation of buried, planar source-drain leads allows us to investigate the electrical properties of the substrate itself at low temperatures, since the tunnelling barrier is formed by the gap geometry and the potential landscape in the gap given by the substrate.

A variety of techniques [216], [217], [218], [219] to fabricate very small planar nanogaps have been demonstrated. They typically consist of a pair of metal leads on a insulating layer such as SiO_2 or Al_2O_3 [219] on top of a Si wafer. As an example, Liu *et al.* were able to fabricate sub-10 nm gaps between Ti/Au source-drain leads on a SiO_2 substrate using electron beam lithography with an optimised e-beam dose and a careful lift-off technique. Single Co nanoparticles were then deposited in the

nanogaps to measure their I-V characteristics. Au nanogaps [217] of ~1 nm size were fabricated using EBL in combination with electrochemical etching in a KAuCN₂ bath. The gaps were then coated with organic molecules such as oligo(cyclohexylidene)disulfides and the I-V curves were compared before and after. The gap resistance was observed to drop from a very high resistance (not stated) to 1 M Ω . It is worth noting that whilst the I-V characteristics for nanogaps covered by the molecules was very stable, the stability of the bare nanogap deteriorated over the course of ~1 h in ambient conditions. A third method was reported by Morpurgo *et al.* [219]. Here Ti/Au metal contacts were prepared with a spacing of order 100 nm on a Al₂O₃ substrate using EBL. Electrodeposition of Au from an electrolyte solution was then used to close the gap while the gap resistance was monitored. Whilst granular electrodes with separation down to ~1 nm could be fabricated, the shape around the metal contact edges was random and therefore difficult to reproduce.

Tunnel junctions may also be realised using ion implantation techniques [220] that allow the implantation of single phosphorus ions in silicon through pre-patterned apertures. However, with lateral and longitudinal straggles of 8 nm and 11 nm respectively, these devices are neither atomically precise nor planar. A careful characterisation of STM-patterned, planar, P-doped nanogaps is an important step to enable the subsequent, reliable electrical characterisation of transport properties of STMpatterned Si:P dot devices. Such devices are interesting for the observation of single electron charging effects leading to Coulomb blockade [221], [222] and resonant tunnelling behaviour [223], [224]. The precise alignment of a dot region between sourcedrain leads in the same lithography step is important since this ability will become useful for alignment issues associated for the realisation of other atomic-scale devices in silicon, such as a solid state quantum computer proposed by Kane [33]. In Kane's concept, the nuclear spin of individual P dopants embedded into a silicon matrix have to be addressed and manipulated separately to act as qubits. A key component of this proposal is the ability to measure single charge transfer between two single P dopants in the Si crystal. Metallic dots between source-drain leads or SETs are regarded as the most sensitive electrometers, able to sense a fraction of the electron charge. As a consequence, SETs are an essential tool towards the measurement of single electron charge movement between P dopants [225] embedded in the silicon crystal.

In this chapter, we demonstrate the fabrication of tunnel junctions using STM lithography with gap sizes of \sim 17 nm and \sim 48 nm respectively. We performed a

detailed investigation of the 48 nm tunnel junction including its robustness to thermal cycling and a reproducibility study of the I-V characteristics. The junction is patterned by the STM onto a $5 \cdot 10^{14} - 10^{15}$ cm⁻³ P-doped substrate; and the sample packaged using conducting epoxy onto Au-coated chip carrier. We investigate the influence of the metal plane of the chip package ~300 μ m away from the tunnel junction. We found that applying voltages between +5 V and -9 V to the gate has little effect on the conductance of the tunnelling gap. Higher voltages lead to electron impact ionisation causing avalanche breakdown of the substrate [226]. We did find however that the conductance of the junction could be altered using bias cooling, i.e. where the substrate is cooled with a fixed bias, which demonstrates that significant gating action would be expected if the backgate distance could be reduced to ~1 μ m or less.

Illumination of the tunnelling gap with a light emitting diode (LED) of wavelength $\lambda \sim 650$ nm (which emits photon energies between the indirect and direct band gap of silicon) was found to increase tunnelling conductance due to electron-hole pair generation. Finally, we present preliminary data suggesting that single charging events significantly alter the potential landscape around the tunnelling barrier which high-lights the potential use of STM-patterned tunnelling junctions as local charge sensors. Further measurements reveal that tunnelling gaps can be maintained down to a gap size down of ~17 nm — the narrowest junction we fabricated to date.

7.1 Tunnel junction with 48 nm gap

7.1.1 STM fabrication and device dimensions

The fabrication steps and the exact device dimensions shown in Fig. 7.1 are briefly summarised below. Starting out with a P-doped $(1 - 10 \ \Omega \text{cm}, 5 \cdot 10^{14} - 10^{15} \text{cm}^{-3})$, hydrogen terminated Si(100):H surface, the UHV SEM is used to centre the STM tip in the device region between the prefabricated registration makers. STM lithography for this device is performed in three steps. Initially, two triangular patterns with 48 nm separation are written into the hydrogen resist in an STM scan frame of $500 \times 500 \ \text{nm}^2$ using an STM voltage of 7 V and a current of 3 nA. Fig. 7.1 describes the overall geometry of the tunnel junction – an STM image of the central region being shown in Fig. 7.1 (c). Subsequently, a 680 nm sized square is connected to each triangular pattern as shown in Fig. 7.1 (b), simply by scanning over the entire scan frame of $680 \times 680 \ \text{nm}^2$. A 3.5 μ m sized contact patch is then connected onto each of the desorbed squares in

7.1. Tunnel junction with 48 nm gap



Figure 7.1: Four terminal tunnel junction device. (a) A schematic of the device (not to scale) with exact dimensions, showing the three patterned regions, triangles with a 270 nm wide base, 300×680 nm² rectangles and 3.5 μ m wide contact pads. (b) STM image of the device and small side contact patches. Note that the large (3.5 μ m) contact patches are not shown. (c) STM image of the 48 nm tunnelling gap showing dimer row resolution. Imaging conditions: V~ -2.2 V, I ~ 0.2 nA.

the same fashion as sketched in Fig. 7.1 (a). A combination of triangular and mediumsized contact pads is chosen to maximise the distance between the large side patches thereby avoiding tunnelling between these regions whilst minimising electron diffraction effects caused by the device geometry. The entire STM lithography step for this particular device takes about 5 h. Subsequently, the lithographic area is exposed to PH₃ for 30 min at a chamber pressure of 1.1×10^{-9} mbar (Note: background chamber pressure is 2×10^{-10} mbar). Following P incorporation at 350 °C, the device is encapsulated with 25 nm of epitaxial silicon grown at a temperature of 250 °C using Si MBE by fellow PhD student, responsible for the MBE system, K. E. J. Goh. Standard optical lithography is then used to align four terminal Al contacts to the large (3.5μ m) P-doped contact patches. Then device is then packaged to a chip carrier and contact between the pins and the device and also the Au-coated backgate is made using gold ball bonding.

7.1.2 Electrical device characteristics

The electrical characterisation of this device was carried out at 4 K. Direct current (DC) I-V data is taken using a Keithley source measurement unit SMU 236. For the differential conductance/resistance measurements, standard lock-in techniques are used at a fixed lock-in frequency of 77 Hz and an excitation voltage of 50 μ V. Lock-in measurement techniques are advantageous due to higher sensitivity as compared to DC measurements which are prone to white noise.

Fig. 7.2 shows a typical conductance trace which is obtained by sweeping the DC component of the source-drain voltage from -4 mV to +4 mV while measuring the differential conductance $\left(\frac{dI}{dV}\right)$ at a fixed AC excitation voltage of 50 μ V. It is important to note, that the differential conductance of the device is free from jumps, random telegraph (RTS) signals or resonances such as resonant tunnelling [223], [224]. This shows that the substrate between the two P-doped leads provides a stable potential landscape with the absence of active charge traps and tunnelling resonances through P dopants which might indicate the presence of active P dopants or charge traps in the gap. The I-V characteristic as shown in Fig. 7.2 (red trace) is obtained by simply integrating the conductance data over the given voltage range, i.e.

$$I(V) = \int_{V_{min}}^{V_{max}} \frac{dI}{dV_{sd}} dV_{sd}$$
(7.2)

The device conductance increases with increasing source-drain bias as indicating by a



Figure 7.2: Four terminal differential conductance of a 48 nm wide STM-patterned tunnel junction (black) and integrated I-V curve (red) exhibiting non-ohmic behaviour.

monotonously raising I-V curve. The rise in tunnelling current is thereby mainly due to a higher particle energy at higher biases with respect to the tunnelling barrier. However, it is also possible that the tunnelling potential itself is influenced by application of a source-drain bias. This is due to two reasons. Firstly, the density of states (DOS) in semiconductors is energy dependent [34], [227] and the barrier is more transparent for higher particle energies due a lower barrier height. Secondly, the variation of the source-drain bias might result in self-gating [226] of the barrier thereby lowering the tunnel barrier with increasing bias. The resulting four terminal I-V curve is compared with a *two terminal* I-V trace obtained using the DC setup and shows good qualitative agreement as is evidenced in Fig. 7.3. This shows that contact resistances do not play a governing role in the device characteristics, which will be further discussed below. Closer inspection reveals that the integrated I-V curve is smoother than the differential conductance trace which is partially a result of the higher accuracy of the lock-in measurements in combination with the integration process and the limited sweep step size of 100 μ V of the SMU 236. Most importantly, the I-V curves show non-ohmic behaviour, the characteristic signature of quantum tunnelling, and demonstrates that tunnelling junctions can be formed using a low doped Si substrate at a temperature,

where substrate conduction is frozen out¹. We found that an unpatterned control device shows no current flow up until bias voltages above ± 2.5 V. Whereas we might expect such tunnelling behaviour for gaps between two P-doped region by several Bohr radii of order ~10 nm, a quantitative description of the tunnelling mechanism is not straight forward.

Powerful concepts such as Bardeen's 1D perturbative approximation have been used to describe the tunnelling current through vacuum between a metallic STM tip and a sample. However, such an approach is not applicable for our samples, since we do not tunnel though a vacuum barrier. Instead tunnelling occurs through low doped silicon that is no longer conducting at 4 K but which, from the doping density, contains about ~5 P dopants in the gap. Similarly, Fowler and Nordheim (see for example in [226]) described one dimensional tunnelling between metal-semiconductor junctions with a thin SiO₂ barrier approximated by a triangular tunnelling potential. The tunnelling properties between two highly-doped P-doped triangular leads through a lightly doped substrate requires us to self-consistently and iteratively solve both, Poisson's equation and the associated Schrödinger equation in three dimensions. Whilst recent simulations [228] were undertaken to solve such type of equations for two single P atoms embedded in silicon, where the corresponding single particle wavefunction are well understood, a similar calculation for highly doped, planar P-doped structures remains the subject of further research and is beyond the scope of this thesis.

The four terminal nature of our device allows us to exclude poor electrical contacts as the origin for the observed non-ohmic behaviour. We have measured the two terminal I-V characteristics of the P-doped contact regions connecting the tunnel junction on each side. Fig. 7.4 shows the I-V characteristics of the two P-doped contact regions for both, the 1-3 and 2-4 current direction. Linear I-V behaviour can clearly be seen in both cases which unequivocally confirms that the non-ohmic I-V behaviour originates from the STM-patterned tunnelling junction. The two terminal resistances are quite different for the P-doped regions, namely 40 k Ω for the left side (1-3 direction) and 4 k Ω for the right hand side (2-4 direction). Whilst the exact cause of this resistance difference is unknown, it is likely to be due to different overlap areas between the P-doped regions and the respective metal contacts resulting in different contact resistances. The influence of different contact resistances on the actual device characteristics is however nullified by the use of a four terminal measurement.

¹For our P-doped Si wafers with a resistivity of 1 – 10 Ω cm, the substrate stops conducting at ~65 K.

7.1. Tunnel junction with 48 nm gap



Figure 7.3: Comparison between four terminal (integrated $\frac{dI}{dV}$) conductance data (black curve, current: 1-2, voltage: 3-4) and two-terminal I-V data (red curve, 1-2 direction) obtained from DC measurements.



Figure 7.4: Two terminal DC characterisation of the P-doped contact patches. The conductance of the contact patches shows ohmic behaviour and is unaffected by both the application of backgate voltages in the range from -9 V to +5V and even after deliberately induced gate leakage. Note: the two terminal resistance of contacts 1-3 is 40 k Ω and 4 k Ω for contacts 2-4.



Figure 7.5: Reproducibility of electrical characteristics of 48 nm tunnelling junction. The I-V characteristics (integrated conductance traces) for 3 separate measurement cool downs are shown, indicating the level of stability towards thermal cycling.

We have also tested the stability of the I-V characteristics of the P-doped contact patches towards gating action using the conducting Au-coated bottom of the chip package as a backgate. As can be seen from Fig. 7.4, applying voltages in the range from +5 V to -9 V does not change the observed ohmic I-V behaviour of the P-doped side patches. Furthermore, it was found that even application of higher voltages of about +7 V, where electron impact ionisation from the backgate into the substrate causes charge motion due to significant gate leakage, has no influence on the I-V characteristics. Fig. 7.4 shows that the I-V characteristics of the side contacts are completely robust against the application of moderate backgate voltages and even gate-induced leakage currents through the substrate. This result will become important for the following sections, where gating of the tunnel junction will be discussed.

7.1.3 Electrical device reproducibility

It is well known that mesoscopic devices are sensitive towards thermal cycling, since the electrical characteristics may fluctuate due to small changes of the potential landscape at the atomic level. In the case of tunnel junctions formed by the silicon substrate, it is easy to understand that the number and charging states of dislocations,



Figure 7.6: Influence on leakage-induced charge injection on I-V characteristics. Two terminal DC I-V characteristics before (red trace) and after (black trace) forced gate leakage shows that charge injection significantly increases the measured tunnelling current.

traps, defects and dopants have a significant influence on the potential landscape and therefore device conductance. Cooling the device from room temperature to 4 K freezes the P dopants in the substrate in a random, stress-induced, non-equilibrium state. Slower cool-downs allow the substrate to relax towards equilibrium leading to more reproducible device characteristics. In Fig. 7.5, the integrated I-V curves of three different thermal cycles are shown. For each of these cycles, we cool down the sample to 4 K over a period of 2 h to allow the substrate relaxation towards equilibrium. From Fig. 7.5, we found that the reproducibility of the I-V characteristics of the device was found to be about 30%; measured at a source-drain bias of 4 mV.

7.1.4 Effect of external backgate on device conductance

Commonly, the conductance of a tunnel junction can be manipulated by means of a capacitively coupled gate. Generally, this implies either a back gate, side gate or a top gate. In this section, we explore the possibility of the most simple gating technique which uses the conducting bottom of the chip package as a backgate. At 4 K, the substrate carriers are frozen out and the conducting bottom of the chip carrier is used to act as a gate which is located 300 μ m away as given by the wafer thickness.

We find that we can apply a voltage range at 4 K for our back gate from -9 V to +5 V



Figure 7.7: Random telegraph signals (RTS) arising from substrate charging. Induced gate leakage evokes charge motion in the vicinity of the tunnelling gap. RTS' result due to charge motion in the gap highlighting how the tunnel junction may be used as a sensitive charge detector.

for our P-doped substrates (room temperature resistivities of $1 - 10 \Omega$ cm). In this voltage range, gate leakage currents are limited to <100 pA over the entire 1×1 cm² sized chip. Outside this voltage range, the substrate starts to break down due to electron impact ionisation which results in avalanche breakdown [226]. Consequently, charge injection into the substrate occurs which can be monitored using the gate leakage current. The substrate acts as a capacitor which exhibits a long charge relaxation time over several hours. This charge motion is sensed by the tunnel junction leading to a conductance increase. Fig. 7.6 shows the current increase in the tunnelling junction after deliberate charge injection. The current increase due to charge injection as shown in Fig. 7.6 (black curve) is not reproducible and depends on the specific conditions of the charge injection and avalanche breakdown paths. It is important to note that no change is observed in the P-doped contact region for the same backgate voltage as shown in Fig. 7.4. The increase in tunnelling current that occurs after leakage is caused by charge in the substrate lowering the potential barrier in the vicinity of the P-doped leads.

7.1. Tunnel junction with 48 nm gap

The influence of induced charge motion is further evidenced when considering the change in differential conductance with source-drain voltages as shown in Fig. 7.7. Here, we see the appearance of random telegraph signals (RTS) after induced substrate break down, which shows that charge movement takes place in the vicinity of the tunnelling junction, locally changing the potential landscape and resulting in sharp jumps in the differential conductance. The jumps in the differential conductance are most likely due to charging and discharging of a two-level system within the tunnelling gap. Similar behaviour has also been observed also reported to be observed in narrow silicon MOSFETs by Ishikuro *et al.* [229].

To test the effect of the backgate without going into the leakage regime, measurements were taken between ± 4 V. The change in differential conductance at a fixed DC source-drain bias of $V_{sd} = -1$ mV was measured as a function of the backgate voltage using an AC source-drain excitation voltage of 50 μ V at a lock-in frequency of 77 Hz. The backgate voltage is ramped from initially -4 V to -3 V using a ramp time of 30 min. Then, the differential conductance is measured as a function of time for 10 min to check if some leakage-induced charge relaxation takes place. Thereafter the backgate is swept by another 1 V followed by a 10 min time sweep up to a backgate of +4 V. By doing this, we can map out the conductance change of the tunnelling junction at a fixed source-drain bias of 1 mV in the backgate range from -4 V to 4 V.

Fig. 7.8 (a) shows the change in differential resistance for negative gate voltages (V_{bg}) between 0 V to -4 V. It can be seen that the differential resistance changes by about 60 % for V_{bg} between 0 V and -1 V. However, below -1 V, the differential resistance stays constant up to $V_{bg} = -4$ V. The upward and downward sweeps lie on top of each other. The absence of a hysteresis indicates negligible substrate charging due to gate leakage. A very similar effect is seen for the positive sweep direction in Fig. 7.8 (b) with the only difference being that the initial change in differential resistance between 0 V and +1 V is reduced to only ~20 %. At present, the initial increase around ± 1 V in the conductance is not understood. It is possible, that initial substrate charging effects take place which saturates around $V_{bg} \sim \pm 1$ V but further investigation is needed to explore the origin of the change in conductance around zero gate voltage. The most striking feature, however, is that above ± 1 V, the backgate no longer affects the device conductance. Above $V_{bg} = +3$ V, there is bump in the $\frac{dV}{dI}$, which could be due a higher likelihood of charging approaching the gate breakdown voltage of +5 V. The negligible effect of the backgate can also be extracted from the time sweeps in Fig. 7.8 (c,d).



Figure 7.8: Effect of the chip backgate onto the differential resistance $(\frac{dV}{dI})$. The carrier backgate V_{bg} in the range from (a) -4 V to (b) +4 V (located 300 μ m away from the device) initially increases the differential resistance in the range for $V_{bg} = \pm 1$ V but has little effect on the differential resistance outside this range. The differential resistance at fixed backgate voltages is shown as a function of time in (c) and (d) demonstrating that no substrate charging occurs.

The differential resistance is not changing above ± 1 V. Additionally, the differential resistance values at a fixed backgate voltage are very stable over the sweep time of 10 min showing no relaxation effects, therefore reinforcing our understanding that no gate-induced charge injection takes place and we have stable device characteristics.

In summary, the conducting bottom of the chip package, located 300 μ m away given by the sample thickness, does not provide gating action of the conducting layer or the tunnel junction. This is mainly due to the fact that avalanche break down of the substrate occurs above -9 V and 5 V respectively – i.e. before gating has a significant effect. The critical control parameter needed to be considered is not the backgate voltage range but the electric field, that is applied before substrate breakdown occurs. According to the simple plate capacitor equation, the electric field is given by

$$E = \frac{V_{bg}}{d} \tag{7.3}$$

where *d* is the device-gate distance. The resulting electric field for a backgate voltage of ~ 10 V and d = 300 μ m is E $\sim 30 \frac{kV}{m}$. From Eq. 7.3, we can see that the electric field scales with $\frac{1}{d}$ such that reducing the device-gate distance will not provide better gating action before avalanche breakdown. However, since avalanche breakdown is related to the substrate doping density, the use of lower doped substrates towards intrinsic silicon is a way to increase the critical electric field and represents a more promising pathway to observe gating action in our samples. Further studies are needed to determine what minimal substrate doping density is required to still be able to fabricate and image devices using STM.

7.1.5 Substrate bias cooling

Substrate bias cooling provides a proof-of-principle technique to investigate if significant gating action could be expected in the absence of substrate breakdown. The concept of bias cooling is simple. The underlying idea is to bias the substrate at room temperature and to maintain this applied potential during the device cool down to 4 K. As a result, the applied potential can be *frozen* into the substrate, thus the name *bias cooling*. The main advantage of this technique is to move the quasi Fermi level of the substrate with respect to the fixed Fermi level of the P-doped electrodes. Bias cooling has recently been applied to gated $GaAs/Al_xGa_{1-x}As$ [230] structures to reduce gate-induced noise performance by electrically saturating charge traps and impurities in the vicinity of the gate. More importantly, it has been used to change the



Figure 7.9: Bias cooling as a means of modulating device conductance. Summary of conductance data for different thermal cycles with the substrate frozen in with +2.5 V (green trace), 0 V (black trace) and -4 V (red trace) is shown. Positive substrate bias increases conductance whereas negative substrate bias decreases the device conductance well beyond thermal reproducibility indicating that proper gating action can be obtained using a gate in device proximity.

channel conductance in silicon inversion layers [231]. Applying a positive/negative bias effectively increases/depletes the carrier concentration in the silicon substrate region between the ultra-high P-doped contact regions. Due to the high doping level and Fermi level pinning by the source-drain metal leads, bias cooling affects the substrate potential much more than the P-doped STM-patterned nanostructure. Consequently, the barrier potential can be manipulated by application of different bias voltages. However changing the bias necessitates us to thermally cycle the device for each bias voltage, since the bias needs to be applied when the substrate is conducting at room temperature in order to locally change the Fermi level of the substrate between the tunnel junction. Therefore effects of bias cooling are intertwined with device reproducibility, since it is only possible to draw a significant conclusion on bias cooling if its effect exceeds the device fluctuations due to thermal cycling.

In Section 7.1.3, we determined that the device reproducibility towards thermal cycling is 30% indicating that the effect of bias cooling has to be well beyond this



Figure 7.10: Comparison between bias cooling and leakage current. Integrated I-V characteristics and backgate residual leakage current for three frozen substrate biases of +2.5 V (a), 0 V (b) and -4 V (c) showing no correlation between bias source leakage (red traces) and resulting tunnelling current. A summary of the different I-V traces is shown in (d).

value to be significant. Fig. 7.9 shows a summary of differential conductance traces for three different thermal cycles cooled with biases of -4 V, +2.5 V and 0 V respectively. First, let's consider the conductance trace cooled down with zero applied bias (black curve), which lies within the 30 % thermal reproducibility compared to Fig. 7.2. The trace taken using a substrate bias of -4 V (red curve) lies distinguishably below the 0 V trace. On the contrary, a significant conductance increase is seen for the measurements using a substrate bias of +2.5 V (green curve).

A clearer picture of the bias cooling effect is gained from Fig. 7.10 (a-c). In Fig. 7.10, the three I-V curves integrated from the differential conductance traces [from Fig. 7.9] are shown. The respective leakage current as measured from the back gate to the substrate using a voltage source (SMU236) is also shown (red traces). The residual leakage current is very different for different biases, it is important to note that

the absolute leakage current value is neither correlated to the current change in the device nor dependent on the source-drain voltage. A lower leakage current is observed for a bias of +2.5 V as opposed to the -4 V data but the resulting tunnelling current compares to be one order of magnitude higher providing further evidence that the change in the non-ohmic I-V curves is not drawn from potential leakage of the back gate. Encouraged by this result, we compare the integrated I-V curves in Fig. 7.10 (d). From this graph, we see that bias cooling to +2.5 V increases device conductance fourfold whereas a bias of -4 V decreases conductance threefold compared to an applied bias of 0 V. This behaviour is expected since applying a positive/negative bias effectively increases/depletes the carrier concentration in the silicon substrate region thereby lowering/increasing the tunnelling barrier. We conclude that bias cooling is a means of changing the conductance of a P-doped STM-patterned tunnelling junction. Furthermore, the effect of bias cooling shows promise that a back gate in combination with a significantly lower substrate doping or in combination with an embedded SiO₂ layer i.e. a silicon on insulator (SOI) substrate, where the critical electric field is much higher, provides the ability to observe gating action in STM-fabricated tunnel junctions.

7.1.6 Photon-assisted carrier generation

Another way of controlling the conductance through the tunnelling barrier is the use of photon-assisted carrier generation. It is well known that photons with an energy above the Si band gap can be used to create electron-hole pairs [226] thereby increasing the number of free charge carriers. To give an idea about the mechanism behind photon-assisted carrier generation, we will provide an quantitative example for Si after [232]. Assuming, that the rates $G_{n,p}$ for creation of electrons and holes is equal, the carrier generation due to photon-assisted carrier generation is expressed by:

$$G_n = G_p = \alpha \frac{P_{opt}}{E_{\vartheta}} \tag{7.4}$$

where α is the photon absorption coefficient, P_{opt} is the light intensity, E_{ϑ} the photon energy. Typical values for our experiment are $\alpha = 10^{-3} \text{ cm}^{-1}$, $P_{opt} = 1 - 10 \text{ mW/cm}^2$, $E_{\vartheta} \sim 1.8 - 2.0 \text{ eV}$. It is possible to estimate the increase in carrier density due to photon-assisted carrier generation, δn , using

$$\delta n = \tau \cdot G_n \tag{7.5}$$



Figure 7.11: Photosensitivity of the 48 nm tunnelling junction. The differential resistance is shown as a function of time for a fixed source-drain DC bias of 1 mV (a). Upon switch-on of the light emitting diode (LED), the differential resistance reduces significantly (b). Further increase of the photon intensity retains the same resistance baseline but also exhibits superimposed conductance peaks. Dotted lines in (b)-(d) may indicate different potential states of the junction due to photon-induced charging/ionization and decharging/deionization of nearby traps/donors.

using a minority carrier lifetime of $\tau = 10 \ \mu s$. As a consequence the number of generated carriers per cubic centimetre is of order $\delta n = 10^7 - 10^8 \ cm^{-3}$.

The generation of electron-hole pairs in the tunnel region is expected to have the highest effect on the substrate conductance due to the low doping compared to the highly P-doped leads. However charge carriers are also generated across the entire surface, such that a quantitative analysis of photon-assisted carrier generation on our tunnel junction is difficult to obtain. Therefore we restrict ourself only to a qualitative description of the effect of photons exposure on the differential resistance of the tunnel junction. Fig. 7.11 outlines the effect of photon adsorption in our sample at 4 K. A red LED is used which is capable of operating at 4 K emitting photons with an energy of \sim 1.9 eV corresponding to a wavelength of 650 nm. It is worth noting that whereas the indirect band gap of Si is 1.1 eV, the direct band gap is higher at 3.4 eV. This means that



Figure 7.12: Combined peak height distribution from Fig. 7.11. Red lines in Fig. 7.11 correspond to the three peak heights at 378 k Ω (line 1), 393 k Ω (line 2) and 405 k Ω (line 3) respectively.

for generated carriers to contribute to conduction, they must undergo a significant change in momentum involving the crystal lattice via electron-phonon interaction. This will become increasingly difficult for lower temperatures as the phonon density decreases.

Fig. 7.11 (a) shows the differential resistance $(\frac{dV}{dI})$ at a fixed DC source-drain bias of V_{sd} = -1 mV with an AC source-drain excitation voltage of 50 μV at a lock-in frequency of 77 Hz. At an LED voltage of 1.8 V shown in 7.11 (a) (below the turn-on voltage), the differential resistance across the device remains constant at 1710 kΩ within a time sweep of 10 min which can be regarded as the baseline of our measurement. Fig. 7.11 (b) shows $\frac{dV}{dI}$ after LED turn-on at a voltage of 2.2 V at a LED current of 0.4 mA. The differential resistance has dropped by a factor of five to a new baseline at 350 kΩ. This decrease in the differential resistance is expected due to the generation of photon-induced charge carriers. Fig. 7.11 (c,d) represent time sweeps of the differential resistance for higher LED power of 2.6 mW and 6.3 mW respectively. Comparing the behaviour of $\frac{dV}{dI}$ for a LED power of 2.6 mW with that of 0.4 mA, we immediately see that the baseline of 350 kΩ has not changing significantly. However, we do observe the presence of a series of sharp oscillatory spikes superimposed on the baseline. At photon energies of ~1.9 eV, the photon energy is only sufficient to generate carriers via the indirect Si band gap. It is likely, that these resistance spikes are due to changes in the potential landscape in the vicinity of the P-doped leads. The occurrence of resistance spikes increases with increasing photon intensity as seen by comparing Fig. 7.11 (c) and (d). A histogram showing the occurrence of resistance spikes as a function of the peak height is shown in Fig. 7.12. From the histogram (with a bin size of 4 k Ω), we can see that two peaks occur more than others – those at 378 k Ω and 393 k Ω . There is possibly a third peak occurring at 405 k Ω . The respective peak heights are indicated as red, dotted lines in Fig. 7.11 (b-d). Whilst the analysed number of peaks is not statistically significant enough to draw a solid conclusion, it appears that there may be three characteristic adsorption and charging events in the vicinity of the tunnel gap which are responsible for the occurrence of the resistance spikes in Fig. 7.11 (c,d).

Charging and discharging of charge traps or ionisation and deionisation of nearby P donors might be possible candidates for changes in the potential landscape in the vicinity of the gap. The formation of three distinct peak amplitudes as indicated by the red, dotted lines could indicate different charge systems (i.e. a charge trap or a P dopant) located at different distances or possibly even multiple charging events. It is clear that these observations are very speculative and that further research has to be undertaken to clarify our understanding. One such experiment may be to determine the response of the tunnelling characteristics not only for the photon density but also for the photon energy using a tunable laser. Another important experiment will be to measure the conductance of the gap as a function of temperature to determine the complex nature of charge transport.

7.2 Tunnel junction of 17 nm gap size

In this section, we present results from the smallest tunnelling junction fabricated to date. We will briefly discuss the fabrication process before presenting initial electrical characterisation measurements.

7.2.1 STM fabrication and device dimensions

Sample preparation and in-situ device preparation and processing is analogue to the 48 nm wide tunnelling junction as described in 7.1.1. Fig. 7.13 shows two STM images illustrating the main device features. The tunnelling junction consists of a \sim 77 nm wide wire with a gap of \sim 17 nm in size. Here, the parameters for STM lithography were chosen to be +6 V and 4 nA. The STM image shows the occurrence of an in-

7.2. Tunnel junction of 17 nm gap size



Figure 7.13: 17 nm gap four terminal tunnel junction. (a) Filled state STM image of a tunnelling junction consisting of a 400 nm long wire of 77 nm in width with a 17 nm gap. (b) a close-up STM image of the tunnelling gap is shown. Imaging conditions: -2 V, 0.18 nA.

creased dangling bond density around the edges of the lithographic pattern. These are due to incomplete hydrogen passivation and stray desorption during STM lithography. However, most of the desorption sites in the gap are single dangling bonds, where only one hydrogen atom has been removed. These are found unlikely to adsorb phosphine molecules at a dose of $1.1 \cdot 10^{-9}$ mbar for 15 min as found in a detailed study of PH₃ adsorption on a hydrogen terminated surface [66]. The lithography extends to about 200 nm on each side of the tunnelling gap, where it is met by a large lithographic contact patch of about $3.5 \times 3.5 \ \mu m^2$ in size. The lithographic pattern on the right side of the gap is not completely rectangular which is the result of piezo drift and a somewhat unreliable STM tip in that particular experiment.

The conditions for the (3.5 μ m) side patches were 7 V and 3 nA with 800×800 points at a scanning speed of 3000 nms⁻¹. The upper STM image in Fig. 7.13 shows that the lithography in the side contacts is incomplete since individual desorption lines can still be seen. This is caused partly from initial piezo creep and an insuffi-



Figure 7.14: Two terminal DC I-V characteristic of a 17 nm tunnel junction.

ciently small separation between lithographic scan lines of 4.5 nm at a relatively high speed of 3000 nms⁻¹. However the quality of the desorption is sufficient to contact the wire ends (with an overlap of 200 nm) and to incorporate enough P atoms for ohmic conduction in the side contact regions as shown in the following section.

After STM lithography, the device is exposed to a saturation dose of PH₃, followed by a 5 min anneal using the e-beam heater of the SEM-STM system to about 350 °C which incorporates the P atoms while the hydrogen resist is left intact. Device encapsulation of 25 nm of epitaxial Si using MBE at 250 °C, undertaken by PhD student K. E. J. Goh, finalises the UHV fabrication process. Standard ex-situ device contacting procedures were performed as described in 7.1.1.

7.2.2 Electrical characterisation

All electrical measurements are carried out at 4 K. DC I-V data is taken using a Keithley source measurement unit SMU 236. Standard lock-in techniques are used at a fixed lock-in frequency of 4 Hz and excitation voltages up to 200 μ V.

Initial device characterisation showed that the P-doped side patches were successfully contacted using the optical lithography process. The two terminal side contacts are found to be ohmic for AC excitation voltages up to 200 μ V with resistances of 67 k Ω and 38 k Ω respectively. The difference in these two terminal resistances is due to different overlap regions between the P-doped side patches and the Al contacts originating in different contact resistances. More importantly, the ohmic nature of conduction in the side contacts proves, that the buried P-doped device has been contacted properly i.e. the electrical characteristics across the tunnelling junction truly stems from conduction through the tunnelling gap. The two terminal resistance of the tunnelling junction is ~3 M Ω at 200 μ V for all contact combinations both across and diagonally across the device. For the 48 nm gap discussed previously we get a lower (four terminal) resistance of 820 k Ω at 200 μ V which is counterintuitive since we would expect a higher resistance for the larger gap size. However, this discrepancy is most likely due to the different geometric shape of the two tunnelling junctions and emphasises that a quantitative description of the tunnelling process is needed for future comparison of tunnel junctions embedded in the silicon crystal.

The following measurements to characterise the I-V characteristics of the tunnelling junction are performed using the Keithley DC voltage source. A typical trace taken for DC voltages in the range ± 50 mV is shown in Fig. 7.14. Clearly, non-ohmic diode-like behaviour is observed below voltages of ± 35 mV. Outside this region, the device approaches linear behaviour with two terminal resistances of 570 k Ω at 50 mV and 480 k Ω at -50 mV.

An accidental voltage spike of 200 mV destroyed the tunnelling gap so that further electrical characterisation of this device was made impossible. Two terminal resistances afterwards showed linear behaviour with values down to 300 Ω which is of the same order as the internal loom resistance of the electrical setup i.e. the tunnelling junction was shorted. On the positive side, the sensitivity of the device towards voltage spikes further proves, that initial device characterisation indeed was performed on the 17 nm tunnelling gap.

The four terminal characterisation is not expected to be very different from the two terminal since the contact resistances of this device are of order 50 k Ω , whereas the device resistance is found to vary from several hundred k Ω to a few M Ω . It is anticipated that such a narrow tunnel junction will show similar gating characteristics as previously seen for a 48 nm gap.

In summary, we showed that the P-doped side patches show low resistance ohmic behaviour whereas the I-V behaviour across the tunnelling junction is non-ohmic exhibiting high resistance values. Future research will be directed towards narrower gaps to investigate the minimal source-drain separation which still shows insulating behaviour at low source-drain bias.

7.3 Chapter summary and further work

The possibility of creating tunnel junctions using STM lithography and local P-doping by selective adsorption was investigated in this chapter. Two gap sizes of 48 nm and 17 nm were electrically characterised using DC voltage sources and standard AC lockin methods. For both gap sizes non-ohmic behaviour is found. These devices are the first of its kind to be demonstrated following the initial proposal by Tucker *et al.* to use P δ -doping in conjunction with STM lithography to realise planar single electron transistors (SETs) [163] in 2000.

Due to the use of a four terminal contact method, it has been possible to show that the non-ohmic behaviour observed is indeed caused by the tunnel junction formed using STM lithography. Gating using the conducting bottom of the chip package, located about 300 μ m away from the device region, has little effect on the conductance behaviour of the junction. However by applying the method of substrate bias cooling, the conductance can be varied by an order of magnitude. These results indicate that gates in close device proximity in conjunction with lower doped substrates and/or a SiO_2 barrier are likely to show controllable gating action. We also tried to modulate the conductance of the junction by photon-induced carrier generation emitted by a LED, which was found to increase the device conductance fivefold. The increasing occurrence of conductance spikes with increasing photon intensity might be related to charging/decharing events of traps and/or the presence of P dopants in the vicinity of the tunnel gap. Both, charge sensitivity and photosensitivity observed in STM-fabricated P-doped tunnel junctions will need to be investigated further. Future possible applications of buried P-doped tunnel junctions may therefore include their use as local charge sensing devices.

The complex shape of the tunnel barrier formed by the Si substrate does not lend itself easily to a functional, quantitative description. Theoretical efforts in collaboration with A/Prof. Lloyd Hollenberg at the University of Melbourne, Australia are under way to employ modelling of such devices but remains the subject of future research.

Further work also includes the measurement of the 48 nm gap conductance at fixed biases over a large temperature range i.e. from 1 K to 40 K using a variable temper-

ature insert in combination with a ³He/⁴He liquid helium dilution fridge. At higher temperatures, the tunnelling current is expected to increase due to thermally activated tunnelling. However, the tunnelling barrier height formed by the substrate is also temperature dependent. From the temperature-dependent I-V behaviour, the tunnelling gap can be extrapolated for a fixed source-drain biases, so that by successive repetition at various biases, the energy dependence of the tunnelling barrier could be mapped out. The experimental results could then be used to test the outcomes of the device modelling.

Since the tunnelling current also strongly depends on the device geometry, the current devices cannot be directly compared with each other. Further work includes the systematic measurement of various gap size with the same geometry down to the sub 10 nm regime. Another interesting pathway to pursue is the variation of the substrate doping density as well as the use of p-type substrates as opposed to n-type substrate used currently.

We have seen that the differential conductance of the 48 nm junction has a smooth functional form without a resonant or a noisy structure. Now that we have characterised highly P-doped source-drain leads, we can also create small P-doped cluster or islands in-between. The formation of such devices is the subject of the next chapter, which will allow the study of effects such as coulomb blockade and resonant tunnelling behaviour.

Chapter 8

Formation and electrical characterisation of STM-defined Si:P islands

This chapter presents results from the formation of nano-scale, highly doped Si:P islands aligned between two Si:P leads, following the results from tunnel junctions presented in the previous chapter. Initially, we present a detailed STM study of the fabrication process for a \sim 9 nm Si:P island showing all UHV device fabrication steps. In particular, we address the integrity of the island after hydrogen resist removal and try to determine how easy it is to align multiple structures in the same STM lithography step.

After this, we discuss the development of smaller registration markers, fabricated by electron beam lithography (EBL) to improve the alignment of electrical contacts to the buried device. Such markers are designed to improve alignment of the STMpatterned region to the registration markers which ultimately translates to better overall ex-situ contact alignment. In addition, the proximity of EBL-fabricated markers to the active device region opens up the possibility of Si terrace engineering in the device region. Finally, we apply a combination of optical and EBL markers to position a 90×70 nm² Si:P island with source-drain leads on a single, defect-free terrace. These large terraces are formed as a result of the pre-patterned EBL markers which cause stress-induced step-bunching on the surface. The electrical characteristics of the 90×70 nm² island device at 4 K are presented together with an interpretation of the nature of electron transport.
8.1 STM study on the formation of highly-doped Si:P islands

The aim of the following study is to determine how it is possible to measure/improve the alignment accuracy of lithographic structures patterned by STM and observe what happens to small nanostructures during the various UHV fabrication steps. These results provide vital information about some of the smallest structures that maintain their integrity during the UHV fabrication steps before device encapsulation. We also demonstrate that STM-induced local hydrogen resist removal is a viable alternative to thermal hydrogen resist removal for small devices since it completely avoids the issue of thermal processes which may lead to P diffusion.

The use of registration markers [31] in Chapter 4 was shown to be an elegant method of returning to the same area of the surface after each successive step of the device process thus allowing us to monitor the device structure as it is made. Fig. 8.1 represents a series of STM images during the fabrication of a $9 \times 9 \text{ nm}^2$ island patterned between source-drain leads after each successive process step. Starting out with a hydrogen-terminated Si(100):H surface, we use an STM voltage of +6 V and a tunnelling current of 3 nA to selectively desorb hydrogen [11] from the surface in order to form the lithographic dot pattern. As shown in Fig. 8.1 (a), the pattern consists of a $9 \times 9 \text{ nm}^2$ sized dot, centred with sub-nanometre precision between source and drain electrodes separated by 50 nm. To achieve this level of alignment, the STM lithography is performed in a single step write¹ within a scan frame of $500 \times 500 \text{ nm}^2$ at a writing speed of $50 \frac{nm}{s}$.

After saturation dosing for 20 min at a pressure of $1 \cdot 10^{-9}$ mbar (UHV base pressure $<5 \cdot 10^{-11}$ mbar) with PH₃ molecules [19], the dot size is reduced to about 8.5 nm as shown in Fig. 8.1 (b). This small reduction in size is due to some re-termination of the exposed Si surface with hydrogen arising from the dissociation process of PH₃ molecules to PH_x species. [151]. Fig. 8.1 (c) shows the incorporation of the P atoms from the PH₃ molecules into the top layer of the silicon crystal by annealing the sample to 350 °C [32]. At this temperature, the P atom from the adsorbed PH_x species incorporates into the silicon top layer [233], accompanied by further re-termination of neighbouring Si dimers with hydrogen atoms originating from the dissociation of the PH₃ species. A characteristic signature of P incorporation arises from the subsequent

¹Beforehand, STM piezo relaxation is achieved by continuously scanning over the same pattern area for a few scan frames.



Figure 8.1: STM study of a ~9 nm Si:P island with source-drain leads. (a) Filled state STM image of a Si(100):H surface after selective hydrogen removal to form source, drain and island pattern. (b) Same area after saturation dosing with PH₃. (c) After the P incorporation anneal to 370 °C, few dangling bonds are created in the hydrogen resist. (d) After STM-induced local removal of the hydrogen resist, the residual structures are incorporated P atoms and ejected Si chains. Imaging conditions: $V \sim -1.8 V$, $I \sim 0.15 nA$.



Figure 8.2: High resolution STM images of the ~9 nm Si:P island. Filled state STM images after (a) STM lithography, (b) saturation dosing with PH₃. (c) STM image after thermal P incorporation at ~370 °C (with double tip imaging artefact) and after (d) STM-induced hydrogen resist removal. Imaging conditions: V ~ -1.8 V, I ~ 0.15 nA.

ejection of Si atoms which form Si chains on the next silicon layer. These Si chains align perpendicular to the underlying Si dimers and have a characteristic height of 1.4 Å. The Si chains are generally much more visible than the incorporated P atoms, since they lie on the next terrace up and appear very bright in STM imaging. The presence of Si dimers and a few Si chains on the Si top layer can be seen from Fig. 8.1 (c) [and later on in more detail from Fig. 8.2 (c)] in both, the Si:P island and the Si:P source-drain leads respectively. We note that we also observe random hydrogen desorption events on the resist due to a slight overshoot in annealing temperature to ~370 °C. These random dangling bonds make it difficult to distinguish the incorporated P atoms in the doped region, since the geometric height for Si dimers is comparable to the electronic height of the dangling bonds. However, from Fig. 8.2 (c), we can see that the structural integrity of the dot is still maintained despite the temperature overshoot. An elegant way to facilitate the identification of the surface species is to locally remove the hydrogen resist using the same STM parameters as previously used for the creation of the lithographic pattern itself. Other hydrogen removal techniques discussed in the literature include optical stimulation [234], [235], removal using electron beam lithography [236] and thermal removal [67]. Provided that the STM tip is stable during the lithographic process, STM-assisted removal allows complete and contaminant-free removal of the hydrogen resist and comprises an interesting technique for careful, local resist removal. The effect of STM-assisted hydrogen removal using a bias of 6 V, a current of 3 nA and a scan speed of 100 $\frac{nm}{s}$ is shown in Fig. 8.1 (d). From this, we can readily see that the initial device integrity is maintained.

We now focus on the evolution of the island during the process using high resolution STM images shown in Fig. 8.2 (a-d). Comparing Fig. 8.2 (a) and (b), it is readily seen that PH₃ precisely adsorbs on the exposed Si area and not on the surface protected by the hydrogen resist. Fig. 8.2 (b) also shows local regions of $p(2 \times 2)$ ordering of PH₂ and $c(4 \times 4)$ ordering of PH. Fig. 8.2 (c,d) show the different appearance of the Si:P island before and after STM-stimulated hydrogen resist removal. Note that Fig. 8.2 (c) shows a slight double tip imaging artefact which makes the STM image somewhat blurry. However, we can see clear signs of silicon ejection as evidenced by 1D chains perpendicular to the underlying dimer rows. After STM-induced hydrogen removal, these Si chains become circular in nature [237]. The bright appearance of Si dimers makes it impossible to obtain a reliable estimate of the incorporated P atoms, since the STM resolution shown in Fig. 8.2 (d) is not high enough.

From Fig. 8.1 (d), it is not possible to clearly identify the individual P atoms themselves. However, the Si:P islands and the respective leads appear structurally equivalent which allows us to estimate² the number \aleph_{9nm} of P atoms forming the island:

$$\aleph_{9nm} = 8.5 \cdot 8.6 \ nm^2 \times 1.7 \cdot 10^{14} \ cm^{-2} \approx 120 \ P \ atoms \tag{8.1}$$

where \aleph_{9nm} is simply given by $1.7 \cdot 10^{14}$ cm⁻², the saturation P density, multiplied by the island size taken from Fig. 8.1 (d).

A summary of the apparent island dimensions³, its separation to the neighbouring leads and their respective width is given in Table 8.1. It is worth noting that the island dimensions are maintained through the entire fabrication process with an accuracy of <1 nm. For the right lead-island separation, there is one fluctuation between the

²Here we assume that the source and drain density corresponds to the P saturation density as confirmed from Hall measurements of an STM-fabricated Van-der-Pauw structure.

³Values are evaluated from Fig. 8.1 and Fig. 8.2

Structure	Lithography	PH ₃ dosed	P incorporation	H desorption
island	$9 \times 9 \text{ nm}^2$	$8.6 \times 8.6 \text{ nm}^2$	$8.4 imes 8.3~\mathrm{nm^2}$	$8.6 \times 8.5 \text{ nm}^2$
left junction	20.5 nm	20.4 nm	20.8 nm	21 nm
right junction	20.5 nm	17 nm	21.8 nm	21.5 nm
width left lead	34 nm	34 nm	34 nm	35 nm
width right lead	34 nm	30 nm	33 nm	34 nm

8.2. Combining registration markers created by optical and electron beam lithography

Table 8.1: Fluctuations in device dimensions after STM lithography, PH₃ dosing, P incorporation anneal at 370 °C and after STM-induced, local removal of the hydrogen resist.

lithographic step (20.5 nm gap) and after PH₃ dosing (17 nm gap). Comparison of the initial dimensions with that after P incorporation and STM-induced hydrogen removal reveal, that the initial width (20.5 nm) of the gap remains the same. A plausible explanation for this may be that PH_x initially adsorbs on some induced stray hydrogen desorption sites located between the source-drain leads. However, an insufficient number of dangling bond sites around the PH_x species causes the molecules to desorb during the annealing step rather than the P atom to incorporate. Whilst it is possible to image PH₃ fragments on H-terminated surfaces, it is not easy to obtain high resolution images, which is most likely due to PH_x adsorbates attaching/detaching to/from the STM tip while imaging.

These images demonstrate, that it is possible to align a sub 10 nm Si:P island next to source and drain leads with a high accuracy of \sim 1 nm in the same lithographic step. The following section is dedicated to improve the alignment of the STM-fabricated structure to registration markers by extending the existing registration marker process to incorporate electron beam lithography.

8.2 Combining registration markers created by optical and electron beam lithography

So far in this thesis, all devices have been fabricated on Si(100) samples with etched registration markers defined by optical lithography. The smallest etched features achieved using our in-house optical lithography process are of order $\sim 1 \mu m$. This $\sim 1 \mu m$ limit is set by the UV wavelength of 365 nm used for pattern exposure and the contact quality between sample and optical mask. To reduce the feature size below $\sim 1 \mu m$, we have developed a registration marker process which uses electron beam lithography (EBL) to define the markers. In these initial studies, we have combined

the use of smaller EBL-defined registration markers aligned to existing markers defined by optical lithography. Future devices are envisaged to be fabricated completely using only EBL for its increased alignment accuracy, smaller feature sizes and design flexibility.

The starting point is a sample that already contains etched registration markers defined by optical lithography before oxide layer removal [see also Fig. 4.2 (c)]. These existing markers are subsequently used for alignment of smaller markers created by EBL as shown in Fig. 8.3.

Below is a brief summary of the necessary developmental challenges overcome in collaboration with PhD student Mladen Mitic, who performed the EBL steps:

- Develop non-contaminating, metal free fabrication process using EBL
- Evaluate PMMA resist thickness and corresponding electron doses for reliable pattern writing
- Determine relation between oxide mask thickness and final, etched feature size
- Develop a suitable etch rate allowing few nanometre control of marker depth

A crucial stepping stone for the development of an EBL registration marker process is a UHV compatible fabrication procedure. Generally, electron beam lithography is used after sample growth where the required sample cleanliness is mainly determined by the need for high-resolution pattern writing. For STM devices fabricated in a UHV environment, device cleanliness at the atomic level is essential for devices so that no contamination of the UHV system occurs and that we can perform atomic resolution STM imaging on patterned samples. Therefore, great care was taken to avoid physical contact of the Si substrate with contaminating substances, such as traces of organic resist and residues of metal. Primarily to avoid metal contamination, typical steps like resist spin-on, sample transfers are performed using ultra-clean plastic tweezers. Additionally a cleaned 2" wafer piece is used as a spacer between sample and metal parts during all stages of resist spin on, resist bake and pattern writing.

Au clusters, normally deposited on samples to facilitate electron beam focussing before lithography, are placed on identical height, adjacent samples, so that beam optimisation is possible without sample contamination. Finally, wet-chemical cleaning steps are used to clean wafers such as SP and RCA-2 clean (for details see Chapter 4) 8.2. Combining registration markers created by optical and electron beam lithography



Figure 8.3: Aligning EBL-fabricated markers to optical registration. Series of SEM images showing (a) an array of 200 nm wide circles etched into SiO₂ layer and (b) a close-up of one of small registration marker forming the array. (c) SEM image of the combined optical and EBL marker set. The smaller squares on the inside corners of the optical markers are created during the EBL alignment procedure. SEM images of (d) central device area showing four EBL-fabricated apertures. Four EBL-fabricated apertures (e) before and (f) after TMAH etching.

aimed to eliminate traces of organic and metal residues before introduction into the UHV environment of the STM-SEM system.

To align EBL markers to the existing optical markers, the optical markers have to be clearly visible in the scanning electron microscope (SEM) underneath the PMMA resist used for electron beam lithography. Electron doses of $300 \frac{\mu C}{cm^2}$ were found to provide a sufficient dose for reproducible marker definition in the EBL resist. We found this was possible for resist thicknesses of <60 nm. Initially, we used a low PMMA resist thickness of 20 nm. However, we found that a thickness of 20 nm is not sufficient to reproducibly define markers during pattern transfer from the resist to the SiO₂ mask layer in a HF bath, since the robustness of the PMMA resist was affected by the etch. This leads to a variation of feature sizes due to an etch undercut attributed to a lack of adhesion and integrity of the PMMA as shown in the variation of the diameter of the individual dots in Fig. 8.3 (a,b). Using an increased PMMA thickness of 60 nm and thinning down the SiO₂ mask from initially ~100 nm to ~60 nm significantly improved pattern definition.

The four optically defined squares (30μ m in size) in Fig. 8.3 (c) were used to align four apertures of about ~200 nm in size in the central area between the smallest, optical registration markers shown in Fig. 8.3 (d,e). The smaller squares (15μ m in size) on the inside corners of the optical markers are created during the EBL alignment procedure. After the marker pattern is transferred to the SiO₂ mask, we use the same etch, TMAH, as for the initial Si etching of the optical markers. Better control over the final marker depth requires a slow etch rate. Reducing the temperature of the TMAH etch bath, from the standard 60 °C, used for the optical markers, to room temperature, the etch rate is reduced from ~150 $\frac{nm}{min}$ to ~8 $\frac{nm}{min}$ which represents a much more controllable etch rate for marker depths of order several tens of nanometres. It is important to note that the size and depth of the registration markers after the TMAH wet etch into Si is mainly determined by the etch time rather that the initial marker size. Once an aperture has been opened, it will seed the formation of an inverted pyramid-like etch pit (along the Si(111) axis) depicted in Fig. 8.3 (f).

We have tested two different EBL registration marker designs on the Si surface structure. Fig. 8.4 (a,c) are SEM images taken in the UHV STM -SEM system and (b,d) are the respective STM images after sample annealing to 1200 °C for 30 s. Fig. 8.4 (a,b) consist of a six squares structure of 500×500 nm² squares. The inner two registration markers close to the device centre were designed to facilitate alignment of smaller

8.2. Combining registration markers created by optical and electron beam lithography



Figure 8.4: SEM and STM images of optical- and EBL-fabricated markers. SEM images (a), (c) and corresponding STM images (b), (d) of two different sets of EBL markers. (e) 3D plot of four shallow EBL markers. STM images of (f) deep markers defined by optical lithography, (g) shallow markers created by EBL and (h) high resolution image of (g) demonstrating the surface quality.

STM-fabricated nanostructures. Fig. 8.4 (c,d) show the second structure, a four squares structure. Apparent marker depth from STM profiling after sample annealing to to 1200 °C is about 70 nm with an initial etch depth of 400 nm after TMAH etching. These two test structures revealed an important difference in their influence on the terrace structure of the resulting surface which seems to depend on both, the marker arrangement and their relative location. The four squares structure in Fig. 8.4 (d) exhibits more diffusion alongside the Si dimer row direction than perpendicular to the dimer rows due to a lower diffusion activation energy [134]. We also note that a large, circular terrace structure is formed in the central area and we will show in the following section how we can use Si terrace engineering to create devices on single, mono atomic terraces. The minimal etch depth for markers still visible in the SEM of the STM-SEM

Etch depth	marker depth after annealing	marker definition after annealing	
400 nm	70 nm	800 nm	
200 nm	8 nm	500 nm	
40 nm	4 nm	1000 nm	

 Table 8.2: Initial etch depth, etch depth after annealing to 1200 °C and marker extension on the Si surface after annealing for three different EBL marker depths.

system was found to be \sim 80 nm. Markers exhibiting depths significantly smaller can still be imaged using the STM. Fig. 8.4 (e) shows a 3D STM contour plot of a shallow four dot structure. The initial marker depth after TMAH etching was \sim 40 nm, which significantly reduced to \sim 4 nm after UHV sample annealing to 1200 °C for 30 s. Whereas the markers are invisible to the UHV SEM, they remain clearly visible using the STM. It is worth noting that their definition has been blurred out significantly to a size of $\sim 1 \,\mu$ m such that further size reduction is not likely to increase device alignment. Increasing the Si etch depth to 200 nm using the same pattern design results in a final depth of \sim 8 nm, making the markers more defined and confined to about 500 nm in diameter as shown in the 3 \times 3 μ m² sized STM image in Fig. 8.4 (g). Table 8.2 summarises the relationship between initial etch depth, marker depth after annealing to 1200 °C and marker extension on the Si surface after annealing for initial EBL marker depths of 400 nm, 200 nm and 40 nm respectively. From Table 8.2, we can see that a marker depth of 200 nm provides the best marker definition of \sim 500 nm after the surface preparation anneal to 1200 °C. The lower etch depth of 40 nm significantly washes out marker definition to \sim 1000 nm due to Si diffusion during the high temperature anneal, whereas a deeper etch depth of 400 nm increases the marker extension to ~800 nm due to the anisotropical etch behaviour of TMAH. For comparison of marker definition, we also show a $3 \times 1.5 \ \mu m^2$ large 3D contour plot of two of the smallest $1 \times 1 \ \mu m^2$ sized optical markers on the same chip, which are much more well defined due to their bigger size. Finally, we demonstrate that EBL patterning has not adversely affected the surface quality. Fig. 8.4 (h) shows a high resolution STM image. From this image, we can see that the surface exhibits an acceptable defect level of 5 % in this particular example.

We conclude, that it is possible to fabricate UHV compatible registration markers using EBL. Such markers facilitate device alignment since they can be positioned close to the device region allowing the placement of STM-patterned structures in the same scan frame as the markers themselves. Shape preservation and marker definition at the scale of typically several hundred nanometres is mainly governed by the marker size and less dependent on the marker etch depth. The reason for this is the strong size dependence of the marker depth due to silicon diffusion at high temperatures [135] which we saw for the optical markers in Chapter 4. We found that using a standard wet chemical etch (TMAH), we can define markers in the surface to a resolution of 500 nm with a depth of 8 nm after high temperature surface preparation in UHV. Future development should investigate markers etched using reactive ion etching (RIE), where the ability to etch isotropically may form deeper well-defined markers.

The absolute alignment accuracy between STM-patterned device and metal contacts that can be achieved with this registration technique is currently about ~ 100 nm. Further improvement of the alignment below 100 nm remains the subject of future work. One of the limiting factors for future alignment improvement is the ability to create highly defined, small markers due to inherent Si self-diffusion at high temperatures needed for atomically clean sample preparation.

A self-aligned STM process such as the one presented in Section 8.1 and in the following section where the essential device elements are all aligned in the same STM lithography step with \sim 1 nm precision provides the highest level of alignment.

8.3 90×70 nm² Si:P island between source-drain leads

Whilst several devices were made, in the following the formation and electrical characterisation for a 90×70 nm² Si:P island will be discussed. For this device, we changed the previously used 1 – 10 Ω cm, n-type Si(100) with a Si(100) silicon-on-insulator (SOI) substrate with the aim of trying to modulate the device conductance using a backgate. The SOI substrate consists of a degenerately As-doped handle wafer (back-side) of 500 μ m thickness with a resistivity of 0.001 – 0.004 Ω cm (doping density 2 – $5 \cdot 10^{-19}$ cm⁻³), such that wafer backside conduction does not freeze out at liquid helium temperatures for backgating purposes. A 500 nm thick buried oxide (BOX) separates the handle wafer from a P-doped Si(100) device layer with a thickness of 2 μ m and a room temperature resistivity >100 Ω cm (bulk doping density <4 \cdot 10¹³ cm⁻³). Such a doping level is used to enable room temperature conduction to facilitate STM lithography but provides an insulating substrate for measurements at low temperatures.

8.3.1 Device fabrication

Following the patterning of 150 nm deep registration markers created by UV optical lithography, electron beam lithography is used to define four apertures with a diameter of 200 nm aligned to the existing, optical markers. The four apertures are separated by $2.5 \times 2.5 \ \mu m^2$ to form a square within which the device is centred. After another TMAH etch, the previously etched, optical markers are now 450 nm deep whereas the EBL markers exhibit a thickness of 300 nm.

After initial outgassing at T \sim 400 °C in the UHV environment for several hours, the device sample is annealed to 1200 °C for 10 s, followed by hydrogen termination using a beam of atomic hydrogen. Fig. 8.5 (a) shows the hydrogen-terminated, device region including the four depressions arising from the four patterned EBL markers. After sample annealing the marker depth reduces from initially 300 nm to an average depth of 25 nm. In Chapter 4, we have seen that the optical markers leaves the terrace structure in the active device area unaffected, since the markers are located 5.5 μ m away from the active device region. However, the proximity of the EBL markers to both, themselves and the active device region in this sample allows us to influence the terrace structure in the device area. The result is best seen in Fig. 8.5 (b) which represents a high-pass filtered STM image to enhance edge contrast of a larger region of Fig. 8.5 (a). During the high temperature sample anneal, the silicon atoms are highly mobile causing them to diffuse in the direction of the topographic gradient given by the highly inhomogeneous surface profile due to the presence of the markers. Compensation diffusion will eventually fill the markers holes as is observed by the decrease in marker depth during the annealing step. This leads to the formation of a

saddle point protrusion in the central device area, the very centre of which consists of a monoatomic, circular terrace with a diameter of up to 1 μ m. Similar structures were reported by Blakely and coworkers [238], [239]. In their study, the formation of saddle points and circular bottom pits was found after annealing a 400 nm grating fabricated by electron beam lithography and reactive ion etching and substrate annealing to a temperature of 950 °C.

The topmost terrace, depicted in Fig. 8.5 (c), exhibits a clean, almost defect free terrace with a diameter of about 500 nm. From the STM images taken in this experiment, no dimer rows are seen on the topmost terrace. However, this might simply be due to a lack of STM resolution. This is the ideal surface structure for the fabrication of the active device region on a single terrace. Fig. 8.5 (d) shows the lithographic pattern of the 90×70 nm² island structure created by STM including triangular source and drain leads. The actual device dimensions are illustrated in Fig. 8.5 (e). The left island-lead separation is 50 nm, whereas the right one is slightly less with 48 nm. From the island dimensions, the estimated number of P atoms after P incorporation is given by:

$$\aleph_{90 \ nm \times 70 \ nm} = 90 \cdot 70 \ nm^2 \times 1.7 \cdot 10^{14} \ cm^{-2} \approx 11000 \ P \ atoms \tag{8.2}$$

The lithography conditions for the central device pattern are chosen to be 6 V and 3 nA slightly lower than the 4 nA used for most devices in this thesis to further minimise the formation of accidental dangling bonds in the gaps. To contact the device, 800×800 nm² side patches are added to the opposite ends of the triangular sourcedrain leads. These patches are themselves connected to 3 μ m wide and 2 μ m long squares which provide sufficient overlap to the four Al metal contacts created in the subsequent optical lithography alignment process. For both lithography steps, we use a higher STM voltage of +7.5 V to allow for a higher writing speed of 2000 $\frac{nm}{s}$. The entire device patterning process takes about 6 h, followed by PH₃ dosing, P incorporation and Si encapsulation using low temperature MBE at T = 250 °C. Note that the device encapsulation by Si MBE was performed by research fellow Dr. G. Scappucci. The results of the electrical characterisation of this device are presented in Section 8.4.

8.4 Electrical characterisation of a 90×70 nm² Si:P island

In the following, the electrical characteristics of the 90×70 nm² island device at T = 4 K will be discussed. Initially, the DC I-V behaviour of the large P-doped side patches is

8.4. Electrical characterisation of a $90 \times 70 \text{ nm}^2$ Si:P island



Figure 8.5: STM pattern alignment on a single terrace engineered using EBL-fabricated markers. (a) STM image of the central device between EBL markers of depth ~25 nm. (b) High-pass filtered STM image of the device region showing the central terrace. (c) Central terrace with a diameter of ~500 nm. (d) Same terrace after patterning of a 90×70 nm² dot including source-drain leads. (e) High resolution image of the dot region with dimensions. Imaging conditions: V ~ -2.2 V, I ~ 0.2 nA.

presented, followed by the different lead combinations across the device. Thereafter, the differential conductance $\left(\frac{dI}{dV}\right)$ across the island is determined and the effect of the backgate is shown. We will elaborate on the nature of transport of this device and conclude this chapter with an outlook of the future research direction of this project.

8.4.1 Two terminal DC I-V characteristics

After a careful cool-down of the device from room temperature to 4 K, using a liquid helium dip station, the DC I-V characteristics for all six combinations is measured using a Keithley 236 source measurement unit (SMU). This allows us to determine if the device has been contacted successfully during the optical lithography process, where four Al metal contacts are aligned to the two large P-doped side patches. Fig. 8.6 shows the I-V characteristics of the two respective P-doped side patches. We note that if the STM pattern alignment and the metal contact alignment worked well, we should get ohmic behaviour. The left contact patch shows a two terminal resistance of 1.5 $M\Omega$ originating from a large contact resistance. This is most likely due to insufficient overlap between the leads and the P-doped contact patch which causes a slight nonlinearity in the I-V curve around zero bias. The right side patch shows a linear I-V curve with a considerably lower resistance of $R_{2T} = 75 \text{ k}\Omega$. Generally the resistance of a P-doped patch is found to have a resistance of $1-2 \text{ k}\Omega$ determined from four terminal resistance measurements of a P-doped square. This means that most of the resistance of the P-doped contact patches is provided by the contact resistance of the device. Fig. 8.7 depicts the two terminal DC I-V behaviour along and across the 90×70 nm² Si:P island for different pin combinations. From this graph, two important conclusions can be drawn.

- The I-V curves are all identical and highly non-ohmic as expected for a device which has a tunnel junction. These results indicate that the I-V properties are dictated by the STM-patterned device structure rather any transport related to the side patches or the contact resistances.
- 2. There are two bumps, indicated by black arrows, which are not characteristic for pure, single tunnelling junction behaviour which we have previously seen from measurements of tunnelling junctions in this work. We conclude that the origin of these bumps is related to the presence of the 90×70 nm² Si:P island.

8.4. Electrical characterisation of a $90 \times 70 \text{ nm}^2$ Si:P island



Figure 8.6: Two-terminal DC I-V curve of the large P-doped side patches. Transport through the left side patch (1-2, black trace) shows slightly non-ohmic behaviour around zero bias with a high two terminal resistance of R_{2T} of $1.5 \text{ M}\Omega$. The right side patch (3,4 red trace) is perfectly ohmic with R_{2T} of 75 k Ω



Figure 8.7: Two-terminal DC I-V curve across the 90×70 nm² Si:P island. All four pin combinations across the island reveal identical I-V traces showing that device conductance is governed by the dot system.

The large tunnelling gap around zero bias is likely to stem from either, a Coulomb blockade type phenomenon or simply as a result of large tunnel barriers. In order to test these assumptions, we have performed differential conductance measurements using a more accurate measurement setup than the initial DC measurements with a step size of 4 mV presented here.

8.4.2 Differential conductance behaviour at 4 K

For the differential conductance measurements (dg = $\frac{dI}{dV}$), standard lock-in techniques are used at a constant lock-in frequency of 14 Hz by adding a fixed AC excitation voltage to a DC source-drain voltage. A differential conductance trace is obtained by sweeping the DC component of the source-drain voltage from -875 mV to +875 mV while measuring the differential current at a fixed AC excitation voltage of 480 μ V.

Fig. 8.8 shows the differential conductance behaviour of the $90 \times 70 \text{ nm}^2$ Si:P island with leads at T = 4 K. A large conductance gap manifests itself around zero-bias extending almost symmetrically around the origin from $+650 \pm 10 \text{ mV}$ to $-680 \pm 10 \text{ mV}$. Asymmetry around zero-bias is usually explained by the presence of parasitic background polarisation caused by random charges near the junctions as reported by Wilkins et al. [240]. Only a slight asymmetry of the gap is seen reflecting a high level of similarity between the two tunnelling gaps in our device implying a low level of parasitic background charges.

Outside the gap, three peak structures are observed at biases of -720 mV, -830 mV and +780 mV as indicated in Fig. 8.8. These peaks are superimposed on the increasing transconductance through the two \sim 50 nm wide tunnel junction and the island. Future measurements will target if the rising background is due to breakdown of the \sim 50 nm wide tunnelling junctions or if further peaks may be observed at higher source-drain voltages. In principle, it it also possible that more peaks are located inside the conductance gap, which lie beyond the measurement resolution of the current setup.

The reproducibility of the conductance was also tested during separate cool-downs of the device. Fig. 8.9 shows the results for two thermal cycles. A high degree of reproducibility is seen for both, the general shape and the position of the peaked structure. The two main peaks have now shifted from initially -830 mV and +780 mV to -800 mV and +770 mV respectively. The smallest peak moved from -720 mV to -710 mV and is only visible on a logarithmic scale.



Figure 8.8: Differential conductance of the $90 \times 70 \text{ nm}^2$ Si:P island at 4 K. The x-component of the differential conductance shows three peaks at V_{DC} of -720 mV, -830 mV and +780 mV superimposed on a rising conductance background. The y-component shows an oscillatory behaviour related to the rising conductance behaviour of the x-component.



Figure 8.9: Reproducibility after thermal cycling of the 90×70 nm² Si:P island at T = 4 K. Comparison of the differential conductance behaviour shows a high level of reproducibility towards thermal cycling.

8.4.3 Interpretation of electrical results

In principle, there are four possible reasons for the observed conductance peaks of the $90 \times 70 \text{ nm}^2 \text{ Si:P}$ island:

1. Coulomb blockade

For small isolated systems such as an island connected to leads, via tunnel junctions, the addition of a single electron may result in a significant change in the electrostatic potential. If the change in the electrostatic potential is larger than the thermal energy kT, the energy spectrum at the Fermi energy becomes quantised leading to the phenomenon of *Coulomb blockade*. A comprehensive review of the underlying physical concepts is given for example by Ferry and Goodnick [98].

An equivalent circuit of an island with leads system along with the backgate is depicted in Fig. 8.10. Here the tunnelling junctions are replaced by capacitors with capacities C_l and C_r for the left and right junction respectively. The charg-



Figure 8.10: Equivalent circuit for a double barrier island system showing the capacitive coupling between source, drain and gate leads.

ing energy of a capacitor is given by

$$E_C = \frac{Q^2}{2C} \tag{8.3}$$

The coupling of the island to the backgate is treated just like another capacitor with C_g and gate voltage V_g . Within this model, the energy of the island system is characterised by:

$$E(Q) = \frac{Q^2}{2C} - V_g \cdot \frac{C_g}{C}Q \tag{8.4}$$

Where the total capacitance is $C = \sum C_i$. The charge on the island may only be varied in discrete steps of the elementary charge leading to the formation of periodic conductance maxima. Individual capacitances can be extracted from the distance between two consecutive conductance maxima as follows:

$$\frac{C_i \cdot \Delta V_i}{C} = E(N+1) - E(N) \Longleftrightarrow \Delta V_i = \frac{e}{C_i}$$
(8.5)

Variation of the gate voltage leads to the observation of periodic conductance oscillation whereas variation of the source-drain voltage leads to a staircase type I-V behaviour. We can roughly estimate the capacitances C_l , C_r and C_g of our device using a simple parallel plate capacitor model of area A and plate separation d, where C is given by:

$$C = \frac{\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_r A}{d} \tag{8.6}$$

 $\varepsilon_0 = 8.85 \times 10^{-12} \text{ Fm}^{-1}$ is the dielectric constant and $\varepsilon_r = 12$ the dielectric constant of silicon. Admittedly, the parallel plate capacitor model does not do proper

justice to the actual device structure since it neglects any effects arising from the finite extension of the plates. As such, this model will only give an order of magnitude approximation. However, a more realistic calculation in 3D is rather difficult and beyond the scope of this work. A next step could entail the use of a simulation program such as FASTCAP to obtain a better estimate of the device capacitances.

The electrical thickness of the δ -doped device layer is correlated to the P redistribution during the Si device encapsulation step using MBE at a growth temperature of T = 250 °C. From SIMS measurements, Oberbeck *et al.* [137] determined the P segregation length to be of order 4 nm limited by the instrumental accuracy. More recently, a careful STM study of the P segregation revealed a lower value of 0.6 nm [181].

Assuming a layer thickness of 0.6 nm i.e. $A = 0.6 \times 70 \text{ nm}^2$ and d = 50 nm for the lead-island capacitance, we obtain

$$C_{junction} = C_l = C_r = 0.1 \ aF \tag{8.7}$$

Using Eq. 8.5, the required source-drain voltage between two conductance maxima becomes,

$$\Delta V_{sd}^{0.6nm} \approx 1.6 \ V \tag{8.8}$$

Let's recall, that the two main peaks in the differential conductance plot arise at +780 mV, -830 mV with a small peak at -720 mV which is only visible on a logarithmic scale. We can conclude that a peak separation of 830 mV - 720 mV = 110 mV is much lower than the estimated voltage separation of 1.6 V. Therefore it is likely that the peak at -720 mV does not originate from Coulomb blockade but may be an artefact of the current measurement amplified on the logarithmic graph. Therefore, the estimated voltage separation of 1.6 V should be equivalent to the Coulomb gap, given by the distance of the two conductance peaks at +780 mV and -830 mV. Indeed, the measured Coulomb gap of

$$\Delta V_{gap} = 780 \ mV + 830 \ mV = 1.61 \ V \tag{8.9}$$

is in remarkable agreement with the predicted value from the plate capacitor model. It is the extremely small thickness of the patterned δ -doped layer structure which manifests itself in the very small capacitances responsible for the rather large Coulomb gap. Estimating the gate capacitance is somewhat easier from a geometrical point of view, since the lateral island dimensions are well defined. The estimate for the backgate capacitance evaluates to

$$C_g = 0.3 \ aF$$
 (8.10)

where *A* is the island area of $90 \times 70 \text{ nm}^2$ located $d = 2 \mu \text{m}$ away from the backgate. We note that the gate capacitance is of the same order as the lead-island capacitances. From the evaluated capacitance values, we can calculate the charging energy of the device using Eq. 8.3:

$$E_C = \frac{e^2}{2(2C_{junction} + C_g)} = \frac{e^2}{2(2 \cdot 0.1 \ aF + 0.3 \ aF)} \approx 160 \ meV \tag{8.11}$$

The agreement of the conductance gap with the predicted Coulomb gap around zero bias strongly suggest that the observed transport properties of the device is caused by Coulomb blockade behaviour. We briefly elaborate about other possible mechanisms such as resonant tunnelling and quantum dot transport to consolidate our current picture.

2. Resonant tunnelling through energy levels of the island

In a few electron dot system, the electron energy levels become quantised due to their confinement arising from the potential given by the dimensions of the island. Resonant tunnelling due to quantum size effects was first observed by Esaki and coworkers [223] in a narrow, vertical $GaAs/Ga_{1-x}Al_xAs$ double barrier structure. Assuming a simple 3D infinite wall potential, the energy levels are

$$E_{xyz} = \sum_{i=1}^{3} \frac{h^2}{8md_i^2} \cdot n_i^2 \tag{8.12}$$

 d_i denotes the confinement, m = 0.315 m_e and n_i refers to the energy level in the *i*th direction. Inserting the values for the Si:P island as $d_x = 90$ nm, $d_y = 70$ nm and $d_z = 0.6$ nm, the ground state energies in every direction evaluate to $E_{100} = 148 \ \mu \text{eV}$, $E_{010} = 244 \ \mu \text{eV}$ and $E_{001} = 3 \ \text{eV}$.

From this simple calculation, it can be seen that the confinement in the x-y plane of the 90 \times 70 nm² sized dot is still quite small, whereas the strong confinement in the z direction gives rise to significant energy level spacing of several eV. Energy quantisation in the z-direction could be probed in a vertical measurement arrangement but for our planar source-island-drain system, only the energy levels in the x-y plane may be accessed experimentally due to momentum conservation. In the latter derivation, we have ignored the presence of the electrons which are already on the island. Previously, we have estimated the number of electron to be around 11 000. Treating the electron on the island as a two-dimensional Fermi gas, one obtains an expression for the Fermi energy E_F , representing the energy of the highest occupied state to be:

$$E_F = \frac{\pi \hbar^2}{mg_v} \cdot n_s = 648 \ meV \tag{8.13}$$

where we have used a valley degeneracy g_v of 2, the electron density n_s of 1.7 · 10^{18} m⁻² and an effective electron mass of $m = 0.315 m_e$. A general expression for the energy level spacing δE in d dimensions is given by

$$\delta E = \frac{1}{D(E) \cdot L_i^d} \tag{8.14}$$

Using the expression for the density of states in two dimensions, namely

$$D(E) = g_v \frac{m}{\pi \hbar^2} \tag{8.15}$$

and $\aleph_e = L^2 \cdot n_s$, another way of obtaining the energy level spacing is given by comparing equations 8.14 and 8.13:

$$\delta E = \frac{E_F}{\aleph_e} = \frac{648 \ meV}{11000} \approx 60 \ \mu eV \tag{8.16}$$

The energy-time uncertainty equation based on the inelastic scattering rate τ_{φ} allows us to estimate the natural energy level broadening, which is of the same order as the level spacing i.e.

$$\Delta E \sim \frac{\hbar}{\Delta \tau_{\varphi}} \sim 70 \ \mu eV \tag{8.17}$$

where we have used a typical inelastic scattering time $\tau_{\varphi} = 1$ ps extrapolated from our weak localisation experiments of nano-scale Si:P wires. Additionally, the thermal energy kT ~ 350 μ eV at T = 4 K would only enable to clearly resolve energy level spacings above a few meV.

From the above calculations, we can safely conclude that it is not possible to resolve energy level spacings in the dot at 4 K. As expected for such a dot with such a large number of electrons, the 90×70 nm² Si:P island essentially behaves like a metal dot embedded in a semiconductor environment.

3. Resonant tunnelling through energy levels located in the tunnelling barriers Resonant tunnelling does not only occur via energy levels located on the Si:P island itself but may also originate through energy levels located in the tunnelling barriers. Resonant tunnelling though the bound states of a single donor atom within a tunnelling barrier has been observed in GaAs/AlGaAs resonant tunnelling diodes by M. W. Dellow *et al.* [224]. However, differential conductance measurements of our single 48 nm tunnelling junction, discussed in Chapter 7 (Fig. 7.2), show no such resonances. From these previous measurements, we believe that the presence of energy levels in the tunnelling barriers are not a likely cause for the observed resonances in the 90×70 nm² dot device.

4. Quantum dot transport

Transport in quantum dots is a direct manifestation of the particle-wave duality which forms the basis of quantum mechanics. The particle property of the electron gives rise to Coulomb blockade oscillations whereas the wave property leads to the formation of energy levels on a dot when the island dimensions are comparable to the electron Fermi wavelength.

In the presence of discrete energy eigenstates, the energy Eq. 8.4 is modified as follows:

$$E(Q) = \frac{Q^2}{2C} - V_g \cdot \frac{C_g}{C}Q + \sum_i E_i$$
(8.18)

where E_i are the discrete energy levels of the dot. The conductance peaks are now separated by:

$$V_g = \frac{(N + \frac{1}{2})e}{C_g} + E_{N+1}$$
(8.19)

If, the discrete energy level spacing is significant compared to the charging energy E_C , the conductance fluctuations become both irregular in peak spacing and in peak height. If, on the other hand, the charging energy is negligible, the resonant tunnelling picture is obtained as discussed previously.

By comparing the estimated charging energy of $E_C \approx 160$ meV, determined in the previous section, with the energy level spacing derived from the Fermi energy of $\delta E = 60 \ \mu eV$, one can immediately see that quantised electron energy levels do not play a role in our system. Therefore Eq. 8.19 reduces to the familiar expression [Eq. 8.4] for Coulomb blockade type transport. Energy level broadening of 70 μ eV due to the diffusiveness of the Si:P system and thermal energy level broadening at T= 4 K of ~350 μ eV smear out the Fermi energy level separation of $\delta E = 60 \ \mu$ eV. Finally, we are unable to resolve such energies with an AC amplitude of 480 μ eV with which the device was measured. Generally, quantum dots are measured at low temperatures such as T = 100 mK, where kT reduces to ~10 μ eV.

We conclude, that the observed transport properties of the device is most likely caused by Coulomb blockade behaviour. The most convincing proof of Coulomb blockade in general is the occurrence of conductance oscillations as a function of an applied gate voltage a fixed source-drain voltage. The variation of both, the source-drain voltage and the gate voltage leads to the formation of Coulomb blockade diamonds. So far, we have not shown the results for varying backgate voltage. The next section is devoted to the measurement of the differential conductance due to the influence of the variation of the backgate of the SOI wafer.

8.4.4 Influence of the backgate

The degenerately doped handle wafer of the SOI wafer was initially implemented to act as an overall gate of the island-lead system. Measurements are performed at T = 4 K. Differential conductance measurements (dg = $\frac{dI}{dV}$) were performed as a function of backgate voltage using standard lock-in techniques at a fixed lock-in frequency of 14 Hz with an AC excitation voltage of 480 μ V.

Differential conductance measurements in the range between a source-drain voltage from -875 mV to +875 mV for backgate voltages from -80 V to +80 V in steps of 20 V were taken to observe the occurrence of conductance modulation. Fig. 8.11 summarises the measured differential conductance traces for various backgate voltages. For clarity, the individual graphs are offset from each other by 0.05 μ S. We find, that no conductance modulation is observed up to the highest gate voltages of ±80 V and can see no change in position of the peaks at -830 mV and 780 mV respectively. These results demonstrate that the backgate does not work. From our estimate of the gate capacitance $C_g \approx 0.3 \ aF$ in the previous section, given by Eq. 8.10, we would expect to have a spacing between two conductance maxima of:

$$\Delta V_g = \frac{e}{C_g} \approx 0.5 \ V \tag{8.20}$$



Figure 8.11: Differential conductance for various backgate voltages. Differential conductance measurements $\left(\frac{dI}{dV}\right)$ at 4 K show no influence or gating effects of the backgate for voltages ranging from -80 V to +80 V. Note that individual traces are shifted by 0.05 μ S for clarity.

Even if the estimated capacitance is inaccurate by one order of magnitude, we would expect to see quite a few conductance oscillations between ± 80 V. We also determine the change in conductance due to the backgate voltage at a fixed source-drain bias of 420 mV - a position towards the end of the observed conductance gap. Measurements for a backgate voltage range of ± 30 V shown in Fig. 8.12 do not show any conductance modulation but instead exhibit a flat line demonstrating the noise level. We have also tried to modulate the conductance at the position of the observed conductance is found. Therefore, we can report that for this SOI substrate, no modulation of the potential in the device is present using the current experimental setup.

A possible explanation for the absence of any modulation may be that the trap density at the Si/SiO_2 interface is sufficiently large to screen the backgate voltage. Another possibility is that charge motion in the device layer itself accommodates for the applied backgate voltage. A third possibility, from discussing with the SOI wafer supplier, Ultrasil Corporation (California, USA), is that significant As dopant diffusion from the degenerately doped As handle wafer occurs through the oxide layer into the



Figure 8.12: Differential conductance at fixed source-drain voltage. Differential conductance measurements $(\frac{dI}{dV})$ at a fixed source-drain voltage of 417 mV. No gate modulation is observed for voltages ranging from -30 V to +30 V in agreement with the results from Fig. 8.11.

Si device layer. This diffusion may arise during the high temperature (T \approx 1000 °C) wafer bonding process. The As dopants may then screen the voltages applied by the backgate. It is also possible that the device, located 2 μ m away from the SiO₂ layer, is too far away in order for the backgate to have an effect. At present, we conclude that the SOI wafer used for this device is not suitable for backgating.

In summary, we have established that the large conductance gap seen in our device is due to Coulomb blockade behaviour. Experiments to consolidate this interpretation using backgated conductance measurements turned out to be unsuccessful, most likely due to dopant diffusion within the SOI wafer material. Currently, the development of a functional backgate is being actively pursued in our research group.

8.5 Outlook

The integrity of Si:P islands down to a size of $9 \times 9 \text{ nm}^2$ was demonstrated, showing that the island was found to be preserved throughout all the crucial UHV fabrication steps. With the help of Si surface engineering using registration markers, created by electron beam lithography, the critical device features can be patterned on a monoatomic terrace of circular shape with diameters of ~500 nm.

The electrical properties of a 90×70 nm² large Si:P source-island-drain device was presented at T = 4 K. Preliminary electrical results show that transport through the

8.5. Outlook

source-island-drain device is likely to be governed by Coulomb blockade behaviour. From the width of the conductance gap around zero bias, the electrical thickness of the patterned δ -doped P layer structure is found to be in excellent agreement with the measured layer thickness of 0.6 nm extracted from STM studies of P segregation.

To confirm if conductance oscillation arise from the Coulomb blockade type behaviour, backgated measurements were performed. Unfortunately, no conductance modulation was found for a large backgate voltage range from -80 V to +80 V. From a simple estimate of the gate capacitance, conductance oscillations are expected in this device to be modulated with a gate voltage change of order 1 V. Future work to determine the device capacitances using FASTCAP simulations will provide more accurate estimates. Future temperate-dependent conductance measurements over a larger source-drain voltage range will help to determine if Coulomb blockade behaviour is responsible for the large conductance gap. Since device capacitances are temperature-independent (as long as the substrate is insulating), the conductance gap due to Coulomb blockade is also expected to be fairly temperature independent apart from thermal smearing.

We conclude that the *current* SOI wafer is not a suitable backgate implementation. Current research efforts in our group are aimed at developing a reliable gating method. This involves testing and characterising more appropriate SOI wafer materials from other suppliers, where trap densities and dopant diffusion from the handle wafer is minimised. Another way forward is to move the STM-patterned device layer closer to the backgate from currently 2 μ m to a few hundred nanometres. In the long term, the group is pursuing the goal of fabricating and electrical characterising single electron transistor devices. To achieve this, three top gates have to be aligned, one for each junction and one for the island, using electron beam lithography. The longer term goal also encompasses shrinking down the Si:P island to the atomic level to form a gated array. The construction of such an array with near atomic precision may prove that an STM-based method represents a suitable technology for the fabrication of a solid state quantum computer of the Kane type architecture [33].

Chapter 9 Conclusion and future work

We have developed a novel, UHV compatible STM device fabrication process for the realisation of nano- and atomic-scale devices in silicon [30], [31], [172], [136]. By combining a custom-designed STM-SEM/MBE system with the use of etched registration markers in the silicon substrate, developed in this thesis, we are able to align external metal contacts to STM-patterned Si:P devices. In particular, we can position the STM-patterned device with respect to the registration markers under SEM control. We then evaporate four Al metal contacts outside the UHV environment, thereby making ohmic contact to the buried device using the markers for alignment. Multiple devices can be patterned with the STM on the same chip allowing us to compare different device structures and measure their electrical characteristics simultaneously. We employ the use of unpatterned control devices and four terminal device measurements to unequivocally determine if the observed conductance truly arises from the buried P dopants of the device. We successfully demonstrated the viability of this novel fabrication strategy on the basis of eight functional, STM-patterned devices presented here and more devices that we have not had time to characterise electrically.

In Chapter 4, we outlined the development of a UHV compatible marker process [31] that allowed the relocation of STM-patterned structures. In this process, we use conventional optical lithography to pattern a SiO₂ layer on a large 1×1 cm² Si(100) surface. This SiO₂ layer is then etched to act as a mask for subsequent silicon etching, thereby protecting the silicon surface from contact with the organic resist and metal contamination. Using SiO₂ as a mask, we can wet-chemically etch registration markers to a depth of 350 nm and sizes down to 1 μ m into the silicon surface. The SiO₂ mask in combination with a rigourous wet-chemical cleaning procedures prevents the silicon surface from contamination of organic and metallic residues, the presence of which

9. Conclusion and future work

is known to adversely affect the surface quality in UHV. The thermal stability of the registration markers to temperatures above 1250 °C enabled us to use the standard silicon surface preparation anneals to temperatures up to 1200 °C in UHV to prepare an atomically flat surface. The registration markers were found to leave the surface structure in the device area unaltered allowing us to obtain atomic-resolution STM imaging on 1×1 cm² samples exhibiting low defect densities and atomically clean Si(100) 2×1 reconstructed surfaces. By monitoring the position of the STM tip with respect to the registration markers with an accuracy of order 100 nm. Devices are created using STM-based hydrogen resist lithography, selective adsorption of phosphine onto the lithographic pattern, followed by thermal P incorporation from the phosphine molecule into the top layer of the Si(100) surface. Device encapsulation using low temperature Si MBE effectively moves the buried Si:P way from the surface states, defects and dislocations, thereby ensuring complete electrical activation of the P dopants.

Electrical contact to the devices was achieved in another optical lithography step outside UHV using four Al contacts aligned to the registration markers with individual device alignment as low as ~100 nm. Initially, we demonstrated the success of the process developed by fabricating a $4 \times 4 \ \mu m^2$ large P-doped square device. Comparing the I-V characteristics between an unpatterned control device and this device, we found insulating behaviour between the contact electrodes of the control device, but ohmic behaviour with resistances of order 1 k Ω for the P-doped square device.

Hall measurements, performed on this $4 \times 4 \ \mu m^2$ large P-doped square device, presented in Chapter 5, gave a carrier density of $1.79 \cdot 10^{14} \text{ cm}^{-2}$, corresponding to 100 % electrical activation of the buried dopants in agreement with previous studies of Si:P δ -doped devices [138]. This proves that all P dopant are located on substitutional sites in the silicon crystal and that electrical dopant activation is not affected by the STM lithography process. Magnetotransport measurements of this device showed mobilities of 21 cm²/Vs and an electron phase coherence l_{φ} of 39 nm at 4 K comparable to other Si:P δ -doped layers fabricated in our group highlighting that STM patterning did not adversely affect the device performance [136]. The effect of further confinement of conduction electrons by patterning a 90 nm wide P-doped wire using STM lithography was examined. Magnetotransport measurements performed at liquid helium temperatures showed a crossover from 2D to 1D behaviour at low temperatures, where the electron phase coherence length (\sim 135 nm) is larger than the wire width (90 nm). This crossover allowed us to determine the width of the wire from electrical measurements which was found to be in excellent agreement with the lithographic width of 90 nm patterned by STM [30]. These results reinforce the enormous potential of STMs for device fabrication down to the atomic level.

In Chapter 6, we investigated what happens to the conductivity as we reduce the wire width below 10 nm. STM studies of the buried dopants using CITS confirmed that the structural integrity of the wires remain intact. However, for the narrow wire structure with a width of ~7 nm, it became increasingly difficult to distinguish the electrical signal from the buried dopants from the topographic signal. We independently confirmed the structural wire integrity by measuring the I-V behaviour of such highly doped, planar wire devices with widths from 90 nm to 8 nm, showing ohmic behaviour at T = 4 K with very low resistivities as low as $1 \cdot 10^{-8} \Omega$ cm compared to other P-doped silicon nanowires reported in the literature. The importance of this result is, that by encapsulating planar, STM-patterned Si:P devices, it is possible to avoid the effects of surface depletion which is inherent to many other nanowire fabrication techniques.

A detailed investigation of the conduction properties of a 27 nm wide wire over a temperature range from 200 mK to 65 K was undertaken. We identified three different conduction regimes, dictated by the relation between the wire width w, the temperature-dependent electron phase coherence length l_{φ} and the localisation length ξ . We found electron-phonon scattering to be the governing dephasing mechanism at temperatures from 4 K to 65 K. Below 4 K, l_{φ} = 24 nm was found to be comparable to w = 27 nm, so that the wire conductance crossed from the 2D regime into the 1D regime, where the magnetoconductance of the wire could be well described by 1D weak localisation theory. In this intermediate regime, electron dephasing could be explained by both, inelastic scattering processes with small energy transfers known as Nyquist dephasing and inelastic scattering due to electron-electron collisions with large energy transfers. These results are in agreement with studies of other disordered 1D systems, such as 1D Si MOSFETs by Pooke et al. [195] and 1D wiresGaAs/Al_xGa_{1-x} reported by Choi *et al.* [203]. The total conduction correction measured in this regime was fitted to conductance corrections due to both, 1D weak localisation and 1D electron-electron interaction effects. Our results lead to an extracted value of the Coulomb screening factor $\alpha_{ee} = 0.13$ in agreement with an analysis

of etched 1D Si δ -doped GaAs wire arrays with widths of ~50 nm reported by Khavin *et al.* [196]. At temperatures below 450 mK, the electron phase coherence length l_{φ} of 50 nm became comparable to the localisation length ξ of 100 nm, suggesting the onset of strong localisation. We observed two pieces of evidence for such a transition. First, we observed an apparent saturation of l_{φ} at 300 mK also observed by Gershenson *et al.* [214]. Secondly, we found that from 200 mK to 2 K, the wire conductance could also be fitted by a 1D variable range hopping model. In this temperature range, we found that the same data could be fit by both, a combination of 1D weak localisation and 1D electron-electron interaction effects and with a 1D variable range hopping model. Since we are in the crossover regime from weak to strong localisation, the fact that the data could be fit by both theories is perhaps not surprising. Future low temperature measurements of the 8 nm wide wire will allow us to enter the strong localisation regime and study the conduction limit at the atomic scale.

The Bohr radius in our system of \sim 3 nm allows the fabrication of planar tunnel junctions or nanogaps with a gap size of order several Bohr radii corresponding to a tunnelling gap of ~ 10 nm. In Chapter 7, we studied the effect of tunnelling between P-doped leads with gap sizes of 48 nm and 17 nm respectively. Non-linear I-V behaviour was observed at T = 4 K due to quantum tunnelling between the P-doped leads, demonstrating the first realisation of tunnel junctions in this system. A careful study of the 48 nm tunnelling gap up to biases of ± 4 mV showed a high level of reproducibility towards thermal cycling. Conductance modulation was achieved by employing the method of substrate bias cooling. Here, the conductance was found to increase fourfold when cooling the device with a bias of +2.5 V whereas cooling with a bias of -4 V resulted in a threefold decrease in conductance compared to cooling at zero bias. The ability to modulate the conductance bodes well for the future integration of gating techniques. Differential conductance measurement demonstrated clean, low noise traces. The absence of resonances or random telegraph signals indicated no active charge traps in the vicinity of the tunnel junction thus providing a good environment for the study of more sophisticated devices designed for the observation of effects such as resonant tunnelling or Coulomb blockade behaviour.

A Coulomb blockade type device architecture was pursued in Chapter 8, where we showed the formation of STM patterned Si:P islands of various size between Pdoped leads. Initially we showed that a source-island-drain structure with a P-doped island of 9×9 nm² in size remained intact during each UHV fabrication step. We em-

9.1. Future work

ployed the use of EBL makers to improve the alignment of STM-patterned devices to the registration markers. We observed that the STM itself allowed the fabrication of Si:P islands between source-drain leads with internal alignment precision of ~1 nm. Preliminary electrical characterisation of a $70 \times 90 \text{ } nm^2$ Si:P island device on a SOI substrate at T = 4 K showed that the occurrence of a large conductance gap of ~1.6 V was likely to be due to Coulomb blockade behaviour. Whereas conductance oscillations using the SOI backgate were not observed due to the unsuitability of the SOI wafer material, future studies will target the temperature dependence of the device conductance to further establish if the device characteristics were indeed governed by Coulomb blockade behaviour.

The enormous potential of the fabrication strategy developed in this thesis lies in its capability to access device structures of atomic dimensions beyond any other existing fabrication technique to date. Individual device structures can be monitored with atomic precision as they are made allowing, for the first time, to correlate actual dopant distributions with their electrical characteristics. Our technique is not restricted to the use of phosphine gas but may be applied to other adsorbates which are compatible with the hydrogen resist technology. This opens up the possibility to fabricate atomic-scale devices using other gaseous dopant sources and may also lend itself for the fabrication of hybrid organic devices in silicon.

9.1 Future work

9.1.1 Planar nanowires

Future work on the subject of P-doped nanowires contains the fabrication and measurement of narrower wires to further investigate the conduction limit of our wires towards the atomic scale. In particular, the behaviour of both narrower and lower doped wires will give access to the study of strong localisation which is the likely mechanism that will limit conduction in these wires. In this context but also for the pursuit of tunnel junctions and Si:P islands devices, it is interesting to implement a proper gating strategy into the device fabrication process.

9.1.2 Implementation of a gating strategy

Current research efforts in our group are under way to target different gating architectures. Possible candidates are:

- **Back gate:** A blanket back gating structure was already investigated in this thesis using SOI substrates. However gating was not achieved most likely due to significant As dopant diffusion from the degenerately doped handle wafer through the SiO₂ layer into the device layer. Future work involves testing and characterising more appropriate SOI wafer materials from different suppliers, where interface trap densities and dopant diffusion from the handle wafer are minimised.
- Top gate: Another possibility is the development of a top gate which necessitates the development of a low temperature insulating surface barrier. A low temperature process is necessary to prevent thermally activated P dopant diffusion. Our group currently investigates the formation of a thin, in-situ SiO₂ layer in UHV using a recently installed oxygen plasma source. Initially a blanket top gate can be realised with such a barrier but intermediate research goals encompass the alignment of EBL-defined gates on top of the STM-patterned device with the use of EBL-defined registration markers such as those we have used for the alignment of the Si:P source-island-drain devices in Chapter 8.
- **In-plane gate:** STM-patterned in-plane gates provide a way to achieve high alignment accuracy between gates and device. They can be patterned in a multi step lithography process in the same plane as the device structure. Such an approach may currently be the only way to achieve gate alignment accuracy below the 10 nm scale. EBL lithography can be used to contact both the device and the gates from the surface. Demonstration of capacitive coupling between the gate and device over a sufficiently large gating range is crucial for in-plane gating to be successful.

9.1.3 Atomic-scale devices

The true potential of this fabrication strategy is the possibility to create semiconducting devices at the single atom level. Incorporation of electron beam lithography for the fabrication of registration markers and for alignment of surface contact structures will

9.1. Future work

allow the future realisation of more sophisticated devices such as single electron transistors, quantum dots or solid state quantum computers. Fabrication of such devices entails EBL-aligned top gates for control of electron transfer between P dopants. By reducing the size of the Si:P island from the nanometre scale towards the single atom level, it is possible to leave the regime dominated by Coulomb blockade behaviour and enter the regime where energy level quantisation effects become important.

The fabrication of ordered dopant arrays with currently \sim 40 P dopants per dot to study the effects of controlled doping on the turn-on characteristics of transistors is already under way in our group. The long term goal of the research group's activity is the STM-based fabrication of the ultimate atomic scale device – a solid state quantum computer of the Kane type architecture [33]. Such a device consists of a single P dopant array with gates on top and in between the individual P dopants separated from each other by \sim 20 nm. It is likely that such a high level of alignment accuracy between individual P dopants and gates can only be realised using a multi-step STM patterning approach for both, the dopant array and the respective gating structure.

Finally, another exciting class of devices can be pursued with this fabrication method. Since both, STM-patterning and molecular beam epitaxy allow atomic precision, multilevel STM patterning followed by successive atomic layer MBE growth will enable, for the first time, to allow the formation and characterisation of 3D devices with truly atomic precision.

Bibliography

- [1] International Technology Roadmap for Semiconductors. http://public.itrs.net.
- [2] IBM beats optical lithography limits. *http://nanotechweb.org/articles/news/5/2/10/1*, February 2006.
- [3] Binnig, G., Rohrer, H., Gerber, C. & Weibel, E., Surface studies by scanning tunneling microscope. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 49, 57 (1982).
- [4] Eigler, D. M. & Schweizer, E. K., Positioning single atoms with a scanning tunnelling microscope. *Nature* 344, 524 (1990).
- [5] Crommie, D. F., Lutz, C. P. & Eigler, D. M., Confinement of electrons to quantum corrals on a metal surface. *Science* **262**, 218 (1993).
- [6] Salling, C. T. & Lagally, M. G., Fabrication of Atomic-Scale Structures on Si (001) Surfaces. *Science* 265, 502 (1994).
- [7] Hamers, R. J., Tromp, R. M. & Demuth, J. E., Surface electronic structure of Si(111)-(7×7) resolved in real space. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 56, 1972 (1986).
- [8] Hamers, R. J., Tromp, R. M. & Demuth, J. E., Scanning tunneling microscopy of Si(001). *Phys. Rev. B* 34, 5343 (1986).
- [9] Becker, R. S., Higahi, G. S., Chabel, Y. J. & Becker, A. J., Atomic scale conversion of clean Si(111):H-1×1 by electron-stimulated desorption. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 65, 1917 (1990).
- [10] Snow, E. S., Campbell, P. M. & McMarr, P. J., Fabrication of silicon nanostructures with a scanning tunneling microscope. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 63(6), 749–751 (1993).
- [11] Lyding, J. W., Shen, T., Hubacek, J. S., Tucker, J. R. & Abeln, G., Nanoscale Patterning and Oxidation of H-Passivated Si(100)-2×1 Surfaces with an Ultrahigh-Vacuum Scanning Tunneling Microscope. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 64, 2010–2012 (1994).
- [12] Shen, T. C. *et al.*, Atomic-scale desorption through electronic and vibrational excitation mechanisms. *Science* 268, 1590 (1995).
- [13] Lyding, J. W., Shen, T., Abeln, G. C., Wang, C. & Tucker, J. R., Nanoscale patterning and selective chemistry of silicon surfaces by ultrahigh-vacuum scanning tunneling microscopy. *Nanotechnology* 7, 128 (1996).
- [14] Shen, T., Wang, C. & Tucker, J., Al nucleation on monohydride and bare Si(100) surfaces: atomic scale patterning. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 78, 1271 (1997).
- [15] Hashizume, T., Heike, S., Lutwyche, M. I., Watanabe, S. & Wada, Y., Atom structures on the Si(100) surface. *Surf. Sci.* 386, 161–165 (1997).
- [16] Sakurai, M., Thirstrup, C. & Aono, M., Nanoscale growth of silver on prepatterned hydrogen-terminated Si(100) surfaces. *Phys. Rev. B* 62, 16167 (2000).
- [17] Palasantzas, G., Illge, B., Nijs, L. D. & Geerligs, L. J., Fabrication of Co/Si nanowires by ultrahigh-vacuum scanning tunneling microscopy on hydrogenpassivated Si(100) surfaces. J. Appl. Phys. 85(3), 1907–1910 (1999).
- [18] Illge, B., Palasantzas, G. & Geerligs, L. J., Submonolayer growth of Co on H-passivated Si(100) surfaces and nanoscale metallization with Co on patterned H-Si(100). *Appl. Surf. Sci.* 144-145, 543–547 (1999).
- [19] O'Brien, J. L. *et al.*, Towards the fabrication of phosphorus qubits for a silicon quantum computer. *Phys. Rev. B* **64**, 161401 (2001).
- [20] Lopinski, G. P., Wayner, D. D. M. & Wolkow, R. A., Self-directed growth of molecular nanostructures on silicon. *Nature* 406, 48 (2000).
- [21] Basu, R., Guisinger, N. P., Greene, M. E. & Hersam, M. C., Room temperature nanofabrication of atomically registered heteromolecular organosilicon nanostructures using multistep feedback controlled lithography. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 85, 2619 (2004).

- [22] Kruse, P., Johnson, E. R., DiLabio, G. A. & Wolkow, R. A., Patterning of Vinylferrocene on H-Si(100) via Self-Directed Growth of Molecular Lines and STM-Induced Decomposition. *Nano Letters* 2, 807 (2002).
- [23] Albrecht, P. M. & Lyding, J. W., Ultrahigh-vacuum scanning tunnelling microscopy and spectroscopy. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 83, 5029 (2003).
- [24] Wada, Y., Atom electronics: a proposal of atom/molecule switching devices. Surf. Sci. 386, 265–278 (1997).
- [25] Tucker, J. R. & Shen, T. C., Prospects for atomically ordered device structures based on STM lithography. *Solid State Electron* 42, 1061 (1998).
- [26] Wolkow, R. A., A step toward making and wiring up molecular-scale devices. *Jpn. J. Appl. Phys.* 40, 4378 (2001).
- [27] Rubel, S., Trochet, M., Ehrichs, E. E., Smith, W. F. & de Lozanne, A. L., Nanofabrication and rapid imaging with a scanning tunneling microscope. *J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B* 12(3), 1894–1897 (1994).
- [28] Fujimori, M., Heike, S., Terada, Y. & Hashizume, T., Fabrication of four-probe fine electrodes on an atomically smooth Si(100)-2 × 1-H surface. *Nanotechnology* 15, S333–S336 (2004).
- [29] Shen, T.-C. *et al.*, Nanoscale electronics based on two-dimensional dopant patterns in silicon. *J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B* 22(6), 3182–3185 (2004).
- [30] Rueß, F. J. *et al.*, Toward atomic-scale device fabrication in silicon using scanning probe microscopy. *Nano Letters* **4**(10), 1969–1973 (2004).
- [31] Rueß, F. J. *et al.*, The use of etched registration markers to make four-terminal electrical contacts to STM-patterned nanostructures. *Nanotechnology* 16, 2446 (2005).
- [32] Schofield, S. R. *et al.*, Atomically precise placement of single dopants in Si. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 91, 136104 (2003).
- [33] Kane, B. E., A silicon-based nuclear spin quantum computers. *Nature* 393(6681), 133 (1998).

- [34] Chen, C. J., Introduction to Scanning Tunnelling Microscopy. Oxford University Press, 1993.
- [35] Tersoff, J., Theory of Scanning Tunnelling Microscopy. (2001).
- [36] Hamers, R. J. & Padowitz, D. F., Methods of tunnelling spectroscopy with the STM. (2001).
- [37] Bardeen, J., Tunnelling from a Many-Particle Point of View. Phys. Rev. Lett. 6(57) (1961).
- [38] Tersoff, J. & Hamann, D. R., Theory and application for the scanning tunneling microcope. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 50, 1998 (1983).
- [39] Tersoff, J. & Hamann, D. R., Theory of the Scanning Tunneling Microscope. *Phys. Rev. B* 31, 805–813 (1985).
- [40] Berndt, R., Gimzewski, J. K. & Schlittler, R. R., Tunneling characteristics at atomic resolution on close-packed metal surfaces. *Ultramicroscopy* 42-44, 528 (1992).
- [41] Lang, N. D., Vacuum tunnelling current from an adsorbed atom. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 55, 230 (1985).
- [42] Yang, W. S., Li, Y., Mou, J. & Yan, J., Atom-charge superposition calculation of STM images of glycince and alanine adsorbed on HOPG. *Ultramicroscopy* 42-44, 1031 (1991).
- [43] Stroscio, J. A., Feenstra, R. M. & Fein, A. P., Electronic structure of the Si(111)
 2×1 surface by scanning tunnelling microscope. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 57, 2579 (1986).
- [44] Dujardin, G. *et al.*, Vertical manipulation of individual atoms by a direct STM tip-surface contact on Ge(111). *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **80**, 3101 (1998).
- [45] Stipe, B. C. et al., Single Molecule Dissociation by Tunneling Electrons. Phys. Rev. Lett. 78, 4410 (1997).
- [46] Qiu, X. H., Nazin, G. V. & Ho, W., Mechanims of Reversible Conformational Transitions in a Single Molecule. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **93**, 1908061 (2004).

- [47] Lee, H. J. & Ho, W., Single-Bond Formation and Characterization with a Scanning Tunneling Microscope . *Science* 286, 1719 (1999).
- [48] Hla, S.-W., Bartels, L., Meyer, G. & Rieder, K.-H., Inducing All Steps of a Chemical Reaction with the Scanning Tunneling Microscope Tip: Towards Single Molecule Engineering. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 85, 2777 (2000).
- [49] Lastapis, M., Martin, M., Riedel, D., Hellner, L. & Dujardin, G. C. G., Picometer-Scale Electronic Control of Molecular Dynamics Inside a Single Molecule. *Science* 308, 1000 (2005).
- [50] Moresco, F., Meyer, G. & Rieder, K.-H., Conformational Changes of a Single Molecule Induced by Scanning Tunneling Microscopy Manipulation: A Route to Molecular Switching. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 86, 672 (2001).
- [51] Schofield, S. R. Atomic-scale placement of individual phosphorus atoms in silicon (001). PhD thesis, University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia, 2004.
- [52] Dąbrowski, J. & Müssig, H.-J., Silicon Surfaces and Formation of Interfaces. World Scientific, Singapore, 2000.
- [53] Hamers, R. J., Tromp, R. M. & Demuth, J. E., Si(100) dimer structure observed with scanning tunneling microscopy. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 55, 1303 (1985).
- [54] Chadi, D. J., Atomic and electronic structures of reconstructed Si(001) surfaces. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **45**, 43 (1979).
- [55] Wolkow, R. A., Direct observation of an increase in buckled dimers on Si(001) at low temperature. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **68**, 2636 (1992).
- [56] Chadi, D. J., Stabilities of single-layer and bilayer steps on Si(001) surfaces. 1691 59 (1987).
- [57] Hamers, R. J. & Köhler, U. K., Determination of the local electronic structure of atomic-sized defects on Si(001) by tunneling spectroscopy. J. Vac. Sci. Technol. A 7, 2854 (1989).
- [58] Wang, J., Arias, T. A. & Joannopoulos, J. D., Dimer vacancies and dimer-vacancy complexes on the Si(100) surface. *Phys. Rev. B* 47, 10497 (1993).

- [59] Zandvliet, H. J. W., Louwsma, H. K., Hegeman, P. E. & Poelsema, B., Energetics of Ni-Induced Line Defects on Si(001). *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **75**, 3890 (1995).
- [60] Matsuura, S. *et al.*, Reduced density of missing-dimer vacancies on tungsten-contaminated Si(100)-(2×n) surface by hydrogen termination. *Jpn. J. Appl. Phys.* 39, 4518 (2000).
- [61] Leifeld, O. *et al.*, Dimer pairing on the C-alloyed Si(100) surface. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 82(5), 972–975 (1999).
- [62] Uda, T. & Terakura, K., Structure model for the type-C defect on the Si(100) surface. *Phys. Rev. B* 53, 6999 (1996).
- [63] Miyazaki, T., Uda, T. & Terakura, K., Atomic and electronic origins of a type-C defect on Si(001). *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 84, 4128 (2000).
- [64] Komeda, T. & Kumagai, Y., Si(001) surface variation with annealing in ambient H₂. *Phys. Rev. B* 58, 1385 (1998).
- [65] Palasantzas, G., Illge, B., Geerligs, L. J. & Nijs, J. M. M., Diffusion, nucleation and annealing of Co on the H-passivated Si(100) surface studied by UHV-STM. *Surf. Sci.* 509, 412 (1998).
- [66] Hallam, T. The use and removal of a hydrogen resist on the Si(001) surface for P-in-Si device fabrication. PhD thesis, University of New South Wales, 2006.
- [67] Hallam, T. et al., The removal of hydrogen resists used to pattern atomic-scale devices in silicon. Appl. Phys. Lett. 86, 143116 (2005).
- [68] Dürr, M., Biedermann, A., Hu, Z., Höfer, U. & Heinz, T. F., Probing High-Barrier Pathways of Surface Reactions by Scanning Tunneling Microscopy. *Science* 296, 1838 (2002).
- [69] Reusch, T. C. G., Curson, N. J., Schofield, S. R., Hallam, T. & Simmons, M. Y., Phosphorus and hydrogen atoms on the (001) surface of silicon: A comparative scanning tunnelling microscopy study of the surface species with a single dangling bond. *Surf. Sci.* 600, 318 (2006).
- [70] Beenakker, C. W. J. & van Houten, H., Quantum transport in semiconductor nanostructures. *Solid State Phys.* 44, 1–228 (1991).

- [71] Hikami, S., Larkin, A. I. & Nagaoka, Y., Spin-orbit interaction and magnetoresistance in the two dimensional random system. *Prog. Theor. Phys.* 63, 707–710 (1980).
- [72] Kawabata, A., On the field dependence of magnetoresistance in 2-dimensional systems. J. Phys. Soc. Jpn 63, 707 (1984).
- [73] Wittmann, H.-P. & Schmid, A., Anomalous magnetoresitance beyond the diffusion limit. J. Low Temp. Phys. 69, 131 (1987).
- [74] Zduniak, A., Dyakanov, M. I. & Knap, W., Universal behaviour of magnetoconductance due to weak localisation in two dimensions. *Phys. Rev. B*, 1996 (1997).
- [75] Dmitriev, A. P., Kachorovskii, V. Y. & Gyorni, I. V., Nonbackscattering contribution to weak localisation. *Phys. Rev. B* 56, 9910 (1997).
- [76] Altshuler, B. L. & Aronov, A. G., Magnetoresistance of thin films and of wires in a longitudinal magnetic field. *Pis'ma Zh. Eskp. Teor. Fiz.* 33(10), 515 (1981).
- [77] Altshuler, B. L., Gershenson, M. E. & Aleiner, I. L., Phase relaxation of electrons in disordered conductors. *Physica E* **3**, 58 (1998).
- [78] Lin, J. J. & Bird, J. P., Recent experimental studies of electron dephasing in metal and semiconductor mesoscopic structures. *J. Phys.: Condens. Matter* 14, R501 (2002).
- [79] Altshuler, B. L., Aronov, A. G. & Khmelnitsky, D. E., Effects of electron-electron collisions with small energy transfers on quantum localisation. *J. Phys. C: Solid State Phys.* 15, 7367 (1982).
- [80] Fukuyama, H. & Abrahams, E., Inelastic scattering time in two-dimensional disordered metals. *Phys. Rev. B* 27, 5976 (1983).
- [81] Abrahams, E., Anderson, P. W., Lee, P. A. & Ramakrishnan, T. V., Quasiparticle lifetime in disordered two-dimensional metals. *Phys. Rev. B* 24(12), 6783 (1981).
- [82] Thouless, D. J., Maximum Metallic Resistance in Thin Wires. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 39(18), 1167 (1977).
- [83] Black, J. L. & Gyorffy, B. L., Interaction of the Conduction Electrons with Tunneling States in Metallic Glasses. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 41, 1595 (1978).

- [84] Rammer, J. & Schmid, A., Destruction of phase coherence by electron-phonon interactions in disordered conductors. *Phys. Rev. B* 34(2), 1352 (1986).
- [85] Pippard, A. B., . Philos. Mag. 46, 1104 (1955).
- [86] DiTusa, J. F., Lin, K., Park, M., Isaacson, M. S. & Parpia, J. M., Role of Phonon Dimensionality on Electron-Phonon Scattering Rates. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 68(8), 1156 (1992).
- [87] Dumpich, G. & Carl, A., Anomalous temperature dependence of the phasecoherence length for inhomogeneous gold films. *Phys. Rev. B* 43, 12074 (1991).
- [88] Stolovits, A., Sherman, A., Avarmaa, T., Meier, O. & Sisti, M., Magnetoresistance study of a thin α-tungsten film. *Phys. Rev. B* 58, 11111 (1998).
- [89] Moon, J. S., Birge, N. O. & Golding, B., Observation of Zeeman splitting in universal conductance fluctuations. *Phys. Rev. B* 53, 4193 (1996).
- [90] Licini, J. C., Dolan, G. J. & Bishop, D. J., Weakly Localized Behavior in Quasi-One-Dimensional Li Films. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 54, 1585 (1985).
- [91] Anderson, P. W., Absence of Diffusion in Certain Random Lattices. *Phys. Rev.* 109(5), 1492 (1958).
- [92] Abrahams, E., Anderson, P. W., Licciardello, D. C. & Ramakrishnan, T. V., Scaling Theory of Localization: Absence of Quantum Diffusion in Two Dimensions. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* (10), 673 (1979).
- [93] Altshuler, B. L., Aronov, A. G. & Lee, P. A., Interaction effects in Disordered Fermi Systems in Two Dimensions. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 44(19), 1288 (1980).
- [94] Lee, P. A. & Ramakrishnan, T. V., Disordered electronic systems. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 57(2), 287 (1985).
- [95] Mott, N. F., Metal-Insulator Transitions. Taylor and Francis, London, 1974.
- [96] Shklovskii, B. I. & Efros, A. L., Electronic Properties of Doped Semiconductors. Springer Verlag, Berlin (1984).
- [97] Fowler, A. B., Hartstein, A. & Webb, R. A., Conductance in Restricted-Dimensionality Accumulation Layers. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 48(3), 196 (1982).

- [98] Ferry, D. K. & Goodnick, S. M., *Transport in Nanostructures*. Cambridge University Press, New York, 2004.
- [99] Likharev, K. K., Single-electron devices and their applications. *Proceedings of the IEEE* **87**(4), 606 (1999).
- [100] Brenner, R. Single-electron transistor devices for detection of charge motion in the solid state. PhD thesis, University of New South Wales, 2004.
- [101] Gerber, C., Binnig, G., Fuchs, H., Marti, O. & Rohrer, H., Scanning tunneling microscope combined with a scanning electron-microscope. *Rev. Sci. Instrum.* 57, 221 (1986).
- [102] Ehrichs, E. E., Smith, W. F. & de Lozanne, A. L., A scanning tunneling microscope scanning electron-microscope system for the fabrication of nanostructures. *J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B* 9, 1380 (1991).
- [103] Wiessner, A., Kirschner, J., Schäfer, G. & Berghaus, T., Design considerations and performance of a combined scanning tunneling and scanning electron microscope. *Rev. Sci. Instrum.* 68, 3790 (1997).
- [104] Ichinokawa, T., Miyazaki, Y. & Koga, Y., Scanning tunneling microscope combined with scanning electron microscope. *Ultramicroscopy* 23, 115 (1987).
- [105] White, G. K., Experimental techniques in low-temperature physics. Volume 43 of Monographs on the physics and chemistry of materials. Oxford University Press, Oxford (UK), 3rd edition, 1979.
- [106] Rose-Innes, A. C., Low temperature laboratory techniques. Applied Physics Guides. English University Press, Cambridge (UK), 2nd edition, 1973.
- [107] Ehrichs, E. E., Smith, W. F. & de Lozanne, A. L., Four-probe resistance measurements of nickel wires written with a scanning tunneling microscope / scanning electron microscope system. *Ultramicroscopy* 42-44, 1438–1442 (1992).
- [108] Dunn, A. W., Cotier, B. N., Nogaret, A., Moriarty, P. & Beton, P. H., Molecular scale alignment strategies: An investigation of Ag adsorption on patterned fullerene layers. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **71**(20), 2937–2939 (1997).

- [109] Palasantzas, G., Illge, B., Rogge, S. & Geerligs, L. J., Technology for nanoelectronic devices based on ultra-high vacuum scanning tunneling microscopy on the Si(100) surface. *Microelectron. Eng.* 46, 133–136 (1999).
- [110] Hersam, M. C., Abeln, G. C. & Lyding, J. W., An approach for efficiently locating and electrically contacting nanostructures fabricated via UHV-STM lithography on Si(100). *Microelectron. Eng.* 47, 235–237 (1999).
- [111] Hul'ko, O., Boukherroub, R. & Lopinski, G. P., Chemical and thermal stability of titanium disilicide contacts on silicon. *J. Appl. Phys.* **90**(3), 1655–1659 (2001).
- [112] Ramsperger, U., Uchihashi, T. & H.Nejoh, Fabrication and lateral electronic transport measurements of gold nanowires. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **78**, 85 (2001).
- [113] Kim, J., Kline, J. S. & Tucker, J. R., Fabrication of contact electrodes in Si for nanoelectronic devices using ion implantation. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* 239, 335–341 (2005).
- [114] Palermo, V., Buchanan, M., Bezinger, A. & Wolkow, R. A., Lateral diffusion of titanium disilicide as a route to contacting hybrid Si/organic nanostructures. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 81(19), 3636–3638 (2002).
- [115] Kim, J. C., Ji, J.-Y., Kline, J. S., Tucker, J. R. & Shen, T.-C., Preparation of atomically clean and flat Si(100) surfaces by low-energy ion sputtering and lowtemperature annealing. *Surf. Sci.* 538, L471 (2003).
- [116] Tong, X. & Wolkow, R. A., Scanning tunneling microscopy characterization of low-profile crystalline TiSi₂ microelectrodes on a Si(111) surface. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 86, 203101 (2005).
- [117] Kato, M., Ishibashi, M., Heike, S. & Hashizume, T., Nanofabrication Using Atomic Force Microscopy Lithography Combined with Optical Lithography. *Jpn. J. Appl. Phys.* 40, 4317–4320 (2001).
- [118] Purbach, U. & de Lozanne, A., *In situ* submicron patterning with silicon nitride evaporation masks. *J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B* **19**, 2073 (2001).
- [119] Henderson, R. C., Marcus, R. B. & Polito, W. J., Carbide contamination of silicon surfaces. J. Appl. Phys. 42, 1208 (1971).

- [120] Lin, L.-F., Bird, J. P., Rotkina, L. & Bennett, P. A., Classical and quantum transport in focused ion-beam-deposited Pt nanointerconnects. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 82(5), 802–804 (2003).
- [121] Visconti, P. *et al.*, The fabrication of sub-10nm planar electrodes and their use for a molecule-based transistor. *Nanotechnology* **15**, 807–811 (2004).
- [122] Zuiddam, M. R. *et al.*, Contact and alignment marker technology for atomic scale device farbrication. *Microelectron. Eng.* 41-42, 567–570 (1998).
- [123] Seebauer, E. G. & Allen, C. E., Estimating surface diffusion coefficients. Progress in Surface Science 48, 265 (1995).
- [124] Saenger, K. L., Cabral, C., Clevenger, L. A., Roy, R. A. & Wind, S., A kinetic study of the C49 to C54 TiSi₂ conversion using electrical resistivity measurements on single narrow lines. *J. Appl. Phys.* 78(12), 7040–7044 (1995).
- [125] Ishibashi, M., Heike, S. & Hashizume, T., Combining Atomic Force Microscopic Lithogaphy with Photolithography. *Jpn. J. Appl. Phys.* **39**, 7060–7062 (2000).
- [126] Uchihashi, T. & Ramsperger, U., Atomic-scale characterization of metal microelectrodes grown on clean semiconductor surfaces. *Thin Solid Films* **438-439**, 61 (2003).
- [127] Stamm, C. et al., Two-dimensional magnetic particles. Science 282, 449 (1998).
- [128] Kern, W. & Puotinen, D. A., Cleaning solutions based on hydrogen peroxide for use in silicon semiconductor technology. *RCA Rev.* 31, 187 (1970).
- [129] Chien, F. S.-S., Hsieh, W.-F., Gwo, S., Vladar, A. E. & Dagatta, J. A., Silicon nanostructures fabricated by scanning probe oxidation and tetra-methyl ammonium hydroxide etching. *J. Appl. Phys.* **91**(12), 10044–10050 (2002).
- [130] Tabata, O., Asahi, R., Funabashi, H., Shimaoka, K. & Sugiyama, S., Anisotropic etching of silicon in TMAH solutions. *Sensors and Actuators* 34(1), 51–57 (1992).
- [131] Choi, W. K. *et al.*, Characterisation of pyramid formation arising from the TMAH etching of silicon. *Sensors and Actuators A* **71**, 238–243 (1998).

- [132] Seidel, H., Csepregi, L., Heuberger, A. & Baumgartel, H., Anistropic etching of crystalline silicon in alkaline solutions. *J. Electrochem. Soc.* 137(11), 3612–3626 (1990).
- [133] Swartzentruber, B. S., Mo, Y. W., Webb, M. B. & Lagally, M. G., Scanning tunneling microscopy studies of structural disorder and steps on Si surfaces. *J. Vac. Sci. Technol. A* 7, 2901 (1989).
- [134] Tromp, R. M. & Mankos, M., Thermal adatoms on Si(100). Phys. Rev. Lett. 81, 1050 (1998).
- [135] Keeffe, M. E., Umbach, C. C. & Blakely, J. M., Surface self-diffusion on Si from the evolution of periodic atomic step arrays. *J. Phys. Chem. Solids* 55(10), 965–973 (1994).
- [136] Rueß, F. J. et al., The fabrication of devices in silicon using scanning probe microscopy. Proc. SPIE Int. Soc. Opt. Eng. 5649, 306–310 (2005).
- [137] Oberbeck, L. *et al.*, Encapsulation of phosphorous dopants in silicon for the fabrication of a quantum computer. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **81**, 3197–3199 (2002).
- [138] Goh, K. E. J., Oberbeck, L., Simmons, M. Y., Hamilton, A. R. & Clark, R. G., Effect of encapsulation temperature on Si:P δ-doped layers. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 85(21), 4953–4955 (2004).
- [139] Boland, J. J., Role of bond-strain in the chemistry of hydrogen on the Si(100) surface. Surf. Sci. 261, 17 (1992).
- [140] Suemitsu, M., Nakazawa, H. & Miyamoto, N., Temperature-programmeddesorption study of the process of atomic deuterium adsorption onto Si(100)2×1. Appl. Surf. Sci. 82/83, 449 (1994).
- [141] Gates, S. M., Kunz, R. R. & Greenlief, C., Silicon hydride etch products from the reaction of atomic hydrogen with Si(100). *Surf. Sci.* 207, 364 (1989).
- [142] Lyding, J. W., UHV STM nanofabrication: Progress, technology spin-offs, and challenges. *Proceedings of the IEEE* 85, 589 (1997).
- [143] Soukiassian, L., Mayne, A. J., Carbone, M. & Dujardin, G., Atomic wire fabricationby STM induced hydrogen desorption. *Surf. Sci.* 528, 121 (2003).

- [144] Tompsett, D. A., The effect of phosphorus dopant density on transport mechanisms in novel 1d and 2d Si:P devices. Honours Thesis, University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia, 2004.
- [145] Yu, M. L., Vitkavage, D. J. & Meyerson, B. S., Doping reaction of PH₃ and B₂H₆ with Si(100). *J. Appl. Phys.* **59**, 4032 (1986).
- [146] Wang, Y., Bronikowski, M. J. & Hamers, R. J., An atomically resolved STM study of the interaction of phosphine with the silicon(001) surface. *J. Phys. Chem.* 98, 5966 (1994).
- [147] Kipp, L. *et al.*, Phosphine adsorption and decomposition on Si(100) 2×1 by STM. 5843 52 (1995).
- [148] Hamers, R. J. & Wang, Y., Atomically-resolved studies of the chemistry and bonding at silicon surfaces. *Chemical Reviews* 96, 1261 (1996).
- [149] Hamers, R. J., Wang, Y. & Shan, J., Atomic-level spatial distributions of dopants on silicon surfaces: toward a microscopic understanding of surface chemical reactivity. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* 107, 25–34 (1996).
- [150] Lin, D. S., Ku, T. S. & Sheu, T. J., Thermal reactions of phosphine with Si(100): a combined photoemission and scanning-tunneling-microscopy study. *Surf. Sci.* 424, 7–18 (1999).
- [151] Wilson, H. F. *et al.*, Phoshine dissociation on the Si(100) surface. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 93, 226102 (2004).
- [152] Eaglesham, D. J., Unterwald, F. C., Luftman, H., Adams, D. P. & Yalisove, S. M., Effect of H on Si molecular-beam epitaxy. J. Appl. Phys. 74, 6615 (1993).
- [153] Oberbeck, L., Hallam, T., Curson, N. J., Simmons, M. Y. & Clark, R. G., STM investigation of epitaxial growth for the fabrication of a Si-based quantum computer. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* 212-213, 319 (2003).
- [154] Ji, J. & Shen, T., Low-temperature silicon epitaxy on hydrogen-terminated Si(001) surfaces. *Phys. Rev. B* 70, 115309 (2004).
- [155] Boland, J. J., Evidence of Pairing and Its Role in the Recombinative Desorption of Hydrogen from the Si(100)-2 × 1 Surface. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 67, 1539 (1991).

- [156] Bowler, D. R., Owen, J. H. G., Goringe, C. M., Miki, K. & Briggs, G. D., An Experimental-Theoretical Study of the Behaviour of Hydrogen on the Si(001) Surface. J. Phys. Cond. Matt. 12, 7655 (2000).
- [157] Nutzel, J. F. & Abstreiter, G., Segregation and diffusion on semiconductor surfaces. *Phys. Rev. B* 53(20), 13551–13558 (1996).
- [158] Fahey, P. M., Griffin, P. B. & Plummer, J. D., Point-defects and dopant diffusion in silicon. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 61(2), 289–384 (1989).
- [159] Grossmann, H.-J. & Schubert, E. F., Delta doping in silicon. Crit. Rev. Solid State Mater. Sci. 18(1), 1–67 (1993).
- [160] Eaglesham, D. J., Gossman, H.-J., Cerullo, M., Pfeiffer, L. N. & West, K. W., Semiconductor molecular beam epitaxy at low temperatures. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 77, 3597 (1995).
- [161] Nara, J., Sasaki, T. & Ohno, T., Adsorption and diffusion of Si atoms on the Hterminated Si(100) surface: Si migration assisted by H mobility. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 79, 4421 (1997).
- [162] Brocks, G., Kelly, P. J. & Car, R., Binding and diffusion of a Si adatom on the Si(100) surface. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 66, 1729 (1991).
- [163] Tucker, J. R. & Shen, T. C., Can single-electron integrated circuits and quantum computers be fabricated in silicon? *Int. J. Circuit Theor. Appl.* 28, 553 (2000).
- [164] Sullivan, D. F., Kane, B. E. & Thompson, P. E., Weak localization thickness measurements of Si:P delta-layers. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 85(26), 6362–6364 (2004).
- [165] Curson, N. J. et al., STM characterization of the Si-P heterodimer. Phys. Rev. B 69(19), 195303 (2004).
- [166] Goh, K. E. J. Encapsulation of Si:P devices fabricated by scanning tunnelling microscopy. PhD thesis, University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia, to be submitted 2006.
- [167] Goh, K. E. J., Oberbeck, L. & Simmons, M. Y., Relevance of phosphorus incorporation and hydrogen removal for Si:P δ-doped layers fabricated using phosphine. *Phys. Stat. Sol.* **202**, 1002 (2005).

- [168] Berger, H. H., Contact resistance and contact resistivity. J. Electrochem. Soc. 119(4), 507 (1972).
- [169] Shen, T. C. *et al.*, Ultradense phosphorus delta layers grown into silicon from PH₃ molecular precursors. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **80**, 1580 (2002).
- [170] Citrin, P. H., Muller, D. A., Gossmann, H.-J., Vanfleet, R. & Northrup, P. A., Geometric Frustration of 2D Dopants in Silicon: Surpassing Electrical Saturation. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 83, 3234 (1999).
- [171] Hamers, R. J., Avouris, P. & Bozso, F., Imaging of chemical-bond formation with the scanning tunneling microscope *NH*₃ dissociation on Si(100). *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 59, 2071 (1987).
- [172] Simmons, M. Y. *et al.*, Scanning probe microscopy for silicon device fabrication. *Mol. Sim.* **31**, 505 (2005).
- [173] Smith, R. A. & Ahmed, H., Gate controlled Coulomb blockade effects in the conduction of a silicon quantum wire. J. Appl. Phys. 81(6), 2699 (1997).
- [174] Pescini, L. *et al.*, Suspending highly doped silicon-on-insulator wires for application in nanomechanics. *Nanotechnology* **10**(4), 418 (1999).
- [175] Park, S.-J., Liddle, J. A., Persaud, A., Allen, F. I. & Schenkel, T., Formation of 15 nm scale Coulomb blockade structures in silicion by electron beam lithography with a bilayer resist process. *J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B* 22(6), 3115 (2004).
- [176] Kawamura, K., Kidera, T., Nakajima, A. & Yokoyama, S., Coulomb blockade effects and conduction mechanism in extremely thin polycristalline-silicon wires. *J. Appl. Phys.* **91**(8), 5213 (2002).
- [177] Beckman, R. A. *et al.*, Fabrication of conducting Si nanowire arrays. J. Appl. Phys. 96(10), 5921 (2004).
- [178] Cui, Y., Duan, X., Hu, J. & Lieber, C. M., Doping and Electrical Transport in Silicon Nanowires. J. Phys. Chem. B 104(22), 5213 (2000).
- [179] Hannon, J. B., Kodambaka, S., Ross, F. M. & Tromp, R. M., The influence of the surface migration of gold on the growth of silicon nanowires. *Nature* 440, 69 (2006).

- [180] Zheng, G., Lu, W., Jin, S. & Lieber, C. M., Synthesis and Faberication of High-Perfomance n-Type Silicon Nanowire Transistors. *Adv. Mat.* 16(21), 1890 (2004).
- [181] Oberbeck, L., Curson, N. J., Hallam, T., Simmons, M. Y. & Clark, R. G., Measurement of phosphorous segregation in silicon at the atomic-scale using STM. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 85, 1359–1361 (2004).
- [182] Clement, N. *et al.*, Current-induced structural modification of silicon-oninsulator nancircuits. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **82**, 1727 (2003).
- [183] Brown, G. W., Grube, H. & Hawley, M. E., Observation of buried phosphorus dopants near clean Si(100) surfaces with scanning tunneling microscope. *Phys. Rev. B* 70(121301) (2004).
- [184] Oberbeck, L., Curson, N. J., Hallam, T., Simmons, M. Y. & Clark, R. G., STM imaging of buried P atoms in hydrogen-terminated Si for the fabrication of a Si:P quantum computer. *Thin Solid Films* 464-465, 23–27 (2004).
- [185] Liu, L., Yu, J. & Lyding, J. W., Atom-resolved three-dimensional mapping of boron dopants in Si(100) by scanning tunneling microscopy. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 78(386) (2001).
- [186] Anderson, P. W., Abrahams, E. & Ramakrishnan, T. V., Possible Explanation of Nonlinear Conductivity in Thin-Film Metal Wires . *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 43, 718 (1979).
- [187] Gor'kov, L., Larkin, A. & Khmel'nitskii, D., Particle conductivity in a twodimensional random potential. *Jetp Lett.* **30**(228) (1979).
- [188] Bergmann, G., Weak localization in thin films a time of flight experiment with conduction electrons. *Phys. Rep.* **107**(1) (1984).
- [189] Khmel'nitskii, D. E., Localization and coherent scattering of electrons. *Physica B* 126(235) (1984).
- [190] Altshuler, B. L., Khmel'nitzkii, D., Larkin, A. I. & Lee, P. A., Magnetoresistance and Hall effect in a disordered two-dimensional electron gas. *Phys. Rev. B* 22, 5142 (1980).
- [191] Komnik, Y. F., Kashirin, Y., Belevtsev, B. I. & Beliaev, E. Y., Temperature variation of the time of inelastic electron relaxation in disordered bismuth films. *Phys. Rev. B* 50(15298) (1994).

- [192] Gershenson, M. E., Gong, D., Sato, T., Karasik, B. S. & Sergeev, A. V., Millisecond electron-phonon relaxation in ultrathin disordered metal films at millikelvin temperatures. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **79**(13) (2001).
- [193] Saviot, L., Murray, D. B., del Carmen, M. & de Lucas, M., Vibrations of free and embedded anisotropic elastic spheres: Application to low-frequency Raman scattering of silicon nanoparticles in silica. *Phys. Rev. B* 69, 113402 (2004).
- [194] Dorozhkin, S. I., Lell, F. & Schoepe, W., Energy relaxation of hot electrons and inelastic collision time in thin metal films at low temperatures. *Solid State Commun* 60(3), 245 (1986).
- [195] Pooke, D. M., Paquin, N., Pepper, M. & Gundlach, A., Electron-electron scattering in narrow Si accumulation. J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 1, 3289 (1989).
- [196] Khavin, Y. B., Gershenson, M. E. & Bogdanov, A. L., Decoherence and Thouless Crossover in One-Dimensional Conductors. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 81(5), 1066 (1998).
- [197] Pierre, F. et al., Dephasing of electron in mesoscopic metal wires. Phys. Rev. B 68, 085413 (2003).
- [198] Wind, S., Rooks, M. J., Chandrasekhar, V. & Prober, D. E., One-Dimensional Electron Scattering with Small Energy Tranfers. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 57(5), 633 (1986).
- [199] Natelson, D., Willett, R. L., West, K. W. & Pfeiffer, L. N., Geometry-Dependent Dephasing in Small Metallic Wires. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 86(9), 1821 (2001).
- [200] Lin, J. J. & Giordano, N., Localization and electron-electron interaction effects in thin Au-Pd films and wires. *Phys. Rev. B* 35, 545 (1987).
- [201] Liu, K., Avouris, P., Martel, R. & Hsu, W. K., Electrical transport in doped multiwalled carbon nanotubes. *Phys. Rev. B* 63, 161404 (2001).
- [202] de Graaf, C., Caro, J. & Radelaar, S., Weak localization in short one-dimensional channels by two-dimensional probes. *Phys. Rev. B* 46, 12814 (1992).
- [203] Choi, K. K., Tsui, D. C. & Alavi, K., Dephasing time and one-dimensional localization of two-dimensional electons in GaAs/Al_xGa_{1-x} heterostructures. *Phys. Rev. B* 36, 7751 (1987).

- [204] Altshuler, B. L. & Aronov, A. G., Electron-Electron Interations in Disordered Systems. North-Holland, Amsterdam, A. L. Efros and M. Pollak edition, 1985.
- [205] Altshuler, B. L. & Aronov, A. G., Fermi liquid theory of the electron-electron interaction effects in disordered metals. *Solid State Commun* **46**(6), 429 (1983).
- [206] Choi, K. K., Tsui, D. C. & Palmateer, S. C., Size effects on electron-electron interactions in GaAs-Al_xGa_{1-x}As heterostructures. *Phys. Rev. B* 32(8), 5540 (1985).
- [207] Mohanty, P., Jariwala, E. M. Q. & Webb, R. A., Intrinsic Decoherence in Mesoscopic Systems. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 78, 3366 (1996).
- [208] Lin, J. J. & Giordano, N., Electron scattering from weak localization studies of Au-Pd films. *Phys. Rev. B* 35, 1071 (1986).
- [209] Noguchi, M., Ikoma, T., Odagiri, T., Sakakibara, H. & Wang, S. N., Saturation of electron phase breaking time in GaAs/AlGaAs quantum wires. J. Appl. Phys. 80, 5138 (1996).
- [210] Burke, P. J., Pfeiffer, L. N. & West, K. W., Effect of Nyquist noise on the Nyquist dephasing rate in two-dimensional electron systems. *Phys. Rev. B* 65, 201310 (2002).
- [211] Huibers, A. G. *et al.*, Low-temperature saturation of the dephasing time and effects of microwave radiation on open quantum dots. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 83, 5090 (1999).
- [212] Gershenson, M. E., Khavin, Y. B., Mikhalchuk, A. G., Bolzer, H. M. & Bogdanov, A. L., Crossover from Weak to Strong Localization in Quasi-One-Dimensional Conductors. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **79**(4), 725 (1997).
- [213] Gornyi, I. V., Mirlin, A. D. & Polyakov, D. G., Interacting Electrons in Disordered Wires: Anderson Loclization and Low-T Transport. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 95, 206603 (2005).
- [214] Khavin, Y. B., Gershenson, M. E. & Bogdanov, A. L., Strong localization of electrons in quasi-one-dimensional conductors. *Phys. Rev. B* 58(12), 8009 (1982).
- [215] Efetov, K. B. & Larkin, A. I., Kinetics of a quantum particle in long metallic wires. *JETP* 58, 444 (1983).

- [216] Kervennic, Y. V., Vanmaekelbergh, D., Kouwenhoven, L. P. & der Zant, H. V., Planar nanocontacts with atomically controlled separation. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 83, 3782 (2003).
- [217] K.Liu, Avouris, P., Bucchignano, J., Martel, R. & Sun, S., Simple fabrication scheme for sub-10 nm electrode gaps using electron-beam lithography. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **80**, 865 (2002).
- [218] Saifullah, M. S. M., Ondarcuhu, T., Koltsov, D. K., Joachim, C. & Welland, M. E., A reliable scheme for fabricating sub-5 nm co-planar junctions for single molecule electronics. *Nanotechnology* **13**, 659 (2002).
- [219] Morpurgo, A. F., Marcus, C. M. & Robinson, D. B., Controlled fabrication of metallic electrodes with atomic separation. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 74, 2084 (1999).
- [220] Jamieson, D. N. *et al.*, Controlled shallow single-ion implantation in silicon using an active substrate for sub-20-keV ions. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **86**, 202101 (2005).
- [221] Averin, D. V. & Likharev, K. K., Coulomb blockade of single-electron tunneling, and coherent oscillations in small tunnel-junctions. *J. Low Temp. Phys.* 62(3-4), 345 (1986).
- [222] Averin, D. V. & Likharev, K. K., Single electronics: a correlated transfer of single electrons and Cooper pairs in systems of small tunnel junctions, in *Mesoscopic phenomena in solids* (Altshuler, B. L., Lee, P. A. & Webb, R. A., eds). Volume 30 of *Modern problems in condensed matter sciences*. North-Holland, Amsterdam (Netherlands), 1991.
- [223] Chang, L. L., Esaki, L. & Tsu, R., Resonant tunnelling in semiconductor double barriers. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 24(12), 593 (1974).
- [224] Dellow, M. W. et al., Resonant Tunneling through the Bound States of Single Donor Atoms in a Quantum Well. Phys. Rev. Lett. 68, 1754 (1992).
- [225] Kane, B. E. *et al.*, Single-spin measurement using single-electron transistors to probe two-electron systems. *Phys. Rev. B* 61(4), 2961 (2000).
- [226] Sze, S. M., Semiconductor devices physics and technology. John Wiley & Sons, New York (USA), 1985.

- [227] Hamers, R. J., Tromp, R. M. & Demuth, J. E., Electronic and geometric structure of Si(111)-7×7 and Si(100) surfaces. *Surf. Sci.* 181, 346 (1987).
- [228] Lu, M., Melnikov, D. V., Chung, I. & Leburton, J., Three-dimensional selfconsistent simulation of single-qubit operation by modulation of the hyperfine interaction in phosphorus-doped metal-oxide-semiconductor structure. *J. Appl. Phys.* **98**, 093704 (2005).
- [229] Ishikuro, H., Takuya, S., Hiramoto, T. & Ikoma, T., Extremely Large Amplitude Random Telegraph Signals in a Very Narrow Split-Gate MOSFET at Low Temperatures. *Jpn. J. Appl. Phys.* 35(858) (1996).
- [230] Pioro-Ladriére, M. et al., Origin of switching noise in GaAs/Al_x Ga 1-x As lateral gated devices. *Phys. Rev. B* 72(115331) (2005).
- [231] Prus, O., Reznikov, M. & Sivan, U., Cooling of Electrons in a Silicon Inversion Layer. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 88(016801) (2002).
- [232] Zeghbroeck, B. V., Principles of Semiconductor Devices. University of Colorado, USA, http://ece-www.colorado.edu/ bart/book/contents.htm, 2004.
- [233] Warschkow, O. *et al.*, Phosphine adsorption and dissociation on the Si(100): An an initio survey of structures. *Phys. Rev. B* **72**, 125328 (2005).
- [234] Riedel, D., Mayne, A. J. & Dujardin, G., Atomic-scale analysis of hydrogen bond breaking from Si(100):H induced by optical electronic excitation. *Phys. Rev. B* 72, 233304 (2005).
- [235] Vondrak, T. & Zhu, X.-Y., Direct photodesorption of atomic hydrogen from Si(100) at 157 nm: Experiment and simulation. J. Phys. Chem. B 103(23), 4892 (1999).
- [236] Masu, K. & Tsubough, K., Atomic-hydrogen resist process with electron-beam lithography for selective Al-patterning. J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B 12(6), 3270 (1994).
- [237] Mattson, T. R., Swartzentruber, B. S., Stumpf, R. & Feibelmann, P. J., Electric field effects on surface dynamics: Si ad-dimer diffusion and rotation on Si(100). *Surf. Sci.* 536, 121 (2003).

- [238] Tanaka, S., Umbach, C. C. & Blakely, J. M., Fabrication of arrays of large step-free regions on Si(001). *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 69, 1235 (1996).
- [239] Tanaka, S., Bartelt, N. C., Umbach, C. C., Tromp, R. M. & Blakely, J. M., Step Permeability and the Relaxation of Biperiodic Gratings on Si(001). *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 78, 3342 (1997).
- [240] Wilkins, R., Ben-Jacob, E. & Jaklevic, R. C., Scanning-tunneling-microscope observations of Coulomb blockade and oxide polarization in small metal droplets. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 63, 801 (1989).
- [241] The international system of units (SI), 7th edition. Technical report, Bureau International des Poids et Mesures, Organisation Intergouvernementale de la Convention du Mètre (1998).
- [242] Supplement 2000: addenda and corrigenda to the 7th edition (1998). Technical report, Bureau International des Poids et Mesures, Organisation Intergouvernementale de la Convention du Mètre (2000).
- [243] Mohr, P. J. & Taylor, B. N., CODATA recommended values of the fundamental physical constants: 1998. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 72(2), 351 (2000).
- [244] Gloos, K., Koppinen, P. J. & Pekola, J. P., Properties of native ultrathin aluminium oxide tunnel barriers. J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 15, 1733 (2003).
- [245] Kittel, C., Introduction to solid state physics. John Wiley & Sons, New York (USA), 6th edition, 1986.
- [246] Kuchling, H., Taschenbuch der Physik. Fachbuchverlag, Leipzig (Germany), 15th edition, 1995.
- [247] Winter, M., WebElements. http://www.webelements.com, 1993.

Appendix A Units and prefixes

A.1 SI units

The International System of Units (Système International d'Unités, SI) is based on a choice of seven well-defined units which by convention are regarded as dimensionally independent: the metre, the kilogram, the second, the ampere, the kelvin, the mole and the candela. These SI units are called *base units* (Tab. A.1), and they provide a reference in terms of which all other units can be defined. Details of the definition of the SI base units can be found in the 7th edition of the International System of Units (including addenda and corrigenda) [241, 242], along with details on SI derived units, non-SI units and SI prefixes (see below).

A second class of SI units is that of *derived units*. These are units that are formed as products of powers of the base units according to the algebraic relations linking the quantities concerned. The names and symbols of some derived units may be replaced by special names and symbols which can themselves be used to form expressions and symbols for other derived units (see e.g. Tab. A.2).

Base quantity	Name	Symbol
Length	meter	m
Mass	kilogram	kg
Time	second	S
Electric current	ampere	А
Thermodynamic temperature	kelvin	Κ
Amount of substance	mole	mol
Luminous intensity	candela	cd

Table A.1: SI base units. The SI is founded on seven SI base units for seven base quantities assumed to be mutually independent.

A.2. Non-SI units

Derived quantity	Name	Symbol	In other SI units
Frequency	hertz	Hz	s^{-1}
Force	newton	Ν	m∙kg/s²
Pressure, stress	pascal	Ра	N/m^2
Energy, work	joule	J	N∙m
Power, radiant flux	watt	W	J/s
Electric charge	coulomb	С	A·s
Electric potential difference	volt	V	W/A
Capacitance	farad	F	C/V
Electric resistance	ohm	Ω	V/A
Electric conductance	siemens	S	A/V
Magnetic flux	weber	Wb	V·s
Magnetic flux density	tesla	Т	Wb/m ²
Inductance	henry	Н	Wb/A
Celsius temperature	degree Celsius	°C	K
Plane angle	radian	rad	1

Table A.2: Some SI derived units. For ease of understanding and convenience, some SI derived units have been given special names and symbols. The numerical value of a Celsius temperature *t*, in relation to a thermodynamic temperature *T*, is given by: $t/^{\circ}C = T/K - 273.15$.

Each physical quantity has only one SI unit, even if this unit can be expressed in different forms. The inverse, however, is not true; in some cases the same SI unit can be used to express the values of several different quantities. The base units together with the derived units and other SI units form a coherent set of units with the effect that unit conversions are not required when inserting particular values for quantities in quantity equations.

A.2 Non-SI units

Some non-SI units are widely used in various literature, while others, such as the units of time, are very commonly used in every day life. Hence a range of such non-SI units is accepted for use with the International System. SI units are always to be preferred to non-SI units. It is desirable to avoid combining non-SI units with units of the SI – in particular the combination of such units with SI units to form compound units. Tab. A.3 lists some commonly used non-SI units.

Name	Symbol	Value in SI units
minute	min	$1 \min = 60 \mathrm{s}$
hour	h	1 h = 60 min = 3600 s
day	d	1 d = 24 h = 86400 s
degree	0	$1^{o} = (\pi/180) \text{ rad}$
litre	1,L	$1 l = 1 dm^3 = 10^{-3} m^3$
tonne	t	$1 t = 10^3 kg$
electronvolt	eV	$1 \mathrm{eV} = 1.602 \ldots \times 10^{-19} \mathrm{J}$
unified atomic mass unit	u	$1 u = 1.660 \dots \times 10^{-27} \text{ kg}$
bar	bar	$1 \text{ bar} = 1000 \text{ hPa} = 10^5 \text{ Pa}$
ångström	Å	$1 \text{ Å} = 0.1 \text{ nm} = 10^{-10} \text{ m}$
torr	Torr	$1 \operatorname{Torr} = (101325/760) \operatorname{Pa}$
neper	Np	1 Np = 1
bel	B	$1 \text{ B} = \frac{1}{2} \ln 10 \text{ Np}$

Table A.3: Some non-SI units. These units are accepted for use with the International System. The use of "torr", however, is not encouraged. The neper and the bel are used to express values of logarithmic quantities (e.g. field level, power level, sound pressure level and attenuation) in terms of the natural logarithm and logarithms to base ten, respectively. The neper is coherent with the SI, but not yet adopted as an SI unit. The submultiple decibel, dB, is commonly used.

A.3 SI prefixes

A series of prefixes (Tab. A.4) was adopted to form the decimal multiples and submultiples of SI units by using the SI units combined with these *SI prefixes*. As an exception, the multiples and submultiples of the kilogram are formed by attaching prefix names to the unit name "gram", and prefix symbols to the unit symbol "g". The SI prefixes refer strictly to powers of 10. They should not be used to indicate powers of 2 (for example, one kilobit represents 1000 bits and not 1024 bits).

A.3. SI prefixes

Factor	Name	Symbol	Factor	Name	Symbol
10^{24}	yotta	Y	10^{-1}	deci	d
10^{21}	zetta	Ζ	10^{-2}	centi	С
10^{18}	exa	Е	10^{-3}	milli	m
10^{15}	peta	Р	10^{-6}	micro	μ
10^{12}	tera	Т	10^{-9}	nano	n
10 ⁹	giga	G	10^{-12}	pico	р
10^{6}	mega	М	10^{-15}	femto	f
10^{3}	kilo	k	10^{-18}	atto	а
10 ²	hecto	h	10^{-21}	zepto	Z
10^{1}	deca	da	10^{-24}	yocto	У

Table A.4: SI Prefixes. These prefixes and prefix symbols define some of the decimal multiples and submultiples of SI units.

Appendix B

Fundamental and material properties of aluminium

B.1 Fundamental constants

Tab. B.1 lists a relevant selection of the current set of self-consistent values of the basic constants recommended by the Committee on Data for Science and Technology (CODATA). The values for these and more constants are listed in Ref. 243, along with methods of obtaining them.

B.2 Material properties of aluminium

Some material properties of aluminium (Al), which we use as our contact material are given in Tab. B.2.

B.2. Material properties of aluminium

Quantity	Symbol	Value	Unit
Speed of light in vacuum	<i>c,c</i> ₀	299792458	m/s
Magnetic constant	μ_0	$4\pi imes 10^{-7}$	N/A^2
Electric constant $1/\mu_0 c^2$	ε_0	$8.854187817\ldots imes 10^{-12}$	F/m
Planck constant	h	$6.62606876(52) \times 10^{-34}$	Js
$h/2\pi$	\hbar	$1.054571596(82) \times 10^{-34}$	Js
Elementary charge	е	$1.602176462(63) \times 10^{-19}$	С
Conductance quantum $2e^2/h$	G_0	$7.748091696(28) imes 10^{-5}$	S
Von Klitzing constant h/e^2	R _K	25812.807572(95)	Ω
Electron mass	$m_{\rm e}$	$9.10938188(72) \times 10^{-31}$	kg
Avogadro constant	$N_{\rm A}$,L	$6.02214199(47) \times 10^{23}$	mol^{-1}
Boltzmann constant	k	$1.3806503(24) \times 10^{-23}$	J/K

Table B.1: A selection of fundamental constants. The values of the constants provided in this table are recommended for international use by CODATA (1998).

Quantity	Symbol	Value	Unit
Relative atomic mass	М	26.98	u
Density	Q	2702	kg/m ³
Melting temperature	$T_{\rm m}$	933.47	Κ
Boiling temperature	T_{b}	2792	Κ
Resistivity at RT	ρ	2.65×10^{-8}	Ωm
Critical temperature	$T_{\rm c}$	1.175	Κ
Critical magnetic field	$B_{\rm c}$	0.011	Т
Work function	$\Phi_{\rm m}$	4.20	eV
Fermi energy	E_{F}	11.65	eV
Relative effective mass	$m^*/m_{\rm e}$	~ 0.97	

Table B.2:	Material	properties	of bulk A	1. [244-247	1
------------	----------	------------	-----------	------	---------	---